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PREFACE.

In preparing this report of a trial more than half a century ago,
the chief difficulty one might expect would be to obtain an
accurate contemporary account. A State trial one knows where
to find; but how could newspaper reports of a trial lasting
twelve days, and involving the most technical evidence on
anatomy, physiology, and toxicology, be relied upon for anything
like accuracy? Fortunately, if this trial was not a State trial in
the ordinary sense, it so seized the minds of the country at the
time that a complete record is to be found in the "Verbatim
Report of the Trial of William Palmer, Transcribed from the
Shorthand Notes of Mr. Angelo Bennett, of Rolls Chambers.
Chancery Lane," and published in 1856. A copy is not easily
met with now-a-days. Official verbatim reports of criminal trials,
that is made by an officer of the Court; itself, were not then
known. I suppose, though it is not so stated, that Mr. Bennett's
notes were taken by him on the instructions of the Treasury for
reference each day by the Court and Counsel. They are the basis
of the following report;. Medical and medico-chemical evidence
constitutes the greater part of this trial; it is also far the most
important part; and in dealing with it I have had the benefit of
the professional skill of Dr. William Robertson, of Leith, who has
read the proofs. Some of the evidence, as it stood, showed that
It had been a little too much for the erudition of the shorthand
writer, and needed editing. I hope that, with the aid of Dr.
Robertson, this appears now as it was intended to be by the
experts who gave it.

The question of portraits has caused some difficulty. Photo-
graphs were not common, to say the least, in 1856. Most
woodcuts met with seemed not worth reproduction. This
accounts for the few portraits which appear; though the number
of Judges and Counsel was exceptionally large. Palmer alone is
shown more satisfactorily than any of the others in the well-
known figure at Madame Tussaud's. Their modeUer wai preMnt
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m Court and I have seen his casts of Palmer's head and face taken
after execution. The striking sketch of Palmer by Mr. Joseph
Simpson, the well-known artist, has been made from a photograph
of this figure, and from a contemporary print

Palmer has the distinction of ai. article in the Dictionary ofNations Biography. Many of the contemporary accounts cannot
be rehed on

;
they are too evidently sensational and designed for

m'^^Sir'YVT''"''''''''- ^^ '^' '''"'^°««' °^ Dr. GeorgeFleming J.P., of H.ghgate, London, who is a treasury of Palmer-
lana and of Rugeley tradition, I have been able to use his
coUection of "Jane" letters. The substance of these letted
appears m the Introduction. They reveal a sinister episode in
Palmers career not to be found related elsewhere. Moreover it
was a real link in the chain of circumstances that led to Palmer's
crime and his trial. The letter from Palmer to bis wife was

B::u:i.^,r:'''^'''''-
'^ ^^- ^- ^-^^^ of

0. H. K.
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WILLIAM PALMER.
INTRODUCTION.

Maimer was convicted, but there hua »lnro,,. k

of poisoning Cook by strrcW • • ? t
'

o*""
mnocent

as to disguise its normal effects If thia ,•« .^
e^.^'-Tcnma. so

never been disclosed pir«t •* •
.

°' ^"' '"'^* *»*8



Trial of William Palmer.

lJ!«f**V''l'^*'"''°*''*^'°***~P<'rtoftbetri.l. Aeon,fctant .Bd alerc attention i, needed ifreading it r ad ft T.profeMional diwiplino for either la^er or Z>U>t

^finitdy known ca«. of .trychnia poiaoning in tLe human «,b-ject the pro^uUon would have failed, in apite of aU the experi-ment, on animal, from which analogic, as to Cook', .ymptom.were attempted to be drawn. Tber^ lud been no3 f"?

SZ°S!f P i'**^"^^
^^"~ ^''^''- »"* »* h^PP*^ that

accuaed of pouonxng hi. wife by rtrychnia. and the .ymptom.
of pouwn were more certainly awertained. Yet Dr. Nnnneley
of Leed., who made a report on thi. caw, wa. caUed for th^
wfeace, not for the proMcution.

In thi. preliminary .ketch I .hall not attempt to conveyany idea of the chemical and medical evidence by a fonnd.ummary It woi-a be impowible. a. Sir Jame. Stephen
remark., to treat «ti.factorily .uch an extensive, .r technical
and 80 contradictory a body of teatimony. and only .ucn a
ITRneral statement wUl be made of the circumatance. a. wiU
enable the reader the easier to follow the caw of the
prosecution.

In the English procedure counwl's speech for the prowcu-
tion begins the proceedings. In the Scottish the evidence i.
led at once. The trial is treated in this respect a. if it were
a Scottish trial on account of ite extreme bulk, as it extended
over twelve days. Neither in the Scottish wries, which are
already published, nor in the EngUsh series, now beginning,
is there a trial of equal length; nor do I know any other
murder trial so long, with the exception of that conducted by
Browning in " The Ring and the Book." In this trial, as in
every English trial, the opening speech was intended to inform
the jury merely of the facts and prepare their minds for the
evidence, and lucidity of statement, at the most, is the only
forensic effect aimed at. I accordingly omit the Attorney-
General's speech qua speech, and found this preliminary stote-
ment on it. The point of interest a. regard, forensic oratory i.
reached with the speech of Serjeant Shee, the leading counsel
for the defence. He analyse, the evidence led for the prosecu-
tion, chaUenges it. cogency, outlines the case in reply which will
be an answer to every point made, appeals eloquently and
pathetically for the priwner, and, we may add int lentally.



Introduction.

1^«1^^ I'^AT'^n. '''^. «»^*«o» « attained «
Jh^ Z?* ^*tornejr-0««r.l. Nothing, unle« it i. of

in the hght of tile exammation. and croM^xaminationl at

fh:i;:n;ic\r
'"• ^^-^ ^^^-^^ -« ^'-^^ --p'- "J

There is a tradition that Pahner. a racing man. eipremd
hi. «u,e of the de«Il7 effect of Sir Alexander cSkW.
examination, crow-examination, and speech in racecounw
language, " It waa the riding that did it

"
"'=«=0'"«»

trll^ *?*
Lord Chief-Jurtice'. nmming up I have dealt

freely. It occupied two day., and the form of it, to a great
extent, wa. th,8. Lord Campbell would say to the jury.Now, gentlemen. I will take the witnee. So-and-So and readyou hi. evidence. It ia for you to .ay what the effect of^.evidence is." Then would foUow comment, directing
the jury . attention to thi. or that feature. What the jury

!rj*S " °,°* ^r'^''* °°^' ^^ ^^»* ^^^ reader think,with the evidence before him. Where Lord CampbeU made
special comment on any particular evidence the passage, are
given. Nothing material is omitted, and the general effect
of hie address is preserved.

sJi?^^!*"**
"^"""^ ^ November, 1855, at Rugeley. in

Staffordshire, where Palmer, who was about thirty-one year.
of age, had been u medical practitioner until two or three year,
previously, when he transferred hi. business to the Mr Thirlbv
mentioned in the report. He had abandoned medicine fortbe turf, kept racehorses, attended race meeting, and bettedBy the year 1853 he was in pecuniary difficulties, and was
raising money on bills with moneylenders.

Mr. John Parsons Cook, whom Palmer was charged with

Cr^^'iT' " ^T^ "^" °^ "*'°"* twenty-eight who hadbeen articled as a solicitor, but he inherited some £12,000. and
did not foDow his profession. He also went on the turf,kept racehorses and betted, and it was in this common
pursuit that Pahner and Cook became acquainted.

Fatoer s pecuniary circumstances in 1854 are important.

^ffK D r"^ "°°"^ ""^ * ^'^ f'''" ^2000. and discounted itwith Padwiok. a notorious moneylender and racing man of

3



Trial of William Palmer.

S^k •

"'°"^«^ *° *^ P^*-^''*'-' ««d to the n.uri^

deS??"*'^
*** *^' ^'''°* ^*^ ^'Jy b«n able to pay oil

Dana* of another moneTlender. Mr Pr«» «»,« «

of lui wife whom he had inaured for £13,000.
At the clow of 1864 he took out another policy for £13 000

tLT* iJA- X ^^ *° °°^®'" '^ •*'"«• o' bill, which bemm

to £11,600 Hm mother's name a« acceptor had aUo beenforged on these bills by Pahner.

Jl*^*r°'°f^
"' ^"«^*' *^^^' ^*'*«'- Pal°»er died, but theoffice reused to pay on the policy, and the question was^^Ujn dispute in November when the death of Mr Cook o^^^li"If the pohcy were not paid Pratt would sue Mrs. Pa^eTi.Palmer himself had no means, so that Palmer was in th«same _pe„l of being shown to be a forger bo^^TraU a^^^

This policy was never paid, and we may add that when

i^dtLir
*"''

'r ?^ ""'^^^ °' ^'^ *^-« -- t- otW
bro^rW fr^""*

^'"^ ^'' '^ '""^^«" «' «s wife and

o^r Cootxr °°* '^"^^^^ ''•*'

" ^^ -" -°-*-^

What happened about the bills was this. On the 6thof November Pratt issued two writs for £4000 againstPalmer and his mother, but withheld them from service pend

S on'Z?',?K*' ,*

V
'

^"1""'' '"•^^* '°''^«- P'-''" ^^oL to

oMh^oS ? °*.Nov^°»ber, a memorable day in the history

tr^m^A- ''^Ziy^^^'"
Cook's mare, won the ShrewZbury Handi^p, that steps would be taken to enforce the policyon Walter Pahner's life; so that Palmer's problem was tJkeep paying portions of the bills until the question of thepohcy was settled, and thus keep Pratt quiet

The pecuniary position of Cook is quickly explained Hehad practically nothing but what came to him through th^wmnmg of " Polestar " at Shrewsbury on the 13th ofNovember. His betting book showi wining, which
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be.. 1. «tuall, drew i^..^\nrimo rl'T^:!^Z£i
N[*^"L ' "°.^ '^Uo-i"? Monday, the igih Nove^

!:si^rrK^,:i^^^^' "'' '^^"^ ^^*« ^'^^

of cir'' T,"
*° "^«/i«um.tanoe. of the illnew and death

ar«r.K
^^^^ """^ ^""^ ^*°* *°8««»«r from Rugeley toairew^bury race., and .tayed at the Raven Hotel. On thJnjght of the Hth of November, and the day after '^

Pol^tar^'

i^ero'LhiL"":,
''"' "" ^^'^^^ ^" '' *^« «-- ^th

rikss of b Th "°'^;*'°»'^P' i" consequence of having taken

p!^Z h J *^ ^'^ "^^^ '°**^ '^''''^ *!»« prosecution alleged

Tnl^H ?r '"'*™°°^ '" *^« '*>™ °' t«rtar emetic. The

Th!l .y"^'""^ " *° *^" -" *^«* «' '^ Mr,. Brook.

Ilr„%? J ''u'"'"*
^""'^» connected with racine. She•wore that. a. .he turned into the lobby, she savf Palmw

tJ i /rl- f **/ " '°''° '''^° ''»" ^-^tcl^ing to sec what wa.the condition of the liquid." according ?o the IttomevGeneral's statement. Having looked at it so he withd^w to

hLa"^ TT ""^ P"'^'^*^^ "^^^^'i -ith the gla« rhiJband, and then went into the room where Cook was andwhere he drank the brandy and water. There was muchevidence from other witnesi^ as to what haJnel L^fnection with the brandy and water incident
The state of Cook's health previous to the incident at Shrews-bury was of the utmost importance. It was admit^ b^I

r::srrt'b^tr"/f^^^ -' ^-*' but:sL'Lt

r^h^aid^td^n^k^g^Lrrr r* ?this treatment and advised th^aMri^ptf^s tTnotTo^

a; s ithir
^-^'' -^^ '-^^^necte^wr.-



Trial of William Palmer.

•ad It WM «t 4h« fam that Cook'i death oooumd iCr

pllm!r rr •V^'T^**"y- Cook dined Mzt day with

d^ morning Patoer .aw Cook in hi. bedroom. a^Ki orde.!^

th. chambem«,d who g«re mort important evidence a. toth. vanou. epi«,de. of the iUne- uSil the death on t£mght of Tue.day. the 20th November. The ooffi; wa. give^

mediate^ aft* that the wme .ymptom. ^^in which hSl

dltlnd *? i'!J""S"!Z'
"^ throughout tae wholo of thatd^ and the next day " Saturday and Sunday) "the priK>n€r

3?£ .dminiatered everything to Cook."'' One FnSwa. a bowl of broth being obtained by Palmer thrcuirb a«^m.n named Rowky. She wa. .ent for it to the A^ion.an ,nn in Rugeley. She took it to Palmer', house and put
It in a laucepan on the kitchen fire to warm. Palmer, wnilst
•he wa. ab.«t in the beck kitchen, poured the broth into aba«m, brought ,t to her, and told her to take it up to Cook,•nd My Smith had Knt it. Thi. wa. Jeremiah Smith, an
attorney in Rugeley, a common friend of Palmer and CookA .poonful of the broth made Cook sick. But the fuU
.ifirnificanoe of thi. intended inference i. not seen until we take
the evidence of Mills that she drank a spoonful and became
«ick m about half an hour, and had to go to bed.
And here we may refer to the evidence of this Jeremiah

Smith, who wae called a. a witness on behalf of Pahner Hi.
CTOM-examination was the most dramatic scene of the trial.
He wa. diown to have been concerned with Palmer in the
in.urance scheme., and not a rap of his credit remained. But
Sir Jamea Stephen remarks, " No abbreviation can give the
effect of this cross-examination. The witness's efforts to gain
time, and hi. distress as the various anwvers were extorted
from him by degrees, may be faintly traced in the report
Tlie witnesa's face was covered with sweat, and the paper,
put into his Lauds shook and rustled."

During Saturday and Sunday Cook was attended by Mr
Bamford, a medical man in Rugeley. As Mr. Bamford's ag^
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g»vt riM to toaM obMrration, I uaj iMntion that b* «m
dgfatj. H* WM told by Palmer on the Satordaj that Cook
had had a biUoua attack owing to having taken too much
win* at the dinner the day brfore, but when Mr. Bamford
mentioned thia Cook replied that be had only two glaaeea of
ehampagne. and Mr. Bamford, in fact, found that the lymptoma
were not biliooa.

On Sunday, aa the aioknen continued, Mr. Bamford pre-
pared two opiat3 piilfl containing half a grain of morphia, half
a grain of calomel, and four graing of rhubarb. The ingrediento
are important. The following Monday ia a crucial day.
Palmer went to London and aaw Herring, a betting man, gave
him a lilt of Cook'« winnings, and instructed him to attend
Tatteraall'a and settle. Herring was not Cook's regular agent,
but Fisher, the man to whom Cook had entrusted hie money
at Shrewsbury whilst he was ill. Fisher declared that he had,
in fact, advanced £200 on the strength of the money which
Fisher expected to draw at Tattersall's. This £200, at the
request of Cook, in a letter written by him from Rugeley on
the 16th of November (Friday), was applied by Fisher to
one of Pratt's acceptances. This letter was used by the
defence to show that, as Palmer alleged, the b"s were for the
joint transactions of himself and Cook, and by parity of
reasoning that Palmer had probably Cook's authority to draw
his bets. Herring drew £900 of the £1020 at Tatteraall'a,
and; ;i8 Palmer had instructed him, he paid £460 to Pratt.
He waa also instructed to pay Padwick £350 for a ;. which
Padwick had won, partly from Palmer and par+ly from Cook,
but for which Palmer was liable: again a suggestion of joint
transactions between Palmer and Cook. This payment was
to be made, according to the prosecution, to keep Padwick
quiet over his £2000 forged acceptance, half of which remained
unpaid. Herring, however, u U not pay Padwick. If he
had done so he would have been out of pocket, as it had been
agreed betwe«i him and Palmer that part of the money he
wt^ to draw should be applied to debts of his own due from
Palmer.

Palmer fbished his business in town by going to Pratt.
He paid him £50, so that this, the £450, and Fisher's £200,
with £600 Palmer had previously paid, wiped off £1300. He
then returned to Bugeley, arriving there at an hour which
waa certainly mistaken by the prosecution, and which derived

7
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Um chief importanoe from the rtoiy told by Jeremiah Smith ofh« meeting Palmer returning much later, and the acoount he
gave of their movement, together. If hi. atory wei« true,
toat of the witneu Newton, who ipoke to the puichaw) by
Palmer from him of strychnia that night, would be auq>ect.
Ab It was, doubt was cast upon it by Newton never mentioning
It until the day of the trial. Cook during Palmer's absence
had no sickness, though in the morning Palmer, who had gone
early to the hotel, had given him coffee, and Cook had
vomited. But after Pahner left for London Mr. Bamford had
come, and given him a new medicine. It was arguable, there-
fore, that the irritotion of the stomach was soothed by the new
medicine. Cook dressed, got up, recovered his spirits, and
saw and talked with several people, and so he continued till
night. This has the mobt important bearing, as wiU be seen
by the medical evidence, on the vital point whether Cook's
symptoms were either those of strychnia poisonirg, or idio-
pathic or traumatic tetanus, or of some other form of nervous
disease with tetanic convulsions.

On Palmer's return to Rugeley he went to see Cook, and he
remained, going in and out of his room, until about eleven
o clock. He then left, and about twelve the house was alarmed
by violent screams from Cook's rooms. I shaU refer the reader
for the details of this illness to the evidence.
According to the prosecution Palmer had gone previously

on tiiat night to Newton, who was the assistant of a surgeon
at Rugeley named Salt, and had purchased three grains of
strychnia. This was Newton's statement. Whilst Palmer
was away in London Mr. Bajiford had sent to the Talbot
Arms the same sort of piUs, in which were morphia, calomel,
and rhubarb. They were taken by the maid upstaim. and
put m the usual place for Pahner to administer, as ho had
done before.

The Attorney-General put his case thus to the jury, " It will
be for you to say whether Cook took the piUs prepared by Mr
Bamford, and which he had taken on the Saturday and Sunday
night, or whether, as this accusation suggests, the prisoner
substituted for the pills of Mr. Bamford some of his own
concoction in which strychnia was mixed."
On Tuesday morning, the 20th, the day of his death, Cook

was comparatively comfortable after hia violent attack.
That same morning Pahner went to the shop of a druggist
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•t Rugeley, Mr. Bawkina. Ee atked for aix grains of

atryclmia, with lome pruaaio acid and some liquor of opium.

While Hawkina' auistant Bobols was putting up the prussio

acid Newton came into the shop. Palmer took him by the

arm, and saying, " I have sometiung I want to say to you," led

him outside, and began to talk to him about an unimportant

matter. While they were talking a man Bassington came

up, and when he and Newton were fully engaged in talk

Palmer went back into the shop, and stood in .he doorway.

Palmer went away with what he had bought, and then Newton

went into the shop and inquired what Palmer had bought,

and was told.

At the preliminary inquiry before the coroner Newton only

told of this incident at the shop. He did not tell of Palmer

having purchased strychnia from him on the Monday night

until the day before the Attorney-General was making his

speech for the prosecution. An explanation will be found

in Newton's evidence.

Before coming to the actual circumstances of Cook's death

on Tuesday night two other facts must be mentioned. On

the previous Sunday Palmer wrote to Mr. Jones, a medical

man living at Lutterworth, with whom Cook lived when he

was at home. He said Cook had a bilious attack with

diarrhoea, and asked Jones to come and see him as soon as

possible. On Monday he wrote to him again desiring him

to come.

The Attorney-General said, " I should not be discharging

my duty if I did not suggest this as being part of a deep

design, and that the administration of the irritant poison, of

which abundant traces were found after death, was for the

purpose of producing the appearance of natural disease, which

could account afterwards for the death to which the victim

was doomed."
The irritant poison referred to is antimony, but one of the

main facts, if not altogether the most important one, on which

the defence relied, was that no strychnia was found in the

body of Cook.

Mr. Jones came on the Ti«esday about three o'clock, and

was with Cook throughout till his death.

The other fact referred to is that during the same day

(Tuesday) Palmer sent for Cheshire, the postmaster at Rugeley.

Palmer produced a paper and asked him to fill in a cheque

9
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Wetherby migk, know my h^L^-!?"' ^""««. •«» Mei™

"Jgnt. and returned to Palm«rT! w ^' '* ^"^ »ent thatto produce the cheque wasT^e^^o r*. T^'^^^^' ^o^'*

S ri.""'
^''^ ProsecutiofS^^^ ci

*''"°'- ^" '"that Cook's signature wa« forged ^p.r"""«*'"'«« i»"Bted

t^heshire was brouirht from ^ • ^^* transactiona.
^ad induced him to i .^Tpt'TeJL

*° ^? ^^''^-«'- Palmer
"•other to prevent her Snl "'''^'^''^^^ *° P'^hZ'l

^iU8 letter mformed Mr. Stev3 r\,^ coroner's inquiry.
»t^chma had been found, and PaLr t^'"*^^'-'

*h't no

^if

J
Of ga^e'" 'Se pr^^uttf'^ «"" ^--^ t^^e X;evidence given by some 0^^*^. "'^^'"'^'l '^^^ much of the

Jt the trial, but not found ^ the r""' *''"^' f""- '««tancehad not been given there b^al tt""""*'""^
'' '^' ^^l-^t',the mquary so laxly. Tke dl^encT ^^c"""''
'"' '^°'^' "^ted

.

^e come to the actual scenTrf r^ f .
°""^' *^"P"ted this

°'ght. There was a con dSJl f?^^ ' ''^"^^ °° *he Tuesday
pr-ence at .even o'clS "'

^ol tdf? '"^^^ '" S'J
Pil^ !^"l/

"'" '^-^ «o more med7l:t "
k

^'^ ^^'»-'

^te wilrcrk^w^^^r^^^^^^^^^ "PT.went wieh ^. Bamford rfhe tte^r
""*'"'"*^- ^«"™

'

and Mr. Bamford was eurpr^L *?p .'""'^"'^ ^^'^ *!»« PiII«.^ite the directions on theCl p f*^"'"'' ^'^^^^S him to
*!»« pill-, but he did so pi,"

^''^°''' ^•'"««» w« to^*;
;-'« i-^ bis possession three^TutS *°1 *^« P'"«. and^thly
returned to the Talbot "'r*'"''^" ol an hour before hi
Jttention of Mr. Jone. to the^di^f ''' '^^ ^« -""the
'«J «t was that a man oilZ^'T''^ "How wonder-

*^*^ «bouid write ,o good and
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•em to DM. I„ CHeea or twenty minutoa ho wu «.n^ i~

atLl KT '?/"* *^' '^P"^"^ «f Cook thfoughout thisattack which ended in his death. Thev wem th* wVi i
of the case, and the scientific evS^rusfbe'^^ret^^^^^the reader's consideration R..* *u i _..^ .

"'le'Tea «>

administration o, TpTus .'l^n^^fi:^ 7^1^:'^be part.cu any noted. The defence urged thaTst^ch'a clSn- c possibly be so long in taking effect. This and thV«nn

o;STro:LS^^^ ^° ^'^^ ^--- *^« t.j chfefdi^:!-

P«w?"'f"^ °'" ^,"'^''^' ^''^ 22nd or 23rd. after Cook's death

ci^'t f^"°
^°'" *^^«"^''^' ^^'J' P™^"^^"? a paper uSh

S^k Z'^JJoon'
P"?°'*''^^ *° ^« «° acknowledgment by

benefit, asked hun to sign it as witness. Cheshire refusalexclaiming. " Good Godl the man is dead! " tLc ZoZTu-tion averted Cook's signature to be a forgery lifv've
notice to produce the document, and this wasToTdont ^

^

CookVsW«?h*^'
appearance in Rugeley of Mr. Stevens.

matL ht .
^^ ^°"^«"'>t'«'^'' -itt Palmer .. mone^

PalS;t ,

'P'"°°'
r""''^ ^y '^' appearance of H,. body,

^e fact thatT^.f ?!^° ''f
°"* ^" «''^^^' »»^ ^^I-^^S

appealed with Palmer's evasions about them, all put himon the alert Besides, at the time, the inquiries 'by themsurance oftce .ere going on in the neighbourhood aboutWalter Palmer's death. On Saturday, the 24th, both Stevens

coc Jt rr'"',
''"

f"^'^^
*° ^'^ *° ^"^-' SJen "

?100 he L .r " "°^T''
^'^'^'^ *° P^y P^*" "'botherAlUO, he, as the prosecution pointed out. not having had anv

sS "*
fp?'"^' ""'* '^^'^^ •-' - *h« .^fes there'Stevens and Palmer met in the train on the i^turn journeyand Stevens told Palmer that he was determined to^hr^apost-mctem and to employ a solicitor to investigate

and the trial followed. In the meantime Padwick had

II

f
'^

|l^

I !

! I
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arrested Palmer for fh« ^ ux

«a«e of 1855-6 beckS as^tenTeT' *''^; "'^ *te Palmer

;^'PaW.^r,e^J -- -re al ^dd^, J^^^^--;

"draraV:rit^ot7 svr/- 1^ *^« p-*-^-
was undisputed either by o„e side ort fu""'

^°* '^ ^"^^
of the evidence, for the reader T ! °*^^''' ^°«^ «»« value

^«. patience and memo^ and = dZ"? " *^' "^«'«^ "^

their complicated details and JJ^!°* '*'^"''-^«* *<> faster
to another. fa the s^h ,

*^T ^'^ '*^'**'°°'' of one tZ
Shee and the fi.al sySTb, S r A? '''f

^ ^^^ ^^ S«rVant
farther see how the same 'a^ctfLf "^l"*^''

^'^^^'^' he^.m

oeen tried by an Assize Courr c
^™*'' ^"" have

prejudice against nim tSre w
'° Staffordshire, but thehe^uld not have aTairt'r^ArAST"^ that it was Mt

?^i:?SnL%t^^^^^^
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"^'J '"".^if^^:
Since then that A

magnitude and difficulty of the Pal
""^"'°^*""^««- To the

«ie reason for three judges wrrr"; T^ '""«' ^« «««gned
Justice CressweU. and Mr sl^on AU^""'"''' Campbell, Mn
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^^e bar on each

f:
^"ccessor of Lord Campbell Mr p^T'^I
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«' bi. day, .ni*;;^-

™

«e*>.<. private incident. i„ I * "* P™'«««i°"«l bonoun hv
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.ubaequently the famou. Dr. Kenealey. the coui«el for the
Tiohborne claimant, a man of great learning and natural
genius, infenor to none of his professional contemporaries.

In an English criminal trial an inquiry into the family history
of the accused, or into his personal character and previous
career, has no place unless insanity is in issue. Such matterswere ng.dly excluded from the trial of Palmer. This trial

ZL f\u'
'™P?^ " ^'^^ '°™""*' •^°°*««* f»°«>»» in the

were, an bstraction or automaton, his acts are only taken into

Zr, f:L|-"*;^««^t*•° <>"t--d events which enter into the

fr -^"^^.^
""""'*'°^' <>«nn«cted with the particular

t^nar? I

" ">v€stigated, but strictly in relation tothe part cular crmie; and in atrocious crim«, the pecuniarymohve always seems inadequate. Deadly hate or fierce passion!or " acoess of unreasoning fear in some cireumstanoes. may^more mteihgible. Yet such crimes seem always ine^licable
unless we can rJer them to some abnormality in the cTaract;ot the cnmmal himself, and either ascribe it to his ancestry ordeduce It from his own doings outside the culminating crime

btfat'izr- ^^ "°™^^ '"-• -' -^' ^- -^-e
U Palmer's case there is available evidence of both kindsbearing on abnormality. It may not amount to insanity. Imay be only the "wickedness" of which Sir James Stephenpeaks in a quotation given be'ow. Whatever it may bo called?

It IS traceable in Pahner throughout his life
Palmer's father was a wealthy man who died worth £70.000

SiifL%'
'°

t"^'"'^'^'"''
^"^'"' '^ •''^^Pl-- The originof this fortune began with his m 1 grandfather, who hadbeen associated with a woman i by whom bo delrtStaking with him some hundreds of , ads'said te belongTh^r:

L. Lichfield he became prosperous and respectable. Hisdaughter married the elder Palmer, who was^at the time a

pZ7r\l/l '

""^"^T"^^
°^*°- A previous suitor of Mrs.Palmer had been the steward of the Marquis of Anglesea. The

dea ngs with the Anglesea timber; a^d to these dealings, and•imliar ones with stewards of other estates, the elder Palnier'swealth was attributed by the country tradition. After her

"ff-tlh.^*^!!"-
^*'°^^^ "«^ ^- f-«i''°» - -veral love.ff«.rs that caused scandal. One of these was with Jeremiah
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Smith, the attoraer. P.!*..-.

b^^er Walter, and a «aLT^ ^^
^f theae, WiUian.. hi.

dn>ggi.t. in Liverp"l.'"if;^^P7*-d *<> a firn. of .holeaale
of money sent through the poat hv !

*'°°''«'^"We amounts

.

^«t. and. after much inq^r PaLe^ r *° *'^ «™ -*'«
them and hi. indentur^ w^re ofn .^l"^^''^^^

^« J>ad stolen

admitted into L StaffordInCaS af'^^'- ^^ ^^ ^-
^our years after, in 1846. beZTbL ^^

^'^^^'""^ P"P"-"
at an mquest held on a man nlmeS Ihl

^"^'^'^> ""*^ *^««^.
Palmer had incited the man to drii ,f

'^' '* ""^ P^^^^^ ^^a
There was talk of Palmer^s con^^- ^' quantities of brandy
-.uspicion that the affaTwassllr ^'*^ ^""''^'^ ^'f^- and

Id this year Palmer went tn r ^ °^ ""'^ *^«° a " lark."
Hospital. He obtailJ?i dipirmror'^

^°'""^ Bartholomew's
returned to Rugeley as a medS orao/.

'^'"° '° ^"^«*' and
married Annie Brookes. T wlrd rr?'"'''' ^ ^^" ^"^ he
daughter of a Colonel BrookeT o thp iT^'

'^^ ^^^'Sitim^te
settled in Stafford, and had as I *^'

J'^*^^^" ^rmy, who had
Annie Brookes's mother.^^ hiTnT!' ""'^ ^^-^^on
Ann,e Brookes (or Thornton) consLr h,

'^ ^'"''"''^^ '^^^
and houses, but his estate was X^nTt 1.^"'^''''^ ^° """^y
guardians were opposed toffl^'^ '° Chancery. The

l^^r
by order ofTe^Cot .'^TeTSeT V^°' ^'^ ^"

by Palmer and read by Serjeant Shi i

love-letters written
elsewhere. ^ ^"°* ^^^ durmg the trial appears
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Whether Palmer intended or not «t firrt t jttle down to
hii profeuion, he waa ahnost without practice in two or three
yeari after his marriage. Horaea and racing occupied himm place of medicine. He had meana without practice, and, aa
Rugeley is a great horse-dealing centre, he was always familiar
with men connected with horses and racing, and they were his
•hosen company. In 1853 he waa in pecuniary difficulties due
to his racing transactions, and was raising money on bills with
moneylenders.

Withal he kept up an appearance of great outward respecta-
bUity. Church-going sixty years ago waa more than now
one of ita marks. In the diary, some extracts from which
wiU be found in the Appendioea, there are referenceam the year when he poisoned Cook to attendances
at the Sacrament. It is not necessary to read into
this church-going anything more specific than the radical falsity
of Pahner's character. Great formaUsm and profession of
rigid theological dogma were the usual mental furniture of the
middle classes of Palmer's day. After aU the disclosures of
the trial Palmer used the customary pietistic phrases, and it
was characteristic of the times that, after his conviction, his
counsel, Serjeant Shee, sent him a beautifully bound copy of
the Bible. The profession of religion, indeed, as a cloak to evil
seems to have been purposeless, as he was notorious for seduc-
tions, as well as of bad odour in other details of his life.

One intrigue of illicit gallantry, which began probably in the
lifetime of Mrs. Palmer, and was certainly going on at the time
of Walter Palmer's death, has a sinister connection with the
death of Cook. It is not mentioned in any account published of
Palmer. Jane Burgess, a young woman of respectable position
living in Stafford in 1855, left, at the house where she resided,
a bundle of thirty-four letters written to her by Pahner. They
show that a practitioner in Stafford, chosen by Palmer, and
described by him as one " who would be silent as death," had
performed an illegal operation. On the 13th of November the
day notable in the trial, when " Polestar," Cook's racehorse,
won at Shrewsbury, there is a letter to her from Palmer, which
shows that she had made a demand for money as a condition
of returning his letters. He was surprised, he wrote, to learn
that she had never burned one of his letters. He says, "

I
cannot do what you ask; / thaild not mind giving £30 for the
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vhoU of them, thou^ I am hard up at prwent." Another letter
la dated the 19th NoTember, the day on which Palmer wai
aooiwed of adminutering ttrychnia for the firrt time to Cook
He offen £40 "to ipUt the difference." On the 81«t, the
day on which, in the early morning, Cook had died, he lendi
the halvet of eight £6 notes, and on the 24th the remainder.
The letters were probably never returned, because the trouble
threatened about Cook's death became common talk in RueeleT
and Stafford. * ^

Shortly after his marriage began a series of suspicious
deaths which were attributed to Pahner after investigation
started into the circumstances attending the death of Cook. An
ill^timate child he had by a Rugeley woman died after it had
visited him Mrs. Thornton, his mother-in-law, was persuaded
to live at hia house, and she died within a fortnight. Palmer
acquired property from her by Ler death. In 1850 a Mr.
Bladon, a racing man, stayed for several days with Palmer
who owed him £800 for bets. Bladon died in circumstances
very like those attending Cook's death, and Pabner buried him
with the haste he attempted in the case of Cook, and he
narrowly escaped a similar accusation.

In 1854 Pabner effected insurances to the amount of £13,000
on his wife's life. Within six months she died much as Bladon
had died, and as Cook was to die. Dr. Bamford. a medical
man of eighty-two, whom Palmer seems to have hoodwinked
into serving his purposes, certified the death of Mrs. Palmer
as he had done the death of Bladon, and as he -.ras to certify
a year later that of Cook. Pahner drew the insurance money
from the offices concerned. They were influenced by the popular
suspicions and rumours in Rugeley and in the sporting circles
Pahner frequented, but they paid after some hesitation and
suggestion of inquiry, and Palmer was freed from the most
pressing of his liabilities. His diary contains this entry-

Sept. 29th (1854), Friday-My poor, dear Annie expired at
10 past 1." Nine days after this—" Oct. 8th, Sunday—At
church Sacrament." Nine months after his maidservant,
Jihza Tharm, bore an illegitimate child to him. Within three
months of his wife's death Pahner, with the assistance of Pratt
the moneylender, whose claims had been met by the insurance
on Mrs. Pahner's life, was making proposals to various offices
amounting to £82,000, on the life of hU brother Walter Ulti^

i6



Introduction.

mately an insurance for £13,000 was effected, and the poUcy
waa lodged with Pratt to secure advances. After this the
rest of Palmer's life-history is directly connected with the story
of the trial. The account we have given will suggest the,
perhaps unprecedented, interest with which the trial was
anticipated throughout the Midlands, and afterwards with what
absorbed attention it was followed by all England as wdl as
on the Continent.

I conclude this sketch by quoting a characteristic descrip-
tion by Sir James Stephen, who knew Palmer, had
studied the criminal type, and himself presided at one
of the most famous trials for poisoning. I^ says of
Palmer—" His career supplied one of the proofs of a fact which
many kind-hearted people seem to doubt, namely, the fact that
such a thing as atrocious wickedness is consistent with good
education, perfect sanity, and everything, in a word, which
deprives men of all excuse for crime. Palmer was respectably
brought up; apart from his extravagance and vice, he
might have lived comfortably enough. He was a model of

physical health and strength, and was courageous, determined,
and energetic. No one ever suggested that there was even
a disposition towards madness in him

; yet he was as cruel, as
treacherous, as greedy of money and pleasure, as brutally hard-
Iiearted and sensual a wretch as it is possible even to imagine.
If he had been the lowest and most ignorant ruffian that ever
sprang from a long line of criminal ancestors, he could not
have been worse than he was. He was by no means unlike

Rush, Thurtell, and many other persons whom I have known.
The fact that tht world contains an appreciable number of

wretches, who ought to be exterminated without mercy when
an opportunity occurs, is not quite so generally understood as

it ought to be—many common ways of thinking and feeling

virtually deny it."

^Mm
ii

frj '

^ 'j

I
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Leading: Dates in the Palmer Trial.

1865.

August Walter Palmer, William Palmer'i brother, dies.

Payment of policy on his life for £13,000

assigned to William Palmer, and held by
Pratt, moneylender, iis security, refused by
insurance o£Sce. Negotiations about it

continue up tn Cook's death.

Not. 6. Write issued by Pratt against Palmer and bis

mother for £4000, Mrs. Palmer's acceptance

being forged. Writs not served, for Palmer

to have opportunity of raising instalments.

,, 13. (Tuesday) Palmer and Cook go togeth^^r from

Rugeley to Shrewsbury Races. Cook's mare,

"Polestar," wins Shrewsbury Handicap,

and he has in his possession, in consequence,

£700 or £800, and is entitled to stakes of

£350 and bets, to be paid at Tattersall's the

Monday following, of over £1000.

„ 14. (Wednesday night) Cook ill at the Raven,

Shrewsbury, where he and Palmer stayed.

Palmer is alleged to have dosed his drink.

,, 15. Palmer's horse, "Chicken," beaten in his race,

and Palmer loses heavily.

Cook and Palmer return to Rugeley, and Cook
puts up at the Talbot.

„ 16. Cook dines with Palmer and Jeremiah Smith.

Cook apparently in usual health.

,, 17. (Saturday) Cook ill in bed, with the same
symptoms as at Shrewsbury.

,, 18. (Sunday) His illness continues, and during the

two days Palmer is in constant attendance,

and orders and administers food, drink, and
medicine. Dr. Bamford called in.

,, 19. (Monday) Palmer goes to London and arranges

with Herring to draw Cook's bets at Tatter-

sails and make payments to Pratt and Pad-

wick, the moneylenders.

Cook is better all the Monday while Palmer is

away.

i8
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1800.

Not. 19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Pklmer returm in the evening. Ooe« to Newton,

the auittunt of Mr. Salt, surgeon at Rugele^.

and purchases 3 grains of strychnia. Ix in

and out of Cook's room up to deven o'clock.

Gives Cook pills, and leavee about eleven

o'clock. These pills were professedly tlnvse

sent by Dr. Bamford, but were alleged by ihe

prosecution to have been substituted by

Palmer with others containing strychnia.

Jeremiah Smith gave evidence that Cook had

taken Dr. Bamford's pills before Palmer's

arrival,

out twelve o'clock Cook is taken ill with violent

spasms, and awakens household with violent

screaming. Palmer is sent for.

(Tuesday) CooV " comparatively comfortable " in

the morning.

Palmer during the day purchases from Roberta,

the assistant at the bhop of Mr. Hawkins,

druggist at Rugeley, prussio acid, 6 grains

of strychnia, and liquor of opium.

Palmer requests Cheshire, the Rugeley postmaster,

to fiU up cheque on Wetherby for Cook's

stakes won at Shrewsbury.

Mr. Jones, surgeon, of Lutterworth, Cook's most

intimate friend, comes, at Palmer's request,

to stay with Cook.

Pills again made up by Dr. Bamford at his house

and taken away by Palmer. Pills adminis-

tered by Pahner at 10.30. Jones sleeps in

Cook's room. Cook taken ill again as on

Monday, about twelve o'clock, and in a few

minutes dies. Pahner ?!.'id been sent for, and

was present at the death.

(Wednesday) Wetherby declines to pay £350
cheque, as the stakes were not received from

Shrewsbury.
Palmer writes to Pratt that he must have

"Polestar."

Palmer goes to London and pays Pratt £100; he

had no money at Shrewsbury, and lost on the

races.

Palmer at Rugeley again; sees Cheshire, and

desires him to witness a document purporting

to be signed by Cook acknowledging £4000

of bills t« have been negotiated by Palmer for

Cook.
»9
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Introduction.

26.
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Dm. 5.

8.

14.

Mr. Stwem. Cook', •tepf.th.r. arrivM in Ru«-
ley, MM Palmer, and diacusMg Cook'i afhira
•ai the funeral. Cook', betting book andpapw. not found. Coffin ordered by Palmer
without Steven.'. knowledge. "^Steven.Z^ »""'?"*L

tppearance of the body;
return, to I^ndon and consult, a wlicitor.wno give, him introduction to Mr. Gardner
eoUcitor in Bugeley. Steven, and Pahnermeet on the train from London to Rugeley.
and Steven, inform. Palmer that he intend.
to have a po.t-mort«m.

(Sunday) Palmer appliea to Dr. Bamford for death
certificate, which i. given for apoplexy.

Send, for Newton, and ha. a converiation about
the eirect. of .trychnia.

Po.t-mortem examination; Palmer i« pre.ent. and
act. (uipiciously.

"*" ^^*'?
*T*'"'5

J''?' ^'**' ''°"t«°t« '"-om the

Ke«:^r TayW.
'^ ""''^'" **^ "^ »*^'' ''^

Cheehire, having opeued Professor Taylor', letter

I^.i • . ,f''"J^'"',
<=ont«'n'nK account of

analysis, tells Palmer strychnia or otherpoiMn. with the exception of trace, of anti-mony, have not been found

'

'"xaVw^rettS.
*'* ^"""^'' " '"^ ^-^--

Inquest at which Professor Taylor give, evidence
Verdict of " wilful murder " returned
Palmer, who was in custody of SherifFs officer for

^'Stafford gToL^
""^ '""^ ''''''' ^^ *«'''-



THE TRIAL.

Within the Central Criminal Court,

Old Bailey, London.

Wkdnesd.w, l^TH MAY, 1856.

The Court met at Ten o'clock.

Jxulgex—
I/)RD CHIEF JUSTICE CAMPBELL
Mb. justice CRESSWELL
Ma BARON ALDERSON.

Counsel for the Croum—
The Attornet-Genkbal (6'ir Alexander Cockbum).
Mr. Edwabd James, Q.C.

Mr. Bodkin.

Mr. WEL3BT.

Mr. HUDDLESTON.

CouTUtel for the Prisoner—
Mr. Serjeant Shee.

Mr. Gbove, Q.C.

Mr. Gbat.

Mr. Kenealet.





Evidence for Prosecution.

The prisoner, William Palmer, surgeon, of Rugeley, aged
thirty-one was indicted for having at Rugeley, county of

Stafford, on 21st November, 1855, feloniously, wilfully, and
with malice aforethoviht, committed murder on the person of

John Parsons C ok.

On being car 'J if.on the piiioner pleaded not guilty.

The jury havi.j -" ^t' duly empanelled and sworn, the
Attorney-General opened the case for the Crown.

^

Evidence for the Prosecution.

IsmuEL Fisher, examined by Mr. James—I am a wine isiimael

merchant. I attend races occasionally, and knew the deceased, ''»'>•'

John Parsons Cook, for about two years. I was at Shrewsbury
Races in November, 1855, and I remember the race for the
Shrewsbury Handicap won with a maro called " Polestar,"

the property of Mr. Cook. That was on Tuesday, the 13th
of November. I saw Mr. Cook, tho deccr.sed, that day upon
the course. Ho appeared in his usual health and spirits. At
Shrewsbury I stopped at the Raven Hotel. I know Palmer, the
prisoner, very well. I have known him a little longer than I

have known Mr. Cook. Mr. Cook and Mr. Palmer were also

stopping at tho Raven Hotel, and were occupying a room near
me. There was only a wooden partition between my room
and theirs. Between eleven and twelve on the night of Wed-
nc'silay I went into the sitting room, in which Mr. Cook and Mr.
Palmer and Mr. Myatt were. Myatt is a saddler at Rugeley,
and is a friend of Palmer. They each appeared to have some grog
before them. In my presence Mr. Cook asked Mr. Palmer to
have some more brandy and water. Mr. Palmer said, " I shall

not have any more till you havo drunk yours." Mr. Cook said

then, " I will drink mine," and ho took up his glass and drank
it at a drop, or ho might have made two drops of it. After
he had drunk it he said, " There is something in it." He also

said, " It burns my throat dreadfully." Mr. Palmer then got
up and took up tho glass. He sipped up what was left of the
glass, and said, " There is nothing in it." There appeared to

be certainly not more than a teaspoonful left by Mr. Cook. At
that time a Mr. Reid, whom I knew, came in. He is a wine
merchant, and attendi races. After Palmer had put his glass
to his mouth and said, " There is nothing in it," he handed the
glass to Reid, and asked him if he thought there was anything

> See IntroduotioD, p. 2.



Trial of William Palmer.

I thought there wS-raTLr^?/
recogn.se anything. I «aid

not detect anjthTne belidLh °^^ '^?u*
"P°° '*' °"^y ' <«'"W

this Cook reSed Lm h«
""^^-^ '^^"* *«° '"•»"*«« ^^^r

calJed me outX/e room .^dT' ^""^.*^«° '^^"^ *'»'''^ ''°d

room. Cook at that t m"'wTs'vl?3 ^'fJZ Z' "^.^'"'S»said he had been verv rI^It »J^ ?^ lu ,

''"*^ *^" «'<=^'- He
dosed him On thyoc^a«;on ) t

*^°"?^* *'"'* ^"l'"^'- ^^^^

money, between JtSo Td Tsnn •

^^"''''^ "^ ^^^'^ « «"°> «f

to me'to be^kfn care of hV^-^"^.
"'''': ^* ^''^ g'^«°

Palmer and MrCookfoinfl "^'^i""*
'""y *'" ^"^e^- Mr.

occupied different ^edr "cm '" S'coo'k""^ •^°'""- '^^^^

money he was immediacy seized with Ik "^ ^V" T *'^'''

to his bedrooS" wLiie t were tr/. >

'*'"°"'^• "^°* "'*^ "'^

again, so much s?ttt wrthotht It
;7:^;'"'«''%/o'"iting

doctor, Mr. Gibson W i!** i
-^ :,'* "^'S^t to send for the

about'two o?bck or a little ^/'MrTr^ '" "'^ '"""^

half-past twelve or a Quarter to one I
°" '""! ^''""*

Gibson, as Cook was so ill Thp » ^ J ''^r'"
'*'"* ^°'" M''-

one, as near as I can remember Xr t"^-
' ''"* ^'' "^°"*

Cook became more compost The m!^H-"^
'"""^ "^'"°«

Gibson, but he .: d noradSnisS'it htS "Mr'Son"^
""'.

myself gave him the medicine Thl nlTf .°^^ "°**

o'clock I saw Palmer in mv nt« -ll * morning about ten

very ill. T pavn fiim v.o«i, I ^i! P' "® ^as looking
T "^ ,» ^ gave mm back his moner On tlmf Ha^ /ti. j x

in the habit of sertlin7hi8bet« fo7h' V'T'""'^^ ^^^ l'^^"

them himself. I wasln he h!bit n^'""
^'^'"^ ^^^'^ "«* ««*««

him at Tattersaira anS other places ^'T^h"^
receiving for

Cook's betting book in his DossesEn l/ Shrewsbury I saw
half the size of this ^a Imnil

T

,
°'.^ ''"'« °""-e than

as I can remember. ^?t wa \?rTral""tV^^^^^^ ^^ "^^^^
~lo^). On the 17th. whicLrslfu^^^./i^^.t

M^^^^^^^^^



Evidence for Prosecution.

by direcuon of Mr. Cook, £200 in a cheque. As his agent I IihmMl
expected to settle his Shrewsbury account at TattersaU's on "•''•'

the following Monday, and I should have been entitled to deduct
the £200. That was the course of dealing between us, but I

did not settle that account, as it turned out.

Cross-examined by Mr. Skkjkant Shee—I have known Mr.
Palmer a little longer than Mr. Cook. I knew that they were
a good deal connected with racing transactions. They
appeared to be very intimate, and were a great djal togethe^.

They generally stayed at the same hotels. I knew that Coqk
won considerably at Shrewsbury. I knew that " Polestar " w^s
his mare. I do not know whether Palmer also won. I sttw

Mr. Cook after the race on the course. He appeared very mUch
elated and gratified. " Polestar " won easily. In the room
to which I went in the evening, in which Mr. Cook, Mr. Palmer,
and Mr. Myatt were, I remember seeing a glass before Mr.
Palmer and before Mr. Cook. I could not answer for Myatt's
glass. I believe there was one decanter on the table. I did
not observe sufficiently the glasses to see whether both had been
drinking. Mr. Cook asked me to take some brandy. I do
not recollect drinking any, but I cannot positively remember.
I was not tipsy. I do not think I drank anything. I believe
I am a good judge of brandy by the smell. I smelt this glaes,

and said that it had a strong smell about it, but I thought
there was nothing in it unlike brandy. The glass was perfectly
empty, and had been completely drained. I had been in the
Unicorn in ^ning before this occurred. I saw both Cook
and Palmei Unicorn on Wednesday night about nine
o'clock, or bet .^ne and ten. I cannot say if he was drinking
then. I do n^i know that a good number of people happened
to be ill at Shrewsbury on that Wednesday or Tuesday. I had
a friend who was rather poorly there from f, different kind of
illness to Mr. Cook. Wednesday was rather dull. I do not
know that it rained, but it was damp under foot I remember.
I saw Mr. Cook about the racecourse several times on Wednes-
day. On Thursday I remember the weather was rather cold
and damp, but I cannot say whether it rained or not. On the
16th or 17th of November I received a letter from Mr. Cook,
dated Rugeley. loth November, 1855

—

Dear Fisher,—It is of very great importance to both Mr. Palmer
and myself that tha sum of £500 shoul-' be paid to Mr. Pratt, of
Queen Street, Mayfair, to-morrow, without fail. £300 hag been sent
up to-night, and if you will be kind enough to pay the other £200
to-morrow on receipt of thi», you will greatly oblige me. I will MtUe
it on Monday at Tattersall's. I am much better.

1 received this on the 17th at No. 4 Victoria Street, London.
I considered that Palmer and Cook were for some time jointly

as

I
^ I



Thomai
Jones

Trial of William Palmer.

connected with racing transactions, but there is no proof ol
it. Cook was not more elated after winning than people usually

THOMAa JoNB3, examined by Mr. Wblsdt—I am a law
stationer, and was at Shrewsbury Races last November. I
stayed at the Raven. On the Monday night Cook supped with
me and some other friends. He appeared well on that occasion,
as he also did on the luesday and Wednesday. On Wednesday
night, between eleven and twelve, Mr. Cook came into my room
at the Raven and invited me into his. I went there, and found,
amongst other people in the room. Palmer. After the party
broke up Mr. Fisher said something to me about Cook, in
consequence of which I went up to Cook's bedroom. I found
him there, and he complair... " i burning in his throat. He
was vomiting. Some pills ana .. ught were brought. Mr.
Cook refused to take the pills, in consequence of which I went
to the doctor, Mr. Gibson, and got some liquid medicine from
him, which I brought back and gave to Mr. Cook. He drank
about a wineglasslul of the medicine, and after that he also
took some of the pills. Nest morning, between six and seven,
I again saw him. He looked pale, and appeared to be unwell.

OeopgeRetd Geohoe Reid, examined by Mr. Bodkin— I was acquainted
with the deceased Mr. Cook and the prisoner Palmer. I saw
them at Shrewsbury Races in November. On the Tuesday and
Wednesday Cook appeared to be in his u.sual health. On
W<anesday night I went into the room at th2 Raven where
Palmer and Cook were. There was anotlier gentleman present.
We had a glass of brandy and water before the time to rest.
Almost immediately after I arrived there I noticed that Cook
was :n pain. I heard him say to Mr. Palmer there was sonie-
thmg in the brandy and water. Mr. Palmer banded me the
glass to taste from it. I said, " What is the use of handing
me the glass when it is empty? " The next time I saw Cook
was about eleven o'clock the next morning. He said he was
very ill.

Cross-examined by Serjeant Shee— I should consider that
Cook s general state of health was delicate. Ho always had a
pallid complexion, and did not look like a strong man.

W.S.OIb»on William ScAFE Gibson, examined by Mr. Huddlbston—
I am assistant to Mr. Heathcote, surgeon, at Shrews-
bury. On Uth November last, between twelve and one
at night, I was sent for to the Raven Hotel, and
saw there Mr. Cook in his bedroom. He was not in bed. He
complained of pain in his stomach and heat in his throat, and

ab



Evidence for Prosecution.

aaid he thought he had been poisoned. His pulse was about W.S.Olbwn

90 • his tongue was perfectlr clean. I advised him to take an

emetic, which he did, and "he was then very sick. Nothing

came away but water. I nent him two pills and a draught.

The pills consisted of rhubarb and 3 grains of calomel. The

draught consisted of mistura sennaciini Later on in the

same night I gave Mr. Jones some medicine for Cook. I never

saw Cook after that occasion.

Cross--.iamined by Mr. Serjeant Shee—I treated Cook as if

he had taken poison. I took him at his word, that he had

taken poison, not from his symptoms. He seemed a little

excited by drink.

I—I was E. Bills
Elizabeth Mills, examined by Mr. Jambs

chambermaid at the Talbot Arms at Rugeley in Novem-

ber last. I had been there about two years. I

knew the prisoner. He was in the habit of coming to the

Talbot Arms. I remembei on Thursday, the 15th, between

nine and ten at night, Mr. Cook, along with Mr. Palmer came

to the Talbot Arms. He retired to rest between ten and eleven.

He said he had been poorly, and was feeling poorly then. The

next morning he got up about twelve o'clock, and said he felt

no worse, but still he was not well. That nit^lit he retired

to bed about half-past ten. He said he had been to Mr.

Palmer's and had dined there. On Saturday raoming

about eight, Palmer, who lived opposite to the Talbot Arms,

came over. He ordered a cup of coffee for Mr. Cook, which

I believe I gave to Mr. Cook in his bed: im. Mr. Palmer was

in the room at the time. I did not see Cook drink it, but

about half an hour afterwards I returned into the room and

found that the coffee had been vomited. On that occasion I

observed a jug in the room which did not belong to the Talbot

Arms. It was sent down to mc by Lavinia Barnes to make

some more toast and water. During that Saturday I saw Palmer

perhaps four or five times in Cook's room. I heard him say

to Mr. Cook that he would send over some troth. I did not

see it brought over, but 1 saw the broth in the kitchen. The

cook told me that it had come over from Mrs. Rowley. The

broth had not been made at the Talbot Arms. Later in the

day I took up the broth to Mr. Cook. About a quarter of an

hour after the broth came over I met Palmer coming up the

stairs to Cook's room. He asked if Cook had had his broth.

I told him I did not know that any was come for him. During

this conversation Lavinia Barnes came forward and said she

had taken up the broth to Mr. Cook as soon as it had come,

and he had refused to take it, saying that it would not stay

in hi- stomach. Palmer said that I must go and fetch the

broth, which I did, and tcok it into the room. Mr. Palmer was

tl
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Trial of William Palmer.

I

the broth had been vorni?L aLT'^ "^^ """^ ^""nd that
J-ome barley water JsZXfortol "'l

? '^^\ *^* «^«^ <*
but I canrot remember whether th«,\ *?''^ ^^"^ "P *« *»i^
not At eight o'clock that tenit IW '" ^" ''*"°"'<=1' "^
to Cook The first time I saw Mr R /P."??^ arrowroot
RugeleyJ was about three o'cTIk o„' *? "i""'^ 1*^^ <^°«*<" ^t
Between seven and eighfon the Sun/

^"^""'^^^ afternoon.
Mr. Cook's room. Dur.W tl e nfX A? "S'^-l^ ' ''«°* ^°to
Mr Cook, had slept in thi same fJl, 't

^",'**'' ^ ^"«°d of
he felt worse. He saW l.» f u °°"- ' ^^'^^ Mr. Cook if
«lept well since twe v^^'cU ^T' ^r'''?'^"^' «°dlad
breakfast cup of broth L! . ,^^°" *^« Sunday a large
Charles Hawfev ItookllTt' *° *^" Talbot Anns g
tho same cup 'in whS it wL k'* \ '° ^'- ^"''"s room jj
tablespoonfuLf tlfe broti bSeiTo!^ ' "^^ ^'^"* *-°
tv^olve and one beforp m,? r *° .

'* "P- '* ^as between
About half an hour aLnirdsTn*^"* ' ^'^^^^ *^" bro'h"
vomited violently all te it Soon .M.^"^ 1"^ ^'''^' ^^^ I
was obliged to go to bed uTtl 1\ !^°"* ^^'^ «'<'l«<=k. I
well. I had taken ^oJhrng hat I am „

""^ '
l'''i

^^^" 1"^*«
agreed with me. In the fven?n„ o^ """"^ °' ^^''^ ^^^ dis-
Sunday I saw Mr. Cook sev^tf"f °° ^^" °'°™'''& «' the
better during that evening a„d to h.' •

"'
V^^'^'"^ ^ ^^

last time I saw him on the slnVj ^ , "" ^°°^ ^P'"*"- The
^^-

a little after thS. I Ba\ £'L"'^''*
"'^^* ^^ '^bout ten

the Monday mornine I tn^I- 7.™
between seven and eight on

not vomit that. Ser w« sther^.^ ^^ ^ ""P- "^ '^"ff^^- HeZ
or half-past seven. I saw him /I •

* r'"'"^ ''^°"* ^ q^-^rter
had been to see Mr Colk \rSfI T*"'" "^ *^°"gJ> ^e
on that Monday. He appeared a^^^ TJ ?.^* ''"^ °'°><^k
washed and dressed and Xved ..fJl/^^^.''^""'"' '^"d he
exceed ngly weak On vl »* 1

'"'"self. He said he felt
Mr Sauis^Cook'^Vate^'Sed^?'"^"' /'^^ ^°^'^^' -^
got up at one o'clock IXe h7m tL "^ "^^ '^'"'^ «" Cook
retamed in his stomach. 1 believrhrh H

"'''^'•°°*' "^'''^ h.
four or five. About eithT' if '"^'.'^

'^ *="? "^ ''off'-' about
the housekeeper g"a'vet* a niHK"'"*

"•^''' **'«« B°n3
to Mr. Cook's'roL, Xeh I'^JS" *^ *?^^ "P«*«'"
the dress ne-table Tf J.

°'*^' ^^^ placed it or
I do not kl; whether the hn ""'"T-^ ."P '» ^^ite paper
I had placed the pnibo, ^'^ St'^l. P'"^ "'^ '^°*- ^fte'^
came and went intJ Cook's ?oom T ^''T^'''^^^' P^'n^^''
by the fire between nine and ten I roTi".™ ""'"^ ^^"^
ten and eleven. About a quarter nr !

•'"^ ^ "'* between
Layinia Barnes, the wait?e?s c^IL „,." "^'""ft

^^''^ *^«l-e
volent screaming whilst r;«"5JeSr

"P"
ll^^^'^'"'^

^ "°"« »'
38

aressing. The screams came



Evidence for Prosecution.

from Cook's room. My room is on the floor above Cook's room.
I heard the screams twice, and went down to Cook's room. As
soon as I entered the room I found him sitting vp in bed. He
desired me to fetch Mr. Palmer directly, I walked to hia
bedside, and I found the pillow upon the floor. There was one
mould candle burning. I picked up the pillow and asked him
would he lay down his head. At that time he was sitting up
and was beating the bed-c thes, with both his arms and
hands stretched -^ut. He sau .

" I cannot lie down. I shall
suffocate if I do. Oh, fetch Mi. Palmer." His body, his
hands, and neck were moving then—a sort of jumping or
jerking. His head was back. Sometimes he would throw back
his head upon the pillow, and then he would raise himself up
again. This jumping and jerking was all over his body. He
appeared to have great difiiculty in breathing. The balls of
both the eyes were much projected. It was difficult for him
to speak, he was so short of breath. He screamed three or
four times while I was in the room. He called aloud '

' Murder "
twice. He asked me to rub one hand. I found the left hand
stiff. It appeared to be stretched out as though the fingers
were something like paralysed. It did not move. It appeared
to me to be stiff all the way up his arm. I did not rub him
very long. The stiffness did not appear to be gone after I
had rubbed him. During the time I was rubbi.ig his hands
Palmer was in the room. Cook was conscious while this jerking
of the body was going on. He recognised Palmer when he c.ime
m, and said, "Oh, Palmer, I shall die," or "Oh, doctor, I
shall die." Pahner replied, " Oh, my lad, you won't." Palmer
then left to fetch something, and asked me to stay by the
bedside with him. He returned in .1 few minutes, durini? which
time I merely stood by the bedside. He broueht bade with
him some pills. He gave him something olse, but whether he
brought it with him or not I do not know. He crave him a
drop from a wineglass after giving him the pills. Cook, when
he took the pills, said he could not swallow tliem. At Palmer s
request I gave Cook a teaspoonful of toast and water, which
he took. When I gave it him from the spoon his body was
then jerkmg and jumping. He snapped at the spoon like that
[deacnbmg it] with his head and neck, and the spoon was fast
between his teeth. It was difficult to get it away. He seemed
to bite it very hard. While this was going on the water went
down his throat and washed the pills down. Mr. Palmer then
handed him the draught from the wineglass. It was something
liquid, and the wineglass was three parts full with a liquid of a
dark, heavy-looking nature. Cook drank it. He snapped at
the glass just the same as he did at the spoon. He swallowed
the liquid, which was vomited up immediately. I supported his
forehead with my hand while he vomited. The stuff he vomited

.HUI«
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Trial of William Palmer.

ii^'it' "^ °P'T: P"^'^' "»d *hat he hopedj^ot returned, and he searched for the pill,^oaid, I cannot find the pills." After tiiisS
"it"Xh\T- ™' -^r^ "''''^^ ^'"'^ ''bout S5It might be niore. He appeared to be consciousduring u,„ whofe-oTtTat I^e. Si tiST.Zrjm'T'

mg. ne asked me if I had ever seen anv one suffer such ao-nnvas he was in last n^ht. and I said no/l nev^fhld I afJSWhat do Tou thmk was the cause of all that Mr t^oW » •'„,!?

saTcnok'
P'!!'

*T^' l''""''
^'^^ '"™ '' halfpa^t te?° When

i

JerLnL or"o.!f
^""^'^ T™'^? ^ *^'*^ '^'^^ "^serve any of th^se

JanJT Li !i^T°-
".^""^ ^''"- ^b°"* t'^el^e o'clock heH Mi """^ ^^^"^ ™^ *o «end the boots over to askPalmer whether he might have a cup of coffee T^p h«„+.^turned and said he nfght have a ^ o coffi!' and^hat Mr

cuTo7"cor: 't fr; I *°°^ "p
*s

^'•- ^-^^'« '00^^^cup of coffee. At that time I saw Palmer in the room I leftthe room, and afterwards I saw Palmer, who told me that MrCook had vomited the coffee He spoke from the door of Cook^sroom, but did not call me in. I saw Cook severaT times thaevening before I ret red to rest. He appeared to beTn ver
*

f believri\vfhim';'
'''"* ^"•"^, "^ *^^ °-* -""^S

naS tPn ^J °"t •-"•fo^root that evening about haU-

h,m T .,. P r ''''' .^'^'^ '""^ '" ^'« bedroom when I lefthim. I gave Palmer n jug of toast and water for Cook MrPalmer asked Cook if I could do anything more for hL SLtni^ht and Mr Cook said he would want nothing more £jwas «V,ut half-past ten. I did not go to bed that ni^ht hutTrcvaauM in the kitchen, as I was^nxious to see how 5rCook went on. While I was in the kitchen the bell ol mJCook s room rang violently a little before tw.^ve rTiVesday

a S.ll»f^^ii""*
^^' '^"^P'°? •" ^°°k'8 bedroom, wkich wisa double-bedded room, and where a bed had been iade upZ



Evidence for Prosecution.

bun. I went upstairs to Mr. Cook's room on hearing the bell. i!.MinsHe was sitting up in bed, and Mr. Jones appeared to be
supporting him. Mr. Cook said. " Oh, Marjr, fetch Mr. Palmer
curectly. He was conscious at the time. I went over for
ATr. Palmer. I rang the surgery beU at the surgery door. I
expected hun to come to the window and as soon as I stepped
off the step into the road he was at the bedroom window. He
did not put up the sash. At that time I could not see whether
he was dressed or not. I asked him to come over to Mr. Cook
directly, as he was much the same as he was the night before.
I then went back to the bote'. Palmer came two or three
minutes afterwards. I was in the bedroom when Palmer came
!', P« remarked that he had never dressed so quickly in his
hfe. That was the first thing he said when he came into
Cook 8 room. Mr. Cook was sitting up in bed, supported byMr Jones. After Mr. Palmer came I remained on the landing,
just outside the door. After I had been waiting a short time
Palmer came out. I said to him that Mr. Cook was much
about the same as last night, and he replied that he was not
90 111 by the fiftieth part. He then went downstairs as thoueh
he was going into his own house, and after a very short time
he came back to Cook's room. After Palmer had returned I
heard Cook ask to be turned over on his right side. I was at
the door at the time, which was open. I did not go in I
was not in the room when Cook died. I went in. I believe,
just before he died, but I came out again. I saw Mr. Jones
supporting Cook. Mr. Palmer was then feeling Mr. Cook's
pulse, and he said to Mr. Jones, "His pulse is gone." Mr
Jones pressed the side of his face to Cook's heart. Mr. Palmer
asked me to fetch Mr. Bamford, and I did so. From the time
i was caUed up, about ten minutes before twelve, till Cook's
death would be about three-quarters of an hour. Mr. Bamford
came over, and I saw him when he came downstairs. He
said, He is dead. He wa dead when I arrived." Mr. Jones
came out of the room and told me that Mr. Palmer wanted me
I went into the room and saw Mr. Pakner. There was no one
with him. I said, " It is not possible Mr. Cook is dead," and
he said. Oh, yes, he is dead." He asked me to arrange about
laying out Cook. I had seen a book in Mr. Cook's room, a
dark book with a gold band round the edge. It had a pencil
going mto It on one side. Cook stopped at the Talbot Arms
perhaps two or three months before this time. I saw the
book on the Monda^ night before Mr. Cook's death He
wrote something in it, and took from a pocket in the book a
postage stamp. I placed the book back at the looking-glass
on the drcssmg-table. I have never seen that book since
1.0OK 8 death. I have searched everywhere for it. When Iwent into the room where Cook's body was lying Palmer was
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Trial of William Palmer.

•.ULthere I notieed that Cook'i clotbei were phc^ on » ohair
I WW Palmer warching the pocket. That wm on the Tueaday
night about ten minutes after Cook'i death. He al«) aeaichedund r the pUlow and bolster. After Cook's death I ..TTiS
letters on the mantelpiece which were not there before.

The Court then adjourned.



Second Day, Thursday, 15th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

EuaABETH MiLU, croM-Mamined by Mr. Swuiant Shm—I K. milt
had been at the Talbot Arms about three years at the date
of Mr. Cook's death. He first came to the Talbot Arms about
three months before he died, and up to the time of his death
he was constantly coming buck and forward. During the
time he was there I never heard him complain of anything
except a sore throat or something of that kind through cold.
I never noticed t! it he had any soreness about his mouth or
that he had diflBculty at all in swallowing. 1 have seen him
with a foul tongue about once or so. He never complained in
my hearing of the tongue being sore so as to render it diffi-
cult to swallow. I do not know of caustic having been applied
to it while he was there. Before he went to Shrewsbury he
had not been ailing at all to my knowle<lge. When he came
back he said he was poorly. After Cook's death I stayed at
the Talbot Inn till the day after Christmas. I then went to
my home m the Potteries, Shelton. Since then I have beenm service in Dolly's Hotel, Paternoster Row, London. I
stayed six weeks there as chambermaid. About a week after
I came to London I saw Mr. Stevens (the Biepfather of Cook)
about SIX or seven times. Two or three times I saw him
alone; at other times perhaps Mrs. Dewhurst, the landlady of
the mn, or Miss Dewhurst was there. It was not always about
Mr. Cook's death that he spoke to me. He would merely call
to se-^ how I liked London, and whether I was well in health
and all that.

Mr. Stevens is a man not in your station. He is a g.ntle-
man. Do you mean to say he called to see how you liked
London?—Just to see whether I liked the place. I had some
conversation with him at the Talbot Inn just before the funeral.
I really cannot remember what he spoke about beyond Mr.
Cook s death. During the time I was at Dolly's Hotel I never
received a farthing from him, and he never made me any
promise to get a place. The last time I saw him out of Court
was on Tuesday last at Dolly's Hotel. He never spoke to me
about Mr. Cook's death. When I saw him at that time there
were other people present, including Lavinia Barnes, Mr.
Gardner, and Mr. Hat*. the chief officer of policj in StaflFord-
shire. Mr. Gardner is an at*" jey at Rugeley. I cannot
say what aU the talk was about. Mr. Cook's death might be
mentioned. I daresay it was. I will undertake to say that
there were other subjects of con'-^rsation between us besides oho
subject of Cook's death. I do not wish to mention what they
were. They did not, so far as I heard, talk about the evidence
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iTX *° *^'!- ^*y ^'^ ""^ "^ ™« **»«* I could prove, nor
did they read my depositions before the coroner to me. Therewas nothing read to me from a newspaper or anvthintr else
Mr. htevens never at any previous interview read anvthine
from a newspaper to me. He never talketl to me about the
symptoms which Mr. Cook exhibited before his death. Before
last Tuesday I had seen Mr. Hatton about twice. I saw him
once at DoUy's, when he dined there. 1 did not wait upon
him. I merely saw him there. He might have talked about
Mr. Cook 8 death, but ! cannot remember. I have seen Mr.
Gardner there three or four times since Mr. Cook's death
I have seen him at Dolly's, and have met him in the street'
I have merely said, "How do you do," or "Good mo- nine."
I have had no other talk with him. I do not remember to
have read the case of a Mrs. Dove in the newspapers, but Imay have done so. I have heard spoken of n case that htelv
occurred at Leeds of a lady who was said to have been poisoned
by her husband, but I did not read it. It was not mentioned

HatSn
Stevens, nor by Mr. Gardner, nor by Mr.

Were you told when you heard of it what the symptoms of
Mrs. Dove ^yere?-I tlunk not. I mordv heard there had
been strychnine used at Leeds, another strychnine case.
Were the symj.toms of strychnine e'-cr naentioned to vou byany one?—No, never.

'

When and to whom, did you first use the expression " twitch-
ing, Tvhich you mentioned so rejieatodlv yesterday?—To the
coroner. I did If I did not mention twitchinir, l" m.^ntioned
somethmp to the same efiPect. I will not 8^^ear I us^hI thatword at the coroner's. I cannot remember when I first used
the word twitching." I cannot rememlM^r when I first used
the word jerking " to anybody. I will undortake to sw<^ar
It has never l)een used to me by anybody
You stated yesterday that on" the' Sunday some broth was

brought in a breakfastcup between twelve "and one o'clock-
that you took it up to Cook's bedroom

; that you drank about
two tablespoonfuls

; that you were sick the whole afternoon
and vomited till five o'clock. Did you state one word about
that in your deposition before the coroner?—It never occurre<l
to me until three days afterwards.

Did you state before the coroner that there was nothing
peculiar m the taste of the broth?—I believe I was examined
three times before the coroner. My attention h.od been caUed
to the fact of broth having been sent over on one occasion,
but I do not remember whether it was the first. I was asked
If I had t-nst^d it, and I statc-d I had tastod it, and thought itwas veiy good. It never occurred to me to mention that Iwas sick and vomited frequently in the course of the afternoon
YOU went to bed m consequence of the vomiting? ^Yes.
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I wippoM .icknew of that kind repeated frequently in the l. itiii.cour« of an afternoon i. not a ver^ ^nuuon ScSce wUhTOU/-.NO, I have a bilious attack sometimes, but not sihvioltai vomumg a. 1 hud ihat aiteraoon. 1 could no? a!^
TheToJ>!; " "' '^* 'T- ^ ''"^^ '^^^ two tablin uS^

.„ii S^
SJaturduy morning did Cook express a wish to havecoffee for breaklast, or was it from Palmer the fir«f vn,. k!!!^

Patertn'/r''"' T- ^° ^ -«-»-?"o not knor^heSSPahner told me to brmg coffee or whether it wa. Co^k Jnever knew Mr. Cook to take coffee in bed befor? H^generally took tea.
utiure. Me

.iLZ^T^i'"'^
?''".*'' ""^ yesterday Palmer came over at

afire f'i'rf 'if T*^""""*^
" ^"^ «^ "^'^'^ ^'^ Cook. Do you

ir or not. Jt l said it vesterdav it is rnrrt^t i..,f t ^
remember whether Palme'r orderS thrcXe'or not noT'lw,U swear now that Palmer ordered the coffee, and I Took iand gave it mto Cook'« hands, and Palmer wa thereYou swear to it now?—Yes.

T I°L'!''!i''*f! •!
" °'°"'^"* ago?_If that was stated yesterday

1 do not doubt it was correct
jcaieruay

LJT"'ii L ?.
*%°".*'""^' ''"'^ th^t te vomited directly he

oni! 'ilZ^ V*'
''"'^

*i>^* "P t° 'he time I had piven him the

? .!. J"/*^ °?* '^^° P*'°^^'-- I «=»n°ot remember whether I

Xu I "w
''' •'^""'^ ""•^"'""^^ '^^""^ '"^^ Pillbo/on Men av

that Pallr ^"i^^^'-.^r^'Pr-cd up in paper. I will s^^earthat Palmer was there between nine and ten o'clock hIbrought a jar of jelly to the Tnlbot, and I open^ it I shoddsay he was there nearer to ten than nine. I do not re^Xt
Y^r.tto7' *':""r'"e ' '''' ^"^"^ ^^^ half-p'st ten. """*
Jou stated yesterday that you asked Cook on the Tuesd-ivaf ernoon what he thought the cause of his illne" was, an5 JJ«»d. The pills which Palmer gave me at half-past ten '' J-
nid you say that before the coroi.erf—No
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Trial of William Palmer.

I. HlUt questioned by Dr. Collier at Hitchingly. I did not tell him
tiiat the gentleman in London had altered my evidence on that

point, and that my evidence was now to be that " Cook said

the pilla which Palmer gave him at half-past ten made him
m."

Did he state anything about your evidence being altered

since?—^Tes; he said he bad not got that down in what I

had given to the coroner in the coroner's papers. I said
" No, I thought it was down in some of the papers. I had
given it to a gentleman in London." The evidence has been
altered by myself since. I do not remember who the gentle-

man was that I had given it to. I gave it to him at Dolly's.

The gentleman came to me at Dolly's and asked if I would
answer him a few questions. I said I would, and I saw him
in a sitting-room. I was with him about half an hour. He
asked me not very many questions, and during the time I

was answering the questions he was writing. He did not tell

me who he was or whom he came from, but he mentioned Mr.
Stevens' name.
What did he say about Mr. Stevens!—Mr. Stevens was with

him. He called Mr. Stevens by name.
Why did you not tell us that before?—You did not ask me.
Then, although you did not know who he was, you knew he

was an acquaintance of Mr. Stevens because he came with him?
—He did. All that I said then was taken down. I do not remem-
ber saying before the coroner that when Cook was ill on Monday
night and sitting up in bed beatinp the bed-clothes he said,

" I cannot lie down ; I shall suffocate if I do." I do not remem-
ber whether I mentioned the word "jerking" before the

coroner.

Did you say before the coroner, " He would throw his head
back and raise himself up again "?—^Yes.

You will say you said that?—Yes. I do not know whether

I mentioned the word " jerking." I said the whole of the body
was in a jumping, snatching way. I believe I mentioned it

was difficult for him to speak, he was so short of breath. I

did not mention about him calling " murder " twice. I do not

remember whether I mentioned before the coroner that Mr.

Cook said the pills stuck fast in his throat and he could not

swallow them. I did not answer the coroner anything more
than he asked me. If he had asked me I should have
answered him as I am answering now.

The first time that you were examined before the coroner

was Dr. Taylor present?—I believe he was.

Were you not recalled after you had been examined once for

the purpose of describing the symptoms for Dr. Taylor to

hear?—I was not. I was never examined as to the symptoms
when I knew the medical gentlemen were there. I cannot
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remember how Mr. Palmer was dressed when he came over on K. Mills

the Tuesday night. He had a plaid dressing-gown on, but I

cannot remember what sort of cap he had. When Mr. Jonea
asked me to go into the room after Mr. Cook's death I went
in at once, and it was then that I saw Palmer searching the
pockets of the coat. When I went in he did not seem at all

confused.

Re-examined by Mr. Jaios—I was under examination before
the coroner perhaps a couple of hours on different occasions.
The coroner put the questions to mc, and the coroner's clerk,
I believe, wrote down my answers. The coroner asked me if

the broth had any effect on me, and I said not that I was
aware of.

By Mr. Serjiant Shbe—What brought to your mind after-
wards the vomiting after taking the broth!—I do not know. I
believe it was some one else in the house that mentioned my
sii^kness first. It did not occur to me until some one else

mentioned it about a week after the coroner was there.
Re-examination resumed—I cannot remember who it was,

but it was some of my fellow-servants in the house. A person
of the name of Dr. Collier called upon me and represented that
he was for the Crown. Tie asked me questions about the
inquest and about the death of Mr. Cook, That would be
about three weeks or a month ago, at Hitchingley.

Jambs Gardner, examined by the Attornet-Gbneral—I J- Oardner

am an attorney, and attended for lur. Stevens at the inquest.
The inquest lasted five days, and on each of these days I had
several times occasion to expostulate with Mr. Ward, the
coroner, as to questions which he put or omitted to put, and
I observed that the clerk omitted to take down answers given
to the questions which had been put.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Sheb—A great many ques-
tions were put by the jury after the examination of the pro-
fessional men.
By the Attornet-Gbnbral—The jury made very strong

observations as to the necessity for further questions.
Objection to statement of these observations allowed.

Mrs. Anns Brooks, examined by the ArroBNET-GENBRAi,— I Anna Brooks
live in Manchester, and am in the habit of attending race meet-
ings. I was at Shrewsbtiry races in November, 1855. About
eight o'clock in the '^ening of Wednesday, the Uth, I met
Palmer in the street. I had some conversation with him as
to horses that were running during that week at Shrewsbury.
About half-past ten the same evening I went, along with some
friends, to the Raven, where I knew Palmer was staying.
I had been there frequently before. I left my friends down-
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Abb* Brooks atairs and went upstairs to go to Palmer's room, which I knew.
As I approached Palmer's room a servant called my attention

to Palmer himself, who was standing at a small table in the pass-

age. When I first saw him he had a glass tumbler in his hand,
in which there appeared to be a small quantity of liquid like

water. I did not see him put anything in the glass. I

saw him shaking up the fluid that was in it. There was a
light in the passage. It was nearer to me than to him. He
held up the glass as if he were looking ai the light through it.

He then said to me, " I will be with you presently." He
noticed me the moment I got to the top of the stairs. After
he made that remark to me he stood for a minute or two
holding the glass in his hand up to the light once or twice
and shaking it now and then. The only observation he made
was about the line weather we had. After this he carried the
glass into a sitting room adjoining his own. The room, I

imagined, was empty, as I heard no one speaking. He re-

mained there two or three minutes, and came out with the
glass still in his hand, and carried it into his own sitting room,
shutting the door after him. Three or f-^ .r minutes after-

wards he came out to me, bringing me a glass—it might be
the same one, it was very like it—with some brandy and water
in it. I took the brandy and water, and it produced no un-
pleasant consequences in me. We had some conversation
regarding the next day's racing, and he said Le should back
his own horse "Chicken." "Chicken" lost. Palmer never
told me afterwards whether he had won or lost on the race.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjbant Shbb—I am a married
woman, and am in the habit of attending race meetings, but
my husband does not sanction my going when he knows about
it. Several people were taken ill in Shrewsbury on the Wed-
nesday. One of my company was dreadfully ill, and there
was a wonder what could cause it ; we made an observation.
We thought the water miprht have been poisoned. We were all

affected the same way by sickness.

Can you tell me in what way it affected persons!
By the Attornbt-General—Any person you saw. Whom

did you see yourself affected in that way?—There was a lady
that came to meet me there ; she was one ; and there was
another party in my company who was so ill that he could not
go to the races on Thursday.
By Mr. Serjeant Shbb—^They were affected by sickness and

P'! Ring.

Yon saw Palmer with the glass in his hand?—I did.
Did he put it up to the light?—He held it just carelessly up.

I did not see any substance in the glass. Tie was doing this
in a passage that led to a great many rooms. I could not say
if there was more than one light in the passage. I think it

38



Evidence for Prosecution.

waa a chandelier. He said, " I will be with you presently," AnMBvoeks
when he carried the glass into the room which I supposed to

have been unoccupied.

Did he also say that while he was holding it to the light t—Yes,

just in this manner, quite carelessly.

And at that time you thought nothing of it?—I thought he
was mixing up some cooling draught, and was waiting for some
water. I was not examined before the coroner.

By the Attobnbt-Gbnkbal—The brandy and water he gave
me was cold, not hot. I have known Palmer for a great
number of years as a racing man.

Lavinia Barnes, examined by Mr. Jamss—In November, i,

1866, I was in service as waitress at the Talbot
Arms. I knew both Palmer and Mr. Cook. I saw
Mr. Cook on 12th November on his wuy to the

Shrewsbury Races. He seemed quite well then. I saw him on
Thursday, the 16th, on his return from the races. On Friday
I saw him between nine and ten, when he came back after

having dined with Palmer. He was quite sober. I saw Mr.
Cook twice on Saturday. On that day I remember son.^ broth
being sent over, which I took up to Mr. Cook. He could not
take it, as he said he waa too sick. I brought the broth down
to the kitchen. I saw Palmer, and told him that Cook would
not take the broth, as he was too sick. Palmer said he must
take it, and it was taken up again to him by Elizabeth Mills.

I did not see any broth being brought over on the Sunday.
Between twelve and one on the Sunday Elizabeth Mills waa
taken ill, and had to leave her work and go to bed. I saw
her ; she was vomiting violently. Between four and five

she returned to work, and complained to me of having been
ill from the vomiting. I saw some broth in a basin in the
kitchen on the Sunday. I do not know where it was made.
It was in a sick cup with two handles. The cup did not belong
to the Talbot Arms, and it went back to Palmer's. Between
seven and eight on Sunday morning I heard Palmer say he
was going to London on the Monday. On Monday I saw Cook
after dinner. Mr. Saunders, the trainer, visited him, and I

took up some brandy and water to them. On that night I

slept in the room next Mr. Cook's. I saw Palmer between eight
and nine that night going upstairs in the direction of Cook's
room. I saw him in the room afterwards between twelve and
one o'clock. About twelve o'clock I was in the kitchen, when
Mr. Cook's bell rang violently. I went up to his room, and
found he was very ill. Ho asked me to send for Mr. Palmer.
Ho wag screaming " murder," and was in violent pain. He
said he was suffocating. His eyes looked very wild, and were
standing a great way out of his head. He was beating the
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UBaraM bed with bia handi. I sent the boots for Palmer, and went
and called Elizabeth Mills. After Palmer came I went up to
the room again. Cook seemed to be more composed. Palmer
told him not to be alarmed. I saw Cook drinking a darkish
mixture in a glass. I cannot remember who gave it to him,
but Palmer was in the room when it was given. When Cook
put the glass to his mouth he snapped at it. I both saw and
heard him do it. He vomited the black-looking draught. I
left the room between twelve and one, and he seemed more
composed then. I saw him again on the Tuesday, and he
seemed to be much better. A few minutes before twelve o'clock
on the Tuesday night Elizabeth Mills and I were in the kitchen.
Mr. Cook's bell rang, and Elizabeth Mills went up to answer it.

I followed her upstairs, but did not go into the room. I heard
Cook scream. Elizabeth Mills went for Palmer, and he came.
He was dressed in his usual way, with a black coat on. There
was nothing peculiar about his dress. He wore a cap. After
Palmer went into the room I remained on the landing. I did
not hear what was going on inside. Palmer came out and
went downstairs for something. When he came out Elizabeth
Mills asked him how Mr. Cook was, and he replied, " Not
so bad by a fiftieth part." She and I were both together when
he said this. I went into the room before Mr. Cook died. Mr.
Jones was there in attendance upon him. Before I went into
the room, and when Palmer was there, I heard Cook ask to be
turned over. After I went into the room I do not remember
hearing anything. I came out again before Cook's death, and
did not see him die. I returned to the room afterwards, and
saw Palmer there with one of Cook's coats in his hands. He
was feeling the pockets. I also saw him feel under the bolster
I left him in the room with the dead body. On the Thursday
following I met Palmer in the hall of the hotel. He asked me
for the key of Cook's room, and I fetched it from the bar.
He said he wanted some books and papers and a paper knife,
which were to go back to the stationer's where he had them
from, or he should have to pay fo- them. I went into the room
with him. While there he asked me to go to Miss Bond, the
housekeeper, for some books she had. I brought them back
with me to the room, and found Palmer there searching on the
chest of drawers among some books and clothes belonging to
Mr. Cook. I thought it was the paper knife he was looking for,

as he saidi " I cannot find the knife anywhere." Miss Bond
then came into the room, and I left. I saw Mr. Jones, who had
visited Cook on the Tuesday, on the Friday with Palmer. 1

heard him ask Palmer if he knew where Cook's betting book
was. I cannot remember what Palmer replied. He said it

would be sure to be found, and asked me and the chambermaid
to go and look for it. He also said, " It was not worth anything
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to anybody but Cook." This would be between three and four

o'clock, and Mr. Stevens, who was at the Talbot Arms that

day, left about half-past four. We went to look for the betting

book. Palmer did not go with us. We searched under the bed
and all round the room. We did not look in the chests of

drawers, of which there were two in the room, both unlocked.

We went downstairs and told Palmer we could not find the

book. He said, "Oh, it will be found somewhere; I will go
with you and look myself." He did not go, but went out of

the house, and I did not see him afterwards. I cannot say
how long Palmer was in the room on the Thursday. There
was no reason why we did not search the drawers for the betting

book. There were some people in the room with Mr. Cook's

corpse, nailing the coffin, and they stood at the side of the
drawers.

Cross-examined by Mr. Skrjeant Shbb—Shortly after Cook
refused to ^ake the broth, saying he was too sick. Palmer came
over and siid, " He must have it."

Did he say why he must have it?—No.
Did he say anything to the effect, " Why, he has eaten

nothing for several days "1—I cannot remember that he did.

Did he ask whether anything had been eaten by him?—Not
of me.
Tou know, in fact, that Mr. Cook had had no substantial

food I—^He had some coffee and cocoa, and something like that.

Tou say that on the Monday evening you saw Palmer between
eight and nine o'clock going upstairs. Are you sure it was
before nine o'clock?—I am not quite certain.

Are you sure it was before half-past nine o'clock?—No, I did

not pay particular attention to what the time was.

Are you quite sure it was before ten o'clock?—Yes, I knew
he had been to London.

Did you know what hour the train came back from London?
—I did not. An omnibus goes from the hotel to the station,

starting from the hotel about half-past seven. It is not ono
mile from the station. I can give no notion of what time the
express train comes into Rugeley from London, nor do I know
if it stops at Rugeley.

Do you persist that it must have been before ten o'clock

that you saw Palmer come in ?—I think it was.

May it not have been a quarter past ten o'clock? You can
easily have been mistaken about an hour ; are you quite certain

it was before ten o'clock ?—I cannot remember now.
You have stated that when Palmer left on the Monday

evening he gave Cook something to drink in a glass ; he snapped
at the glass, and you said, " I cannot remember who gave it

to him "; did you see the glass in Mr. Cook's hands?—I cannot
remember whether I saw the glass in Cook's hands.
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l>B*mM Did you see his hand up to the glaast—I think I did. I

think it vas at if he waa going to catch hokl of it, but aomebodj
dse wai holding it.

Did you see the hand touch the glass t—I cannot remember
that. I remember some one was holding it for him.

Might he not be holding it toot—He might.

Aaa* Bowler Ankb Rowlbt, examined by Mr. Wblsbt—I live at Rugeley,
and have been employed by Mr. Palmer as charwoman. On the
Saturday before Mr. Cook died I remember being sent by Palmer
to Mr. Robinson, of the Albion, for a little broth for Mr. Cook.
The Albion is an inn in Rugeley, and a small distance from
the Talbot Arms. I brought the broth, which was not warm,
to Palmer's house and put it by the fire. I left it at the fire

and went back to my work in the kitchen. When the broth
was hot Mr. Palmer brought it to me in the back kitchen.

He poured it into a cup, which I held while he did so. He
told me to take it across to the Talbot Arms for Mr. Cook, and
to say to whoever I gave it to to ask Mr. Cook if he would take
a little bread or a little toast with it, and to say that Mr. Smith
had sent it. I took it to the Talbot Arms. He did not say
why I was to say Mr. Smith had sent it. Mr. Jeremiah Smith
is an attorney in Rugeley. He goes under the name of Jerry
Smith, and is a friend of Palmer. I gave the broth to Lavinia
Barnes.

Cross-examined by Mr. Sbrjbant Shse—Mr. Smith was in

the habit of putting up at the Albion, and took his meals there
a good deal. He was intimate with Mr. Cook. I have not
known them to dine together, but Mr. Cook was to have dined
at Mr. Smith's that day, but was unable to do so. The time
between the broth being brought in to me and the time it was
taken to the Talbot Anns would be about five minutes.

C. Hawley Charlbs Hawlbt, examined by Mr. Bodkin—I am a gardener
in Rugeley, and was occasionally employed by the prisoner in

that capacity. I was in his house on the Sunday before Mr.
Cook died, between twelve and one, and Mr. Palmer asked
me whether I would take some broth to Mr. Cook. He gave
me some broth in a small cup with a cover, and told me to
take it over to the Tnlbot Arms. I pave it to one of the
servant girls, either Mills or Lavinia Barnes. I cannot tell

whether the broth was hot or not.

Sarah Bond Sarah Bond, examined by Mr. Hcddleston—I was house-
keeper at the Talbot Arms in November last. I saw
Mr. Cook on the Thursday after he returned from
Shrewsbury Races. I heard him say he was very poorly.
About eight o'clock on Sunday evening I saw him in
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bed. He said he had been very ill, but was better.
Soon after I came into the room I saw the pii^ioner. I asked
what he thought about Mr. Cook, and he told me he was
better. On the Saturday night I spoke to him about the
advisability of having some one to be with Mr. Cook during the
night. He said that either he or Jerry Smith would be there.
1 also spoke to him about it on the Sunday night, but he said
that Cook was so much better he would not require any one.
He would be much better without it. I asked him if Daniel
Jenkins, the boots, should not sleep in the room, but he said
he would much rather not. On Monday morning, a little

before seven, he came into the kitchen to me. He said Cook
was better, and asked me to make a cup of coffee for him. I

made the coffee. He remained in the kitchen while I was
making it, and took it from me to give to Mr. Cook. He
said he was going to London that day, and he had asked Mr.
Jones to come to be with Cook while he was away. Between
eleven and twelve on Monday night the waitress came and told
me that Mr. Cook was very ill. I went up to his room. There
was no one with him. He was sitting up a little on the bed,
and seemed disappointed when I came in that it was not Palmer.
He said it was Mr. Palmer he wanted. I did not remain in
the room above two or three minutes. 1 did not go down-
stairs, but remained on th' anding, and was still there when
Mr. Palmer came. I couiu see into the room from where I

was standing. Palmer went into the room, and I heard he was
giving him some pills. He then came out to fetch some
medicine, and was not many minutes away before he came
back. After he returned, I heard Mr. Cook was very sick and
very ill. He told Mr. Palmer he thought he should die, and
he must not leave him. Mr. Palmer came out again, and I

asked him if Cook had any rdatives. He said he had only a
stepfather. I saw Cook on Tuesday, between three and four,
when Mr. Jones came. I took him a little jelly shortly after
six. He seemed very anxious for it, and said if lie did not have
something he thought he should die. He seemed a little

better. I did not see him again ali^e.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove—I did not see Palmer on the
Monday evening until a little before twelve. The last train,
which stops at Rugeley at eight o'clock, is not an express train.
The express does not stop at Rugeley, anc' passengers coming by
the express have to take some conveyance from Stafford. I

cannot say when they would arrive in the ordinary course. On
the Monday night when I went up to Cook's room he seemed
disappointed that it was not Mr. Palmer. He seemed to be worse
than he was. At that time Barnes had gone to fetch the doctor.
Mr. Palmer came directly I left the room. I was led to ask
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Bond what relativea the man had aa he aeemed so very ill, and 1

heard him telling Mr. Palmer he thought he ihould die.

.Jonas j|j_ WiLUAM Hesrt Jonib, examined by the Attcwujkt-

GiNERAL—I am a surgeon and medical practitioner at

Lutterworth, and have been in practice for fifteen

yeara. I have known the deceased. Cook, intimately for nearly
five years. I have known of hia acquaintance with William
Palmer for over a year. He looked upon my house at Lutter-

worth as his home, and I attended him if there was anything
the matter with him. His health was generally good, but he
was not very robust. I think he hunted ard played cricket.

On the Tuesday of the Shrewsbury Races, the day on which hia

horse " Polestar " won, 1 spent the day with him at his invita-

tion. We dined together in the evening at the Raven Hotel.

He accompanied me when I left for the station. On our way
there we called at the house of Mr. Fraill, the clerk of the
course. I was present during a conversation they had along with
Whitehouse, the jockey. Cook produced his betting book and
calculated his winnings. He had seven to one. Cook was with
me till I left the hotel at ten o'clock. He was not in the least

the worse of liquor, and seemed to be in his usual health. On
the Monday I received the following letter from Mr. Palmer :

—

November 18, 1855.
My dear Sir,—Mr. Cook was taken ill at S' ^wsbory, and obliged to

call in a medical man; since then he ha 'en confined to his
bed here with a very severe bilious attack, comL . jd with diarrhoea,
and I think it advisable for you to come and see him as soon as possible.

I was ill on the Monday when I received the letter, and did
not arrive at the Talbot Arms, Rugeley, till half-past three on
Tuesday afternoon. I saw Cook there, and he expressed him-
self as very comfortable, but said he had been very ill at Shrews-
bury. I examined Cook in Palmer's presence. His pulse was
natural and his tongue was clean. When I remarked upo
this to Palmer he said, " You should have seen it before." 1

prescribed nothing for Cook at that time. I visited him several

times in the course of that afternoon, and he seemed improved
in every way. I gave him a little toast and water, which was
in the room, and which he vomited. There was no diarrhoea
as far as I was aware. Mr. Bamford, who I learned from
Palmer had been attending, came about seven o'clock. He
expressed his satisfaction with Cook's improved state of health.
Whilst Bamford, Palmer, and I were consulting what we should
prescribe for him. Cook objected to the pills he had had the
previous night. He said they made him ill. The three of us
then withdrew, and Palmer proposed that Mr. Bamford should
make up the morphine pills as before, but not to mention what
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thej contained, as Cook objected n much to morphine- Mr.

Bamford agreed to it, and went away. Palmer and I went

into Cook's room. 1 was in and out of the room during the

whole evening, and he seemed very comfortable. I observed

no more vomiting nor any diarrhoea. There were no bilious

symptoms whatever, nor were there any signs of his having

recently suffered from a bilious attack. About eight o'clock

I went with Palmer over to his house. I returned to Cook's

room in about a quarter of an hoiu*. Palmer came back about

eleven o'clock with a box of pills. Ue opened them in my
presence and showed me the directions on a slip of paper round

the box. Ue remarked, " What an excellent hand for an old

man upwards of eighty to write." It was very good writing

indeed. Palmer proposed to Cook to take the pills, but he

protested, as they had made him so ill the previous night.

Ultimately he did take them, and he immediately vomited into

the utensil. Both Palmer and I, at his request, searched the

utensil for the pills, but we found nothing but the toast and

water, so tha», the pills were retained. After he vomited he

lay down very comfortably, and we left him. Before he had

taken the pills he had expressed himself stronger, and had got

up and sat in a chair. During the evening he had been very

jocose, speaking of what he should do during the winter, and

of his future plans and prospects. After he had taken those

two pills, at eleven o'clock, I went downstairs and had some
supper. I returned about twelve to his room, had some con-

versation with him, and then went to bed, it being arranged

that I should sleep in his room, which was a double-bedded

one, that night. At the time I last talked to him he seemed
rather sleepy, but quite as well as usual, and there was nothing

to excite any apprehension in my mind. I had been in bed

ten minutes, and had not gone to sleep, when he suddenly

started up in bed and called out. "Doctor, get up; I am
going to be ill; ring the bell for Mr. Palmer." I rang the

bell, and the chambermaid came to the door. He himself

called out to her, " Fetch Mr. Palmer." He asked me to

rub his neck. I rubbed the back part of his neck and sup-

ported him with my arm while doing so. There was a stiffen-

ing of the muscles; a sort of hardness about the eck. Palmer
came very soon indeed; two or three minutes at the mii:.^. He
made the remark, " I was never so quickly dressed in m/ i?fe."

1 did not observe how he was dressed, as I was so engaged, tie

gave Cook two pills, which he said were ammonia pills. Directly

he swallowed the pills he uttered loud screams, threw himself

back in the bed, and was dreadfully convulsed. As the pills

had immediately before been taken, it certainly coidd not have
been from their action. He said to me, " Raise me up or I

shall be suffocated." The convulsions lasted five or ten
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W.H.J
f^T^* „i *!*. ** ***• commencement of the eonTulsioni
that he caUed out to ram hir up or he ihould be .uffocated.
All the musoular fibres were convulsed; there wai a riolent con-
traction oteverj muscle of the body, and a stiffening of the
Imibs. When he called out to me to raise him, I endeavoured
to do so with the assistance of Mr. Palmer, but found it was
quite impossible owing to the rigidity of the limbs. When
he found I could not raise him up he asked me to turn him
^)vor, which I did. He was qmte sensible. After I had
turned him over 1 bstoned to the action of his heart. I found
It gradually to weaken. 1 requested Palmer to fetch some
spirits ot ammonia in the hopes of reviving him. Palmer
fetched a bottle from his house. He was not away above a
minute. When he returned. Cook's heart was gradually sink-
mg, and life was almost extinct. He died very quietly. He
was not able to take the ammonia, and it was very soon after
Palmer returned that he died. From the time when he raised
himself in bed and caUed upon me to go for Palmer to the time
when he died would be from ten minutes to a quarter of an
hour. In my judgment, as a medical man, he died from
tetanus, or, in ordmary English parlance, lockjaw.

Does It involve, ordinarily speaking, a mere locked jaw?—
res, that IS the common term. Locked jaw is one of the symp-
toms of tetanus. Every muscle in the body was affected in
tne same manner.
How would you express in ordinary English the general

symptoms of what you call tetanus in one word ?—Violent spas-
modic affection of all the muscles of the body. That effects
the immediate cause of death by stopping the action of the
heart, and also the breath, from its effect on the d- ^ .ragm It
affects the respiratory muscles and stops respir- , : a it is
that spasm of the respiratory muscles which cr .^s the sense
of suffocation. When death took place he is still upon
his side. He remained in that position after death. I did
not turn the body upon its back. The outward appearance of
the body after death was very dark. As there was only one
candle in 'be room, I could not make the obse.vation I other-
wise should have made. Both his hands, the left hand par-
ticularly, which I had in my hand, were clenched. I observed
the clenching of the hands immediately the attack took placewhen he tnrew himself back immediately after taking the pillsPalmer 'nought over When I was rubbing his neck I did not
see the . nds clenched.

_
Did you observe either before or at the time of death, or

immediately afterwards, anything in the position of the headand neck 7—Yes; the head was quite bent back
When you say bent back, do you mean bent back into an

unnatural position ?—Yes ; by spasmodic action. The body wu
twisted back like a bow; the backbone was twisted back.
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By Lord Campbell—When did you observe that appearance W. H.
—immediately after death, or all the time I—Indeed, after
throwing himaelf back, he waa immediately drawn back.
Examination resumed—If I had placed the body at that time

upon the back, on a level surface, it would have rested upon
tiie head and heels. As his face was turned away from me,
I did not observe anything immediately after or at the time
of death about the jaw. After death I saw the jaw was not
in its natural condition; it was all affected by spasmodic
action. I spoke to Palmer about the laying out of the body,
and left him alone in the room while 1 went downstairs to
see Miss Bond. I returned in a few minutes and found Palmer
with Mr. Cook's coat in his hand. He remarked that I, being
Cook's nearest friend, should take possession of his effects. I

did so, and took possession of his watch and bis purse, con-
taining five sovereigns and live shillings. That was all I could
find. I did not find any betting book or any papers. After
that, before Polmer left, he suid something to me upon the
subject of affairs as between Cook and himself. He said, as
near as I can recollect, "It is a bad thing for me, as I was
responsible for £3000 or £4000, and I hope Mr. Cook's friends
will not let me lose it. If they do not assist me, all my horses
will be seized." Nothing was said by him about securities or
paper.

By Lord Cahfbbll—In the consultation which we three
medical men had on Tuesday night nothing was said about the
symptoms, the spasms, which had occurred the night before.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shkb—I know that Mr.
Cook had been under treatment by Dr. Savage for some time.
You knew he had treated himself a good deal with mercurial

treatment?—No, not a great deal. I know that he had had a
ore throat for two or three months. In the summer it was
bad. It was slightly ulcerated; not a very extreme case; the
back part of the tongue. He could swallow, but it gave him a
little pain occasionally. It depended upon what he did
swallow. I knew he had found it necessary to apply caustic
to his tongue. For two months before his death he had ceased
to do it. After that he never complained of occasional pain
in his throat or his tongue. I did not see much of him during
these two months. He was attending most of the races.
Was he apprehensive about some spots which appeared upon

his body?—I never heard h'm mention it. I had heard him
express apprehensions of his being affected by secondary
symptoms of venereal disease. His habits were, generally
spenkinji, correct, though he may occasionaHv have gone astray,
and perhaps was not very particular. I do rot know that he
had a chancre at tLe time he died, altliough I believe he had
one twelve months ago. I was not present at either of the
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W.B. poat-morter ' examinations. I waa at Shrewitury RaoM with

him on the Tik * 1 ij, and I knew he waa very anxioua, aa the

winning of ttie r.i e waa of great consequence to him. After

the race « « waa m> excited that for two or three minutea

he could i I. ijieu' to me. He wai elated and happy the rest

of the d
J

^ x 'C viraa not at all intoxicated. He was a very

I'St uight when he was first attacked, and

Cook said, " Palmer, give me the r* iiiedy

:»ht I efore." I was rubbing h's neck for

1 ahoul A think. After I tume<l him over

•^e '^f ' .^ -'"^^th three or four minutes would
> . 'r / that I could hardly tell when
>» > oases of tetanus before.

it tetanus at the inquest t—Yes, I did;

tempen i

when P. . ini

you gave ,-it) >],'

f i .

1 iieC

1 hr

nnd ti

about fiv'

on his si 's.

elapse. ^ i^

he did d ir

You
convulsion-

Did you r lit say ..t .e time it waa from over-excitement that

he diedf--i ouM no, u\l the cause. I was so much taken by

surprise. I if>aid I hnd no idea of the cause of death.

Whatever you said about " violent convulsions," did you

say, " I could not tell the cause; I imagined at the time it

was from over-excitement " T—Yes.

[The deposition of the witness before the coroner was read.]

You say in your deposition you had been in your bed a

quarter of an hour or twenty minutes. Was it not as much as

twenty minutes 1—I do not think it was. I had not begun to

dose. 1 do not remember ever having stated I thought he

died of epilepsy. Mr. Bamford said it was apoplexy; I said it

was not. 1 could not make up my mind what sort of fit it

was. I said it was more like an epileptic fit than apoplexy.

Re-examined—There was a partnership between Cook and

Palmer about the mare " Pereine," but it was discontinued some

months before Cook's death, and the mare became the pro-

perty of Palmer. 1 have only seen one case of traumatic

tetanus.

Was that from a wound 1—From a wound in the thumb. It

. ..Jed in death.

How long was the patient in dying from the time he received

the wound?—^Three days. The patient died of lockjaw. I

have seen cases of epilepsy.

Are there any such symptoms in epileptic fits as those con-

vulsive spasms of the muscles T—No; the consciousness is lost,

and there is none of this rigidity of the muscles. In apoplexy

consciousness is sreneraUy lost too. I am satisfied in my own

mind that thh case was not apoplexy.

By Lord Caupbkll—Supposing he had any secondary symp-

toms of syphilis, do you think they could have produced the

symptoms you saw on the Tuesday night t—No, I say not,
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daeidedly, and for two months before death he waa clear of W.IL
them, and the throat waa well.

Elizabeth Mills waa recalled and said that on the Monday «.«uis
morning Cook told her that during the night he had been
diiturbed. He said, " I was juat mad for two minutes." She
aaked him why he did not ring the bell, and he replied he
thought we should all be taut asleep, and it passed over. He
said he thought be was disturbed by hearing a quarrel in the
street.

By Lord Campbkll—What did be say about the street?—He
thought he was disturbed by hearing a quarrel in the street.
He was not sure that it was that which had made him iP

;

that he might have been asleep, and the quarrel might have
disturbed him. I cannot positively recollect whether he naid
so or not.

Henrt .'^jvaob, examined—I am a phyncian. ' have known
the deceased mun Cook for about iour years. He was not a
man of rol'i^t (imtitutiou. but bis general health » good. In
the -pring of Ih-S he consulted me about some spots jn his skin—one on his arm and one on his forehead. He had two shallow
ulc'Ts on the t. rue corresponding to bad teeth. He thought
these spots and ulcerations were secondary syphilitic symptoms,
and had been undergoing a mild mercurial course. I recom-
monded its immediate discontinuance, and prescribed him
quinine as a tonic, and an aperient containing cream of tartar,
maene^ a, and sulphur. 1 never at any time gave him antimony
He \va=> <|aite well by the end of May. He still intinued to
sec me, as he was not finite sure al out the correciness "f mv
notions of his not having syphilis. 1 examined him fron timt
to time, and the only thins t'.e matter with his throat wa; that
one of his tonsils was sliijhilv enlnrged : it was red and ter.dei
There was nothing of a syphiTic char.urer in tin appearancr o:

his throat. I saw him ah. jt a fiitnight be: ore his 'ie h,
when I recommended him to go ubroad for t- u year as I

wished to get him awav from his turf association- I e mined
him thorcujrhly at that time, and beyond a veiy shnF w scar
of some former excoriation, to which he told me 1 w liable,
there was nothing -enerea] )out him. There wb n' chan, re
nor any sore on any other pnrt of his body.

Cross-examined—He was a weak man, ai ipt u take the
advice of anv person he might be in company with. Tyn^ last
time I saw him he had a retlnpsa over one t' nsii "h •"iiiLr there
was tenderness He had three or four supe'-fictal ulcers on his
lips.

H, ...tvace

Cbarlbb Newto.m, examined—I am assistan!

E

to .i . .^alt, c. NawtoB
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C.ltafwtMi practuing surgeon at Rugeley. On Monday. 19th Nojembwr.

about nine o'clock in the evening, Palmer came m to Mr. Salt e

•uraery. He aaked me for three grains of strychnm, which

I Mve to him. I do not think he was in the shop above two

mmutes. Between eleven and twelve on the next day 1 saw

him again in the shop of Mr. Hawkins, a druggist. He was

in the shop when I went in. He put his hand between

my shoulders and said he wished to speak to me. I w^t to

the door with him and out into the street. He asked rne

when Mr. Edwin Salt, the son of Mr. Salt, '«'" go»°g "P *°

his farm at Sudbury. Pabner had nothmg to do with that

at aU. While we were talking, a Mr. Brassington came up

and entered into conversation with me about some bills for

money he had against my employer. Pabner left us and

returned to the shop, and came out agam while we were stiU

talking. He went in the direction of his own house, which is

between 200 and 300 yards away. 1 went into the shop after

my conversation with Mr. Brassington and saw RoberU, who

was serving. I know Mr. Thirlby, who deals in drugs.

He was formerly an assistant to Palmer, and succeeded to his

business. He dispenses all Palmer's medicines for him. About

«,ven o'clock in the evening of Sunday, the 25th Novanber,

I went to Pabner's house in consequence of being sent lor by

him. There was no one else there. He asked me what doM

of strychnia would kiU a dog, and whether it would be found

in the stomach. I told him a grain, and that l^ere would be

no inflammation, and I did not think it would be found. I

think he said, " It is all right," as if speaking to himself, and

snapped his fingers. I heard the next day that the post-

mortem examination of Cook's body was to take place. On

my way to the post-mortem, about ten o'clock m the forenoon,

1 saw Palmer at Bamford's, and 1 told him where I ^a"
gf°8-

He Dr. Harland, and I went down together to the Talbot Arms

for' the examination. Palmer and I were left alone together

in the entrance to the hall. He remarked it would be a stiff

job, and asked me to go over to his house for some brandy.

We did so. While we were taking the brandy he said You

will find this fellow suffering from diseased throat ;
he has had

syphilis
" We then returned to the Tnlhot Arms. I was

examined before the coroner, but I said nothing about giving

Palmer the three grains of strychnia on Monday night.

Cross-examined—When I was first examined on behalf of

the Crown I mentioned tl.e circumstance of the conversatwn

about poisoning the dog. Before that I mentioned it to Mr.

Salt, but I cannot remember when. I gave a statement to

Mr. Gardner some time after the inqupst. I mentioned about

the dog. but did not speak about the 3 grains of strychma.

I made no mention about these matters at the inquest, i
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::^'

gave evidence about my convenation with Palmer at the door C
of Hawkins' shop. I knew my evidence was with reference

to the supposed purchase of strychnia by Pahner at the shop.

The first time I informed the Crown with reference to the
purchase of the 3 grains on the Monday was on Tuesday last.

At the post-mortem examination I did not point out any
chancre to the medical men there. It was not mentioned at
all, and I did not see one nor the the marks of one.

Re-examined—The reason why I did not mention about the
purchase of the 3 grains of strychnia before last Tuesday to

the Crown wrs because Mr. Salt was not on speaking terms
with Mr. Palmer, and I thought Mr. Salt would be angry at
my letting him have it. I communicated the fact of my own
accord.

The Court then adjourned.

51

'H

m



Third Day, Friday, z6th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

C. J. Bebtrta Chables Josbph Roberts, examined by Mr. Jambs— In

November last I was an apprentice to Mr. tlawkins, a chemist

at Rugeley. I remember that between eleven and twelve

o'clock on Tuesday, 20th November, Palmer came into the

shop and asked me first for 2 drachms of prussic acid. Whilst

I was putting it up for him Mr. Newton came in. Palmer
said he wanted to speak to him, and the two of them went

out of the shop together. I saw Brassington come up and
speak to Newton when Palmer left them and came back into the

diov. I was putting the prussic acid into the bottle, and he

asked me for 6 grains of strychnine and 2 drachms of Batley's

solution of opium. While I was making the things up Palmer
stood at the shop door with his back to me, looking into the

street. He then took them away and paid for them. After

he left Newton came into the shop, and I had some conversa-

tion with him. It would be two years before this transaction

that Palmer bought drugs in our shop. He always dealt with

Thirlby, who previously was his assistant, and is now prac-

tising as an apothecary in Palmer's name.
Cross-eramined—I did not make any entry of the transac-

tion in our book. I am not in the habit of doing so when
things are soid over the counter.

W.V.St -ens Williau Vbknon Stevens, examined by the Attobnbt-
Ghneral—I am a retired merchant living in the city. I am
the step-father of John Parsons Cook, having married his

father's widow eigliteen years ago. He did not live with me,
but we were always on friendly terms. He became en-

titled to property 'worth about £1 2.000. T^ie last time I

saw him alive was at Euston tation at two o'clock on the

afternoon of 5th November. He looked better than I had
seen him for some time, and I said, " My boy, you look very

well; you do not look anything of an invalid now." He
struck himself firmly on the chest and said he was quite well.

The next time I saw him was after his death, information of

which I received from Mr. Jones, who came to my house on
the Wednesday. I went to Lutterworth on the Thurs-
day to search for a will and any papers he had
left. I found a will. When I reached Rugeley the

next day I went to the Talbot Arms, and met Palmer in

the passage. I had only seen him once before. Mr. Jones

introduced us in the inn, and we then went up and viewed the
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body. I WM greatly struck by the appearance of the oounten- w.v.
ance, the tightness of the muscles across the face. We all
then went down to one of the sitting rooms, and I said to the
prisoner that I understood from Mr. Jones he knew something
of my son's affairs. He repUed, " Yes, there are £4000 worth
of bills out of his, and I am sorry to say my name is to them;
but I have got a paper drawn up by a lawyer, signed by Mr.
Cook, to show that I have never had any benefit from them."
I told him I feared there would be no money to pay them, and
asked if he had no horses or property. He repUed that he
had horses, but they were mortgaged. He mentioned one
debt of £300 that was owing to Cook. It had nothing to do
with sporting matters, and was a personal debt from a relative
of his. I then turned round to Palmer and said that, whether
took had left anything or not, he must be buried. Pahner
immediately said, "Oh I I wUl bury him myself if that is
aU. I replied I could not hear of that. Cook's brother-in-
law was there at the time, and he also expressed a wish to
bury him. I said it was my bu.siness, as executor, to bury him,
and that I intended to bury him in London in his mother's
grave, and that the body would have to be at the inn for a
day or two. Palmer said that would be of no consequence so
long as the body was fastened up at once. Some short time
afterwards I asked Palmer for the name of some respectable
undertr.ker in Rugeley, so that I might order a coffin at once,
lie icpIiPd, I have been and chosen that. I have ordered a
shell and a strong oak coffin." I expressed my sur-rise, and
said he had no authority to do so. At my invitation, my son-in-
law, Mr. Jones, and Palmer all dined with me at the inn.We dmed about three, as I was going back to London by the
quarter-past four train Before I left I asked Mr. Jones to en
upstairs and bring me Cook's betting book and any papera.
He went along with Palmer, and in about ton minutes he
returned, saying he could find no book or paper. I expressedmy astonishment, and Palmer said, " It is of no manner of use
If you fand It. I said I was the best judge of that, and I
undeistood my son won a great deal of money at Shrewsbury.
Palmer replied tha^ when a man dies his b^ts are done with
and that Mr. Cook had received the greater part of his money
on the course nt Shrewsbury. I said that the book must be
found, and he replied in a much quieter tone. " Oh, it will be
found, no doubt." The body was in the shell, and I noticed
that both the hands were clenched. I then returned to town,
ifte next morning I communicated with the uncle of the
deceased and with my solicitor, who gave me a letter to Mr.
Gardner, of Rugeley. I returned to Rugelev by the two
clock tram, arriving there about eight. Palmer traveUed

by the same tram. I mjt him first at Euston station, when
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. V. suwDt he told me he had been summoned to London by telegraph.

I saw him again in the refreshment room at Wolverton. We
had some conversation, and I remarked that it would be as

well to know something of the complaint of which Cook died,

and that I should like his body opened. Palmer replied, " That

can be done very well," or " That can be easily done," or

something of that sort. I saw him again in the refreshment

room at Rugby, and mentioned to him my determination to see

a solicitor in Rugeley about my son's affairs. From Rugby to

Rugeley we travelled in the same carriage, but no further con-

versation took place. When we arrived at Rugeley he again

spoke about me employing a solicitor, and offered to introduce

me to one. I refused his offer, and said I would find one

myself. I then immediately purposely chanced the tone of my
voice and manner, and said, " Mr. Palmer, if I should cpII in

a solicitor to give me advice, I suppose you will have no objec-

tions to answer him any questions he might choose to put to

youl" He replied, with a spasmodic affection of the throat,

which was perfectly evident, " Oh, no, certainly not." I also

expressed my desire of taking a solicitor to H'dnesford, where

Cook's horses were kept. I ought to say tnat, when I first

mentioned the post-mortem, there was not the slightest change

in Mr. Palmers manner; he was perfectly calm and collected.

We then parted, he to go home and I to go and look for Mr.

Gardner. Later in the evening Palmer came to me again, and

ihe first thing he spoke about was the bills. He said. " It is s

very unpleasant affair for me about these bills." I remarked

that I had heard a different account of Mr. Cook's affairs, and

that his affairs could only be settled in the Court of Chancery.

All he replied was, " Oh, indeed," in a lower tone. The

next day, Sunday, I saw him again in the coffee room of my
hotel. He advised me not to take a solicitor to Hednesford,

but I told him I should use my own judgment upon that. Later

in the evening, I think, I saw him agnin. 1 asked him who

the Mr. Smith was who had sat up witli my son, as I wished

to make inquiries regarding the missing betting book. He
replied he was a solicitor of that town. I asked him if he

attended my son medically, and he said no. He then asked

me if I knew who was to perform the examination, and I told

him I did not. On the Friday, when I twice saw the body, I

did not perceive any decomposition or anything which called

for its being speedily put into a shell; on the contrary, the

body did not quite look to me like a dead body.

Cross-examined by Mr. Skkjbant Shm—The last time my
stepson stayed in my h'^use was for about a month, in

January and February of last year. He had a slight sore

tiiroat then, but I do not know that it was continuously sore.

He did not complain of it. I never noticed any ulcers about
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luB face. Between that time and the 5th November I saw him W.. Mtftu
everal times, and he did not appear to be more delicate than
usual. The reason why I mentioned to him on 5th November
that he was looking very well was because he had complained
of being an invalid the winter before. His brother and sister
were rather delicate, and his father died at the age of thirty or
thirty-one.

Dr. John Thokas Harland, examined by Mr. Bodkin— J. T. Harland
I am a physician residing at Stafford. On 26th
November I made a post-mortem examination of Mr.
Cook. I called at the house of Mr. Bamford, and on
my way there I was joined by Palmer, whom I had frequently
seen and spoken to at Rugeley. He said, " I am glad you have
come to make a post-mortem examination; some one might
have been sent whom I did not know; I know you." I asked
him what the case was; that I heard there was a suspicion of
poisoning. He replied, "Oh, no I I think not; he had an
epileptic fit on Monday and Tuesday nipht, and you will find
an old disease in the heart and in the head." Palmer offered
to lend me instruments, as I had brought none with me. He
said a queer old man seemed to suspect him. He also said,
"He seems to suspect that I have got the betting book, but
Cook had no betting book that would be of use to any one."
After we reached Bamford's house, Mr. Bamford and I went to
Mr. Frere's, a surgeon in Rugeley, and from there to the Talbot
Arms, where the post-mortem examination was proceeded with.
Palmer and several others were in the room. Mr. Devonshire
operated and Mr. Newton assisted him. The body seemed
to me to be stiffer than bodies generally are six days aft«r
death. The muscles wore strongly contracted and thrown out,
which showed there was a strong spasmodic action in the body
before death. The hands were clenched; firmly closed. The
abdominal viscera were the first parts of the body examined
internally. They were taken out of the body, and were in a
perfectly healthy state. The liver was hculthy. The lungs
were healthy ; there was blood in them, but not more than could
be accounted for by gravitation. The brain was quite healthy.
There was no extravasation of blood nor serum on the brain.
There was nothing in its appearance that would cause unnatural
pressure. The heart was contracted, and contained no blood.
This did not appear to be the result of disease, but from
spasmodic action. The stomach was taken out. At the larger
end there were numerous small yellowish-white spots about the
sjifi of mustard seed. These would not at all account for death,
nor would they have any effect on the health of any one. There
may have been numerous follicles, nothing more. The kidneys
were full of blood that had gravitated since death, and had no
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J.T. RATland appearance of diaeaae. The blood was in a fluid state, which is

a rare occurrence even in cases of sudden death. About the
whole body generally there was no appearance of disease that
would account for death. The lower part of the spinal cord
was not minutely examined on this occasion. The upper part
presented a perfectly natural appearance.
On the 25th of January the body was again exhumed, so that

we might examine the spinal cord with more attention. Dr.
Monckton and I jointly made a report on the matter. I am still

of the opinion that there was nothing in the appearance that I
have described to account for the death of the deceased. When
the stomach and intestines were removed from the body in the
first examination they were separately emptied into a jar by Mr.
Devondiire and Mr. Newton. Palmpr was standing at the right
of Mr. Newton. When the intestines and stomach were being
placed in the jar, and while Mr. Devonshire was opening the
stomach, I noticed Palmer pushed Mr. Newton on to Mr. Devon-
shire, and he shook a portion of the contents of the stomach into
the body. I thought a joke was passing among them, and I

said, ' Do not do that," to the whole. Palmer was the only one
close to thffln when Mr. Newton and Mr. Devonshire were
pushed together. After this interruption the opening of the
stomach proceeded. It contained about, I should think, 2
or 3 ounces of brownish liquid. It was stated thut there was
nothing particular found in the stomach, and Palmer remarked
to Mr. Bamford, " They will not hang us yet." The stomach
was then emptied into the jar along with the stomach itself. The
intestines were then examined, and nothing particular found
in them. They were contracted and very small. They were
placed in the jar, with their contents, as they were taken from
the body. I then tied the jar over with two bladders and sealed
it, and placed it on the table beside the body. At that time
Palmer was moving about the room. My attention had been
called away by the examination, and I missed the jar for a few
irlnutes. I called out, " Where is the jar! " and Palmer, from
the other end of the room, said, " It is here; I thought it more
convenient for you to take it away." Palmer was standing a
yard or two from a door at that end of the room. I got the
jar from him. I found there was a cut, hardly an inch long,
through both bladders. The cut was quite clean, as if nothing
had passed through. I asked who had done this, and Palmer,
Mr. Devonshire, and Mr. Newton all seemed to say they had
not done it. I told Palmer I should take the jar to Mr. Frere.
He said, " I would rather you take it with you to Stafford, if you
would take it there," but I took it to Mr. Frere's house, tied

and scaled in the way I have told. 'Wheu I noticed the
slit in the bladders I immediately cut the strings and replaced
the bladders, and tied them separately again, so that the slit
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was not at the top. When I returned to the Talbot Amu J. T.

Pahner asked me what I had done with the jar. I said I had
left it with Mr. Frere, and that it would go to either London
or Birmingham that night for examination.

Cross-examined by Sbkjbant Sheb—On the occasion of the
first examination you say you observed follicles under the
tongfue; are those pustules ^—Not under the tongue, on ihe
tongue. They are not pustules: they are large mucous follicles,

not containing matter.

Is it a sort of thickening, then, of the skinl—Of the mucous
follicles at the base of the tongue. They appeared to be of

long standing, and were very numerous.
Do they indicate that there ' "d been much soreness there?

—

I have no doubt they would produce inconvenience. They must
have given some slight degreu of pain in eating and speaking.

Will you undertake to say they were not enlarged glands,
enlarged by the irritation of disease?—I do not believe they
were; I have seen them frequently.

Do you adhere to your opinion that the lungs were healthy?
—Yes.

Did not Mr. Devonshire, in your presence, express a contrary
opinion, and say they were unhealthy?—He said he thought
there was emphysema, as well as congestion of the lungs.

Is that not a diseased state of the lungs?- -Yes, it is an
abnormal state. I examined the white spot* on the wider part
of the stomach.
How did you examine them?—By removing the mucous that

was on the surface of the stomach by the finger or scalpel. I

had no lens, no glass. I should have examined them with a
lens if I had had one.

Was your examination of these appearances satisfactory to
you without a lens?—Yes.

You said that the brain was healthy ; what sort of examina-
tion did you make of the brain?—The brain was carefully taken
out; the external part was tirst of all examinetl; tlie membranes
were examined, and slices were taken off from the apex to the
base of the brain. These slices were, I should think, a quarter
of an inch thick.

Is that as thick as it should be to make a full examination?

—

I think that would show any disease if there was any. The
spinal cord was examined down to the first vertebra, and we
found no appearance of disease.

Supposing you had discovered a softness of the spinal cord
on that occasion, after a full examination, miprht not that have
been sufficient to account for the death of Mr. Cook?—No.
certainly not; softening would not produce tetanus at all; it

might produce paralysis.

Do not you think in the case of a man dying by convulsions,
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J. T. BuiaaA in order to aMcrtain with any degree of certain^ what the
cause of his death misht be, it was neoewary shortly after his
death to make a careful examination of the spinal cord I—No,
I do not. It was afterwards thought desirable. It was first
suffgested <»i 26th December.

It was in January the second examination took place; sup-
posing there had been a softening, do not you think, in order
to discover it, it was necessary to examine the spinal cord at
an earlier period after death than two monthst—If there had
been a softening it would have been detected at the second
examination

; the body remaining unexamined for a long time
would not produce hardening of the spine.
That is your opinion; mi^t not any softening at that Ute

period be the result of decomposition »
—

^The spiao was very
little soft indeed. There were some appearances of decomposi-
tion upon it. I examined him to see if then, was any disease
on him of the venereal kind. I observed tJiere was a loss of
substance from past disease. It was cicatr.'sed over, and on
the cicatrix there was a small abrasion.
Then it must have been in a sore statet—The excoriation

might be a little sore. It was very small. It was a mere
excoriation; merely a little of the excoriation rubbed off.
Reexamined—There were no chancres, nothing beyond what

I would term an excoriation, except the cicatrix from the old
disease. There was no symptom of ulcerated throat, nor any
appearance of anything syphilitic there. The follicles in the
tongue are often produced by a disordered stomach, and are of
no serious consequence to health. The congestion of the lungs,
which Mr. Devonshire spoke about, was due, in my opinion,
wholly to the gravitation of blood after death. There was
nothing whatever in the brain to indicate the presence of any
disease. Even if there had been, I have never heard or read
of any diseased state of the brain occasioning death by tetanus.
There is no disease of the spinal cord with which I am
acquainted which produces tetanus and that form of death.
Sometimes with inflammation of the membranes of the spinal
cord there is tetanus; but there were no appearances of
inflaomiation whatever.

CJ^Devon- Charlks John Dbvoxshikb, examined by Mr. Htooliston—I
am an undergraduate of London University. I performed
the post-mortem on 25th November at the Talbo 'otel.
The body was pale. The fingers were clenched , mly;
the thumb of the left hand was thrown into the . ilm,
and til- fingers were clenched over. The mouth w'as a
little contr.actcd. The body was stiff, much beyond the
usual stiffness of death. I took out the stomach and opened
it with a pair of scissors. As I was opening the stomach there
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wai a preuure or push from behind. I did not pay any atten- C. J.

.

tion tc it, and I do not think any of the contents of the stomach •'*'"

Mcaped. I punctured the anterior surface of the stomach, and
a spoonful of the contents fell out on the chair. I tied up
where it was punctured, and it was put into a j : and sealed
by Dr. Harland. On the same day I got the jar at Mr. Frere's,
and gave it, on the 28th, to Mr. Boycott, Messrs. Lander &
Gardner's clerk. The body was opentd again on the 29th to
get the liver and kidneys and spleen. They were taken from
the body with some blood, placed in a stone jar, which I sealed
and handed to Mr. Boycott on the 30th. In consequence of
something Mr. Pahner had said, I examined the body to find
if there were any indications of syphilis, but I found none. I
also took out the throat, and found there were natural papillae
there; they were larger than usual at the base of the tongue.

John Mtatt—I am postboy at the Talbot Arms at Rugeley. johnlrattOn 28th of November last I was engaged to drive Mr. Stevens
to Stafford station. Before I started Mr. Palmer asked me if

I was going to drive them to Stafford. I told him I was. He
asked if I was going to take the jars. I said I believed I was.
He said there was a £10 note for me if I would upset them.
I told him I should not. I saw him neit morning, and he asked
me who went with the fly. I said Mr. Stevens, and I believed
one of Mr. Gardner's clerks.

Cross-examined—How did you know what he meant by " going
to drivo them to Stafford " i—1 knew I was going to take some
one to Stafford.

Did he use the name " Stevens " before he used these words
to youf—He mentioned Mr. Stevens afterwards.
You understood tho word " them " to mean Mr. Stevens and

his party?—Yos.

Were the words used not to this effect, • I should not mind
giving £10 to break Mr. Stevens' neck"?—I do not remember
that.

The " £10 to upset him "?—These were the words to the best
of my recollection.

Wljon he said " to upset him " did he say anything about
him at the time?—He did say something about it, that it was
a huiabugging concern, or something to that effect. I do not
recollect him saying he was a suspicious, troublesome fellow.

I

Samvsl Chbshirk—I was for upwards of eight years post-
master at Kugeley. I am now from Newgate suffering punish-
ment for having opened a letter as postmaster. I know the
prisoner very well, he and I having been schoolfellows together.
I was with him at Shrewsbury Races the day " Polestar " won.
I saw Mr. Cook at the Talbot Arms on the Saturday, 17th
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November. He was in bed at the time. On the Tueaday

following Palmer asked me to meet bim at his houae and bring

a receipt stamp with me. I did so. He laid he wanted me to

write out a cheque, which, he said, was for money Mr. Cook
owed bim. He produced a copy from which I was to write,

and I oopied it. He gave me as a reason why he wanted me to

write it that Mr. Cook was too ill, and he said Wetherby would

know his writing. After 1 bad written it I left it with him,

and he said he wua going to take it over for Mr. Cook to sign.

The Attorkkt-Gknihal—We know that it went out of his

possession afterwards, and therefore perhaps we ought to follow

it.

[Evidence was then given to show that this cheque for £360
was sent to Mr. Wetherby, the secretary to the Jockey Club,

that it was returned to Palmer, that notice to produce it was

given by the prosecution, and that it was not produced.]

SAMtrxii CHEsantE, recalled—After Mr. Cook's death, <m the

Thursday or Friday, Palmer sent for me again. I went to

his house and saw him there. He had a sheet of qxiarto paper

in his hand, which he asked me to sign.

Lord Campbbll—Was there anything written upon this quarto

sheet of paper?—There was.

Examination resumed—I asked bim what it was, and he said,

" You know that Co^k and I have had some dealings together,

and this is a document which he gave me some days ago, and

I want you to witness it." I asked liim what it was about, and
he replied, "There is some business that I have joined him in,

and which ^vas all for Mr. Cook's benefit, and this is a document
stating so," or something of that kind. The paper was a post

quarto paper of a yellow description. I observed the writing

on it, and thought it was Mr. Palmer's. 1 told him I could not

sign it, as I might perhaps be called upon to give evidence in

the matter at some future day. I said I had not seen Cook
sign it, and that the post office authorities would not like me
to be called on to give evidence as to a document which took

place while I was absent. Palmer replied that it did not matter

my signing it, and he dared say they would not object to Mr.

Cook's signature. I gave the paper back to him and left.

(Notice to produce thiK paper was given, but it was not

produced.)

Palmer was in the habit of calling for letters addressed to

his mother, and which I gave to him. I cannot remember
whether during October and November, 1SB5, I gave him letters

addressed to his mother or addressed to Mr. Cook. I remember
seeing Paimr r while the inquest was going on. He came to me
on the Sunday evening previous to 5th December, and asked

me to let him know if I had seen or heard anything fresh. I
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undentood that waa a temptation for me to open a letter, and ••

I told him I oould not do that He said he did not want me to
do anything to injure myself. The letter which I read, and
for which I am iufferiag, was a letter from Dr. Taylor to Mr.
Gardner, the solicitor. I did not give nor send that letter to
Palmer. I merely told him in few words of its contents. I
only read part of the letter, and told Palmer the contents as
much as I remembered. That was on the morning of the 5th
of December. I told Pahner that I found in Dr. Taylor's letter
that there were no traces of strychnia found. I cannot recollect
what else I told him. He said he knew they would not, for
he waa perfectly innocent.

Captain John Hai-nes Hatto.x—I am chief constable of the J-H.Hat^«ii

police of Staffordshire.

Did you obtain this letter, which I have just proved to be in
Palmer's handwriting, and envelope from Mr. Ward, the
coroner!—I did; I endorsed it.

My dear Sir,—I am sorry to tell you that I am still confined to my
bed. I do not think it was mentioned at the inquest yesterday that
Cook was taken ill on Sunday and Monday ni^ht in the fame way ae
he was on the Tuesday night when he died. The chambermaid at
the Crown Hotel, .Masters, can prove this. I also believe that a
man by the name of Fisher is coming down to prove he received some
money at Shrewsbury. Now here he could only pay Smith £10 ont
of £41 he owed him. Had you better not call Smith to prove this?
And attain, whatever Professor Taylor may say to-morrow, be wrote
from London la.st Tuesday night li> fiarrlnpr to say " We have this
day finished our analysis, and find no traces of either strychnia, prussir
acid, or opium." What can beat this from a man like Taylor, ii

he ta,y» what he has already said, and Dr. Harlanu s evidence? Mind
you, I know, and saw it in black nnd white, what Taylor said to
Gardner, but this is strictly privat. .ind confidential, but it is true
A* regards his bettinif book. I know nothing of it, and it is of no
good to any one. I hope the verdict to-morrow will be that be died
of natural causes, and thus end it.—Ever yours.

Samdbl Chbshire, recalled, cross-examined—I knew Cook s. Cheshire
very well, but I could not speak to his handwriting. I am
sure that when Palmer came to me he used the words, '' seen
or heard anything." He did not simply a^k if I had "heard
anything." On the Saturday bofore Cook's death I dined with
Palmer and Mr. Smith. Cook was expected to dine also, but
he was too ill. Palmer said he must call in Bamford.

GiOHOE Hbrrinq—I knew Mr. Cook. I was at Shrewsbury CBerrtnc
Races last November, staying at the Raven, and saw Cook
each day. I saw him with money on the Wednesday. He was
counting up a lot of Bank of England nnd other notes. I could
not say how many there were, but there were a considerable
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number. He thowed me hia betting book, containing entriee

of beta made at the raoea. On Moniiay, 19th November, I

received a letter from Palmer aaking me to call upon him at

7 Beaufort Buildinga at half-paat two that day. I called, and
he aaid be wished to aee me about aettling Cook's account, aa

the physician bad advised Conk not to go out that day, it being

damp. Palmer had a paper in his hand, and read out from it

a number of items which he asked me t > take dotrn. I did ao,

and I have here the list I made. He saiil
—

" Receive of In^am,
£360; Barr, £300; Green, £140; Morris. £200; Nelson, £30;
pay yourself £6 and hihelley £:iO." I said that made it £984,
and he sa'i

—
"Thiit is wiiat Cook makes it; if I give you £16

it will make £1000; out of that pay yourself for my bill." I

said, " I know no difference between the two bills "
; he said,

"Pay Pidwick £.')50 and Pratt 1,4.50, making £1000" He
asked me to send cheque for the last two at once. I refuted

to do so, aa I had not received the money. He wished me par-

tictdarly to pay Pratt the £450, as he said it was for a bill or

joint-bill of sale on the mare. I had an account of £45 against

Palmer, while he had one of £40 against me. He settled this

£5, along with the £16 to make up the £1000 previously spoken

to, by a Bank of England £50 note. I do not know the number
of the note. Before he left he pressed me to send the cheques

to Pratt and Padwick immediately before the closing of the

bank. He said, " When you have settled this account write

down word to either me or Cook." I replied, " I shall certainly

write to Mr. Cook," because I thought I was settling Mr. Cook s

account. He said, " It does not matter which." I asked him
if I addressed the letter, " Mr. Cook, Palmer, Rugeley, would

that be ^Xirrect, ' and he said " yes." I received all the money
at Tattersall's on Conk's account, except £110 of Mr. Morris,

who only paid £90 instead of £200. I sent a cheque for £460
to Pratt from Tattersall's. I wrote a letter to Cook from
Tattersall's. The next day I received a telegraphic message,

which I gave to Captain Hatton on the coroner's inquest. In

consequence of this messago I wrote a letter the same day to

Cook.
(Evidence was given to show that Herring held three bills of

exchange, each for £200, on which Cook and Palmer were
jointly responsible to him. He received £200 from Cook on

one bill ; another £200 bill he deducted, as instructed by Palmer
from the ilOOO. The third bill lit- paid himself for by not

paying Padwick as Palmer instructed him. Besides these bills

Herring held a fourth for £600 drawn by Palmer on his mother,

and endorsed by him and Cook. It was proved that this accept-

ance was not in Mrs. Palmer's huudwritiug.)

«•

The Court then adjourned.



Fourth Day, Saturday, 17th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

OaoRoit Bat., exammed by Mr. Jamm—I am a fanner, and

7^J^. A ^™P'".T^* ,0/ ^e P"»oner dunng September,
October, and November of la*t year. I wn- eniruged to look
after hi. horse., and received no lUted saluiv sometime, two
•oTerejgn. and Mmetimea one aovereign « ^v.^ i. I rememberm the month of September. 1856. being ., :he company of Mr.
Cook and Mr. Palmer. Something wa. i. id bv one of them
to me about an insurance i>e- 7 pro|M)ged on mylife
Mr. SiBJiANT Shu objected^ to this cidence, and Li. objec-

tion wu auatamed.
*^

Mr. Thomas Buzzabd Curlino, eii.nnn.d by tlie .^.turnkt-t 1 CnrUn.Gkbul-I am a FeUow of the Coll.'ne of S ., 'Ln.. .nd .u,-^"
to the London Hospital. I have publisheii . urk or. th-^ .uo-
jeot ct teUnus. Tetanus signifies si-nsnodi.; .ffech. . kj( the
yolun^aiy muscles of the Inxly. There are two ^orts of tetanus
Idiopathic and traumatic. Idiopathic retanus i-> icUnua
originating, a. it were, as a primary disease, without any
wound. Traumatic is from a wound. During twenty-two yeaii
I havfc ^>een surgeon to the Undon Hospital I have nev-»r
seen a case of idiofwthic tetan js. I have seen over fifty cases
^traunnatic tetanus. Traumatic tetanus first nu-nitests itself
by a St ffness about the jaws and the back of the neck ; rigidity
erf the muscles of the abdomen xwallv sets in ; a dragging pain
at the pit of the stomach is almost a constat, t attendant of spasm
or the diaphragm, and m many cases the muscles of the back
are sensibly affected. Then the spasms, though continuous,
are liable to aggravation in paroxysms. As the disease goes 00
these paroxysms become more frequent and more severe. When
ttey occur, the body is drawn backwards; in some instances,
though less fiequently, it is bent lo: wards; then, in an acute
case, a difficulty m swallowing is a verv common tiling; a diffi-
culty m breathing also during the paroxvsm, a choking *en-
satio. The disease may end. supposing it be fatal, in two
ways; the patient may die somewhat suddenly of suffocation,
owing to closure of the opening of the windpii4, or the patient
may be worn out by the severe and painful spr ms, and the
muscles may relax and the patient graduallr .:;• k and die.
Traumatic tetanus is gener.allv fatal, and I'v',- i ri „„. of the
jaw IS an almost invariable Hvmptom. A jrcytoai verv char-
acteristic of the di^rise is a contracted condition of the eve-
lids, a raismg of tht angles of the mou*'i. and a contraction' of

m
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T. . Carltac the brow. The lower extremities are tometimet aileoted, and
•ometimet the upper; the muBoles affected are chieflj thoae of

the trunk. I have never henrd of traumatic tetanus being pro-

duced froin sore throat or from chancre. A case of traumatic
tetanus which ends fatally takes from one day to foiu* days, or
longer, before death ensues. I never heard of a case in which
a man would be attacked one day and then have twenty-four
hours' respite, and be again attacked the next. The symptoms
of the death of Mr. Cook, given by Mr. Jones, the surgeon,

were not consistent with any form of traumatic tetanus I ever

heard of. There was the sudden onset of the fatal symptoms

;

in all cases thut have fallen under my notice the disease has
been preceded by the milder symptoms of tetanus. The
symptoms given by the woman Mills as to the Monday night

were not those of tetanus. The sudden onset and rapid sub-

sidence are not consistent with what I call the true form of

tetanus. The poison, nux vomica, produces tetanic con-
vulsions.

Cross-examined by Mr. Sbrjuant Shes—Any irritation of the
nerves proceeding to the spinr.l cord might produce tetanus. I

agree with Dr. Watson in his " Lectures on the Principles and
Practice of Physic," that all the symptoms of tetanic convulsionR

may arise from such slight causes as the Nticking of a fish bone,

the mere stroke of a whip lash under tlie eye, from the cutting

of ft com, from the bite on the finger by a tame sparrow,

from the extraction of a tooth, from the operation of cupping,

and simple thinfjs of that character. Idiopathic tetanus would
not be so likely to bring the pntient to the hospital as a sudden
wound Icadirifx to traunuuic tetanus. A syphilitic sore would
not be likoly to lead to tetanus.

Re-e.Tninined by the ATTORNKT-GBNEnAi.

—

A medical prac

titioner who saw a case of convulsions would be able at once tio

know the difference between symptoms of general convulsions

and of tctnnua. One of the charnctpristic features of tetanus

is that the consciousness is not affecte<l.

lolMPtTodd Dr. RobrbjT Todd, examined by the Aitobnkt-Gkneral—

I

have ^^een in practice as a doctor for twenty-five years, anri

have been a physician to King's t'oUepe Hospital for mam
years. I have lectured on the disease called tetanus, an'l

have published the lectures. I have seen two cases of whaf
seemed to be idioftathic tetanun. It is a very rare thing. Thi-

term tetanus ou^rht not to be applied to cases of poisoning, for

the symptoms are so essentially ilistinct from the disease. I

have had tinder my own observ-ation cases of traumatic tetanus.

When once the disease has begun there are remissions, but not

complete ; rather a diminution of the severity of the symptoms.
There are two classes—an acute class and a chronic class. The
acute cases will termiuate in the course of three or four days,
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Todd to iwallow luiBoiently easy, and there i»aa no rigidity of the
musolea of the jaw which ia chnracterigtic of tetaniu, of

diaeaae, or of wound. I think the aymptoma in hia caae, judging
from my own experience, were those of tetanua from itryclmia.

Croaa-ezamined by Mr. Grovi—The proximate effect of

tetanua, whether caused by idiopathic or traumatic tetanus, or

strychnia, is probably the same on the nerves leading from the
spine. The particular affection of the nervea is unknown. In

the disorder of conTulsious there are cases of very slight affec-

tion, others more serious, and so on. I adhere to the opinion
given by me in my lectures on " Diseases of the Brain and
Nervous Svstum," that the results of the administrr tion of

strychnine exactly imitate the convulsions of tetanus. It

does not produce the exact phenomena of the disease in a

clinical sense. I have no doubt the peculiar irritation of the

nerves in tetantu is identical with the peculiar irritation of the

nerves in strychnine poisoning. In traumatic tetanus I do
not recollect any instance of the limbs being affected before

the jaw. An examination of the spinal cord in tetanic affec-

tions shortly after death is of importance. If it were deferred

as late as two months, there would be, to a certain extent, a

fallacy. There are morbid appearances produced by wounds
after death which sometimes simulate diseased conditions before

death.

Supposing the spine to be affected by decomposition, would
not what may be called the diseased softening of the spine

previous to death be confused or obliterated?—^You would not

be able to speak with certainty as to simple softening if the

examination had been lr">g after death. There is nothing in

the post-mortem examination on which any one could positively

say that the patient died from the ordinary disease of tetanus.

I think granules on the spinal cord, such as I have heard of

hrre, are not likely to cause tetanus. In the cases of the

animals to whom strychnia wns administered they went off

into a second spasm immediately they were touched. They
retained that tendency as long as the influence of the poison

lasted J examined tho animals tliat were killed by stryclmia

anatomically. The right side of tho heart was not generally

full; it was empty, and the heart contracted. Death where
strychnine was administered is partly due to the difficulty of

action of the respiratory muscles, but chiefly to a general nervous

exhaustion which t'le violence of the paroxysm produces.

Would not the difficulty of action of the respiratory muscles

producing death tend to leave the heart fullt—I do not think

it was asphyxia.

Then I think I may take you as differing from tho great mass
of authorities on strychnia poisoning?—I don't know; I thinli

there are differences of opinion on that subject. Persons
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Mr . Irodl* liatent with a fit of apoplexy. I never saw a case in which the
ymptomi that I heard described arose from any disease.

Crost-ezamined by Mr. Sbubant Sho—I remember one case

of idiopathic tetanus in our hospital, but I doubted its deserving

the name of tetanus.

Considering how rare tetanus is, would vou think that the
description of a chambermaid and of a provincial medical man,
who had only seen one case of tetanus, could be relied upon by
you as to what the disease observed wasf—I must say I thought
the description very clearly given. I have never seen the
syphilitic poison produce convulsions except as a consequence
of disease in the bones of the head.

snrrOaBtol Mr. Hnntr Danikl, examined by the Attornbt-Genihal—

I

was for upwards of twenty-eight years surgeon to the Bristol

Hospital. I have seen fully thirty cases of tetanus, of which
two were idiopathic. One of these two ended fatally. Idio-

pathic tetanus is of very rare occurrence. The symptoms are
not so severe as those in traumatic tetanus. The symptoms
which accompanied the attack of Mr. Cook before bis death
were quite distinguishable from those cases of tetanus which
have come within my experience. In pointing out the differences

I would repeat very probably the words of Sir Benjamin Brodie.

Tetanus, so far as my experience goes, begins with uneasinens

in the lower jaw, followed by spasms of the muscles of the

trunk, and most frequently extending to the muscles of the
limbs. Lockjaw is almost invariably a symptom of traumatic
in particular. It is one of the earliest symptoms. I have seen

the clenching of the hands, but I do not think it is an ordinary
symptom of common tetanus. I cannot recollect a case the
duration of which has been less than from thirty to forty hours.

I have never known a syphilitic sore producing tetanus. The
symptoms I have heard described in Mr. Cook's case are not

referable to either apoplexy or epilepsy. lu both these there is

a loss of consciousness, but in cases of tetanus that I have seen

consciousness has been retained throughout all the period. In

my experience of tetanus the symptoms have been invariably

continuous without any interruption. In my judgment the

symptoms of Mr. Cook could not be referred to idiop.nthic

or traumatic tetanus.

Cross-examined by Mr. Ghovb—I do not know that cases

are mentioned in books where there is a long interval of Komo
hours between the symptoms. I liave not read Dr. Todd's
book, nor Mr. Curling's book, nor Dr. Copland's book on the

subject. I have been out of practice some seventeen or eighteen
months, and have not looked into the reported cases of tetanus
of late. In my opinion the symptoms of tetanic convulsions

do not vary much in different cases. There niny bo an affection

of a muscle in this man that there is not in the other, in a leg
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con^n«t^^h|rTh""'".'°H '^^
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twUrr^"'^^!
^'"''- ^ ^"'^ ''''^'' «^*^» °' »»>d under TyfTretwenty caw. of tetanus, all of which were traumatic, eicept
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ITJL A
*»• •'"? *^® symptoms were slower in their

LZTk '*°»l,g«"«[«»y
.'•°t''«>- "iWer. The shortest period I canremember before the disease arrived at a point is thirty hour..The difference between Mr. Cook's attacks and the casei I have

seen is that, in my experience, there has been a marked eipre^
sion of the countenance-that is the first symptom; it is a sort
of grin, and the symptoms have always been continuous. Thesymptoms in Mr. Cook's case are not referable to either epUepsy
or apoplexy, or any disease that I ever witnessed

Cross-exatnined by Mr. Serjbant Shb»-A marked expression
of the countenance, a sort of grin, frequently occurs in all
violent convulsions, which assume, without being tetanus, a
tetanic form and appearance. They are not a numerous class.
It 18 difficult to distinguish between them and idiopathic tetanus
in the onset, but not in the progress. I heard the account
given by Mr. Jones of the last few moments before Mr Cook
died.

That he uttered a piercing shriek, fell back, and died, did he
not!— les.

The Attornit-Gbnhrai^I beg your pardon; there was an
interval.

Mr. SHBrtANT Shu—No, no ; five or six minutes.
Lord Caiipbkll—He died verv quietly.
Cross^xamination resumed—i heard" the description of the

shriek with the convulsion; but it was the shriek that called
the noiedical man into the room. That was at the height of the
attack. In some respects that last shriek and the paroxysm
that occurred immediately afterwards bear a resemblance to
epilepsy. Death from tetanus accompanied with convulsions
8. Idom leaves any trace Whind; but death from opilepsr leaves

of th^ves'sX
**^"''""' ""^ b'°^ "'^ t^® brain or congestion

Ke-examined by the ArroRiniT-GBNERAi^-Convulsions that
take place in epilepsy are not at all of tetanic character. I sav

r,.t. ; :^ '^ °°' ^'^, ^'°° epilepsy, because there werenone of the symptoms there. When a patient dies with
cj-ilepsy he dies j.erfectly unconscious. Ulceration of the

iiT tT .'""^l^-'
.^/"'^'len »°i'"7 to the spinal cord, irrita-

tion of the teeth m infants, all produce convulsions. But those
convulsions in their progress are not similar to the convulsions
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Mly of tetanua. There it no progreMiTe movement and no appear-
ance about the face or jaw of having tetanua.

.Ctrtett Dr. BoBBiT Cobbrt, examined by Mr. Jaum—I am a
phjncian in (Haagow. I remember a patient of the name of

Agnea Sennet who died in the Glasf^ow Royal Infirmary on
29th September. 1845, after taking aome atrychnia pills

intended for another patient. I saw her while she was under
the influence of the poison. The symptoma I noticed were
a retraction of the mouth, face much suffused and red,

the pupils dilated, the head bent back, the spine curved,

and the muscles rigid and hard like a board. She died about

an hour and a quarter after taking the pills. There would be
a quarter of a grain in each of tho three pills she took.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shkb—^The retraction of

Uie angles of the mouth waa continuous, but it was worse at

times. I did not observe it after death. The hands were
not clenched, but aemi-bent after death. That aemi-bending

of the hand ia a very common thing in cases of death by violent

convulsions. Twenty minutes after taking the medicine she

waa attacked by the symptoms.

Op. Watson ^f' Watson, examined by the ATTORNHr-GaNERAL—1 am on»
of the physicians in the Glasgow Royal Infirmary, and attended
the case of Agnea Senuet spoken to by tho last witness. I saw
her about a quarter of an Lour after the symptoms first began.

She was in violent convulsions ; her arms were stretched out
and rigid ; her feet and legs were also rigid. Just at that

moment she did not breathe. That paroxysm subsided almost
immediately, and fresh ones came on after a very short interval.

They occurred at intervals until they destroyed her. She was
about half an hour in dying. She seemed perfectly conscious

during the time. At the post-mortem examination the spinal

cord was quite healthy. The heart was contracted.

Hanr Kelly Mart Eellt, examined by Mr. Bodkin—I was u patient in

the Glasgow Royal Infirmary, and saw Agnes Sennet take the
pills, which were intended for another patient. I aaw her

take two pills only. After taking the pills she went and sat

down by the fire, and in about three-quarters of an hour she

was taken ill. She fell back on the floor, and a nurse and
I lifted her into bed. The nurse cut her clothes off, and she
never moved after she was put upon the l)ed ; she was just

like a poker. She never spoke after she fell.

C. RIaksM Caroune Hickson, examined by Mr. Jamks—In October,

1848, I was nurse and lady's maid in the family of Mrs.
Serjeantson Smith, at Romsey, in Hampshire. On the 30th
of that month Mrs. Smitli was unwell, and riomc medicine
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wu Mnt to her in the afternoon, about liz o'clock, by a Ifr. C
Jones, a druggist in Komsey. Shortly after seven o'clock
next morning I saw her take about half a wineglass of the
medicine. About five or ten minutes afterwards I was sum-
moned to her bedroom, and on entering I saw her leaning upon
a chair, and I thought she had fainted. She appeared
to suffer from what I thought spasms. I went out and sent
for Mr. Taylor, surgeon, and on returning to the bedroom
I found some of the other servants assisting to support Mrs.
Smith. She was then lying on the floor and screaming very
much, very loudly, but did not open her teeth. She asked
me to have her legs pulled straight, and I found them drawn
up very much. She still screamed as if in great agony, and
requested some water to be thrown over her, which I did. Her
feet were turned inwards. I put a hot-water bottle to them,
but this had no effect. Shortly before she died she said she
felt easier, and her last wonls were, "Turn me over." I

did so. A few minutes after this she died. She was con-
scious, and knew me during the whole time. From the time
she took the medicine until she died would be about an hour
and a quarter.

Cross-examined by Mr. Gkovl—From the time I first saw
her in the spasms she could not sit up at all.

us, recurring fit, and lastetl about nn hour,
easy for a very short time before her death,
clenched during the whole time.

It was a continu-

She only seemed
Her teeth were

5 f

Mr. FnANCis Tati.oh, eiamined by Mr. Wei.sbt—I am a F. Taylor

surgeon at IJomsey. I was summoned one morning to the house
of Mrs. Serjeantson Smith. 1 arrived between eight and nine
o'clock, shortly alter she died. I saw the body then. The
hands were clenched ; the feet were contracted, turned inwards;
and the soles of the feet were hollowed up. This appeared to
have been from recent sjinsmodic action. The limbs were
remarkably stiff. The body was still warm. The eyelids
were totally adherent, almost to the eyeballs. I made a
post-mortem examination three days after death. The con-
traction of the feet continued, but it was gone off somewhat
from the rest of the body. No trace of disease was found.
The heart was contracted and perfectly empty, and the blood
was fluid. I analysed the medicine Mrs. Smith had taken. It
originally contained nine grains of strychnia, and Mrs. Smith
had taken one-third. As the truth was so np;)arent, only a
very general examination of the stomach and bowels was made,
but still suffiiiient to find traces of strychnia.

Jsvt WiTHAH, examined by Mr. Jaiub—In March last I was Jane WlUiam
m attendance on a lady who died. I remember her taking
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JM.WIII*. 'Ofjnedkin. after which .be became ill. She flnt com-plamed of her back and when I went to her 1 obwrved her
bead wu drawn back, and I could not get at her back. Shewa« in bed. I noticed she had twiatingt of the ankles, andher eye. were drawn aside and .taring. She firat compUined
of lUnew on the 26th of February, and Ae died on Irt kareh.She had several attack., between each of which Ae got better.She gcneraUy compkined of a pricking in her leg. and twitch-ing of the mtiKcIe. in the hand., and .he compared them toa golvamc shock. During the attack, .he requested herhu.band to rub her legs and arms. The first attack was on
the Monday, and she died on the Saturday about ten minutea
to eleven at night.

(Tliis vase wiiH that of iJr. Dove's wife )
CroM-esamined by Mr. Sehjbaht Siot—It was on the com-mencement of the spasms that she requested her legs to berubDcd. On the Saturday night she could not bear them tobe touched. On that night the spasms were much stronger

than on the other days. On the Saturdav she did not apeak
but once or twice. During the interval ox the spasms on theSaturday touching her brought the spr.sms on. She could
.wallow on each of the -lays except tbo Saturday, when hermouth was quite closed. After death her body was stiff.

O.Horley Mr. Georob Mori.bt. examined by Mr. Wblsbt—I was themedical attendant on the la-ly referred to by the last witness. Ihad been attending her for s.oout two months before her death
for a functional derangement I saw her on the Monday before
her death lying m her bed. I observed several convulsive

SrJ"^f%K 7 """c- ' ""-^ *»*• °" *h« Saturday about themiddle of the day Sue was inuch better, and in a composed
state. She complamed of an attack she had had in the nwhtand spoke of pams and spasms, affections of the back andneck. 1 and another medical gentleman made a post-mortem
eiam.nat.on on the Monday. We foimd n., di^ase wnich
would account for death. There were no abrasions, n.,r r-ny^f °!r

'""^ ^^° ^''"^^'' ''^'« semi-bent, the fingers curvedand the feet wer. strongly arched. We applied Kcveral colour
tei.

.
to the conte.is of the stomach for the purpose of detecting

the presence of jo.son. On each occasion we produced the

nK"r^ '"''"'I'^'l''"
.'>^«"•K^mia. Aft.,- the «>paration

of the StryciMiuie by che.nical analysis we i..o< ulated two micetwo rabbits and one guinea pig with the stuff taken from the

fhZff ;. n^'^'^l '"/f•* °' **»« ""'"">'" '""'•^ 0' less
the effect, usually produced by the poison strvchnia^-general
uneasiness, difficult breathing, convulsions of the tetanic kind
muscular rigidity, bending backwards, especially of the head

llfjT' u
^'«]ent stretching of the legs. In the case of the

animals where death resulted the muscular rigidity continued
7»
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after death from «hat they would, aoj^iisg daath wm pro-

duced rapidly by one dow.
Re-croM^-ezamined by Mr. Suubant Siuk—Is it your tbeorj

tlut in the uct of pouooing the puiiou la absorbed and ceuM
to exist as poison, a« strychnia I—I am inclined to think so I

have thought much upon that question. I am not decided in

mj owu mind.
What chemical reuson can juu i^ive for your opinion!—My

opinion rests on the general tact that organic substuncea acting

on the human bo<ly, such aa f')o<l or medicine, are frequ'^-itly

changed in composition. It is ))06.dble thut strychnia may
have been discovered in the blood ;iid liver after efifectmg the

operation of poisoning, but I do uut know that it has.

Do you know whether strychnij can be decomposed by any

ort of puttefying or fenuentutive process t— 1 have no tact to

how that it can, and I doubt if it is.

B.D. >ocTC M:. Edward Dikb Moorb, examined by Mr. Hudd.'.eston—^I

wa8 formerly in pr.icticc as u surgeon. About tiftcen year.s ug;o

I was attending a gentleman for paralysis, and bad been giving

him some very small doses of strychnie Subsequently 1 made
him up a stronger doso containing a quarter of a grain. In

about three-quarters of an hour I was summoned to come bark

and see him. He was stiffened in every limb. His heiol

wa.s drawn back, and he was screaming, frequently requesting

that we should turn him, move him, and rub him. His spine

was uichcd. VVt; tried to give him a mixture of ammonia
with a spoon. He snapped at the spoon with a sort of con-

vulsive grasp to take it. He was suffering about three hours

altogether. He survived the attack, nnd was perfectly

conscious the whole time.

Crosa-cxamineil by Si;;'..i•^^T Shee—He recovered from tho

ipasms in about three hour.s, but the t iiri'lity of the muscles

remained for the rest of the day and part ot tlie next day. He
was completely recovered the noxt day after the attack, and the

patient himself said he thought his paralysis was better.

The Court then adjourned.
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Fifth Day, Monday, 19th May, 1856.
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Trial of William Palmer.

AlfrMliTarlor side. There ia a trembling of the whole muscles of the body,
a sort of quivering motion arising from the poison producing
those violent and involuntary contractions. There is then a
sudden paroxysm of it; the fore lega and the hind legs are
stretched out, the head nnd the tail are drawn back so as to
give it the form of a bow. The jaws are spasmodically closed,

the eyes are prominent, protruding. After a short time there
is a slight remission of the symptoms, and the animal appears
to lie quiet, but the slightest noise or touch reproduces con-
vulsive paroxysms. There is sometimes a scream or sort of

shriek; the heart beats very violently during the fit, and after

a succession of these hts the animal dies quietly.

There is not invariably, immediately prior to death, a re-

mission of the symptoms?—I have only known an animal has
died by having the hand over the heart. It has been in a
state of spasms at that time. In one or two cases the animal
has died quietly, as if there was a remission; sometimes it dies

apparently during the spasms itself.

What appearance have you observed after death which would
be different from the ordinary appearances—the outward
appearances? Are the muscles more than usually rigid?—In

some instances the animal has been rigid throughout; that is

to say, it has died in a spasm, and the rigidity has continued,

the muscles so strongly contracted that for a week afterwards
it was possible to hold the animal horizontally extended by the
bind legs vithout the body falling. In an animal killed the
other day tue body was flexible at the time of death, but it

became rigid about five minutes after death. I have opened
the bodies of animals th.it have been thus destroyed. I have
found no appearances in the stomach or intestines which would
indicat.3 any injury there. I have found in one or two cases

congestion of the vessels of the membranes. In other cases I

have not found any departure from the ordinary state of blood.
The membranes of the spinal cord and brain are a continuation
one of the other, so that it is not easy to have congestion of one
without congestion of the other. The congestion of those
membranes has been due to fits which the animal has had before
death. In three out of five cases I failed to discover any
abnormal condition of the spinal cord or brain. As to the
hearts of animals thus killed, from all that I have seen the
heart has been congested with blood, the right side especially.

The description given by Elizabeth Mills and Mr. Jones of the
symptoms which accompanied the attack on Mr. Cook are
similar to those I have seen in animals to which I have
administered strychnia.

How long does it take in the case of rabbits to which you
have administered strychnia from the time the first symptoms
manifest themselves to the time of the death?—^They have



Evidence for Prosecution.

fallacious. In four case, of Sairdesf ovod"l^ '^yZl

there was no indication at all of the pvesenc'j.lT.Xn^^Z
the first ca.e we hud given a do.o of two grair.; aVintcrvals;
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Trial of William Palmer.

Alfred tmrim in the second cage one grain ; in the other two cases one grain
and half a grain.

How did you account physiologically for the absence of any
indication of strychnia where you know strychnia to have been
given and to have caused death?—By absorption into the blood
so that it is no longer in the stomach ; it is in a great part too
changed in the blood. In the case of the larger dose there
would be a retention of some not absorbed. That would be in
cases beyond what was required for the destruction of life. If
the minimum of the quantity required to destroy life was given,
I do not think I would find any. It would be removed by
absorption, and no longer discoverable in tho stomach.
Are there any chemical means you are acquainted with

whereby the presence of this poison can be detected in the
tissues?—There are not there is no process I am acquainted
with when it is in a small quantitv , so far as I know it cannot
be detected.

In addition to this distribution of the half grain, which you
tell us is known to have destroyed human life, over the whole
system, in your opinion does it undergo decomposition as
it mixes itself with the animal tissues?—I believe it undergoes
some change in the blood. That increases the difficulty in
detecting it in the tissues. I have never heard of its being
separated in a crystallised state from the tissues.

After the postmortem examination on the body of M-. Coos
some portion was sent up to me. I experimented to ascertain
if there were any poison present. We sought for prussic acid,
oxalic acid, morphia, strychnia, veratrea, a poison of white
hellebore, the poison of tobacco, hemlock, arsenic, mercury,
antimony, and other mineral poisons generally. We only found
small traces of antimony. The part which we had to operate
upon was in the most unfavourable condition for finding
strychnia if it had been there. The stomach had been completely
cut from end to end ; all the contents were gone, and the fine
mucous surface, on which any poison if present would be found,
was lying in contact with the outsid' of the intestines, all thrown
together. There was also succulent matter on tho surface of
the mucous membrane, derived from the intestines, the contents
of which partly escaped. The inside of the stomach had been
forced into this mass of intestinal succulent matter ; at any
rate, it was lying so. In journeying up to London it must
have been shakrn in every possible way. The contents of the
intestines were there, but the contents o* le stomach were
gone. If there had been any of this po. present I should
have expected to have found it in the contents of the stomach
and on the mucous membrane. At my request other portions
of the body we < sent—the liver, the spleen, and the two
kidneys ; in addition, a small bottle of blood, unlabelled, giving



Evidence for Prosecution.
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Trial of William Palmer.

AlfNdlkrlop Cross examined by Mr. Sbbjkakt Shbe—In the course of your
examjnation you have frequently used the words "traces of
antimony." What was the meaning of " trace "1—A very
small quantity.

In analytical chemistry does it mean an imponderable
quantity?—I do not apply it in that shape. Some chemists
mean that. T mean we obtained some quantity in that sense
from many

,
arts, and that the quantity thus calculated would

make a ponderable quantity in the whole. We have about
half a grain.

You did not actually ascertain it to amount to half a grain T—No. I do not think a quarter of a grain would have explained
the quantity we obtained. I will undertake to say there was
half a grain to the best of my judgment.

In all parts of the body you examined 1—^There was more in
the parts of the body examined, but we extracted that quantity.

In your judgment would that be suflScient to cause death!

—

No. I was first asked to investigate this case on Tuesday,
27th November, by Mr. Stevens. Either on that day or
subsequently he mentioned the name of Mr. Gardner to me.
After Mr. Stevens spoke to me he and Mr. Boycott came
together with these jars.

You wrote a letter, the whole of which I will read to you.
It is in reply to a letter received from Mr. Gardner

—

Dr. Reea and I have compared the analysis to-day. We have sketched
a report, which will be ready to-morrow or next day. A» I am
going to Durham Assizes on the part of the Crown, in the case of Reg.
v. Wuoler, the report will be in the hands of Dr. Rees, No. 26 Albe-
marle Street. It will be most desirable that Mr. Stevens should call
on Dr. Rees, read the report with him, and put such questions as may
occ -. In reply to your letter received here this morning, I beg
to „ay that we wish a statement of all the medicines prescribed for
decoased (until his death) to be drawn up and sent to Dr. Rees. We
did not find strychnia nor prussic acid or any trace of opium. From
the contents having been drained away, it ie now impossible to say
whether any stiychnine had or had not been given just before death.
But it is quite possible for tartar emetic to destroy life if given in
repeated doses ; and, as far as we can at present form an opinion, in
the absence of any natural cause of death, the deceased must have
died from the rfects of antimony in this or some other form.

Was that your opinion at the time?—It was. That was all

we could infer from the chemical analysis.

Have you not told me to-day that the quantity of antimony
that you found in Cook's body was not sufRciint to account
for death?—Perfectly so; but what was found in Cook's body
was not all he took. We found antimony, and v.-e could not
account for its being there. I wrote to know whether antimony
had been given as a medicine, and I considered, as people had
died from antimony, it was necessarv to have inform.ation of

8o
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Trial of William Palmer.

UtMA Taylor knowledge. I have not a case of a pergon sitting up in bed and
beating the bed.

Have you known any instances in which the patient has
screamed before he was seized with the fit?—No. That is
common in convulsions not occasioned by strychnia poisoning.
In many oases they scream very soon after the spasm sets in

;

the pain felt is very severe.

This is before the convulsions begin T—No, I have never
known that. I have known cases in which they speak freely,
but not after the paroxysm has commenced ; I do not remember
a case at the present time.
Can you tell me or refer me to any one case in which the

effect of the strychnia affection or paroxysm in a fatal case
has been as long after the ingestion of the poison as in Cook's
case on Tuesday night?—Yes. In a case communicated to the
Lancet of 31st August, 1850, p. 259, by Mr. Bennett, one
grain and a half of strychnia, taken by mistake, di -troyed the
life of a healthy young female in an hour and a half, which
is remarkable, as no symptoms api)eared for an hour.
May I take it that is the longest period which has elapsed

between the ingestion of the poison and the conmiencement of
the symptoms on record?—No, I think not.
Do you know a single case in which the symptoms have

manifested themselver; as long as an hour and a half after the
ingestion of the poison?—No, I do not.

Do you know any case of strychnia poison in which the
patient has recovered from a paroxysm in as short a time as
Mr. Cook did, he being well before the morning?—I do not
remember any, but I can conceive iu medical practice such
cases.

Do you know any case of strychnia poison in which t

was so long an intermission of the paroxysm as betweei
two fits of Monday and Tuesday night?—No, I do not.

As you choose to go upon rabbits, do you not know tha.
constantly happens, even in rabbits, that the spasm and the
contraction instimtly cease immediately with death, or just

before death, and that the body becomes perfectly pliant?

—

No, I do not. It does so in some instances, in one out of

five cases.

Do you agree in this opinion of Dr. Christison
—" I have

not altered the statement as to this point in the former edition,

that is, that the rigidity supervenes at an early period after

death
; yet I strongly suspect the authors who describe the

spasm which precedes death to continue as it were without
the rigidity that occurs after death must have observed inaccu-

rately, for, in the numerous experiments that I have made and
witnessed upon animals, flaccidity of limb continued after
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Trial of William Palmer.

«. 0. IcM expect with care to discover that ezcesa. The .ymptomg in the
casei of death from strychnia that have been given are
analogous, m my opinion, to those of Mr. Cook, and to those
produced by atrjchnia in the experiments I have seen made on
animaii.

i. Ckiistli«ii Professor Robbrt Christison, examined by tlie Attornw-
GiNiRAi^I am a Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians
and Professor of Materia Medica to the University of Edin-
burgh I published in 1845 a treatise ou poisons in relation to
medical jurisprudence. Among other poisons, I have turned my
attention to strychnia. It acts upon the human frame by
absorption into the blood, and then by acting on the nervous
system. I have seen :i case of strychnia poisoning, but not a fatal
one, m a human subject. I have frequently seen experiments
tried upon animals—frogs, rabbits, cats, dogs, and one wild
boar. In most of my experiments I have given verv sm.ill doses,
a sixth part of a grain, but sometimes as much as a grain. The
first symptom that I have observed has been a slight tremor
and uriwill igness to move, then frequently the animal jerks
Its head back slightly, and very soon after that all the symptoms
ot tetanus come on, which have been so often described in the
evidence .of previous witnetjes. There is occasionally an inter-
mission of the spasms for a short while. Where the poison
has been introduced into the stomach, between five or six
minutes and twenty-five minutes have elapsed from the com-
miencement of the symptoms to the death of the animal. From
the giving of the poison to the first svmptoms coming on, the
appearance of tremor, I have seen as long as twelve minutes
elapse, and from the first commenceme-t of the symptoms to
their termination in death from five or s. linutes to twenty or
twenty-five minutes. The symptoms have always been very
much the same. Where we can trace it very correctly, I think
the jaws and the back of the neck are affected first, then the
trunk and the extremities in such rapidity that it is very difficult
to follow them in succession. I have sometimes obscrv.d
differences m individuals of the same species; the intermission
sometimes is wanting; some lie in one long continuous spasm
with scarcely any intermission, but that is uncommon. I have
generally found that the animal is in a state of flaccidity about
the period of the termination of life. I have always observed
an interval before the rigidity that takes place after death
There is a cessation of the symptoms immediately before death •

the rigidity is gone, the body is flaccid. The rigidity is
renewed very soon after death. I have frequently opened the
bodies of the animals that have thus been killed. I never could
find that the poison had produced any apparent effect upon the
stomach or intestines. I have never found any apparent effect
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Such materials would be withbtheknoll'^f'"'* f *''^^«*'^"-

medical man, and some are oftln ^"°*l^<^g«
»'"! >each of a

pills. Absorption wou^d not leZ TtU '^he"",?"^
''^'^''^

broken up or digested • thn LL i u, I *°® P'" <=ame to be
be the pfriod rSred "^^" *'"" P'" '^^ ^^^S^r would

upJl'^Thir'SS^nlf vt\' '"!.-*'^ '""'^ °^ ^'--'"^e
certainty or aSracy tte periodtfrtt^^MT*''

'^"^^^'"^ "^«
human subject before such ookon t Ll^^^^ '"^'l"''"^ '" *''i°

it has been taken into the^storicr"^ ^'!l"
*° "P^^'**^ '^f^^'^

enable you to form an ojfnion at Jo fh!V^'
'*'*' "^ -"•'^'"^^

the precise time, that ft 'Zld reqdre^r'th
'°'' °' '''''

operate?—I do not think «-» ^o„ J^^""^*^
tor this poison to

ledge .he precise time L the od'onT •'"'^ ^''''''' '^'>--

When we give poison to an ii^T .k
'^'""'"^ *" «P«rate.

the effect of the Son 1 j"'^^!"': ^^^ P"'-P°«« of watching
would «ct mos raS/'wheth^erin t/"; ^""1^ '" ^'^'^'^ '^

We ,ke care thJt the .n mal If ?"'^ "' *^^ ^°^'*^ ^°™-
circuuistance favourable forThi '%.^"'''*'"f'

""d have every
it up with n:.ter°al that- 1m*'°"

.''^ P"'^'^"- We mix
I ha^ve seenTgSmanv cases oftt^

'*°'"'?'-
'" *^^ ^^«'°«<=h-

but very few f^:x>m Sal diseases
"" '^^'^^^ '^^m wounds.

i4^^:==u-ni^^Sr'^^-at



Trial of William Palmer.

.CMM«» would not re,t much upon the little difference of particular•ympton, but rather upon the courne and the general "^1^
.tance. attending them. Firrt. that in all the^natural fo^
Jni rnnrff' TP'""' '^^'"/"^ «*^«°<=« »"<=»» more llow™and, iecondly. they prove fatal much more elowly. When once

Where the first paroxysm does not prove fatal there are shortinterm,8s.on8 in tetanus from strvchnia. I heard the evidence

th«^Z'«n/ ^^A lT°
''""^ °' ****"'"' *° ^^'^J* "»>«"« you referthe spasm and other symptoms spoken to by tho«e two witness,.?-lo strychnia or one of the natural poisons containinjr it—nu^ vomica, St. Ignatius's bean, snakewood. and a ?o s^^caUed exhetw ck. They be-long to different plants o^f Sesame genus, from all of which strychnia may^e obtainedThere s no natural disease that I have ever seen or that I

observafon upon it, it remains. When the animal is iH stat^of strong universal spasm it is impossible U> make any observation on Its consciousness. The heart of a human subject kilSl

Whether r l""
^"'1'"''

u^'°°^
'" '' ^"^ «'"°«»''"es notWhether the heart contains blood or not depends upon theparticular mode of death, or the dose varying Spasms of th^heart would expel tho blood.

^ ^spasms ot the

Where death has taken place from strychnia I should notexpect to find it wlu.e tl.e quantity take./ is small, but therthere is a considerable excess over the quantity necessarv odestroy life by absorption I should expect to find it. Colomingtests are, I think, uncertain in some respects. Veeetablepoisons are generally more difficult to detect. There is one

ias^sen Vn^^^r'^'r '\ "" *''* ^ ''"°" °^- '"'« ^'^^^^^ that

thathr..i!n^-; ."T"""
*" "P"'"''**' "P^°' ^'•«'° *»>« description

If T h.HK r^^'
^'^' '"* ^""^ unsatisfactory condition.

It 1 had been called upon to analyse such a stomach, I shouldhave entertained any reasonable expectation of doing any

tilf W^ '' V. ^^^*^/°* ^"'" '"'^'"-'"^ t»»^t there was f con^sderable quantity of strychnia present. I have no doubt.

I.T A II T^ ^ ^^''^ ^^""'^ "« to the Leeds case, the Glasgow
case, and the Romsey case, that they were deaths from strychnia.

of Mr^Co^o^™^
"" '"''^^^ ""PP^*"" *° "^ ^^^ """" t° t*»o^<^

T ck'"°u^^''°Vu^ ^? ^^'- GRO^E-I-^cm my own observation,
I should say that animals who die from strychnia die of suffoca-
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!i°°n!.'Ej'?t'*'
""' ? "°"'"f" °' ») l»<>k 'tick i. ret,™i , c«™_

I do not hnd that meets the caant I* u«,.^. n.

umes. and through an influer' on the respiration •
it is now

ZlTni sCS::'^
'"" '- ^"^' -'"-^ have^L'^J^'o';

w-lV"® K."'T-' Pf''"'"^'^ -•
strychnia that vou eia- , <

Cr."^"^ '°
l'''."^'*'

cavityT-Yes. in both.You state in your book, and you tell me that ^hen deat '

,

toL ff
P "^«/"'Jd^'jJy i" - fit of spasms, the pe son continu;.

k •' ; L "}'{'^^ a Btatement which, accordine to vour

vX flLT;"^'
on the contrary, fn aJimals the limbs b^^ome

J,!Zrii
''nmedmtely after death, but the usual rigiditysupervenes at an early period." I presume the rigidi^o^which vou speak ,s the rigidity of death. r:gor-mortirj-Ye,

this LLY'in rf"~" ^ ^"^^ "°* '"'"'^^ *^« statement a'totftis pomt m a former edition, yet I stronL'lv susnect fh^tauthors who describe the spasms wLh produce'dUrand tntinue the rigidity aft.- death, must ^ inaccurate.'' Is Syour present opinion?- think it is ,y likely th« intervalbeing very short that the .ttentio ^ay 7ot have be"n

naccidity There have oi>n some cases mentioned verv

hrslaTrn'otS: "''l"l^'
" "'^ ^P^^°^ '^^^'"^ -"*'»-^ "o™

thfnk th?^?ff
"

"'k^I''*^
'^ 'P"'™ of death: but I still

£ exn^Ll '^"A
" ^ ^''^ "r" -^'"'''''^ '" ^'ff-^^^^nt cases maybe eiplame,! on the supposition that there has been a want ofminute and accurate attention.

he^wL' r^.'^f
*^°" «.case on page 906, where a boy, whenhe was touched, was immediately thrown into a fit Is ityour present imj.ression that, in cases of poisoning by strychnia

-Tha" i-s th«"? *° ''^'°"
*r^

P^*'^"* ^ '*° ' «^ -h'en touched i—1 hat is the only case. In animals it is very remarkable-

wiSThetSlb^^'^f"^""*^ °' '="^^^- ' ^-^ '^""'t-ck
WaLn't i'"*.

**»"* '* h'-'^ n-^t more often been noted. Dr.

k t notJ'" K wl"V°?'
"°'-

^* '« °«t ^^'^t *»>« absence oIt 18 noted but that it is not mentioned at all. I have in-

Sy"-Ld^^:^^
'' '"^ •^"'™'^'^' -^- >- *-^ therve'^

n!

i^i

li

I
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Trial of William Palmer.

If resinous substances were used in a pUl, would thev not h«

Zle3 off
^ "P"° **^'^ "'&*»* P"« i°*« tJ^e intestin;s and 2

it nit?_5V^,*'*'°^*
''""^'^ "^ discharged with them, would

lubsl';;^''^"'^'^'
'" ^"^^''^ '^^'^ ion with the r'esmous

I suppose if the resinous substances nrevented th^ ««,-.«„

For'ftS'^^'
'' "°''' P"^'°* ''' absoX into tl'^JlJSr

or^ntes'tin^! r.K
"''"^^ *° 'f^* P""-*^""" o' i* i'^ the stomachor intestines as the case maj be f—The more likely

Re-examined by the Axtobset-Gbnebal-WouM thatmatenaUy depend on the quantity of the dosof-Both on^edose and on the time during which the pill was aS,w«l to

n'°-.«i'^T;:.r.rr4r„™.-sis

The Court then adjourned.



Sixth Day, Tuesday, 20th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

than m this country. I iave ^een L i"'" ^u'"'""" »°^«dia
It

18 common with children In children ti'''
•''"" ^'''^^ '"'''^

symptom of lockjaw, but in adiStrtil ^'' "^ ™°'"e marked
the symptoms of idi;path c and tralltio'

"^.^'^^^^^^^^ between
Idiopathic tetanus preceded hv»?- ^ *"i'e always seen
countenance, stiffnes^s inIS mVclero?! f^"^'*''^

«' ^^2
jaw. In infants it wiU kilMn fn^L •

t.^
*>'"'"'* ''"'^ «^ the

arising from cold, it is of longer H^;^'^**'
^°""' '° adults,S days, going ^o^'^!:^^^^::^^^^

app'^rurXarLSrtTmf^^^^^^ p--* ^^-^«
on. His appetite and desfre for f^L

^^ '^^ ""'^^'^ •=°'»««
He may take his food as usual witht .

"? "?* ""''^ ^^ff^^^d-
liminary symptoms. ^^'^ ^'^^^^e hours of the pre-

on?rd!r^Vi:h';?-£,-P^^^^^^^^ attack to be the «rst
ordinary foodJ-His attentfoA t

he seem not to relish his
of his mouth and theSS? hTLT*"^ *° '""^ ^'^^^^^^

ttT:i;[j;? -' '- -^^-^edl' eafijHltrJvHe^;^

ocfSt°?2os*?c2:srtTvf^^r'-d^^ ^---' '^-

from twelve to twent^fo^r hour, ^^ ^?""' '"'d in an adult
And f the comWncement^^fTfIT '""'"^ ^^^^^ *^^*-

death, what time»-That wHl v»r^ S ^i^""= convulsions to
-^take Place early soiJ^l:^^^^^^^^^^^^^^

-?w a" bSfj^a^krrn%rdt? " ^f?^*^--^
*-"-»

the course of the symptoms
^'"^"'^ '^*^ '"• "o regards

.U^VtlTlT.eTZr:!:i^^^^^^ ^" ^"^- *^- - this
"P. the symptoms of ISZ IreXtmr"' "''° ""*'« ««*
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Trial of William Palmer.

JokBJMkfon In all your experience, did you ever know a case in which
the disease ran its course and ended in death in the space of
twenty minutes or half an hourT—I have never seen it.

[The rest of this day, after Dr, Jackson's evidence, was
occupied with taking evidence that there was nothing in
Palmer's papers to show joint transactions between him and
Cook; as to Pratt's and Padwick's accounts; as to Palmer's
pecuniary position generally ; as to the forgery of his mother's
name, and the forgery of an endorsement on a cheque for
£375 of Cook's name, by which he passed into his own account
that sum which was intended for Cook.]

The Court then adjourned.
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Seventh Day. Wednesday, axst May, X855.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

Speech for the Defence.
Mr. SBHjBANr Swfi \f„ * •

task which it is now my duty tn „.? I''
"'^ *** P«'-^«™» the ""^

overwhelming sense of diffidS and nf'"P.""°PP^"«^^ by an
before has it fallen to mylot to defi/P'"'A*;"''°"- Onceonly
trial for his life; it is TL^Mn^

defend a fellow-creature upon
but for a day, of a r^.tur^to di;t:rthl*'%^^r' ^'^^ '^ ^-t
and try the strongest nerves ^ow much rn'°°^''*

temperament
8« long days, in the eye of mv ,mf, I-

*** ^^e'^' d"nng
standing, between him and theTcaffoW

^^^ ''''°*' ' ^^^'« ''eef
error of judgment on mv Irt ^b/ "'"'•"T *^'^* ^^« l«««t
derer's doom, and that throulj, ?lf \'r"?° '"™ *« ^ mur-
br.ast a storm of public nreiudL l^"^^

*™® ^ ^ave had to
perilled the calm Tdm^^isS' n/"'^• ' '"' ""''''' before im
useless for me to conceal whr° .•'!;'''""

'
Gentlemen, it^,

your utmost endeavours n.^!^ *
you know perfectly well wh^t

recoUection, that ?or
"" :rLmS^ """T

^^^"^^^ ^-^ youj
upon the authority of science

'"^"^''^
.""''fr the sanction and

vailed that the voice of fhf J ,
,''^1'""" '''"i^ "niversnliy n,e

crying up unto us rom the .r. "^ °^
i"''"

P^'-^-ns Cook wasby the whole popuSn und?r
"

;•J"*^
'^'' *^'' «'-y was me

the pnsoner's'g.iilt in a delirium ofTr''^'" T^ ^""^•''=^'«^ of
another cry of "blood for blood''' V ""^ 'nd'Pnation by
have entered upon the discharge of tbl'^'

:."""°\']^v«-- failed t.
as I have observed, most rnf,!; *• f

"^'*''' '"'''«b vou have
form, Tvitho.u having Wi '°^f'

^"t'o»% endeavoured to peri
cry; you could nolLow tJat it^^"*,?*^'*

^-^^"^"^•^'^ b? t?at
that box to pass betwein fhl n °"''^ ^" y^"*" ^'"ty to si* ^
'n-y with perfect proSy und^?7" .""^ '^"^ prisoner;
been ascertained before T'coron '

""'^'"^ *^^^ *he fact^ i

evidenceaswasthere aken havef' ^"'^' ""'^ '"''^'''S such
question of the guilt orInnience nf ^k

'" -P''''^" "P"" *h«
cannot br. know'that whaterSThl / - P'"''"""'' '' ^ut you
'8 your duty to discard itat,e«;f^ ^1","'" '""^' ''"''^•^ been it
evidence on both sides ' ''^'* ""''' y°" bave heard fj"
tientlemen. the verv o' „,c*

«.» are „t . ch.rMtir fc SteSi","?'* " »'«« '" "»
-". and .,.™. n»e'S:.7uT;t'r;r«trrrT.
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Trial of William Palmer.

ta^Miit Mfety of the Queen'8 subjecU felt bo much apprehension leat
the course of justice should be disturbed by the popular preju-
dice which had been excited against the prisoner, so much
alarmed that an unjust verdict might in the midst of that
popular prejudice pass against him, that a resolution was t;i' en,
not only by the Queen's Government and the Legislature, upon
the motion of the noble and learned judge, who presides here,m the House of Lords, that an Act of Parliament should be
passed to prevent the possibility of the ordinary forms of law
being, in the case of William Palmer, made the instrument of
popular vengeance. The Crown, under the advic. of its respon-
sible Ministers, resolved also that this prosecution should not
be left in private hands, but that its own law officer, my learned
Anend the Attorney-General, should take upon himself the
responsibility of conducting it properly, at once sternly in his
duty to the public and fairly to the prisoner at the bar ; and
my learned friend, when that duty was entrusted to him, did
what I must say will, in my opinion, for ever redound to his
honour—he insisted that in a case in which so much prejudice
had boen excited all the evidence »vhich it was intended on
the part of the Crown to press against the prisoner should, as
soon as he received it, be communicated to the prisoner's
counsel; everything, I must say and tell mv unhappy client,
everything which tiie constituted authorities of this land, every-
thing which the Legislature and the law officers of the Crown
could do to secure a fair and impartial trial in this case, has been
done, and the whole responsibility, if unhappily injustice should
on either side be done, now weighs with terrible pressure upon
my lord and upon you.

Gentlemen, on^ great misfortune has befallen the accused—
a most able man who had been selected by him as his counsel
many weeks ago has been, unfortunately, by illness prevented
from discharojing that duty to him. I have endeavoured, to
the utmost of my ability, to supply his place ; I cannot deny
that I am awed—that I am moved—by the task I have under-
taken

; but the circumstances to which I have already adverted,
the national effort, so to speak, through the Government of the
country, to ensure a fair trial is a great cause of encouragement,
and I am not dismayetl. I have this further cause for not
being altogether overcome by the duty which I have of defend-
ing the prisoner and of discussing the mass of evidence which
has been laid before you, that though, of course, like everybody
eise, I knew generally and looselv, very loosely indeed, the
history of these transactions at Rugeley,' I had formed, when
the papers came into my hands, no opinion upon them, no
opinion upon the guilt or the innocence of the prisoner at the
bar, and my mind was perfectlv free to form what I trust will
be declared by you a right judgment in this case. I com-
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Speech for Defence.
mence his defence, I uav it in oil •

conviction of hia i'nnocen':,e T bdieveXf'/'*^ " entire s.H,«.t
a truer word pronounced than fhf i 1 t- .

^""^ "^ver was ShM
when he said '• NoT^/t^.'! t 1Z\'''^'''^

^^ Pronounced
e8tabli.hing that to yo?? Stisfa^tion J itl^ ^1 ^ '^" ^
misgiving that mv l4ili,™ wo ^^'^^^ ^ "°der a great

case Itself; and I wU JZ\nt V °. "°^ weakness in the
which I d^^lare upon tWs eSe^ceT^'

'^
'^^ ""^^"t^" ^^

cence. that I wiU .neet the case"ftr ''"''"'''9^ "^ ^^ "nno-
at every staije ' will ^m^^? \.u

i^'osecution foot to foot

•hall see that I e-oid nHoint hJ„
Attorney-General. You

and if you find tJ I ToC de?"U ^hh
° "P^r^^^ ^*'

beguimng, and it is my duty to do so T h.. ^ ^°"
^f^""

"»«
indeed I know I mav be sure of « Jir ^^ ^ ^^^^ '^« «»'•«.

attention to an address whch must If "^
k°1 ^"'^'d^'-ate

which there shaU be no XervrtS;. n /' ^^ '°"-- l*"' *«
of discussion vhich do°not XeTS^lone tT'thr'

"° ^'^f'*"

Gentlemen, iht ^'ssp to^.vV iiT V,
''^"^"g *» the case.

lish against the pri.rertt the h'
^™!;° ""^ertakes to estab-

circumstantial evidence t or n.
' ''1^ ^° «"PPort by entirely

They say that the prisoner K^ ^•^' '^""^^y ^^^^^^ thus
November made up hfsSdth'TI "'r''^

'^'^""^ '^^^^ in
of John Parsons Cook, ddibera

'

v nJ ii'u-"'^'^* *° g*'* "d
poison V the slower poison .fI

Pr^Pared his body for deadly
spatched him by the dpX ""*™y> and afterward.s de-
will onvict a man o? the1^^};'" •

^ '''^^^'''''- ^o jury
unle

.„ the first ?lace U be'm'de clSrThS^he h^*'^
P"^''"^^'

for ..8 commission, some stmno .» * ^^ ^^'^ '°™« motive
of Cook; unless, n t^e sS TnT t'

''"'"'"^ *t« ''^"^h
deceased before death and thf ^ '^' *^^ ^ymptoms of the
body after death, wer. consistent wTh''r!.P'''^^"*^^ ^^ l^'«

strychnia poison and incon stent IhV^T^ °^ '^^"-^ ^'•^

from other and natural caSsesLll S- i,*"^*"'^
°^ '^^^^^

stantial evidence against hTm?« :.,r: l^""^'^''
*•>« ^'''cum-

the supposition of hSlo Tn e Now > • ' '"?P''<^''^ble upon
heads that I intend to SSthe .vi ' '\u

""'''^'' ^^^^'^ ^"^'^
and it must be plain to vouttt^ln'n '^"\

^"""t
^'''' ^'^''^ =

method of treating the va^t amn^.nl • T ^?
^''''^^ "''der an.I

before you, I must exhaLt tr*;^^'""*'^
^*^"^'^ ^''^ ^^«« 'a-'d

myself no chance without Trnn!?- T i'^
argument, and leavo

difficulty in the 5e7ence
""'"'*' ^^*^'=*'°" ^^ ^™ding any

-•t^hlrWtlfThe'cTor'arm^Se^'^^ Th^\^^^
^^°- '""•^•^-

Place in t.e .iscussion^^flr rfact'ti^irthlugtry
'l^ SJ
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Trial of William Palmer.

grt^t concealed from you by the Attorney-General, yet appeared tome m that address by which he at once seizee' upon your iudg-
Dient to have been thrown too much into the shade, the fact
that strychma was not found in the body of J^hn Parsons Cook.
If he died from the poison of strychnia, he died within two
hours of the admmistration to him of a very strong dose of it-
he died withm a quarter of an hour or twenty minutes of the
effects of that dose being visible in the convulsions of his botly

;

the post-mortem elimination took place within six days of his
death—there is not the least reason to suppose that between
the time of the ingestion of the poison, if poison was taken,
and the paroxysm in which he died, there was any dilution of
It in the stomach, or any ejection of it by vomiting. Never,
therefore, were circumstances more favourable; unless the
science of chemical -.nalycis is altogether a failure for detection
of the poison of strychnia, never was there a case in which
It ought to have been so easy to produce it. Now, the fact is,
and It IS beyond all question, that it was not found. What-
ever we may irk of Dr. Alfred Taylor, of his judgment, and
of his discretion, we have no reason to doubt that he is a
skilful analytical chemist—we have not the least reason to
suppose, we know the contrary, that he and Dr. Rees, who
assisted him, did not do all that the science of chemical analysis
could enable man to do to detect the poison of strychnia. They
had distinct information from the executor and near relative
of the deceased, either personally or through his solicitor, that
he, for some cause or other, had reason to suspect the poison
of strychnia

;
they undertook the examination of the stomach,

which, I think, upon the whole evidence, wHhout adverting
to that part of it now in detail, you will be satisfied was not in
an unfavourable condition for a sufficiently accurate analysis
with the expectation that if strychnia had been taken it would
be found, and without any doubt as to the efficiency of their
tests to detect it ; and yet in their letter of the 4 th of December
they say, " We do not find Btryclmia, prussic acid, or any trace
of opium

; from the contents of the stomach having been drained
away it is impossible to say whether any strychnia had or had
not been given just before death, but 'it is quite possible for
tartar emetic to destroy life, if given in repeated doses ; and
as far as we can at present form an opinion, in the absence
of any natural cause of death, the deceased may have died from
the effects of antimony in this or some other "form." Havinir
afterwaids attended the inquest, and heard the evidence of
Elizabeth Mills and Mr. Jones, of Lutterworth, and the evidence
of a person of the name of Roberts, who spoke to the purchase
of strychnia poison by Palmer on the morning of the Tuesday,
Dr. Taylor came to the conchision that the r'ills which we're
administereil to Cook on the Monday and Tu, lay night con-
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in writing tUt he mighiandThi» ^'^J'Preu^ an opinion
«&•"*

been poisoned by aSo^^^( which 11.^":
'""^ ^o^ds-lhaye

him in the bodv whil« n^ *
w»ith some trace was found bv

GentlemenVl km not „J T! ^^? '"""'^ °^ Btrychnia.
^

in detail, but iTaU ;our'atte„"tiorr''I^f
^'^'^ «^ *h« «=«»"

claiming for it its proper place "nJhi,
1'* ^°'' *^" P"^P°«« »'

may know at the com£encemen of mv "h
1""°°'^*"^ **»"* y°"

course of my argument wS be and no' •i"'"' ^ *^**"' ''^°^'
•ion that, because I do not under the thr^« k"'^!,'"

*^* ^P"-^-
have directed your attent,Vm „ i J ^^"^^ *» which I
I intend to pasK over I t^lT P^'-^'^I'Tly to that head
the defence will ^, TsT; the vlt^.V^^ "^''* '^' ''«'« ^o'm Mr. Cook's body. Let m'i state ?. ^^'f-T

""''' "°^ ^"""^
gentlemen who have c ^me to fh! •" ^''"'^^ °« ^ can—the
have been there, though they did "'.«"!? -^"1 '*'-^'='>"''^ ""7
that conclusion bv exSme/ts o^ n °** '*' -'''"^ "''"^^ at
they contend that thepoTon .f ?

^\^.P^'-*'«» J^^nd indeed;
that when once it has doC k fatal^.t"'" \\°^ "'»* ""*"••«
jnto the system, it cease to be tL*?' ""^^^ ^^.^^o^e absorbed
It was taken into the system -it b^n""^ ,^^""*^ '' ^"^ ^ben
ments separated from enJh ' othit 7 fr^^^posed, its ele-
capable of responding to ?he tel ' k"u

^^''^^^^^ «« longer
would certaini; detec^t he poison of S' "'""'"'^T^

*« '^'^'
that is their case. They account L ""^^^«'»Po«ed strychnia

;

found, and for their stil7retaTn"na tl 'V^f^*''^^ '* '"« "<>*
Mr. Cook, by that hvpothest L,^ •^^'*^' *'>"* '* destroyed
there is no foundation7or ?t In extw^ .''

-f^'''
'^ hypothesis;

by.the evidence of any minenrf'T^"*-'/* '« °°t supported
>t is due to them to s^av,Td J*SrT?!? ''•* *''^'»««l^es_
say because it will be quite out of L" ? Particular to
Ch-istison through any part of Im! ^-^ ^"'^''^ *° 'P^*'^ of »•.
respect and confiderat^^^o^ wW h is'dtT^" ^^'^^P* ^'^b the
acquirements and of the }.,Vl niV u

"" ™'''° of eminent
Taylor to say that he doe! ? ^baracter

;
it is due to Dr.

but he propounds ?tt ft eo^^oTht tlT? " ^"^ ^«^'^-
as I remember, any eminent t.r^Li^ -r" ' ^'^ *^**^^ "°* ^ouch.
when we recollect thft 1.1 t

**'^"'?^°g'8t m support of it • ,nd
good, humre m'ant-in jiav"in: n^^' ""V^'

"'^«^'- ^^^''^''^t -
five years ago, and five sino/r''''""'^ ?'" '""^^^^ t^^nty-
innocence ofValmer aro'se S SniorTth- f *'' ^"* °^
H the opinions of others CannotTJ! '

i!^'"^', """"PPorted
however, what I have to sav nL ""lu''

''^•^'^* ^'^b you
;

will call before Tou many eenCn^''!? i^'^PT"* '«' ^hat I
>n their profession. a^alTtic^l chZL l^""

^'^^^'^ ^°»'"«"«'«
utter renunciation ofThat heory ^'t '

-ir*
'
fI" /" ^°" t^^''"

Nunneley, a Fellow of ?he RoyafbolleJ of
'^''" ^'^^''^ -^"^ ^•••"c «oyai i^oiiege of Surgeons, and Pro-
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Trial of William Palmer.

^^^ SS?cl n/*!'^ t*
^' ^' ^^°«^ °' "«1'"°«. ^I'o ""ended

which we have agreed that no reference .haU be mde byname. I wdl caU before you Dr. Williams, Profewor ofMateria Medica at the Royal College of Surgeon, in "ellnd

tho ^W? n
'"'

*'f'T y?*" ^ *»>« City of Dublin Ho.piS
SL« .K l°K**"'* ''f "^"f

'^"^•'•^'y '^J^*'*- tl"'t theory; andbeUeye. that it ha. no foundation in experiment or authority.

distingu shed among the men of science in this great city, Pro-fewor of Chemistry and Toxicologj- in the Medical Co^«e~fthe London Hospital, and medical officer of health of th?city

nf i^f K^f T^°.
"'"? "i^*" *^** **'«'^ " " heresy unworthy

Njin. p'^w"*'
^'en^'fic "'en- I will caU before you Dr.Nicholas Parker, of the College of Physicians, a physician ofthe London Hosp.ta and Professor of Medicine to that institu-tion, who concurs with Dr. Letheby in his opinion; Dr. Robin-

PrX ° iri^ ^"^"^ C**""?" °' Physicians; Mr. RogeS.
Professor of Chemistry to St. George's School; and lastly Iwil caU before you probably the most eminent chemical anakst

ZSllT'l'^' ^'- ^'"'r ^^''^P^^i^' of Bristol, who Slyrej«:t3 the theory a. utterly unworthy of credencel-all of these

fhat nT T'-J't'^.f
""*^ '•^"'^y *° '^^P''^^ *° '* 0° their oaths!

but I tr^ li '''^'^f.
^'"'"' «"• ^^^ «^t'«tJ» P'^rt ot a grainbut I behave they w.U go on to say that if five, or ten, «;twenty times less than that quantity had entered into thehuman f.ame at all. it could be and m^ust be detected Sytest;which are unerring. They will tell you this, not as the resSk

a Inri^'^r^^
^"'' '^'^'" '"^'^'^ on five "rabbits, butTpon

and 7rLf^
"^ experience upon the inferior animals, made

k?nd SS' ''^ ^°" know they were, for the benefit of man-Kind
,
upon a very extensive experience in many cases as to

rj'nol JoX;
""' ''' ^^"*^"^ ^^-^^'-'« - the YumrsVstem^And not to detain you on this part of the case, to which"! onlvnow advert, not intending to press it on vou later at any lensJhthatToumaysee whatthenatureof the defence in point of medicaltestimony will be. I will satisfy jon by evidence^ which I think

opinion, that no degree of putrefaction or fermentSi^nTn the

i?rvcS'^;??.'t it 'l^'^r'^T'"'
^° «^-o™P-e ti: "oit

whir)^^-n rr A
'^**"^'^ "° ^°'^P^'' possess those qualities

:'!:!: rre;t?rd:i:;?i: --- ^* ^ -p-^ ^^ tL test.

iud^'ent t\'n TV ^^" "°^ ''PP'-^ "J-^^" *° ^hat, in mvjudgment,
,, an cquaUy important, if not more important.
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queition in thi« case on« »k.„i. i

whatever except th^'dSJur* 5,1*?^^"*"^ ^**» "^ diffidence s^,^.
•tance. in which I .peal"'*,'*

i'?**
/,

^'''''' '^nder the circS- ^^ *

pouible for me to wr fe wha? I Snk '
«">«*. ''^'<=t. if it were

It to you. I do not entLtaiftieir doibtlh*?'''
*° «««*

be convinced of the innocence nf.f- * ^'^** 7°" ™i"t
whether, in the second weTS November 1«r'l~l''^

^1"^-*^°°
for the commio^ion of this murder !f^ '»**'' ^^ ^""^ " ""^^^^^
ing that Cook should die Tneve; wiH h! • ""^.u"""""

^«' '^^''i'-

made clear to vou that t w«« th.^ !
^'"^'^ *''"' ""'^^^ >t be

or that he though? t .^ hrs" teresj^'r? ?' ^"1^"^ ^'''»«'-'

wiU believe, tiU I hear 4ur veS *°: ^^«*'-°y Cook-I never
can come to the conclusion of hfs^ lt^'°"An!i"^'

*^** " J"^
upon the evidence which has h«en*SS' bef^» '* '"'?" *° '"«•
clear that it not onlv ^aa Lt'fL-. '^^o'e you. abundantly
that Cook should dg lu ?hit Ws deS'

"'
Yk'"''*'"

^'''"^^^
calamity that could b;fall h m and that h.^" S' '""^ ^°"t
be Ignorant that it must be im^«^- * i T,f°"'*^

"o* possibly
njin. That it was foIlowS Lv hi

-^^'^ !?"°''^ ^^ *>» own
We know that at the ime when

J•^.•™'°.edlate ruin we know.
to plo^ the death of 000^^X3 iS a con1.*° ^"7 ^"''nenced
embarrassment. It was an Z^u *=°'^'''tion of the greatest
treme intensity, had com but SemL'Znh"'"'' '" '*" «
ment, too, in somo detn-ee niit?^^ifp7i"^?

*"""' " ^^barrass-
the person upon ^hom^thes" bfu? whY.^r '"^'^^^^tanc, that
you to be forgeries, purported t.t J '*" *'''^'' ^^^^ st^^ted to
a lady of a very large fortune nn/'-r T"'

^'' °^" ™°ther.
most aflfectionate terms S?ni he Jn'*'-

''''""
^!?

^^'^^ °" t^e
tionably of great embarrassment w ?

"" ^J^o^-iition unques-
the hypothesis of hisE fwish fo r?"^ ^'rt^^' '^^'^^
ground of this embarrassmfnt Mv ,

'^'*'*''7, 9°^^ upon the
you that the case of the 0^^^ ' ^^"V^"^ ^"<="d stated to
that, .'being in desp rate erumJl"l*':T,"^ -?« *^"'
and punishment staring him in thff'i.'*^ ,

""'"• disgrace,
his intimacy with Cook ^J n, ^?*'^ ^^ ^^''^ advantage of
considerable^um oJmo^ev to?'.^ ^'t^^^° *^« winner^of a
of his monev." Th?tTs ^he fhtt'% ^'^ J!i''^

^'^ possession
"8 test it as a matter of h,1« i^ V^^ ^"'^- ^ow. let
minds from theTiieJv we mw ',w''r°^' " possible, our
fellow-creature is at take asTtw"/'"' ^'^.^^ '^' '«*« of a
[or the decision of an arbitrator T.

"""^ '".", f'"^«*« room
be able at times to speak X.^- V^ ""^ misfortune not to
look at it as a mat er of bLZ« 1"

'^'^^'^7, but let us
comer. Was it his nLrest th«f • .T^

«<='-"t>nise it in every
ber. 1855. Mr. Cook should h«vn2)'r'^"'^ ""^^^ i" Novem-
If it was not. we have no ItL J

"^ K" """•^''•^ "^'^'dentJ
not, and more, if the conTra^ ""T^l *° '*• " i* ^a-
"ensible man ^o^ d believ" th^t h? h'^v:'^

^'' ^*^™''*' °°
„

^""^ **'''* *ie deliberately plotted and
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Trial of William Palmer.

|2^t oommitt«d the murder. A long oorrMpondence haa been put
»n, the material part* of which letters will, in u .ubwquent ttase
of the caae, be called to your attention. There ia evidenUy apeat deal m it that doea not touch the point in the case, but the
learned judge, before the end of the cuse, will direct your mind
to a correct appreciation of the contents. I watched them
with an anxiety which no words can express. Having had the
advantage, for which I shuU ever honour my learned friend, of
reading the correspondence beforehand. I found the history
as told by the correspondence, tilled up by the vivd voce testi-mony which was afterwards given. I was aware, at least I
firmly behered, that in that correspondence the innocence of
the prisoner lay concealed ; and I think that I shall be able toshow you that it is demonstrative of this proposition that he
not only had no motive to kill Cook, but that the death ofLook was the very worst kind of thing that could happen for

t^^r^J .
j°' apt'lojise to you, you would think it very

mopportune to do so, for going into the details of this matter
Allow me, confining myself, as it is my duty, to the evidence

IL.„
/*""*'• /"]' ^'""' ••»' tension to the position in which

these two men stood to each other. They had been intimate
as racing friends for two or Ihree yearn ; they had had a greatmany transactions together; thej. ^ere jointi, interested ^atleast one racehorse which was training .-^ the stables of Saunders

Kn.J IT'"'^'
^^^^ generally stayed together at the same

?n ti:
they were seen together on almost all the racecourses

ZJl J^'"?^"".
«nd ^ere known to be connected in betting

lacr It^; in "^'r"*"':r
".P*'"^^^ ""'"^ *>°"*^« ^t the samfraces It ,s in evidence that just before Cook's death he said.

-plt.r^Trr 1 ^' ^"'"1 •^""^''' addressing Palmer

vear^ 'a^?1 r' ^?%\ereat deal of money upon races thi^year. Ami though it i« im,mssible. Cook being dead and

tlTZY- '^'
^"'TI '''^"^' ""-^ transactions of tWs 'chTracter not being recorded m regular books as the transactionsm a merchant's counting-house are, to give you in the fu iess

l^t rtr", *^1 ^''r^
''''' ^^^ ^^^'- ^'^^'^-^^ to each otherye

presentirtS-'H'''"'''
°"'' ^ ""/ '""^^^ '* '"^^ <=1-" to youpresently that they wore very closoly connected. When in

Cook"!? P 1°^
"'J',

^^^•^' '"''"^•^ ^^' ^•'^"ted either wWr
? think £^Z\'J"^T "^^"'"^ '^^'•''"'** ^°^ ^'- ^^ -"^"ted
1 think, £.00 to make up a sum for the payment of a debt

Mr K'. T\^ ^"/"."^.^f ^1^0 in the hands of Pratt
f^ntt would not len.l it him without security and he nro

or respectability and a man of substince
Now what the exact state of the affairs of John Parsons Ccok

mi4t'V'r
""'

}
^' ^°* '^"«^- «-h - fortune "-"he haSmight be thrown down in a week by the course of life that he
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that time proUbfv J H nr^hVr"''" •''^°*^ friend«hip wa. at

men. I am ..ot defending Palmeraeaingt th« J!?"""
^^^ntle-

I am not defending him agaS Jhe re^kl.!. •
"^ of forgery,

obtaining money at the Pnnr^!!. i-
^^^ »™P™vidence of

tained it*! ffi question Js^h.h'T"'^'' "*• ^^'"^^ »>« oh-
Palmer and Cook wtre thpn' • " ^® " K"^*^ <>' murder,
month of May ,851 ThTv had'hT'"'";?^ "" ^'"•^y " «»•
viously to the^date o Novlml^e^ ,855 "X^U l^'^T''''^^''to now, because it was tnL-.., ! i

•' Z"*'^ ^ ^'^ "°* advert
friend the Attorney Generd b.^T '" '^' 'T °^ "^ l^''™"!

we, in the second Uk 'o "k>tmbe "l^
-hat their position

we haye the evidence of Prntt «nH / .u
^^«P«=tmg that,

which he ex,,laine.) to us thl /. ?"" t^e correspondence

minds. Anlong"' a mass o biirr„if "?• ''"'^/ "P°° «""•

£11,500. wh:ch hid bP^ r.r I .. ""'"""ting altogether to
biUs for £2000 each whichT '^ r^^'^' ^'''^re were two
October; and there w^arnotlr'^ir '^T '"J"'"

'"«* ^^^J^ i°
ing to £,500 which hid olom H "^ *"^ ^'^.'^^'' ^"'''' «•"«»"*-

were held o.er, !^ tj.vTav Vnl'""^'''"'^
^'^°'^^ but which

who was liable;.;on .L J^i JX^ ^" T"^^''
^^^'""'

them held over at the end of
»he advantage of having

interest of about 60'.:"' eet^ "nZ"'^u "'
7^1^' '^'^ <='^"

of £2000, £2000 .ind £l-fin%. .u^ ^\''''' b'"^' «•• «"m8
were pres;ing upo'u hTm fn^Se Zll^' ^™b.arra.ssments which
be it observ^/thoS "es LrZnT''' ''V'''"^"''^.- :

and,
upon him by a m.an, who no douT i',

'^"^"^ r^' P^'^^^'i
have got *^e principal bnT .v' ""f

'^'^''«^e been glad to

apf.oa''chi„g to'.:cuSy'hav l^e'n Ty'V " ,"^"". ""•^*^'"^
intere.st. How can capit-,! i(l \^ P^f '^'^ '"'^^ tbe
ployed than at 40 or 60 rer r

L

""""
' ^^ ''*^*^«^ e™'

tbere was a ve.tSe of ^Ih l' ^t,
'''"""'"' ^^ l"ng as

clients desired noThing better'EY,; fp ^^" °'- ^^'•- P^^t's
to hold the mrnier

^ """" *''•''* ^"''"^•- ^^""Id continue

in^'n:;e'r" tVZ^'ntt^'' 7 ''''
'I^''

^^ «^*'''^-' ^^l-er.
ground of the securtrLoS /'^Uf';'"

'"' ' ''^ "^^ t^^e

-«Wdpa-£-«--,;«-j;e_.^^^^
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Trial of William Palmer.

grt-ant intereBt which he charged; and it was agreed at that inter-view of the 22nd of October that ^250 should be pS S^,£250 paid on the Slst of October, and that as soon after as
possible a further sum of £300 should be paid, making in thewhole a payment on account of that bill of £800 to quiet Pratt

*l' t^i
?"j''''''' *° 'l"^^* ^'^ «=^^«°t«' *°d induce them to let

the bill stand over. On the 9th of November that £300 was
paid, and, when paid, a letter was written, which I betr vour
particular attention to, and you wiU see how closely and strongly
It bears on the point to which I am now entreating your most
anxious consideration; a letter of the 13th of November, that
8 the day when " Polestar " won the race, written by Pratt
to Palmer, as foUows:-" Dear Sir,-Curiou8ly enough, I find
that the great point of the office is, that your brother haddelirium tremens more than once, say, three or four times
before his life was accepted, and that actually their medicalman. Dr. Hastings, reported against the life, as weU as Dr.Warden. I thmk I shall be able to get a copy of the proposal
through a friend." Palmer did not know what the proposalwas and therefore probably it had been made by his brother.

*i. . t.,°P'"'°"^ °*
f^"^''^^

secretaries of insurance offices are
that the company have not a leg to stand upon, and from
tHe mere fact of the enormous premium, it is plain that the
policy was effected on an extra rate of premium on account of
the true statement of the condition of health of the assured.
The enormous premium will go a great way to give us a
verdict." I do not like to read only one pa8sa|e from a
letter, lest by chance I should mislead, therefore I have read
that portion of it; but now attend to this—" I count most
positively on seeing you on Saturday ; do for both our sakes
try to make up the amount to £1000, for without it I shaU
be unable to renew the £1500 due on the 9th." What does

™™^'''!J^or^'""" ^''^ "' .vesterday the three sums of £300,
£250, and £250, and some other small amount, making up thesum of £800, were instalments payable on the bill overdue,
and upon which Pratt hnd threatened to issue writs against
Palmer 8 mother, and Palmer had gone almost down on his
knees to beg him not to do so; he said, "For God's sake,
do not thmk of writs." Now. that £800 being paid, Pratt
said, I shall only credit you for £600; I must take £200 for
the interest." In his letter „f the 13th of November he says.Do for both our sakes try and make up the amount to a
thousand -that is, make the £800 up to a thousand pounds-
for without It I shall bo unable to renew the £1500 I

niust have a larger instalment, or else I cannot keep this bill
afloat for you." He said so, whether it was true or not
does not matter in this case; that was the representation which
he made, and the duress which he put on Palmer ; and, in truth.
It meant this—Make it up to a thousand, give me £200 more or
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that letter is written on thelSthnf ^'^'^'''T^
«"=>• Observe,

it at Rugeley when he Irr.il
"^ November, and Palmer gets

at which^" Jolestar- wo" JaW * 'T^^ ^'^"^ ^^ race
the first day, went awav ,°n V^.. •

"^^ ^^^ ''"'^ «* the races
when he ge£ to SuSy ea h inl^"^'

"'^^ ^'^'^^ *° «"g«l«7i
next day%robably?heyrthirieU.r7'p^ "^ **^^ ^*^^' *^«
him the necessity^of pafSa a f„ tl

"^ ^'f*^ P''^«"°g o°
does he do? «?;« ;f f* '^ ^ a further sum of i;200. What
Cook's irf:^J^oV he utLTtV° ?°t^

^'^^^ "* tl^'^^^^e
returns to Shrewsbury; he s^^fcoot' Th'"''"- .^^ •"«*«'»"y
We will see how probable th.M ^V ^""^ '"^ ^°«ed him.
on the Wednesday^ he see Cook ^'T^t' "^ ^^*« ^^^^'^

state which I will -n^TJ .\ ^°°^ S^es to bed in a
more senjfble ttan^VZTTo bcT"''''

'^ ^^^^ "^ "^^
course, and comes homeS Pi l ^^^' "P°° the race-

day. Thursdavrhe Zs to Lfi^"" l"
^''"'^'^' "° *he next

gets up still ill'and 5ncom?oH .iJ l\ , P*' *° ^"S^'^-^' ^^
dines with Palmer that day'SV "^'' ^"^ ^° °"*- ""-^ ^^

ififu"^^ {
^'^^ '^°"'' attention to this letter On tv. * j16th, Palmer writes thus to Prat" if " . v *,^*'* ''•''-^- the

Tattersall's on Monday to thriVf7
"m obliged to come to

and see you before £ndav but .i"^' T l'^"*-
^ '^''^^ "«t call

leave you £200 to-morrow ;nd lil
''^ ""?' ^'^^ ^"" °°d

Monday." That is wrin.n *
pive you the remainder on

together at Palmer's false SZ''*^'
'^' '^"^ "^^ ^^-^

person who ordinarily setHed Cookl n
^'°''

Z^'""^"*
^•*'"* the

actions was a person of the name of V,T°""i' '" ''^""" ^'^'''
in Shoe Lane. He was called.! ?f «

''''
•
^'^ "^'"'^ merchant.

That very day Cook wH es to ^ . '^fn
^•*"'^-^'' °" this trial,

great importance to both Pn^^
-i^ follows :-" It is of very

•£500 shiuld be mid to n I?"" n"^ "^^''^^ *^'^t a s,.m of
Mayfair. to-morro'w"^- thout WP 'T.'n;', ' ?'"=^" »*-«*.
to-night, and if you would bo k nH

^'^^'^ ''''« '^oen sent up
£200 to-morrow on the receipt

^'"1 .""°"^^ t° pay the other
me, and I will piye it to yon il xr ''

-'""^ '"'" f^"'^'^t'y oblige
there is a postSri^-fwIi Vui T;7 but'^'m l"""'^-

'''^'°

upon It now—" I am mud. bttL.'.l'J •'"''''•' "o comment
from these two iXrT ' '

hmit
,^^"* '^the fair inference

IS that at tha^ date Cook- Ll ,
•*" -1'°"' "'^'t the inference

Palmer. Pratt was pressb; Z ?^ J"mself ypry useful to
;£2qo when he had S "f alT h""'

"" '"'^'^''tional mm of
havmg communicated his dipTc, It -^oV.TT' ^^"1 ^"^"^'^
con,es forward and writes to ^r ' . 1

^°''''- *^o<.k at once
the letter shows mor^voumn^T 'V^' '^''' ^-OO- Andmore—you may have forgottten that letter,
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Mtut but it was read in the first hour after the speech of my learned
•• friend the Attorney-General; you may have forgotten it, but

I read it to you word for word—the passage, " £300 has been
sent up to-night," shows that Cook knew all about it, and prob-
ably had an interest in Palmer's transactions with Mr. Pratt;
it was inserted merely for the purpose of putting a
good face upon it to Mr. Pratt, as a man does
who, not having a farthing of the sum that he wants
to pay, will pretend that he has to pay more, in order
to represent that he has got a portion of what he wants to pay,
and he says, " Will you lend me a little more ; I am not entirely
dependent upon you for the sum that I have to pay " ; or
it means that on that day £300. which had come to their
hands in some way or other, was by Cook made applicable to the
convenience of Palmer—one of those things it means ; which-
ever way you take it, it proves to demonstration that Palmer
!;.d Cook were playing into each other's hands in respect c'

that heavy incumljiance upon Pubner; and that Palmer could
rely ujion Cook as a fast friend in any such little difficulty
as that; and though his difficulties sound large when we talk
of £11,500, the difficulty of the day was nothing like that,
because in the spendthrift, reckless way in which they were
living, putting on bills from month to month, and paying what
sounds an enormous interest per annum, the actual "outlay on
the day was not iilways so considerable. I submit to you that
letter shows that on the 16th of November, when they say he
was poisoning Cook, Cook was behaving to him in the most
friendly way, was acquainted with his circumstances, willing
to assist in the relief of his embairassments, and actually to
devote a portion of hia earnings to the purposes of Palmer. It
is perfectly plain, but I will make it plainer if you will attend
to me for a moment longer. You will remember that part of
the case of my learned friend is this. He says that he intended
to defraud Cook ; that Palmer having left Cook ill in bed at
Rugeley, ran up to town on the Monday, intending to despatch
him on the Monday night or the Tue.sday

; that he ran up to
town, went, not to Fisher, who was the agent of Cook, but to
Herring, who was his own agent, and told'Heiring that he was
authorised bv Cook to settle liis Shrewsbury transactions at
Tattersall's, thereby getting coniiDand over Cook's winnings;
that he applied them to his own purposes, and, having done so.
determined to put Cook out of the way. That is their case.
We had the evidence of Fisher on the first day. Fisher is

evidently a shrewd, intelli<:ent man; no friend of Pnlmer's.
He gave, I do not mean to say improperlv, I did not wish to
throw imputations, but he gave n twist to the dosing at Shrews-
bury again.-.t P.ilmcr, On the Monday, as on the Tucsdav,
Cook, though generally indisposed, was during great part of
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Monday Fifher Mould wre to Cook 1 thn. ''^\^T^ °" t^e

Herring; Herringr represents Palmer as sftvintr "v^ *

ao you not thmk Cook would have been surDrised on thn

tw'S ?^°'-^'"?.«* "°* hearinc, that he had eerPahner andthat the trai.sactions were settled? Cr^^u v i
^ '"""•'^' »""

S f„ M n I*'' ,"/ ^oveml)e^, at Cook's request I paid

ha
"' SefseftS 'at'^T^"'"n

-

" '"^^^^'^^^^T --- -o^diiavo oeen settleft at fattersall's on Mondnv the lOth T

at Ta?temllV I ^0^ "TT "' ^ '^"'^ ^^"^^"'' ^'^ •'»'=^°""*

r^n Ik 1 i •
"°* ^'^"'•' *^'<^ dcrount." That explains

Pratt, and accordinply Cook said. " As to the settlenent it

Fisher" it^rh«n""f>''"'".^' "^ ^'•" '^-^ the STrom^wher
,

It shall not bo paid to him on Mondav I will l^fPalmer go up and settle the whole thing through TIerr" J ''

beenS^ee" "" '""^
^
''" '"^^"^"'-'^ FisheMtTc^.r

You will place the £50 I have just paid vou and the £4^
£00o"vi.

'''"'
/™'"c^''--

H™*^' tocrether'/fTno, and the

pdd to PrTot tr
""'^'^'^'^^y'' '^-' -• the £200 that Fisher

ment of mv mother's acceptance for £l>Onn. due T.th October

FridnZ!?. 1^ '*".**"'' tojrether-the dininsr together on theFriday-Cook writing that letter to Fisher, sayfngiJ was of
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Trial of William Palmer.

gone. un the 22nd November, the i. y after the death—

Bjurfered him. th.t i. the ,ru«"„«e„„ th.. I™,^:^'^

?• J *!.• J
"^**"~ -^nd I am sorrv to s after all hndied th.s day so that you had better write to Saunders but

Z^^H ""'* have 'Polestar' if it can be so arranged • and

ever JaS^L^"'/'"."^"^ ^'"^ *° ^"°" ^^at monSs Cook
tltl " T .

^""^ ''°,"°* ""•'^e'" the question." Then hesays I sat up two full nisrhts with Cook " T»,„* if !

see how much it increased the difficulties of Pdmer-'' T hlvi

„4
"^ '^"' investigate the transaction



Speech for Defence.

»ay, that I can satisfy ySiconli^?".,*'" t^' ^ '«»t"^« *" S«i.«,t
of which that bill arose wa«Ttr'v ^^* ^^'^ transaction out^
dation. for ^vhich PalmeT had LTh °" ^'' ^°°^^^ ^-^"'^«>-
Cook and for which upon Cook's death P T'^'u" ^'^^'^^od^te
and alone responsible It wYli'!/

'"'''' '"^"'•"^ primarily
that to you, whether it su tL P i""

•'"" *° '"'*''^' '^ I Prove
stand before the hoTde *

of" hat So"" Si
''''"'

'"T^"*
*°

Pratt's—as the only man lilit
•*"'"". ^lU—some client of

was the same chance ,up o^^ TV*,' k"^
''}''^''' ^^^-^

accommodation, of put in "?t 'i .« ,h ^f"
^^•- ^is own

death, as there might have been IWnr''' 'n" 'V
«^*^'- book's

to the prosecution,*' and Itate to vn.?
!"* '^^ '"e be fair

Attorney-General tkkes of tint ^500
."""^ *^' "'"^ t^"* the

you, I mean to meet his case foot fnf^^f""?- ^' ^ ^^^^
I hope to show him that Jhere I IJu^^' ''^. *° «^°^> '^^^
as the law officer of the Crown hi, ^ ^'°^. '° '*' '^at if he.
up this case or not he would nn? f"^

^^e option of taking
the Crown never won <1 have aS"*H'' ^''^T '* "P^ that
universal feeling of the coJntrv^u^ "J^""

'*' '^"* because the
s.ble that the cfse should""^^^^ ^^^1:^1° ""t'"

'* '"^P^
murder obtained on Dr. Tavlor's ..vf^ ''T'"'* °^ ^''^"1
Crown, h.."ing seer lhe\hSnL ^^'<^«^?ce; and becauoo the
felt that it w'ould .llndon ?ie duTrnf^' 1 ''-^ ^^'"^ *'-'^.
of the Queen's subiects if S did nof 'in,

^''^^'^Itin. every one
so much prejudice nJinsthir.^^ thoV ' T'' ^^^^ '^ ni an with
Palmer ,edAnd digred'""; o gc^ ^ff

^''^ ^''" ^'^^^
as It IS said, and a MmW^r k

%'^'^'^.^ to a largt amount
fair trial. There wTnooth^r^'^^'rT' ''""'^' "°* ^^^« ^
for this man, as the Attorney Genr.« /

'^''"''"" ^ ^•''''- *"«!
no possibility of his beinr' aved b„, I

^"^.^«^^-there was
who defended him all tht nformnH ^>:, ^"^-'ng the counsel
himself. We will see w ^t hl^T '^ *''".^ ™-^ f'-'^nd had
states it upon his . ,„ction -p tM

"' ^^^ '^'"^^^ ^^n^
as I told you in tlv Wnn?nJ in .

^''''- ^' '' hound,
prosecute it strenuo e ^s b^nn", I"""^'^'^''*,'"?

this case to
according to his ins .ns n « 1 1° ^"* *^ ^"'*' ^^^^^her
and ought to establish uilt itlTn IX' ^^''^*' '^ <' ^v will
must be condnef^d in tha 'w^J or t^. ^T''

^"-"^ -^''t'^n^
nine cases out of ten And k f

^"•''•'' "^""'^ f^cape in
view of the evidence-a coml r'^"""^

'"•^' ^'•'^»^- "Pon the
thnt this is thel^ory^upTn^^SSt 7"'"'^^' on-thinJ:
Palmer plotted the death of AfrCni "fP^'"':, f"-°hahle that
from my friend's speech v,>l f

^ ""'" '^<''^ to you '

transaction; and, ns ru'derl^and ^t T i''.,
''^ *'"^ ^''^ '^•"

that was ever committed, an^.! d 1^ '^f£"*
"'^^^'^^

i-ratt still dechn.ng to advance the
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Trial of William Palmer.

^ Sva!f.^ pM' ""* ^^?^ ^^''^ P-'l^e'- ''"'ted him toadvance-" Pratt proposed an assignment by Cook of tworacehorses, one caUed 'Polestar,' which won ^the ShrewsbuJ!

^4 «tc"S bv m'I^''/"";
'^'^^ --gnment was SS

7^Htimf ^ '• ^°°'' '" ^*'°"'' °^ P*-"". "nd Cook was
1375^01^^""?' "'^'^ °" *^^* security,' which realisS

tw P .
^

u°**- ^
"".'"^ •

•""*•" They twist it in this waT
Sraid n^H^V^t-'^^

^"'^^^, "'^ endorsement of Cook, andSafraid of detection, put Mr. Cook out of the way. That i!

h isTno^?; *!f'."^
'**"* ""'' J '^^^^ I <=«" satisfy you

It 18 impossible that taat can be the correct view. It cannot^ any possib.hty, as it seems to me. It is for you tolud'eWe know exactly what took place; we had it from Pr^ttyesterday. What took place was this. Palmer apSed forUie loan of £1000; Pratt said, "I can't let vou havTit ''

.^^S^'-xw '

-/i,^^''"
you discount a bill for £500?" Prattsad. Jsot without security." Pahner said. " What security

will you take; it is for the accommodation of Mr. Cook? T
have undertaken to get the enclosed bill cashed for Mr Cook •

you had a £200 bill of his." He reminds him that he hadbeen paid a £200 bill, and he says, •' He is a very good andresponsible -an; .^U you do it, and I wiU put m'y^name to

action fir fh. '\ !^' represented to Pratt as a trans-

"If Mr r \ '7'"°'°*''"*'''°.°^ Cook; and Pratt's answer is,

^htJi . ? ,

'°°'^' *° f^"'^ '"^ ''*' ^-^^^unty I have noobjection but he must execute a bill jf sale of his two race"

power' ot'*"
and <Syrius,'and he must elecute a

hi ILJ fT^y'.
»"d signature to it must be attested

sure Tat™ ,>• "'
"n

'°"'^*''^' ^° *''^* ^ "^"y ^e quite

IZL I '-. " '^""'^ ^ ^'^^lid security; and uponthose terms if you will get all that done, and Mr. ^2will submit to all that, I will give him £375 in mone; £65

Soult
"""*' ?"•"'"- .^™ ^'^^ ''' -T---^- and So for

fs wZ.t^r 'i-f

"''*'''
T\^^ '^^^^= *^«* '« -l^^t Pratt

atti hJd^J? U- K r^ r "" ^'"'^^ "* ""• >-°" know, that Cookattached the highest value to "Polestar": he was not eoiW
^JT.T ' ^''^ °^ "'^^ ^'''^ ' ^^--'^ "f a^orney ?o enabl?the mo-tgagee or ass.-nee to enforce it at once • he was notgome to do that, and not got nny mnnov for Z"n^ if! ,7e L-the value of " Polestar " and " Svrius " :

" Polestar " was nrob

lZ^£:' '""'S: -^^^^--"*V"
-^'>1. He won'^Jhe Tn^at

it [sTn^^^l ./ "^"'^ ''"''' '^"^ "^^^'' '•^'"'^'^ed that £375;

mone -I'l iff '' ''"^"^-^'^ ^^"^ ''^ never received tha

recuvod it; do you thmk that he remained after execiitintr

tnat (lay to his death without writip^r t" Pr-tf—"Wbv .-,.
have the bill of sale of my two hors-es, and I havrnot >ot

io<S
'^



Speech for Defence.

you think he would fhrnt » u-
''^ "°°®y »« Palmer; do SheT"*

fet Pratt oLtar^orhrrU^orrtnlT ^f ^^^' '^"^

upon it? It is inceiiihlp *i„ i
^ '^^^ S^^ ^° money

is this, it 18 a ScUv f..tS
°'^^, P'-^'^"'=« for netting it uj

8en«bi; men fcfri Snut? Il'^'"' ''•'^i
"'^^ «tand before

^375 he sent £315 to St;r fof^^fs^
''"'^ *^' ^^^''"° ^«^

friend says Palmer havine-^nt th; .
" purposes

j but my
to order.^rauduk'n^ly rpp^.o?rLtt^%t r^r '"""u"^"/'

P'^^'^'^^^

name of Cook upon the hapW .71. , J
li""sclt

;
forged the

of the transacC L it c.^d ble'lhL'^'.
^"'^

"? '^"°'"°««

months Cook, who knew that he h.

.

T^^ '^'*''' ^^''^^

of his two racehorses, Snd I wUl show ^l.-'*^ " '''" °* «"^«

should have allowed it t ,^1'n I'j 7T ^"'"' "^ '""'^^7'

probable that the signature of Cook ^ '^''^^ '''"^''' ""''^

his full knowledge? It 1 nnl «,, TT P"' ^° *^^'-*' ^"tJ>

attempt at imit.t!! ]! l ,
"?* «".E^P:ested that there was any

able that Cool ho^ iante thT'r<!"f
^' '' '^"^ '""^^ P'^b"

probably he pu't ^i^^^^tle^Z^LrK^'t ''"''^

money, but only the meins nf ^It •. -. ^ ^''^ *^® ''^^'^y

Palmer should lit L h^e <1 e'^t >K,^of h
'',

•^i'-"^
I"'—tha(

and Palmer take the cheque' i;,i ^^ ^^"'^:, ''"' .«^'"t "P-
for believing that to be the VaKP • l •

^°" *''''''° '« '•^««0"

first place, il>ethe it rprobabl" ho'wVh'V'' m"
^°" '" '^'

months. Palmer writes " I w 11 .K J
^^ "'?* *'"'' *^^*^'-

the £315 bv return of nn«f /f f^""''-
'''" *" '^'^ ">« I'^^e

by Mondav niSt's po t7o tie Tolf^' '',^'°*' ''''^ '* *« '"^

Monday night's post " Pr-t?; ^ > ?°* '"* '* '''^ I'^er tl'm

caster, and ende,avo",r to let Cook h ."^
'"' "'^"•-^' *" ^'°"-

time. On the 10th J « I u ^^''^ '"' "'""«'^' "^ the '^me
he must «.nd 'him 'U' jt^'^ctk" ^^

S" 7'^^" ^'-''^ ^""^^

the wine warrant so th.f V. u ',

'"**^''^ "^ -^^^'-"^ 'i"J

Accordingly hero I ;* •

."'" ''•""'' '' ^'^ '"'"' ^^••^'' *''e i•^^^^

a cheque" on London 'Vhi^h Z '"7"^-^"'T-^'H '-v o,dy getting
and therefore pZZ Jave him th".

""* ''"'"-lintely change^
It is remarkable when wiIt T"^''

",'"' '""'^ ^'"^ ^''^T'^-
Palmer at I?„.ole; Sifn^" /* \^^ '""'^"'"'^ ncrn„nt of
account, but the £315 i? l^'^ 'V'-'

^"'"<^'^^'>- ^o Palmer s
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Trial of William Palmer.

ggMnt put it to you upon theae facU, Pratt .aying in a letter which

„« ,1 K.'*
^a^e n°t received the money, which I shall dono doubt to-morrow "i go that not being able to send cash

to the fuU amount he is obliged to do that which did not
suit Look; he sent him a cheque which he could not cash on

he could find some friend down there, and that delays him fora whole day I submit to you as the true version of thetransaction that the bill was accepted for Cook's domino!aation
;
took gave as security for it the two horses. " Polestar "

» 1 • /."""> ' ^''"^ "''''•'' t^omplained to Pratt during the restof his hie that he had not received the money upon it Itappears in the correspondence that Cook wanted the ready

rh?Ki "^^ ^^''^ ^^ 'v^?*^ '* °" Saturday, and it would bJ

fhn.^h ^p'r'"''""rf
'^ ^" ^'"^ e*^* '* ^ bit l^t^*- t»i«° Monday;

JT^ wv,'^"" ^""i'^
°«t P™°»i«e to get it sooner than Tues-

fn/Vh
^""^ '"^^ ^f^"" '° ^" ^^"er, which is not writtenfor tho purpose of this case, but written at the date of thi!

y^ZlT'^\''u-' ^fi"T'
"'^"^'1 '^* C-1^ l^-« tS cash tS;was sent, and he himself take the cheque with Cook's authoriSand put Cook's name on the back of it; and how else can v6uaccount for the silence of Cook, for the fact that ?he £37^pn.d into the account of Palmer at Rupelev, and no trace of

fS thaT'fhJ"" ""T' •"''°""* ^^ «°-^- reasonable nJode forXfact that the security given for that £500 was Cook's horsesand Cook remaining quiet about it for three months after he

^ritrss!riJ^K-ztt?3
leartd frSn^"'

°" !\' 'T'""
^''^""^ "^ moSe whS^mvearned friend suggested, the case has altogether failed an^that It 18 perfectly clear that at the date of Cook's death Pr«ff

oTplToTiJSr.t,^-*^^^ """'^ threwTft^theTtS tyuu r.iiniv,!- 01 i.)UU
; he tells him so in that Ipttfr W^^r „ ij



Speech for Defence.
Jiut Me another transaction of fK-* j * • •

"|r, a. it strikes me, ^^Z k ,?„l
'^•^' " " °«* I"'** «> ^i*^tplear. a. it rirel ^rb"?m if m.k ^^' '* " °«* 'l""** •"

>nglv improbable that Pa mer shouTJ^ h '* *° •"'' '"'"^ ««««d-
Cooi. Exceedingly imZJh^S \7^ ''*'*"'^'^ t^^o death of
to-day that though freq^entlv»!i *^'"- ^etherby told us
up by the clerk It the^^o; ^e to th«

"""^ '*-'' '^'^^''^ "^"t
a week it was not always eo an?kT"^ ' ^^'!^''' ^^'^^^
of complaint if it was not n .u

°"'*^ ^°^ ^e a matter
day before Cook di^s .Sd «„ ^u- f^f "'^'J' ^^ ^'ovember, the
able and happy, e^"o.^'tre Sv oVl"

^"'^^">- -'^''>^-
with whom he was on term7of^K«' ! ' '•''^"•^ ^^'•- Jones,
whom he .ould confiSe a" ?roublf.?'!'',

'°'"""'^>-' ""^ to
appears to be .-. gentlem.n ;^

troubles that he l.ud, and who
gent-on that darctoKa \iirL7&rT^'=*"''^ ""^ ^"^^"^
and there is no doubt that on thll' i

" ''°'"''* '"as with him
of Mr. Wetherbv. he d?d IV^ t''-

^'^^^'ding to the evideiTe
I Palmer killed'him th^t St^InT K

''" ^^^^^^"^ ^^'^ ^^^S
Bhould not have been sent up b^ £ tT '^'''''' '^' -^350
on the next morning, he /Mr W^l k f'''

'° "^ *« be there
cheque, and would n;ve? nv ft nf.

""^-'^ •'^""''^ "«* P'^v that
though the money should cSe ."^''r^

""'"^^
°/ book's death

end of that transaction was thf^Vi, l\T'''''
'^''^ ^''7 **• ThJ

It up but made a clafm upon c;ok t ^^'^ ^"'^ ^'^^ "«* «end
executors disputed that, and Cook's if

'^^^^'ot it. Cook's
the money, but ther dd not send i^.'^r'^''-'".^- ''^'^overed
do not put it as stronn- "V thp n ^ ^"^ ^^'- ^^''therbv. I
mightthinkthatthemonev wn nt^^u ''•''^' ^-^'^•^"se Pahner
thmk that it would noTbe-there V-'''' ^"* '^ '^^^ n.^
havmg got the cheque for i ?(of J.' T* "* "" "kely that

Cooks friends heinp there ind ff^*'^°J>?? him m the night
inquiry into his affairs

'

7s Z7 '°
!"l*

'"*^ "" ^mediate
J-ou It is not. It is not likelv St^?'^^'' ' «"bmit to
cheque for £350, or Cook shml, >,

* ^"^P^"" ^°"ld have pot a^ould not be payable untifS^tt'dTJ'" 1* '' ^•"- ^'^^"'^h

fh.f^^y"*^' *° ™«et it; and with tl.,f
^' ''^^" *^«'-« might

that Palmer should destroy Cook T A T"'*f'"'y- " 't likdy
degree improbable Tf ^„ ^''''*' therefore.

i.s in tho I,;!
Baid on the othe side s vou 'kn

"^"^ *'^^'-—-h^t"Jev ha^e
fraudulently-he got poss'es^ion ofThi

*^"* ^' ^°* ^^''^ -^heq;:
•-ook shou d detect it hlA. *"'^ money, and then iL*
probable that ttfwo^lJ^n'sfr^s ''"• '* '^ -* ^^ aSth« breath was out of Cook's bodvh,«^f'-^°'f-

'^^^ ^on^ent
ttie corpse. He might be nerfZn

"'"'^' ""^"'^ «"rround
^'onld go to Mr. Stevens tC «1^

'^"*'"'" that Mr. Jones
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Trial of William Palmer.

Mmiiw Mttle with hard me.i of buaineu, men who cared nothing for
him, looked upon him as •\ blackleg, and would care neither for
hia feeling, his interest, nor anything, but would let him go
to ruin which way he liked, not stirring a finger to save him.
Do you think that was probable! I submit to you not. It
does not end there. We know from Herring that at that very
time Herri.ig held one bill for £500 on which Cook's name
was.

The Attobnbt-Geneiul—I do not think there is any oroof
of that. ' *^

Mr. Serjeant SmE—Whether it be so or not as to the £600,
he had three £200 bills, one of which, I think, wos dravn by
Cook and accepte<l by Palmer, and the other two drawn by
Palmer and acceiite^l by Cook, or the other way.
The ATTOiufBT-GENBiuL—You are quite right as to the £600.
Mr. Serjeant Shee—And another bill of £500, which m"

friend stated and gave proof was not his mother's signature.
.50 that there was a bill for £500 not in her handwriting to
which Cook was a party, for all of which Cook either in whole
or in part, unless he rushed upon his own ruin, must provide;
in respect of which, for the accommodation of Palmer or not,
Palmer coud go to Cook and say, "Now, Cook, it is true
enough all tliese bills are for my accommodation, but what is the
use of your making a fuss about that? If I camiot pay, you
must, or your stud will be sold up ; had you not better give
your name to some more bills and make it easv? " If he putCook to death that was frono. Again, in addition to the £500
bill, for which the bill of sale on " Svrius " and " Polestar "was given, the bill for £.500 held by" Iler.ing was a foreerv
according to their case, which there would be no excuse fornot meeting

:
a £500 bill in the hands of a man who wants themoney is not so easily put on; thai £500 bill would very soon

tht hJ^'!^
h.s mother. It would not have suited Palmerthat his mother should know—his mother was a woman of

larL-e fortune, a respectable person I am told-she disliked
hi, gambling propensities though she liked her son ; neither
did the excellent and most honourable man his brother, beforeme, who stands by him now, bt.t who wr,s e,tninged from himsimply because he disapproved of his gambling, neither would
he have given to him any countenance. If Palmer was nressed
to pay that £500, and Cook was dead, there wts nothing to

^LlwKTi^^"^^"'^• ^^«*l""t'l Ifyou loubtwhat
I say 18 the truth, look through the whole of the cast—find mem in.v portion of this most voluminous evidence the slightest

;Tr« l.V \

^'"'
\ r?- '" *^^ ^"'-^^ ^^o wouW lend hisname to Palmer to enahlf him to get monev. Is not the factthat he forged, ,t he did forore. the name"of his m.-^ther con-

clusive that he had no other resource? Is there the least
no
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Speech for Defence.

E^ l::tZ i^te'; tl-"^
°*'^-— than thes«.^

could have renewed tEinn!^^".*^* '""y- °' Cook, who sSlT^

quito certain tharif'cook The acri^^ '1^1 ^"^ ^" ^^ «ot
claim would come upon ?o;kw"^^^^^

''^
I*"""' '''°PP«d. the

would ascenain.au ibou'^S'a J^lS ^^ '^^yV''^
"-"*-

to think of It, ia it credil.l« i.„wi ^ *'''^'^" J'^u come
•tancea should des re to iriit

. '?' '""", ""'^ ^^^""^ «=''•'="»-

executors of Cook-who mithM.«
'""'^'^ '*•" ^••^•'•*°" «nd

i« not one of that class Tol* „
""''P''*?'^' t''^""*?'* Mr. Steven,

but men of businL do^n „ Ijrir'^^ '*"" ^'"1'''' ^'•"«^-
any pity? A man dies hS aff. ; c

"^^ °" "P''' *" ''"^«
"olicitors; they have a pi J dutv t^' ^i"'

'"'° '^^ »'""*1» <>'

compassionate: they must be .W- M
P^''^°™' ^''^^^ ^""»«t be

their clients the e^x^tors establishtrin'".*
''' *'" "^^'^ °^

and comproiaise and arrunpemen tuL them ' '° u'M
°^ '"^•

the question. Can vo.. a^T- *"^™ ''' wholly out of
Jiving person who "^1.',"^" o"7

P"* «^ ^''>^ -«« « "ngL
Cook had been doine for h m fl^- ^ T ^"^ P«''°^'- ^hat
«t appear that there was one? \^:\'''' '^'"' y'^''^ Does
a close-fisted fellow, and 3,^1 nnf

'*
"^'f'"'

*''•''* <^°oJ^ was
When Palmer needed Se ^'4 LTk'. "^ ^ ^"''"^'- « *"»•"»
h^n,, Cook at once wrote ;SS' sa It

^ ^^'^^^ "''"^^^ '^"°»
importance to him as well «. Pi ^^ ** ""'"e'" o^ great
be paid; and he even risked the H^' *^'* *^''^ ^"^O should
it- Then, apHin. Cook ^s^'^:"

•^^'^^^'^^^''^ "^ f'«her in doing
Tuesday. He cannot Lvrbee; ver. ^r.^f^''^'^ "° th?
gave him the cheque for £350 I ^ ™^ "^ **"»* time. He
that under those drcumsfances P„?r.'\'* ?.T*''^

to conceive
"the death of Cook Tndvetlh^}^Zu^°^^'^ ^"^^ a" interest
That Palmer was co;vinced thl^L''

^'^^ theory of the Crown?
to Cook better with Mr. Stevens th.nT'^ VJ^'

^''' "^^-^'^^ ««
self—settle these word nfZl ^^ ''^"''^ ^'^h Cook him-
half of which wouldTottarTnnuilT"*""''^ *^^^« ^'>-"^"
business trnnsactions, with a shS V"^ T^^ '^^ reasonable
n»nn-deliberatelv thought that T n'"i/'"°^"*''-" ^ P*'"""""«
better to come in contacfwith h;. ... T^""" ^'•^ P"^Pf>«e
Mr. Jones mipht rnsh p to town .'ndt' ^\ ''''^^^"^' ^^om
I submit to Tou with confidencrfK ^'T ^''"" ^>th him.
.nconsistent with the view" pero'allv "f ;'-"*/u^"-^ '"'^J' ^e

«7 n f'l'''^'^- ^•"^^'^'^r. have never h^,*""*"'"^*^ ^^ the public
at all these letters-b„t Jt TeeZY "" opportunity of h.okinp
<;an be, that it was the manil^T •

° ""^ '"' ''^'^'- ''"' anvthinj
^hould live. But. in addi" ion Vo"T? '^ ^^''"^'"^ that Co^f
he should live, was h,ntTrld\l\ ""'- '"'^ '"terest that

^-led^e Of his profession, :^r::i::r:S:^ ^^ -Hd^a

III
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Trial of William Palmer.
ggww led« of cbemwtry. Palmer knew oerfectlv »ii ^ v u .

Mons in a rerv short tim« .,„^ •

*"'"" "»*o nomble convul-
talk of a «^7l neighSoiJ^ LV^'^ V"'''"« " ''^ ^ «>•
which would beS eSou^i !i""^''*^

'**' * °>°°th <" two,
voke in,uirie, into ^,e Sfms^^antl'Jf't^yH'^"^ "1'^ ^'^ P"'
certainly end. or in all prrabihtv end ff t **' ''**''-^ ""•*
hi« conviction. If that wa> so l«. k ®- ''" ^"^^V' "»
that time as to make it\Z fnr' J^

.*"* '** «='«unj,tanced at

•u-picionsl Hi. brother wSte?'?, °
"""J^^f ^^'^ °' '"<=»>

month of August and hirAnlv i, ^i"*""'
^^ ^'^ » the

tim or reco^Ts:d' th setcelntr'h.^trSVr "'f" '?'^"«
from bis difficultiea wa. thV eett ii^ t}?.^

tope of extrication

Prince of Wales Ins.ir^nol p^ ^ *"® amount due by the
of the policy on Va"erTL°T^"^ ^''" «" '^^ a«4nee

a chance, as I will shoW V^ pre entlt\i .
1* *""/** «°°*^

offer of return of premium from fh^^'
*^^* ^^ '^^"«^ «>

appear what the amLn?r8-and PrattTb^oTJ K-^
^'"^ °°*

believed the chance to be so „^^ fV * l' ''t°,^'^^ ^" attorney.

discounts of these 5arS sis ofii' ^' ^"^ ''^.^"'^"^ g«* t^e
under the direction? of Paimerrn?^/'' ""'^ ^'''^ "«°'^«^'
reaUy the only unpledged Srtv h^l^V '5

""
Tt' '* ""

situated respeiiting itf It ^fnJ *
°*^'

f""^
*'°'' ^"^ l'»

were put in yeste^av «n^ v" ^J^'^
'™'" *^« betters which

eviden^ce t?^A?ch yol'Jl I
* "

f"'"**'^;
5'^'° ^'•°'" » P^ece o?

to pay great at enSn We Md Mr' V^ '* ''".^^ ^''"'- ^*»««
who is the attorney to tJl 1 If w 7'" !=""^*^ yesterday,
and for some timel-thou^h h h.l ^j*^^" insurance office

;

but for some time^eybJslv to th.-."'''''.uJ"1 t'
**^^* '^^^~

insurance company,^S I ipi;!
' ""°"*'' °' November, the

ance company,^ wJre anno;ed at K
•' ''

''n*/
^^"7 °W insur-

arge a sum. and ?bey det/rS '^i to / "Sk "P°° *° P^^ «°
>t. They accordingh sent down T *!^ ^^l^^

"""''^ *« '•e«»t
and his man Simpson to mnL- .'°«P^''*^'- Field to Stafford
without talking anri««'-"^ "'*^"""-^'' ^^''^ ^^ '""^'^ ''°* '^^

of doubt and"c!ni"etTarr?aCrrd ^t h'^T " ^'^"'^

of my firm ij Chubb, DeaneV ChuJb
"^

l\' hT '
" "^^ """"^

some time previously to tho
y^"^^^- ^ had been to Rugeley

detective officer wYwer/^n.
•'".''""'*• ' '^"'^^ ^ield,^ the

insurance office;' irwas Tn o,
!•" °" , *° *^' ^"""^^ "^ ^"^1««

to Rugeley; he' was at CeT/y oZ'T'^i *^/*
'''!J'^

'^^"^
was at Stafford for three nH? f^ ^,P*'^ "* ^^''^ day; he
see the prisoner ^al^^/rf iis viL Kd '^•'''^''" ^^^ '^'^ '^^^

„a ' "*" ^'"t uad been preceded by that
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went down for
; Jj^aiJlhirtTel ie^t ',

"^"^ ''^ -"«* "^^
•« to the hftbiU of life of Mr t^aSVr" *°

"J"^*
^''"'"^

the Pnnce of Wale, bsurance office haH..!V u'
*''°'^ ^^^^

notice; ,0 that you «ee jurt befo
*

tSe H S^ M"'* '«=«'^«d
knew hinuelf to be an obiecf^ If T*'.'^*'**^ of Cook Palmer
he thought it wan t!e S t 'foSnT«^' ''"J

'^^ »«»«d aTif
•uspicion. putting the pohrvof iTnur^nrf-

?°^ ""'"ranteble
•ttpmey to enforce payment of ft InH^K^^^i***

^•'''^' «' «»
olaim by insinuation, and inaCiri« t^^ t^"

"^"^ °'««t«>g the

went aa smooth aapotfullo^ '''^'°^"* °' t^"** Polic/- ^
lieved to be a goiCnritv *i.

^^
Z^'

^'"^ *»«" what he be^

you will find that Pratt wrUea t^P^" *° '''''?"*« i*. 'hen
situation of thinw h Lill t

*° ^*'™«'" and tells him the
bills very well whHe that oS.v'^^°^ '

^^ <'°"W manaS Se
disputed that quite alteAtE:'2trof tT'"P"*f^ '

^"* '>°- «* i!
somewhat anticipated, he finds thl^"^i ^" '"y^' «" he had
24th, that is nothine towa^r?- ^ «*" ''^ "ot^^'ng till the

«nd then, stating some oT^r -^ ^® ^^^^ °><»oth« to pay •

you will observe quiralte«thr""'*"°'^"' »>« «ay«. "Thii
m;;8t request you to mTke preLS^^T"*' ''°'' I therefore"
Wis due at the erd o' tSfs mS '' Xt '

"^'l*'"^
*^« *^°

culty wrs, that was where the nilf.' ''S?
'*'''«'"e the diffi-

shaU not flag in his exertions S .
""*"• ?«°' ^e says, he

circumstances connected w^fh' fi, j^ *"'' '"'^ J^^ --efers to the
• You. Pabner, know whether thevhT**' ^'- P'"-" «ays-
hat pohcy upon your brother's life 'J'

""^
^'T'^ *« dispute

J
you have no right to do it L ;« If ' ^ " "^ enforcing it. and

t means, and then he goes on to ..V°« wP""''" '^'^"t '" what
them pay "-that wa/the nos^tinn-

' ^,^.™"^^t try and make
acting for him. stood as%rthrPrl^'^%^ l'""'''

^''° wa^
?fce. He says, "In any event ur.'^ **

f'''^^^
insurance

Je prepared to cover vour n^IZ:.^^'*'" " """^ that rou must
due at the end of the -mo^tr' thLr^^^r^ ^'"- *^« ^^(JS
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I

IR!?*"* r^^
reluctant to pay, the £13,000 was lost for ever, lost bevondhope. Gentlemen, that £13,000 is sure to be paid uSe^ thatman is convicted of murder; and that has a eVelt deal to dowith the clamour and alarm which have been eTted L sure

£13,000 IS paid; there is no defence, no pretence for adefenr^the ktt.rs of the office make that pSfXy tooJ

thertlT"'
P'^^'^^r^^o^ing that the man was onl^tWrt;.tney took a premium for a man of fifty

^

mean-to^^r^rihatT'^^'^* '^ ^^^^ ^ -^'^--^ '^ >-

ta^vL-
f/^-^J^NT «HEB-I do not know whether I can show that

show that 'fhT^
P''-'°'"'°' ^"* '^' ^^"^" ^f^'^b were put inshovv that the premium was enormous ; and I sav that as snre

^/tZ'f^^^''^^ *^ P°"*'°° ^ '^'^^^ ^^ ^"^ •'t the moment-
save, th?n''^°"'^'°f.^'"'. "P*"^ *^'^*- This correspondencesaves the prisoner, if there is common sense in man.Now, observe there is another letter from Pratt containinethis passage "I have your note, acknowledging receipt bvTuf
noXl I

*^' ^^2000 acceptance, due the 2nd If October^Xnot let her acknowledge it herself? You must really not faUto come up at once, if it be for the purpose of arraying forthe payment of the two bills at the end of the month ; remem'be I can make no terms for their renewal, and they'muTtTe

Sort-h " and ;«
°°""^;,\^^ '^' P«««=y for as much as it isworth, and so on. At this time Simpson and Field weremaking inquiries how a young man of thirtv had died, who had

Ha«t?nt""" /T'"4>*^'^^
*^™^^' *« ^^^iro.yn phvs cian! DrHastings and Mr. Wardell had informed them. 'Then in apostscript he says he "casts no doubt upon the capaWHty ofthe company to pay, but that in the nature of thing^s! w h so

ll?l f^ T""'"*
'" ''""'*'""• 't '' "°t surprisin^r tlfat. Tf tho.

de av •• "d':::
^;'"^^^-/--ti^^. they 'should temporise bV

6th of OptSr ''•** '^'''' *'?''' ** ^^o* •^'^te at least, the

aboufp?i,li\'"T'''ru''''%^"'^^"« '"> •"«"«'''°S meteorsabout Palmer s head, which would come down with irresistible

S »
,^° you believe that a man who wrote what the

asf5ea hbedt"'\"'''.'
'•" ^-^

T""'''
^^^^^ ^^^ such a cen^

bes? frTend ^f ^
strychnia, m the presence of the dearest andbest friend of Cook—a man whom he could not influence a

Twl h""' "^'; ^^i ^™.'^"*^ '"^"J him well enSugh when

milt L r 1" *° ''^!P ^'^^ '^•^ '° the same room that he

Ztcr tt ^^^l*V ^*«"lto him in case he wanted assistance

fndnrl %!"^K^ ^' *'"'* "°""°°'» "«""«
=
"re vou going toendorse such a theory as that upon the suggestion of Dr AWred
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But to proceed-I wm V ? ""Possible
1 as I submit to vou.

policy on the life^o WaSr pZlr ' H^''"?' .^^ '^^""^ *1^^

which the company wroJe in answpr'fn R^'V- *^'. ^^''^ '°«^^

them iJdlV™" Tht.7rrP.r '"iK" '""? '» '»™""
Uioushl it ritht o onf rTL^;

'""«" "'oh my learned friend

Cro.„, aL f" if, „"S'«"'°-V "»'; "» "idrac. tor Ihe

iZu>.lo^rL^''' VlL^f'
"The case will be laid bSe

long vacation TU flmT? ! u
''""^ J""* ^'^^'"•e th« ^nd of the

men%3 ?n anV Lent bl S^r°?K^'"^^ ^'"^ °"'>- J^* '^o'"-

eirired n?J '
because the three months had only iust

CZ he hafZ ZVir^'^'^'F ^'^P''^''^ by foul pky' to

£130oSSfr;^the?nnceofT/^-^'"'°^ '^' ^'•'^•"00 «^»°
ever. That was thL nnll

'' '"«"'-»nce office-none what-

-^^^^if^^^^i^Z:^^
at that time of

not f t^sT' too ToL^'*r.f ^°-" "^ '^"^ *'-« "P«" th". but
worthy *or*;ou;eoZde'rat on "'"t ' ^^^ ^"^-'^^-l ^J one
Palmer had LLtereslwf'nf

* ' - '
"" *'"'" *'"'*

was contrary ?ohr8inteT.»tf"' '"'*-^''''^ *° '^""^'^
=

t*"^* >*ary to his mterest m a pecuniary point of view, and

^f

•J

I
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if not have th^^ Stti^Z'^^^'V^^ '''^^"'^^ '^itt CoS.
unmediate settkrnt of the ^affXs o^°? '

.'^"' '' *°''=^ ''^

himself, who was an easy man T,« ,°''^' "°* ^^*^ ^ook
bably their solicitors and T.?7^ !

P'""-" ^^ ^^s-and pro-
he had every mS; o? interest to h''-"

^^^"'""i^rv sen^.
live; and further/hrhad no ohtnJ /"5? **"** ^^"oJ' should
from these documents-b?t whh L'r/'"',°^ ' '""^y P^^'"^"'
of the ^13.000. no chlnce ofX\X"de1.t?rc"fokT"*-^"without suspicion and inauiiv nr,^ tK« t I

^*'°'^ passing
it safe for him that he sho^S'die

""''"' ^^ '^""'^ "«* *^i°k

poJtr°oi\iet''tbstrtirs''lto\^tv^ *':f
^ •^"'^^••^-^"^

tion. I humbly contend that thl ". T'"'^' J"""- ^tten-

fails; and I coLLdftLt head of"ff f """^^ "'*°^«*'^^'-

have to address to you by saSi^ tJ ?.
observations which I

to you, to the Court and tT^^
I submit respectfully

portion of this case h;8 faid Vr.'^f ^IT^' *h^* t»^«t

of Palmer that Cook shodd die
^ °°' ^"^ *^" '''^'^''

L" wLleTf thV^JiUr" ?hl
^^rt:^^"^

Bymptoms of Cook before his d^^f ^"f* u" '' ^^^*'>^'- *»>'•

sente.] by his bX af?er 5ea h trl ""'^- !•"" "PP^^rance pre
of his having died by strrohntn •

''''"'''*^"* ^'^^ *^« theory
the theory of h is hav;n.I^•^ *

P°''°1' *''"'' '"consistent with
It is undJr fhis'Lad "Int etenThatr T,? r^"'''

^''"-•
not at undue lentrth thTrl^l\ -^

'*^'?" discuss, I hope
present to you sS ^bservSri^'^"^'"'! '" *^'« <^^"^«' -^"^d

nesses who have been cStn ? **''!!:
*u

'"^ "P°" *^^ ^^t-

the^ct" '7o7 dL'o'n^tld'" °d

-"*--.""-. run over

November, at oS o4bck in 1^ ."^ ""T "^' *« ^Ist of

the present of Mr Jones It wi
^""^"l^i^

= '^^ ^'*'d '"

posted up to towTi to Le root. ! "? T""'" ''^^* t^"" '^""^^

emaciated: he observed bj° '^'""f'rl- '? "''"• «* '""'^

muscles. I refer to M«^»-V'"™^ 'l"^''*
"'"*''*^ «^'""» ^^e

Stevens' depoS; waJ roS'T, Mt •
'T ""* """^ ^'^^'-^
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produced, dissembled with PaCt' T ^"grj' .that it was not Sheo

afterwards at Ruehy Itt.L a
'''**"'" "* ^"«*oii Square.

Kugeley. and at3threfoTt^lUl "I^d"!?;'
^-^'^ '^^

in a tone to which I shnli n„ii ' *"'^' addressing him
Pabner clearl/to understnd thirj;

'"'"''"" Presentlyfgave
tended to pr^be Z So^^ ^^IJ'rr''"^ '^'^' ^"^^ •'^-

resolved upon a post-mortem " amina L „
7''^ '"''' «*-'

examination took place Th7 n^r ' """^ *" POst-mortem
sented at the death of ' Cook LP'^'T""' ^^^'^^ ^•^'"e pro-
expected by those who had t '""'^ '^^ "'gJ^t have been
life and his general health hl°

"'"1"'^'"*^^. '^ith his coursVc
anything hard^ofS-h^'Jiee^;if;:.^!''V* " " P'*^ *° ««.^
his vices, and the companv the .fZi T ™°''^ *'^"" ^his-l
which he kept. His father h^dS!'.!,'^'''' ""''^'"S company
mother about the same „ge 1 vear or \'

"^'
?!

*^'^*^' '^'^

married Mr. Stevens- his biotl,.r\, ?v*'*'°
*^*«'" ^he had

delicate; he was be" eved by h s nb?"
•'"''"'*''. ^'^ «'«*'^'- «-^

of a puhnonary compLlt ^and "wJ n 'S bn
,'"''' ''°'°^^'^'°^

his lungs were found to 1,p «rnlV """^J- was opened,
vessels were distSed .vSh Z^^^'TT''. '^"* ''' '^'^' ^'"^

take both the exarnlnat-L together It w '''7 'T'F' ''' ^
length of time he had bopn £!! m % ^"'' ^""''^ t**'"^* for «
throa^a sore throat bad enouJh tof H

"'' "" '''^ "^'^ «°^«
should be constantly touched n^M f"*^""

** "^cessary that it,

medical advise ht he ve.^-'-"'>
''»"" ?'"°'''"^ ^^^^ ^^'

other specific for hi cotplaiJt""'FeTarb' T'l'' '" «">'

about his person which havphp^rT A ^^'"^^'' *'''''*• *'">^^'>

result of di ease that thpiT^".t"' °^*^" •"^^^'-red to. the
tioned than the^'hf^VeJalre'.dv ^^ T' P"*'«"larly men-
the character of w-hfch sle Httl , °J'"

^'*'"* "^ ""^'^^ «"d
not come by an orZnrT i u

''°"^* ^^'^'^
'

''"t they did
Jepend upon' i • aS altLJttr !ff

"'"^"^' ''''' ^°"" "''^
to have been about as loosTa vo'in^ rn^

"" '* ''•'"^ '^^ ^^«°"'
of meeting, without being utterfy loTt .

"'
n"'

'" " *.^' *"''^'*

and propriety, which I do n«f ' !* *° "" "^"^^ «' honour
His bSdy WM opened th. L"''"

*o;"PRest that he was.
'est: r rather coK"th;f?f

^^"^'' °^ ^'' *°"^« ^^s mani-
of.his death-yet Sat tbJ ^^' "«* ««=tually sore at the time
-ymptoms. if iTt tJKl IZ tt'

*'^^ ^"'.^ ^°"'°'^''- «"d
•Jeers; the inside of his mouth fn^ ^7u""'"^ ''^ '^°*"«'

°'* mouth, too, had been ulcerated, or

117
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Trial of William Palmer.

but that does not hap^n to u^fh l^K^'^"^
'^^"^^ t^^th;

was sore on both sides^^The «nrL f''^
happened to him-it

himself were syphXlc JdLZ fk"*
^'' "^°"**' *»« ^^^^eht

respectable geSw"; Dr' Tal'g:' ^^^ Kd'"" ^/'« ^^^^
advice. He thought he was nnrwt.v

attend readily to his
fool enough, to take quack mJ?,V^nV°°"^^' ^ **»'°^ ^^ «"d
the advicf of an? mSal quSk who' had

"''^ '"""^^^ *° "^^^
give advice to him believinr^Kow? u

"««"rance enough to
plaint was mercu^VandTe^was *^' best thing for his com-
what arc the wor7t sySptoms of tK"""^"'.^ ^^^''^^' ^^
oury is given, namelyf^orunon ffe K^?"'''" ^°L

^^'^^ "^e^-

appearance, and that ^osSlv ^HpS ^^C T?"^''
™^^^« tJ^^r

some day or other he 3^ find '1 .?
'"''' *^"^^' ^° ^^PP^")

face covero^^ -vith larJcoDir li^ i' T'T^ °^ ^ "c«his
plainly sho,

• U^ he had h- ^^ ^- '
"'^'^ ^°'^^'*

sort of man he as Mont T ^^^"^^^ ^hat was the
become a good and ;e«n5 J '"'"^

u*
"''° ^^« reformed and

be sorry tlwtjZT^lX't^L'' ^°"^*^- ' '"^'^^
gone; but the state of h5 £r.-. "^ ."P^'i '^ °^^° ^^^ «
inquiry here. It is nkinfW u u ^ ™at«"al subject for our
affl^ted by vinilent^vpSL and rhSl'^^K^""" °P'°'°° ^ee"
habits, for he had become rS.nH i^^ ^^. °°* ^°"«^ted his
men who attend^ him before o„ni^

diseased The medical
when his body was Zp^S • ^^"^ '° *^'« opinion; and
symptoms oftCs T tS' eyVofS *° "''/''' P^^^"
examination, there was between th. Hr^

1^^°''^ post-mortem
covers the spinal marrow anTwHoh-''*f, ™T'''"^°« ^^'*=J»
I believe-I think I am'rtsht^!^^t

'''"^'^ *^« arachnoid,
arachnoid, and embeddS to,^^Z 7^' ^l^''^^ "P°° the
not 80 delicate, though st?uTlLti* ,',°A '^"^t <=«^ering,

granules, as given in e^?dence of«?,I'
'"""^ *^^ ^"''^ "'^tef,

jou by men competent to ini ''" ^^ ?* "' ^ ^'U S'-'t'sfi^

been opened in thfdVad hm.P^f T '''?"^^' '^ ^^^^ ^^o^y had
have been said andS^^d fo'l"

?.;"P'*'^ '" '}"'' '"^tropolis.

Such was the condftion of r„!l ,^^ "'""'^ °^ ^'^ death,
the post-mortem eJStionuM.T^P",'"*''*"^ discovered on
the executor, Mr I^S ThnJ

*°°''
P^"'-" "t the desire of

ducted with that entirety «n fl
""'"'"''^t.on was not con-

determination to invSat'e fLlT''''~^^*'^ that thorough
was thought to be necesSv

'^''tter-that afterwards
Dr. Taylor attends the coroner'« ,•««„».* ,.•...

consequence, I presume, of hTs fette/ ^tT:' ""JV^^
» ^f^

'"

that 18 so or not but in onn=l ,
' ^° "°t know whether

I
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upon the loose evidence of chambermaids, and wSresseT and

attended Cook m his last illness, or. at any rate, with no en^couragement as I ^^•ill satisfy you presently (fo; there L an

Jpl?r°V° ^'
T,*^" "iP^" tl^-t)-^itii no encouragement fromthe medical man Mr. Jones, the surgeon at Lutterworth wh?was of an age ond character, having seen the whok U ne;8 toform an opinion upon the matter-Dr. Taylor, hav nrhea.dthe evidence of Elizabeth MiUs, and the evidenc; of Mr^ Jones

notion
:^5^^*^'.'=^^« -t onc« boldly to the conclusion hat hUnotion that antimony was the cause of death was a mistake

has led
^^'1,\«,?--'J'W;V'°P-'^--—

^
imprudence whichhas led to all this dreadful exciter^ent—an imprudence whichhas rendered It nece.sarv that th.s ii.Muirv should take place inthis form and m this place, if at all_to state upon his oa hbefore that jury that he believed that the pills which we oadministered to Cook on the Monday and TueTJiTv nTgltcontamed strychnia, and that Cook was poisoned bv it.'

^

real o^tT. f .T^^"*.*"
^^'^ yo^r attention to what thereal character of that opinion was. That opinion .s d.-

a"an1t"pal,:''''"'";t'" ^ '* '''^•"^'"•'^
^^'P'"''*''" -- staked

Si n,n. -/fl'^"-
^"''*.""*'-^ ^""^^^•i ^y the verdict ofwilful murder it flew upon the wings of the Press 'nto everv

it"tVt"h?o'
-''"" f'"^'°"'-

.
'' '-"-« knowrth;raccor/ng to the opimon of a man whose whole life had been devotedto science, a gentleman of personal character perfectly unim-

KesSn \Z? "\°'*°°- "'" ""'"'^ '"^ ^"^"'^^ '" the medical
profession-that on his opinion, not conjectural, not delivered,as an opinion of the kmd mi^ht prop.rlv bo d.liverod. in aprivate room to persons on whose discretion reliance was placed,

o 1 r'-n
"P"" °«*h ,n a public room, in the public inn

and hr^"" f if^ "'^i^''^
everything that took place was known-and he must have known, I cannot but think, that suspicionshad been as I say, an-l a.» I thir.k von will bo satisfie.l undulv

excited about the death of Walter Palmer-that, according 'to

f'°P'"'?"'
Cook's death had ben caused bv strvchnia. '' In

tf,u ^

?." ^ ''''"'• " **'""-'' ^ fi"'' "o trace of strychnia,and though there ,s nothing to iruhice me to believe that there

T„17 P ']
'" 1*^*' ^'^•'' '^''"'^Pt tl'e suejrestion that on theTuesday Palmer bought ,t off Roberts " ^vhich would not account

!1!"^. 7*^' «"PP'^^'"? tlie mere purchase of strychnia couldaccount for anything, for the paroxvsm on Monday mVht) "yet

nnvT^K
"''^ *^^* evidence, knowing that I h-^ failed to dislcover the presence of strychnia. I will undcrt , upon my oath

nillf^'i.*1
°" my credit publish to the whole world, that the

pills which were given to him on Monday and Tuesday night

"9
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accurately the Bympt^mT^!jtTdt' ^'""''.^'^'^ *» detail
be. on evidence 'not^onJtenttthrerr '' "' '"P"*"* *°
dence of Elizabeth MiUs in all nlwf.. )

' '"•^'P^'^'" *^« ^vi-
of .a much better informed" mon"??" T ^^*^ *^^ ^^''^«°«'«

opmionof Mr Jones-it ascerS/i "^''"'''' ""^ ^"'t^ the
that the disease of which Cook H^' 1'^°"°""' '^^ positively,
of a tetanic form, however vtl.nf \' "°* "'^'f'^^ convulsion
features of tetanus but thltt^" ^T"^^'""^ ^^'^ "'"ny
description of it which could ont^r/"']^^ «°d that
that poiHon strychnia That is t. 'm

^^' ^"" P*^^«°"' "»d
down as a proposition on whici ie llj-u'^^r'^H ^'"^^ '^^'
and on that the verdict gols

Pc^ectly satisfied to rest,

for rSy 'S2 itsCdTaml"* T''^' ^ "^ P'-ed
a«.this. upon^uspicior/o ScitSl r«o' "^"f-

^"^'^^ ^^'^^"<=«
opmions of medical men we 1,^ ,-"n

"^"^t'^n^d by hasty
death takes place in a amflv to be t.r""^'

*™^ '^ «"'^^«°
suspicion of foul pluv to thoZ liti ? * "P°" °"'" trials on
cases which are usuaV diltu sed t ^ r

"' '"'^^ ^^ ''•«
called to give evidence^resS ,'

r*^^^^^^^^^ ^"'T*' ^-^t^esses are
|ng at truth with a knoS^e^TZTr-^ ^""'"^ "^ '^"iv-
the operation of which precedes thnn' " *l"^''=tion, with
judge, and the jurors are asTpII 1 P'^^^^^t-ng counsel, the
themselves. lie witness come t?"snrf^"%*'^^

^''*°«««^«
portion of which are within tK.i P^^'^ to facts, a great
ciation of mankind • but ^fsciel

'""'•''
^'^^'''^''f-"-' ""^ agre-

•n our Courts-.scie;ce not exact ii/'if'^'"'"^^
*° ''Wise

successful, but baffled even bv S. ol !
""*"'e-«cience not

"i'on its forehead the ZhI .f ? ° tests-science bearin-
dangerous thing "-?th"t ,.*!?* '' ^'"'« '^'^"'ing is a
cesses of arriviL at truth rnn .

^"^'-^'i'-^'' to state pro
which we cannot follow nndn-'''^ *° '*' satisfaction.C
death which those pro^sse" have' n°: 'rP^^'"^ *''« ''^"^e o
jurors will have an amouTt of rtln

"°* .^'^^ove.ed, judges and
too great for human nietrb'eT"?.^''-^^^"."P^° *^^™
Taylor, if he had found the poison h^' i, •

^^'^ gentleman, Dr.
experience of their efficacy wSdLve t"

'''" *'^*^' •''^*^^ '""^
to have proved unquestionaWv tW . u

'''• ''^'^ -°°d witness
not having found it not havt^„ten /r''^r

^"''^^ '^^'^
- »'"t

nothing about him but what SLb.tl. M'„P"*'f?*' '''"'^ J^"°^'ng
he heard from Afr. Jones who d^dnnf"" ^''''^ ^'"' «"d what
gave no evidence agreeing wi?h him Vu'^ ^l'^ *^''°- "' ^ho
information than that he thS« i,-

~77'.*^ "« better means of
•° a public Court, to say tha^tL'^t-,'"''";'*^^."P^» ^'^ «°'h

tjo ^ "*''* *he pills administered by the
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Gentlemen. I beg to ask you on what ground doesTe say tl2
Itrfu'^'VT^'"' ^'^'''^^^^Se, lor he has not anv knowledgeas to the effects oi strychnia more than anv of us-mvself if

Jot i;V of h'^"
-come thoroughly to 'look Z. SKoi'

nf»f^^K •'
fl r'"

*'"««Jedge. to have seen a single caseof strychnia m the human subject: and vet ho h. • iIH^a
enough, knowing that the conLquen'es It ! bel stroS"!
Si «v^nt~n

"'"°^' ^''^''^'^y ^'^^ ^"^^t all the world or Itall events the great maprity of the world, would ake forgranted that a medical man in his position wouW not gL «hasty opmion-he has the incredible courage to decla.e In hitoath that the pills that were given, as fa.-^aste kne; bv D
them! '

"'"'"""^ '*'y'^"'"' '-^"^ '^'^^ t'«°l^ was^okouJl by

i.'^:^r.: ^£^:^::rr-ryx; x^lage was so applicable as it is in this Of all the works o?

mmute of our lives functions are performed at our w.ll f^I

w"l • U knot .K !."."' "/ "'»"''''"• »' »°»«»". »<i of

hi P^n!f
•?"'-'; «"^«*«"ce proceed an infinite variety of nerved

and of tn^l
"^"^'^ti^'^f'-o^ all parts of the bodyVfhe S'

ment« nf f^! connected nnd dependent on them, t instii-

Wlat pJots^s tn fT'l- "^'^ ^' ^"«^' -'^ -^ knowSt
timoo k«™ ^ '

iLii iiip most wonderful precision. Some-

cnaracler, and, instead of being the mere instruments of

»t

ii i
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Sgj^iit the wiU of the ioul, become irregular, convulsive tumnltn.r,vmdicating to themselves a sort ff ind^Snt vi'taSTSregardless of the authority to which thefare LSaril/'sub it^en thrown mto this state of irritation and ™menr£effects are known by the general name of convuls Ts Siremarkable, unlike most other fine names, they are no? a moiem
thing; the spasmodic and tetanic affections were k-i^w7 ZTand as much about them hundreds and thSuJnJ o^/eLS
hLn j^"?/"! P"""- ^«*^°'<= convulsions have in later"iS

W hut ;i Idiopathic mean? was -'constitutional."

-u";cc'ountaUe.''""" °°*'"^' °'' '' '^^y'^^^' '^ -ans
Loan Campbbll—Without external injury.

r^. iT^^j^zrfoZ Tn'o^u^^^rrsomrfrj

SeTcrs'-i "'r/ '^^^ «*^*^^' "°* *h«t iffTiows thj;

fn wLwi, *'''"^'* *° ** '^""''^' but that thev constantly occur

anH .V^ '""'" "'-^ b^ attributed to one thing or ?o a^rer
TauZ^LZtrr '^''' '^ " ^^''°P=^*hic totals beer., wo

ry°:xt:rfal?nir' "^ '' " *^''"°>^*''=' *h"* -. --"g f-m'

w.-fvT
°"'>^"''''' tetaras. It is a mere assumpt on thev beirinwith—the merest assumption in the world r J.;ii • ^

that had occurrpd »x.nM u *,
^'^^^ ^'^'"^ convulsions
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friend interposed, and said, on looking to the original deposi- s«.i«.t
tjons. It d.«i appear that he had mentioned it, and he said so sSST"*because in the course of his examination he found a half-written
word, tetmus"—he availed himself of it, not unfairly to

r«?^fhh <Jf .^''i^^^^u^^
^'^ °°* positively say it was tetanus,

yet that what he observed was somethinff which put him inmind of tetanus. It bore some of the -characteristics of atetanic convulsion; but, gentlemen, it may do so, and yet

Tri iVn °"'' ^"'^ ^ '"^.'°'* *° •'°" '^"' ^t » bad reasoning,

nn tL V^'^'r
'\J^'-«««?tly. I put a question to the witnets

^°
*f« ;"fj^J- ,

/t '^^>ad reasoning to sav without positiveproof of the tact that it was tetanus, and It cannot be trau

S?^n. /"!"• ^TT '* '^'^ °°*^ "^P^""- '* t'^d presented the
distinct features of traumatic tetanus, and therefore it mustbe tetanus by strychnia. That is the argument. They

Sh«Z1«!fn'Tf .^f, \T'^^^'''
.*"*"'^"^' *^«y ^^"^ °°t discovered

the poison, but still they say it must be tetanus by poison I

nf fhl 1' T Z^^'7
*''""?

I'.""-'' P''^*^"'=« ^o"- «ay'"g anything
of the k.nd. My learned friends mav tell me, i you venturf
to impeach the authority of a man like Dr. Tavl'or. 4o, thoupS

of ^rParii"r''^-^%°°
*^' r^J"=*' "'^^Joubtedly is a gentlemL

writt.nVm"°
in his pro ossion. and a gontk.„.ar.who has

written a book, which I will not treat as a book not worthy

tn Z7v "'^'t '°,
^'''"''''

^ *'''"^^ 't ^'P»'* o" this evidence
to attack a particular part of it—if you choose to sav hisopinion 18 not to be depended upon, it L incumbent op tou tosuggest some other theory of the cause of Cook's .leath%vhieh
will explain the evidence given, and prove not merely negatively
It is not what we say it was, but prove affirmatively it is some-thmg else. I say I am not called on to do anv such thing.Ihe Crown is the party or rather those out of" whose hands

o Lnf! .'>? ^''".^^'"^,^^ '^^ <='''°^"' ^^° ^^^^ thought proper
o mipute the death of this gentleman to the poison of strychnia :

hZ 'l^^e .f°"0Y''^. *^ .*''''> ''^'''^ ha« been dragged befor^

^r^-^
these toxicologists; and, relying on their judgment

to esteblish °th'
^^i'lve made quite sure they will hi enabledto establish the fact that it was not either bv traumatic or idio-

pathic tetanus, but by tetanus of strychnia, that he had died.

l^Ll t"?>"°* ?"f \° '".^^^'* ^"y theory upon the subject.
It cannot be expoctod that in the defonco I'should do so: and.

LfZl- ^ •
°?"'; '^

l^
"*'* reasonable, when we contradict the

and r,^r inJ' l*^Tv*° P"""!^' ^^'^^ °"'- ''^"^^l «^ that fact

i-lT IIT '^''"H ^'^ ^e»J^<^"ed because we cannot con-
clusively fix the cause of death, or explain the cause of death inany other way. If we can sati.fv you that into anv one of th"

S''°"'/*'''-^u!\°^
convulsions this gentleman might havefallen, and mieht have been either asphyxiated, or by someBudden spasm deprived of life in a way dififerent from asphyxT

"3
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* 1" to^r5'uiTd- lli'Z "r
^'"'^^''''^ ^^ ^^'' -1-

wJiich attended hi. dea h
' 1 •

'="*'""!"'»°ce« and Bymptoml
theory than that of t^Z r^Z^'^'^tlf

^'''^ ^^^ «»

^

8yx"pton,8 were. I will tX th« m' »
^*. "" "'"^ '^'»"t the

the first instance from he deJ tioni"'
^' °^ '^"""^ ^^^^ i«

to a person whose judgment r r),
!' ^*"'^ '» » «'Jy '«ir

placed clean, ^^ore^^^rtr et.dtronthU^,^^^^^^^^^^^

The Court here adjourned for a short time.

wherertTeVe^arbVnrrstir'? T'^ ^' ^ -<l"i^.
?n a previous occa^iSn before fc""^/^'^* ^'^'f"«-''

»>"« ««
't right to have the who e of th^ f ' "^ ^^"'^ ^" t^'^'gl't
propose to read-unlesTl L corr. J^T"''^

'"^'^- ^'^^f I
course, I shall immedTatelvTubmS'l ^^ ""^ '°'"^' *^^°. «'
purpose of my present inauirvnnlTi P/°P°''' ^° ''=^'^' '"r the
^h^hjescribes^the sy^iSs'.^ ^^''^ P"''* ^^ *^« deposition

the s^^e^'XrVrt'S^o^'reTJ '^'^ °' "'^"' '='''°P'«*'*°8

of Mr. Jones, though in truth in ^! • *"'] *^ ^^Po^ition
deposition of Mr. Joneses not so f.^^r-ir/^ '^' '"''' *^«
fv..!ence in open Court. UuJr, be iS'

*° "y,*=^^^ '^^ *»«
m open Court is more favourlwa ^l!

^I'tfeienc,, the evidence
substantially they are thetm"\vint'? /?' ^'P^^^^^

'>
but

t" call y„„, attentio,, to the st'.t.mit /'i",'"?
^" '^^ "»* "

Mr Jones before the coroner of VT"'
"*,''-' '^^'^^eth Mills and

m Cook on the Monda? and T.?L? '^•'^P*"™^ they observed
BO. without accepting ^anychaUenS' lt\'''

^'^'^

t^^'^^g
done

mv fnend to account for the stS^^t T^ ^^ '^'^^ ^y
judgment, on authority S'ch c? Zt' d/'" '"^'°^' *° ^""^
those symptoms are not mo e prZblv t'^'l ^°"' ''^^^^^^
ronvulsipns which are not tetanTc at «n !i

'°'"- ^^ *^«
tetanic in its distinct chararw^f * u-' ""'^ certainly not
classed under tlmsrLnera^ -/V*'"^''l"'* *^*"'^"«' but to be
Pjonses Providence to^^"S; nmn w"' ^. "^'K^ '* *'°°«*«°«y
"f^^heir^course in hi. sy«lem " ''''*'^°"* ^^"^•"? « trace

symptoms described 'in^X d°f.,Sr'* *°/^" '' *^'«' *b«t the
Mr. Jones were such as to J.J -l"- '^ ^I'^^J^eth Mills and
to the hypothesis of tetamis ofanvfcT!!'

unjustifiable to resort
tetanus. You will recoHecS ^"^n

""""^ '"'" "^ ^"Tchnia
peculiarity of the consHtut on^/ thT"

°°* '"P^* »«^t''e
.v,dencc of occasional function.! i?

''''™^ ™'°- ^"^ the
larly at that time, wh chTvX Irav;"^'"'"*'

"°* P^'^'*'"-

134
^*'^ consequences, to which
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that Cook died in g! itrd imul i,
' '!

'»"=*> ."»ore probable «•«-

that he died from iSomthic ™ r'
""' ^'•"'"'^ "* ""• »»>^'n

I have -a.ntirnt!daff thai I
;?."'.''' ''*'^*'^°''' t^tanua.

infirmities-let u"now"ee what «
'1 '\f-''

"^''"^ ^''' »^'*'y
He went to the si"ei8bun ml fn

" "" "*''*" "^ *»'« °^*"^J-

them a ruined man Mr' St.n n /',T« ?* I''''" ^^ ''^'^ving

heard nothing "the contrary That •/"^T''^
""'^ '''' J"'^«

upon him. there would no ll^f' ^^ '^ anybodv had claims
them. We know ? om th»

.^Jiousand shillings to meet
raise sums of mon;/ at exorbirnr

""'^^--^hich he wa. to

been in circuCances oHhe Slo^t '''I'
*^"* ^"^ '°"''* ^"^«

was impossible, morallvsneakin^^n ^'°'''>'-™««'nent-that it

on the turf r^storTh ffSne tlf^ """^'j''^"' ^"^''^^^

fe-roundat all; anditis ntK t' T^ ^^f
•'^"Id «tand his

at all events, ^ot strong and I ron
.•/'"' ""^- ""'' "'*'' l'™><''.

that he hadbeen for a ien4 of t-^p" r-'r^'^^^^^
^'^'''^'^

"Polestar," which wps haHlv l; f
''''.^"^h.Dg the hope that

which mus't become arth'r'p Vso ^; riumZtT'^f.' ""'
bury—m all reasonable probabilitv hi I i u ^'" "* Shrc^^.-

hope that " Pole, ar - wn ? ^'''^

''T cherishing the
that winning would voZ.f\-^''\ """^ "»«* ^e bv
stakes, which my lear^nT f • ^T'""

*"'* """^^ '^^ ^»'"e

H was proved, aZnu;d™t?„,!?.^?^.f^f^- .-d I think

sjderable wh.nings to the amo.^t o £^00 oriSo hTt""-the mare-upwards of ^1000 altoee her tLI f ^ ''^*' •*"

tioned several times. Fancv tho .^'^^-J
*-*'''^ -^^^^ '"^"-

young man rose from his bJdon tL T *J°"
'" ^^'''^ *''"*

mu.t have known and elt when t JV^^^ '"°™'"P- ^«
"This night I am eirbpr „ K ^ "^^"^ *^*"^° *« breakfn.t.

recovering^mv eIf and ; th U^^T' °' ' T^" "'^^ ^"'P*^^ '^f

of keeping up n.y' applrn'ce^^f ^^.t^^':^ %'^^ *'-.
the races—another race takps n1«Vl i ^ 7: ^'^ P°^^ ^o
star,'; i. hrought toThe goal

^ He S'^f '"%'^'^'"'' " ^"^'
feverish anTictv and expectatior, tiT I

^'"'
'^ '" '^ "^^^^^ ^^

appears to him "everlastinT A?";; th
A""' '^'' ''''''''^''

mare wins easilv-he is the winner of ^1 007'' w""''
""^^ ^"

pose that to be the stim Wh^tla\ x
^^ ^"y ""P-

Jones teUs us the eS h" ,-f
"^^^

t" '* "P"" ''™' "••
minutes. He is saved nnf J/

""'''''^ ^^ "P^'^'^ for three

character-saved befor; bt TS" '" ^"'"^'^ ^»* '" ho""«r -^n"!

-* ^e a disgrace ^: them J'^t^lT '"'t '"l"^^-^-
^^ -»

h'.^ .ortunes .nd become nnhn^ "" *"vents
; he may retrieve

Conceive him to beT man"ith ^V^'VJ' ""^"I'^^'^
'"-•

berause a man Mh intr, n " ff'Pl'nfrK—and it is not.

"S
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iMdMBt and who had a detire to appear before hia wter, Mn. Bradford,
at an honourable man, instead of being known to her as a
levanter and a blackleg, driven from all honourable society.
The effect of his success is that for three minutes he cannot
speak, though he is with his intimate friend Mr. Jones. He
goes back to the inn, tliough he has to some eitent recovere.1
himseh, m a state of elation, of which it is my duty to say that
one man said he was not more elated than other people when
they have won, but stiU, depend upon it, overjoyed, and with a
revulsion from the despair in which he was, which must have
convulsed, though not in a sense of immediate Ulness, every
fibre of his frame. His first and his natural inclination was
to entertain his friends, and he gives a champagne dinner,
l-he evidence is that he did not d- nk to excfss ; that is the
evidence—but he had champafine, and we aU of us know that
when there is champagne there are other things besides, and it
very often happens it is not because hampagne is drunk thecompany do not drink as much of other wines. What in
ordinary parlance is called a champagne dinner is n good,
luxurious entertainment, in which there is no stint and notmuch self-restraint. I do not mean to say he was drunk.The evidence is he rose from table not drunk, and therefore
it IS not for me to say, and the evidence will not justify me in
saying, he was. That evening he did not spend in the com-
pany of Jones. I do not think it is very clear in whosecompany he spent it after the dinner was over ; but we findhim the next night Wednen.Jay, at the Unicom, with Saundera,

L li7'°!J' ^l""-
^^^'^^'' *"^ ^ ^^^y- The next morning

s cold and wet. He went on the ground, and was observedby Herring standing in the wet, who remonstrated with him for

l4,„f k"^*
.'^ """^ *'*''''° '" *^"* °'g^*' »nd you wiU hear

nnl II "vW?" r^'f •
.

^ '^''" '=''" J-o"*- attention to thoseunder the third head of what I have to address to vou. Hesent for a doctor, who recommended an emetic. 'The nooman seemed to know more about it than the doctor. He saidhe cou d do It with hot water and a toothbrush. Perhaps hehad often relieved his stomach in that way. He was unwellthat day, and was ailing till his death at'Rugelev. That is

eferf^^'tn' ^'"'V'
"' ^'' "' *^^ ""^"t^' exdtement can be

£rlJl
*°~^''^''* ;?*«"" t? apprehend ruin when he went to

W. JL5
'^' '""'^fJi'ite sudden, vet only partial recovery from

^.L^Tk
'^'™.""*.«

^i
Shrewsbury; and home to Rugeley to

t^?«th7
"^"'^

l",
^^''' ^"" ^*"°«'*y> *" the winnings ^andt^ice the s«,n unable to save him from the ruin he had brought

"as -Tltar" and''"''.
^'^ '^. ^^^1"^ *° '"''' ^^^ «* ^^^

"^^

Tu. J * i> tr^
^'""''' ^"^ ^^^y ^•^'-e mortgaged fordebts due to Pratt He may have had some few hfndrSJm money. It « with a weakened body and an irritS and

ia6

I



Speech for Defence.

«zoited mind that he ii affected with a sickncia at Shrewibuiy, SMiMat
which clings to a system incapable of being recruited by the "•••

ordinary necessary food, without which the strongest man
gives way, excite« his nerves, and makes him in imminent
danger of falling a victim to any convulsive attacks to which
his constitution would be likely to be disposed. Depend upon
it, the thoughts of that young man, when he retired to bed,
were not the thoughts with which you lay your heads upon
the pillow. He had much to think of which he regretted,
much to deliberate upon vhich was of a nature to excite in his
mind the most serious apprehensions. There was neither
credit, nor honour, nor anything in his career which would
make him respect himself, or respectable in the eyes of others.
His rest was only imperfect at the best, and after the gratifica-

tions of the animal appetite to which people in some instances
resort to alleviate the unhappy recollections of the moment, he
had no resource. He desired no society so much as the society
of Palmer. His residence was at the Talbot Arms, which
was, in fact, a residence with Palmer. He docs not nfipear
to have had a sitting-room to himself ; he does not appear to
have frequented the coffee-room. He had a bedroom at the
Talbot Arms, and his real home, where he often was, and
would have been nearly altogether but for his illness, was
Palmer's house over the way. Tliat was his condition at
Rugeley. He is taken violently ill on Sunday night. We
had nothing but his own description of it ; but what is that
description? He had been poorly for some time. For two
nights he had been takin? opium pills prescribed by Mr.
Bamford. Mr. Bamford is nn aged man, but there is no doubt
a respectable man, and a man who would be likely, I think we
might fairly infer, to consider what the complaint was and
presciibe accordingly. In the middle of the night, at twelve
o'clock, he was awakened from a dream in a state of affright.
He says he was nearly mad; he rang the bell, but nobody
would come.
Lord CAifPBBLL—He thought they would not hear him ; he

thought they had gone to bed.
Mr. Serjeant Sheb—Yes ; that is so ; I am much obliged

to your lordship. He states he was mad for two minutes, and
what did he ascribe it to? Nothing but sudden alarm at the
noise of a quarrel in the street. Does that happen to ub,
gentlemen? Does it happen to those of us who live regular
lives, and who are of good average constitution? Do we
awaken in a state that we can descril^ as madness, and without
any mode of accounting for the paroxysm but a quarrel in the
street? It must have been a very high state of nervous
excitement. It must have been something violent while it
lasted—transient in its character—but something that arose

"7
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fm^mmt from a disordered atate of the stomach and an agiuted and«mous mind, probably in some degree weakenfd ^ Semedicine he was taking, the calomel and the morphia.
The next day, the Monday, he was well the whole day; notweU m the sense of bemg strong and able to take a walk ii the

fields, or mount his horse and gaUop about the country, but

Io?,„n 'a^ ^^^^^- '^°*^'"P '°'" *•»« I'a'-be'-. and, I believe,
actually sending or h.m ; of seeing his trainer and his jockey,and discussing his plans for his next campaign-well to that
extent, but not out of his bedroom, taking no substantial food

^^lyl
'^^'''^ «« ascribed by the theory of the Crown, or bythose whose case the Crown has been forced bv public Opinionor by public excitement to take up, to Pahner's' absence aU thatday. We do not hear that Cook took anything solid. We

DrobawiT
*•""*

^\^r'^'^-
^' °"^ o'«=lo<'k. and then, as mil

h.-fW ^* "If
'" *^^^'«b•.t of doing, took his beefrteek andhis leg of mutton or his chicken, at five or six o'clock. Hehad no insuperable dislike to brandy and water; he couS

tZr^bT,: '^^'
^'l

^^''' «^ *^'°' 't''""^!^ Palm'er was not

«sT«'„»o / ^^ "*** "PP^*"". *° ^^^^ ^««° >° the condition, ill

kind r^'p!]
* ^"'^ gratification in food or drink of knykind and Palmer was in London all the time. Then in themiddle of the night, at twelve o'clock, he was seizS'^Tth aparoxysm, which Elizabeth Mills describes. We wS take he?description That is the account of Cook's illness on Monday

ono
•

,il « '^^* h^T^been a much less serious fit than th^

justify any man m saying that he was mad for a minute--

talkinlof it'^h
'''°^-

^V'' "^ ^ ^"^^ Afterwards^^

ever «1 !n ki '?^''
T'''''"^ *° Elizabeth Mills, " Did vouever see anybody m such agony as I was last night! " We

afterJards'^'T^Zl-'^"^'*'''^ *[.'"^' ^"'^ ^'^ «^ «t-temen?

asS7m. ^>.«.K T
^'" "^'"" *^*'"t seven o'clock, and heasked me whether I ever saw anybody in such agonv as he was

t"ai'oT;het'*-"f
'''''

"ii''''''
.Voung^woVa^doTn

fh«f fir «; J" '°f«.'"^'«'« of <he whole of that statement is

?n i!
«ome time during the whole of that paroxysm he wasm pain and m great pain, but that he neve? lost hTs senses

d^'cSS o"n ti::'! ";" ^'-
i"

^"''•^ ^ ^^-^^^ «" that "h crie

Snt man „n^ \ ''° '".''" """'* ^""^^ '*' <" ^^'^^^^7 com-petent man, and whose evidence must be attended to Mr
i^rifLT ^^''''*'i

*« ^" '^''^ l^v Palmer pir having

hetl Ei^°J;™ T *''«J»"'^"--
He was not able to go hen

He wentThe e'l'Thfl' "^ ^'
'""f^

"«* ^'' '"^^'^ ^^^ Tuesl?.

and brla^'rrL-mrtiirwth-Colir '' ''^ °'^'-^-

laS
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Now, just observe the consequence of that lookincr »f fK^ c .

circumstances of this case Mr jITJw.. .i.
*°*"'"'8 ** "»« Serjeant

^oi the course Cook was nuranincr p,„u„vi
'"'">Ht""vcu

austere to him during ltfeTn"'?e sho^J^i' ^t Zm^^Z
nave oeen Mr. Jones. No doubt Mr. Jones fKnn^rJ. u^
respectable man. did not take on h7i; elfTo Vefe ^^ reZv^Cook for what he might think it not correct £ do HeKmhis house at Lutterworth, and appears to have b^en on suSgood terms with Cook that Palmer knew it wo.iw w k '^•

re^am'^ &' '' ""'
i°"^«

-"Id rm^^Ts^Jarandi
hTrJj/T '

,?'i'^*
*' ^"'" *« *'« ''^^ understand, Mr. Joneshas Cook to himself from three to seven o'clock. He has him tJhimself for some considerable time. You know n«rt «J ..!

r.vimer had played false with him at Shrewsbury • nart of thp

the mind nf Wr V ^"^^ '^°"*' *° "*•«« a suspicion in

rS'ir*K™"'- '^---e o;»r.."t ;ft;

-.u., «... iir.- S'r.L'^o^rrr^S'^r:
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sSST"* if *^°°i-,^
thought that those words which he used to Eliza-

beth Mills were not an exaggerated description of what had
*^j"7?fx.^° y?" °'"^ **'^' '^*»®° ^- Jones came to see him.and felt his pulse, and inquired what his symptoms were, thatCook would have said (he being in fuU possession of hia
senses;. You cannot judge now from my appearance how Iam—I was m a state of madness last night—I was in the
greatest possible agony—I do not know what it was—I was
attacked m the middle of the night in such a way that Ithought I was going to die"? As he had Mr. Jones with
him, would he not have mentioned that in the conversation tMy mference from that is, that in aU probability this first
statement of Elizabeth Mills was the correct statement of what
occurred

;
and if we find it is consistent with what Mr. Jones

says as to what occurred the neit night in its general character.
It would be very nearly the same on both nights. We may
reasonably mfer that anything in excess of that, on which
the medical evidence was given, has been the result of imagina-
tion, and not so strictly consistent with the truth as the
original statement. Let us see what Mr. Jones says. (The
learned Serjeant reaa a portion of the deposition of Mr. Jones
before the .oroner.) Observe the significance of that.
Falmer in the presence of Mr. Jones, brings up two pills,
which It IS supposed were the pills that poisoned him—pUls
containing a substance which sometimes does its work in a
quarter of an hour, which has done it in less, but never hardly
exceeds half an hour; and so we are to be asked to believe
that Palmer, Jones being present, and Cook in his presence
objecting to take the pills, positively forced them down his
throat, at the imminent perU of hia falling down, like the
rabbit in two or three minutes afterwards in convulsions
evidently and manifestly tetanic. He states what did take
place.^ (The learned Serjeant read a further portion of Mr
Jones deposition.) But, as I am reminded by one of mv
lords, that m the course of the examination of Mr. Jones the
word tetanus" is used, it is right I should say a word on
that, lest I should forget it. The word " tetanus " is not in
the deposition, and it is very remarkable that the sugges-
tion which has been put forward by the Crown was the suff-
gestion of Dr. Taylor. I do not think it is impossible that
Mr. Jones, when he gave that evidence, had in his mind's
eye what he had seen that night and not seen very correctlv.
He had not light enough to see the patient's face. There was
only one candle, and he could not tell whether there was any
change m his countenance on the Tuesday—a very important
symptom. They say it cannot h.ivft hrcn tetanic, becatisc
there is a peculiar expression in the face—a fact which nobodv
observed. It was too dark, in this case of Cook's, to take
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notice. Mr. Jones gave his evidence, and he is a competent s«.taMtprofessional man, and it is quite clear that thr notion ofsSJT^
tetanus, tetanic, tetaniform, or something like tetanus, must
have entered into his mind, because the clerk has put down

tetmus
; he probably had not heard of the word before,

and tiie probabUity is something like it was used. He said
he did use it, and afterwards it was struck out, and Mr. Jones
corrected his deposition, read it aU over, and signed it, and
left It with the word struck out. There are strong symptoms
of compression," that is, one word struck out; then after-
wards there is the word "tetinus," and then those two words
are struck out, with Mr. Jones' entire approbation, because
otherwise he would have corrected it when he signed it • ajd
he said he read it over, and the words " violent convulsions "
were substituted. What is the fair inference from that?—
that the man who saw Cook in the paroxysm did not think
himself justified in saying it was tetanus. It might be very
like; it might have a tetaniform appearance; but it was not
tetanus.

Gentlemen, I will call y -ir attention to the features of
general convulsions. I cross-examined several of the medical
witnesses for the purpose of inducing what I consider to be a
true belief as to this case, that the convulsions in which Cook
died were not tetanus or tetanic properly speaking; but that
they were convulsions of that strong and violent character
which are tetaniform, though not classed under idiopathic or
traumatic tetanus, but under the head of general convulsions.

Grentlemen, I now propose to read a description of general
convulsions from the work of Dr. Copland. I called the
attention of the very learned gentlemen who were examined
for the CroT^Ti to what was laid down in that work, which is
admitted to be one of authority, and I cannot conceive how
you, to whom this matter of fact is to be submitted, can form
an opinion whether or not my theory, or rather mv belief,
that he died by the visitation of Gk)d, in violent general con-
vulsions, be a probable one, unless you hear from what was not
written for the purposes of this case what the features of
general convulsions are ; so, if vou please, I will read to vou
what I have myself copied from the work of Dr. Copland.
This, I may say, as I am upon the point, that the only persons
m the profession who can be sujyposed to have any competetit
or reliable information on the subject of tetanus, not trau-
matic, are physicians; and not one physician—properly so
speaking—not one of that most honourable body of men" who
see the sudden attacks of patients in their beds, and not in
™»P»*al". has been called to speak to this. Dr. Todd was
called, and Dr. Todd gave his evidence in a way to command
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of the whole of the body, sometimes with rigiditv and teT^inn(tome convulsions), but more frequently with tumulhinl T

Iko* i
irregular and uncertain intervals." We wiU Tee

recurrence as a basis of arrangement of all the diseases Iwabnormal action of involuntary muscles, we shaU have evervgrade, passing imperx:eptibly from the most acute form of

if w nL-A *t "i°°'?
*****' ""^ Chorea and tremor. Also

\lZV^^"^^\^^^.^Sectiom called convulsions, and which are

acter of Th?t'"
'° ^^''' ^°"?^' ^''^ reference to The character of the abnormal contraction of the muscles, we shaU see

ouentW^f
"""'' °^ '^^ '"°^* ^•°I«'^* ''"^ spastic natSe fre

dur£ '°™' continuance, the relaxations being of briefduration, or scarcely observable, and in others nearly or altoge^er approaching to tetanic. These constitute the l?e tonic

do^ t jr""".'''^"'-
''°'" ""'^'"^ *^^«re is every possible gradedown to the atonic or most clonic observed in chorea or trmor'

vertir^nd if
?'^« °f ^T^.^l convulsions are, ZeralZ;

IlteSte Slv '!?• irritability of temper, flushings o;alternate flushing and paleness of the face, nausea, retehin^or vomiting, or pain and distension of the stomach or lefthypochondnum. unusual flatulence of the stomach and bowefand other dyspeptic symptoms. In many instances ?henS ''"J-^"*".
'"-^ consciousness are but Ver^ sHghtlv impaired, particularly m the more simple cases, ind whej theproximate cause is not seated in the encephakn

; bul in pro!

th^TJ" ^i'^P"'*. " .f
^*^'' P"'"^'-"-^ cr consecutively, and

ibLJrS Tnd r *""'^^"** »'^i«l. the cerebral function^ areobscured, and the convulsions attended bv stupor, delirium&c., or pass mto or are followed by these states. Theparoxysm may cease in a few moments, or minutes, or con
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tinue for some or even many houra u „«««,.ii u j

heudacne. or stupor, but he is usuaUy restored in a shortKto the same state as before the seizure, which is liable t^rJSrm a person once aflfected, but at uncertain i^tervajT Afterrepeated attacks the fit sometimes become^ SL (the con-vdsxo recurrens of authors). The most coLnon causes Zltnur alia aU emotions of the mind which excite the nervouspower and determine the blood to the head, a! joy anlerreligious enthusiasm, excessive desiie, &c., or thos; wSgreatly depress the nervous influence, as wel as dim nish andderange the actions of the heart, as fear, terror? anxietysadness distressing mtelligence, frightful dreams, Ac Sesyphilitic poison and repulsion of gout or rheumatisr^.* '

Now do you believe that if Dr. Taylor had read that beforehe went to the inquest he would ha/e dared to say that thi!man died of strychnia poison? Is there one single ymptom
Mr ?on T\*

'"''''" '" '.^^ depositions of Elizabeth Mills andMr Jones which may not be classed under one of the varieties

ti itirZ%"' '°°r"'"°"^
"*"'=^ ^'•- ^>'-*l desSll

wK^m T t n ,T.T ^"^ '"^eest a theory, but the gentlemenwhom I shall call before you, men of the' highest eminence in

SvthL r'^?'
""' °^''"" '^••e^""^ °^ ^°«P't«l« ^I'o never seeanything hardly except it is of that nature, that is. of the

J:^X'"J'''^~^^''''^T''''
^' "°* «"PP««« that I should be

3ln /r''^"'!/''''''Pr="""y «^ Sir Benjamin Brodie,

rLnlr^K * fJ^'^*'^'"^''
'^^"^ "^«P* >° te'-'°« of the highest

respect; but they are surgeons of hospitals, and obtain acertam experience as to those misfortunes under which, through
violence, the human frame suffers; who have not so much

thfokr^
°^ witnessing and of knowing the symptoms ofthe class of convulsions which constantly attack people in their

7hlh^l T^'/'', *^' ^^""^ °* *h« night-those convulsions
which heads of families and brothers and sisters are most
anxious to conceal from anybody but the medical man-those
convulsions the known existence of which deprives a younuwoman of the hope, or a young man of the hope, of marriage
It IS the men who have that sort of experience—the general
practitioners—men who enjoy the entire confidence of numerous
famihes, and have the opportunity of visiting, in the way of

f,nf P'^'i^'^'^n- t'^e poor at their lowly dwellings, suffering
under sudden convulsions when affected by serious diseas^
those are the men that we want to tell us about convulsions.
1^0 not let me mislead you for a moment-the evidence I have
read to you is not the whole of the evidence of Elizabeth Mills.

trlZ^.v
her evidence, differing in some material particularsfrom the evidence given by her before the coroner. As toMr. Jones, the evidence does not so much differ, though there
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iMMatznay be some particulars in which ther* .'. o ^;«

in suttance says it did M^r r''*/"!.
*^" *''"^^' »>"* »»«

I ihJI hope ,on will confirm by voor rerdicl ' «,« A„f

wus aescnption—the description to which I will call your atten

tetTnuT S a^ ter to tWr"" '"\ " '^n "^ ''^'''P^*^'"

rtjrwho^ ^-- -^ ireSt^^St^tJ rJlTe ^^^

18 one gentleman who is here, and whoS^I Si caU beforryou-a gentlema.^ who attended at the bedside of he ladv at

f- • ^ t^""riuea, a locKjaw 18 the consequence. The nomnnnto give you information on the subiect ««, t! ^
J

practitioners.
suDject are the general

spo^en'tTonST *'j\V""" "' ^^""^ ''^'"P*"'"^ ^^'^h wereE n,^^ If ^ °'
*i'^

"'''"^''* ^y Eliisabeth Mills and Mr
S«rr-^ ^ ™"^'' ""^^'" °"e of these forms of tetanus the

twns jnth general violent convulsions is not tf be distinguiS

IpZJanTe; "anT"t?
'"

^^-^'r"?
»>*-« constant tSfomapi^arances. and the meaning I take it of that i. this, it is

attention of one of their witnesses—it is tnie that in four
•34
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oases out of five traumatic tetanus begins with a seizure ofSwjMuit
the lower jaw, unit' ss, as Sir Benjamin Brodie tells us, it may *'»^

begin, us it did in two cases which he attended many years
ago, in the limbs. He told us so when he was here; it
began there before it attacked the jaw; but generally trismus
or lockjaw is the first symptom. But there is a fifth case in
which it is not, and Mr. Curling told us that that was about
the proportion—four out of five; so that even traumatic, or
that kind of tetanus which sets in after a wound, does not
always begiu with some affection of the jaw or neck. Now,
gentlemen, having gone so far, and having endeavoured to
satisfy you that the symptoms which were spoken to by those
two witnesses on the depositions may be the symptoms, as I
ti^in^—^that is to say, as I am told, having no experience of
my own in the matter—that these symptoms are rather refer-
able to that violent description of general convulsions than
to any form of tetanus, let us go to the question, whether
or not the symptoms are consistent with what we know of
tetanus produced by strychnia, because if we are satisfied on
a full inquiry that they are not consistent with the symptoms
unquestionably produced by strychnia tetanus, then the
hypothesis of the Crown entirely fails, and John Parsons Cook
cannot have died of strychnia poison.
Now, gentlemen, whether that be so or not will depend in

, p-eat degree, as it strikes me—but, of course, it is entirely
for you—on what you think of the evidence of Elizabeth Mills ;

but before I go to the evidence of Elizabeth Mills I will call
your attention to what the description of strychnia tetanus is,

as given ua by two very eminent gentlemen who were called
the other day for the Crown—Dr. Taylor and Dr. Christison

;

and if ^/e find on looking at it that that description of the
poison of strychnia tetanus, given by them, is a different
thing from the picture first given of the complaint, of the
paroxysms of John Parsons Cook by Elizabeth Mills and Mr.
Jones, I think it would be rather too bad on their mere opinion
to say that this is strychnia tetanus. Let us take Dr. Taylor's
description of strychnia tetanus—I am not sure whether Dr.
Taylor sta:ed he had ever seen strychnia tetiinus in the human
subject; however, we must be just to Dr. Taylor. Dr.
Taylor has had an extensive reading upon the subjects upon
which he writes, and it is not to be supposed that Dr. Taylor
would hastily set down in his book what he did not find
established on high authority ; therefore, though having it at
second hand, Dr. Taylor knows something upon the subject.
Now, Dr. Taylor, in his work on strychnia poison, has thia

under the head of strychnia, " that from five to twenty minutes
after the poison has been swallowed the patient is suddenly
aeized wiih tetanic symptoms, affecting the whole of the
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the depowtions and tiS otC^.;? *^? mouth." On both
Cook w*ar.itting SJ S^beS LS^^k" ,!L",

"**«* "»«* Mr.
teUing the people rbSSt^m to^flr'p^""'"*^^^' ^''^quentl,
"medy. andwilling to tre wh!?ever

!^''' "\^ '" *^«
was no considerable difficS ^ intrS,. •

'
^''^l..^J there

mouth, and the paroxysms in^tJS^h^^ "?^*^« ^^ ^^
five to twenty mkiutes after th^^i ^^"^'"^ within from
been swallow^, Sd not £i?forr\''^'' '"PP""^ *« ^ave
wards. Dr. Taylor furt&on«f.f ^T ,T'^ « ^^ after-
attacks, increasing In severity ?he^l?' ^^^*"'" "^^^''^ ""^h
That there were some o7?hLsL^n.°*

^les asphyxiated."
can be no doubt, and there tuif^f'^^"", ? *^" «"« t^ere
of violent convu sions, yet ilfs t>tT ^' ^^^""-^ ^'^^^ <="«
case as that of John 'p^rso^ Cook ^^V**"?*^"" «' -"ch a
Dr. Christison says—" IT,nvr:^^* ^**T'

'^* "« ««« whai
are yeiy uncommrand s^fkiSTt™ P'"?".'^- ^^ '*'7chnia
and is seized with stmlll:;i:;^^^C7\^^^''u''' *^"^'«'
symptoms increase tiU at lenrth JT* •

*^® "°*''' ^hose
general spasms." Is thatIK •

*°™'^ " attacked by
paroxysms? Who can say Xlnl'T"" °'

f''^''
°' «»«««

»» Just observe these fast^nd.vtff
"^'^7® °^ *™**» "'at it

whch are consistent SthaU t£olT' °^/i'7chnia tetanus.
It is only justice to thise lenttlT^'^^^^ ^ t^eir books,
look to the authorit , to^whlh thp"" ?"''' ^'^^'^ P""" *°
statements which the ^^e o *>.? ^ ' *° '"'^ **»** *h«
correct, but not in au'thew details tT'k T '° ^'^^ "*^
times their size if they were but tL. ' -^"^u'

'"'"" ^^ fi^«
when we look to thJ 7ore1^ «„fh

^-."^ '° ^''^ "*^ <=°'rect,

founded—"The fit ;» til^ authorities on which they are
during which the senses are ZT^J,^ ^^ "° ''^^^'^'^l «>' ^alm!
but another paroxism sLTt't^n? th"'*"""!

'''="*«'

another, untU at last a fit 1,. '
•

*'*^° another and
had preceded it and the fJimal

' T' ''°J'"*
^''^^ ''"^ ^bat

exactly what Dr rn.,- f-
' penshes suflfocated." I know

gentIeU't?e\?o'trst"r:n'r''^-' '"-^""^ ^'^-^
^"

myself; it was on experiment ^^/fP^"]?^"* ^^'""^ ' "^^
case, and to assist m? aTd j^jtn

'°'"

•'l^
P"'T'°«« »' tbis

there can be a momenf; Stetit
•^''^

^-l^-
^'- '^'^y'"'' tbat

dogs for the purpose of asc^S« n"
'° ,l»°"«<=>ng ten or twenty

when a man's^irL invoTv^ "'"£«^ *'""'•*' °' *'^" '^^^
formed by Dr. Letheby while I w«« f^ "?«"""«?*« were per-
to you, because he wiU prove it bv^n^K '

\'^'}^ "***« ^^^^

twenty-fiye minutos^r faL^tJ^S i^Sbtt^blrich^
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table which were al«o about to be subjected to the operation
^^^

«d the dog, when the chain wa, .ufficiently relaxed toXwihun to do .0. ahowed all the indications whk:h a dS natZSvdoea to get at the rabbits; he was pulling at h^haS Sd
suddenly it feU down on its side, and its legs were st^etehed

if*fi/° I- ^* ° •" *^''" minutes—quiet, occasionallv ahttle jerking, but generally quiet. lVrl:overed agS or atune got up and looked at the rabbits, but was diS. seemedafraid to move
;
and, if you touched it. shuddered aS^twit^Sdto use Miss Elizabeth Mills' description; seemed to be afraid'and after another moment down it went again. It eot upagam. and down it went again, and at last it had a tremlndou?

?S^^ '• •"? '' ^^- '^^''^ " ^'^** »••• Christison m^ans b^
this description; it would be true if the dose had been a

?L"°.^ °"'m "u\',^r ^"'^ °°* been sufficient to kiU the

80—in producing its effect, and the interval between theparoxysms, as stated by Dr. Taylor and Dr. Christison, would
get longer and longer, until at last the animal w.^uld recover.
If the dose 18 strong enough to kill, the interval between the
paroxysms IS shorter, till at last the violent one comes which
destroys hfe; the eyes are fixed, and there it lies, and just
before Its death—and I thought it was dead, but I was told
immediately before its death—just before it dies, the limbs
become as supple and as free as it is possible to conceive the
limbs of an animal to be; whichever way you placed them
after the animal is quite dead, if you place them in any form,
the rigor-mortis comes on, and thev remain in the positionm which you place them. Dr. Christison says they assume
ngidity I saw this operation performed, and also on the
two rabbits, and their symptoms were substantiaUy the same,
and their lunbs in both cases were quite as flaccid immediately
on death. The animals during the time of the intervals
between the paroxysms were exceedingly touchy, and seemed
afraid of being touched at all; if you were to touch them
they would shrink away. It was more so in the dog; it
was, m fact, a sort of shudder—that is what Dr. Christison
means.
Now, gentlemen, without goi/ig through the whole of these

details, I will state to you mv reasons for saying, on the
authorities and from my studv of the books of those two
genUemen, that, according to their principles, this cannot have
been strychnia poison. Now, I object 'to the theory of its
being strychnia poison, first, on this ground, that no case can
be found m the books in which the patient while the paroxysm
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in Jii8 bed, .aat Mr Cook r./kT^f- .
^^^ ^" """>£; up

Cook wa.'talkLg and Ir o^'Sp'? '^-'°^''. t^^^Mr^
remedy given to liim thJt Mr rlw 'r*"',

"""^ *° ^"^^ t^e

it was rubbed. The^' i. „!? ^ -^^T* ^" °««^^ "''»»»<'. «nd
of Dr. TayW. or in the EUti of r8'^,"'.«»*°<=« « the book,
books of any medical n,^^ u-'

^""tuon, or any other
trychnia poLn.^'S wSS 'thT' w"e§ k*''

"ymptoma '^f thi
malasaux took plac^not ono .L T^I^'^P"'^". "ymptom. the
description, and what I tin vA, •, V" '"<=o»«'«tent with their

will give of the experiienftlat Tsaw^ '^' P^' ""'• ^'^'^7
had performed. *^ "*°'^ ***** ^ '«"^. and of many others he

i. no?st^;i5i%°oii^°''V"ai^r"°^ °' "'>''''» ^ -y *»»»

of tetanus by SrvcCa in whJn/.?'^ "* °° authentic ease
^o long after^ng?stt%l^bt';Von\ri:^ir
refer, however, to their own <it«*i>,«„ * i •

' *'"
.re here. (Extract frTmT TavW'sboS^Zf ^^'^'^^^^
was one case to which his attPnt.Vn !L

''°°'^^ '"^d.) There
fatal one. but it eot betLr ^n^ .-n ^

''""^' '* *'»" °°t «
were those which he descrfid an^l.? ^^^^ '^' ^^^P*"™"
get the poison out of th/lT' u ***°V8^'>* '* was too late to

lot into^rc^rcufatl^Ulnrn L" '" ^f T '*°"'- '* ^"d
distinguishing feature in th« .? t^-"""'^ ±"^ ^* '^ « t>™«d.

took p^ace EftJren the ingestion's^ n
^' '^'V^

''^^'^

case and the time whtn nl P°"°" '" ^^'•- Cook's
too long, three SLI too on.'"'/"-''!,™

'^'""'"^"^^ was much
by strychnia." ir:^!^tV'^tSl: tl f"* 1 P"'"''"
.f the symptoms are properl/

. SSL I t J" ''-

'

call your attention to them, I l^HzXh Mill 'I'" P'^T ^''^

ment in this Court. Now \r - umf^ *?• ^ %"" ?^'' ''***^-

I will prove that tNpr«T'
^ •°' *!'*'"d'y- ' submit, and

paroxvsm of' strychnia noL"\""', '" ""^''^ '^^''"7 '^'^ *

case on Monda7nS ^or Jn whl^'° """.•''"P'f "' '° C««'^'«

long an interval r.t.L ""^ * P**'^"* ^^"^ enjoyed so

aftfrtheyharonc/sST Vi^^*"" '''"'I*'
"^^^^'^

if it be true-if I am nVhf f "• ^^'l ••«°""-'^«We feature,

i?o:J'i?.w£^ : "-f^ri'-^^.^-

in the arm chair now „! "IfP'^P
bj the side of his friend
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Mr. Cook was in another fit, and to have kiUed him, almort >^
without suspicion cu the part of anybody. Dr. Christison t4.11iua in general terms that these convuliiions are succeeded by
intervals of calm, during which the senses are un: aturuUy and

"°""1!i^ f"**'
?''°^*'" fi* ^^"^ ^e^'^' '^ "ul'sides, and i.

succeeded by another and another, till at length a tit takes
place more violent than any before it, and the animal dies
suffocated Here. I submit to you, is a distinction between
the case of Mr. Cook and that which these genUemen state to
be the distinguishing feature, in that there is no recurrence
Now, I will come to another feature of the disease, the

post-mortem symptoms of the disease. I saw three animals
killed, of which I have spoken to you, and Dr. Letheby was
good enough to have dug up from his garden a rabbit which
had been kiUed by strychnia, and to open it before me, to
examine the heart, and the heart was fuU ; the heart of the
dog was quite full, and the hearts of the two rabbits which
I saw killed were quite full—as full as they could possibly be.
I am told that the result of an enormous proportion of such
examinations has been, and, if properly conducted, of all of
them, that the heart is full on the ripht side invariably. We
wUl prove to you that the heart of the animal which was killed
by strychnia poison is invariably full, and it stands to reason
it would be so.

Now, I have discussed what may be said for this puri)Ose to
be the theory of the matter, but I have not yet met the strong
point which will be made for the Crown on the avidence of
Ebjsabeth Mills. I am, on all occasions, most reluctant to
attack a witness examined on his or her oath, and particularly
if she be in a humble position. I am very reluctant to impute
perjury to such a person. Let me point out to you what
occurs to me to be the ripht opinion to be formed of the evidence
of Elizabeth Mills. I submit to you in this case of life and
death, or in any one case involving any question of real im-
portance to liberty or to property, that that younp woman's
evidence cannot and would not be regarded in the ordinary
administration of justice when on material points she has
stated two different stories. A jury can really hardly believe
such a witness, and in criminal cases the learned jiidpes are,
without altogether rejecting the evidence and withholding it
from the jury, in the habit of pointing out to the jury the
discrepancies between the statements given at different times,
and saying that under nil the circumstances of the case it
would not be safe to rely on the testimony in the last instance,
jf it differ from, and probably is more strongly adverse to,
the party accused than the statements made when the impression
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cook, and Mnt over aa particularlj goodt I iubmit to you
it fM aucb a riak aa no man in hu aenaea could hj any poaai-
bility run. A cook ii, in the nature of the thing, a taater;
abe taatea everything; ahe doea not know, of courae, if it be
her own making, whether it ia good until abe taatea it; ahe
geta the habit of taating—and aa aure aa Palmer aent the
broth to the Talbot Anna, and any part of it reached the
kitchen, la aure, if it conteined antimony, would the cook be
ill, Ii it credible? I submit to you, it u not credible; and
when you find she did not aay a word about it in the first
inatance, and that an ample opportunifv waa afforded for her
so to do in the way I have described, I submit you cannot rely
upon her evidence here, aa it differa with her evidence before
the coroner. Again, she said that on the Saturday t«x)k had
coffee for brt.^kfast about eight o'clock. " He ate nothing
but he vomited directly he had swallowed it. Up to the
time I hi»d giv -n him the coffee 1 had ot seen Palmer."
When she gave that evidenc- she was not aware it was part
of the the<iry of ti Crown that the traces f antimony (which
Dr. Taylor g.^ys Uiight hav killed him) were to be madt to
fit nto the theor_\ of the strychnia poison—that it was a
gradual preparation, by vomn.ng, for strychnia. That clart
of the country over which sae was to travel had not "been
laid before her. She did not then know what at thr time
she came here she did know—that it was part of the ca for
the Crown.
The Attorney-General opened the case in that way distinctly,

that that was the theory for the Crown; "that Palmer had
ordered some coffee for Cook ori the Sh irday morning; it

was brought up by the chambermaid, Liizabeth Mills, n?id
given to Cook by Palmer, w, j had an opportunity of tamper-
ing with it before giving it to Co<k." That -as the state-
ment which the Attomey-Generu was instn ed to make.
There is all the difference between er first stis -nent, that up
to the time she had given the coffee to ^alme for Cook, and
that Pp'mer had an opportunity of t im ering vith it. The
young .voman vould not a;o so f^r .>s that but she went to
this extent—" Palmer cai le ove? it eight /clock—ordered a
cup of coffee for Cook—I srave •• Cook—I bel^ve Palmer
waa in the liedroom—I put t int Mr. Cook's hands, but I did
not see him drink it—1 o ser% J afterwards the coffee had
been mited." The state en thus made by her before you
was not so strong as tha- of ht Attorney-General, but. on the
other hand, it was a jat deal stronger than the statement
she made before the coi ner. eof ise, according to her story
then. Palmer had no; ai opi .rtunuy of dealing with it—she
"did not see Palmer up to -he time she had given him the
coffee." From tho statew t which she made here you
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ttST"* °"8^* "uppoM that Palmer, if h« h^ „k^
got the coffee from Co^—hutthH "^Z*®"' °"»'»* »»»^e
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possibility have escaped the attention of Dr. Taylor. If any- SmiMwt
thing hke it took place there it would have been observed by *"•*

him, and questions would have been put to reduce, so to
speak, those gesticulations into verbal expressions, that they
might be recorded in the depositions. But that is not all.
I am told, and you will have an opportunity of hearing it
from Mr. Nunneley, Dr. Letheby, Dr. Robinson, and other
eminent medical men, that the description of the symptoms
which she gave to you ig inconsistent with any known disease

—

that they were grouped by her in a manner so extraordinary
as to be quite inconsistent with strychnia tetanus.
Let me call your attention to this part of the evidence.

You are aware that in the months of February (the last week of
February) and March a very frightful case of strychnia poison-
ing occurred at Leeds. It was a case in which a person, havinj,'
constant access to the bedside of the patient, was supposed
to have administered repeated small doses of strychnia so as
not at once to strike her down, but gradually to destroy her

;

and that after having kept her in a state of irritation for a
lengthened period, he at last consummated the work and killed
her. That was the case. It ai)peared in all the newspapers.
The nurse who attended the patient and the me<lical gentle-
men spoke of 8ymi)toms which she exhibited from the 24th
or 25t! February to the 1st of March, and they described it

in this way—She had " prickings " and " twitchings " in the
legs, coming on without nny violent paroxysms or spasms and
was alarmed at the thoufjrit even of being touched by anybody
in the intervals of the spasms which occurred from time to
time. Now, let me call your attention to the evidence before
you of Elizabeth Mills. She says, " Ee said, ' I cannot lie
down

' ; his body and neck were moving and jerking ; he
would throw himself up, jumping and jerking all over his body
all the time ; he asked me to rub his hands ; I noticed him
to 'twitch' while I was rubbing his hands." (Tlie learned
Serjeant read a portion of the evidence.) Now, I submit to
you that some of these expressions, particularly the twitching,
are very remarkable ; and it may well have been that, this
case coming before the public and exciting no little degree of
attention, although not to the same extent as this Rugeley
case, persons who had been in the habit of going to see her
and conversing with her may have been asking her questions
about this case, of which she admitted she had heard, " Did
you observe in Cook any such symptoms as these?" her
attention being called to them in stich a way as to induce
her to alter the statement made by her at the inquest. You
cannot, indeed, account, as I stib'nit to you, for so remark-
able a differeu^e between the first nnd second statements,
without supposing something of that kind. Now, is it im-
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gg^Mt probable that that did t*k« ni.«.t »_"** the Talbot Ann- t/iet^J^' .hf™°

*^' *!"« *« »««
pewon of very remarkaWB^LT *'® •®®™" *<» l^^'e been a
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who all iupport the view I have to aubmit to you, and which i^ijtaat
they have auggeated to me aa the probable one—that theae"^"
fita of Mr. Cook were not tetanua, but violent convulsiona, the
reault of the weak habit of hia body, which had been inoreaaed
by hia mode of life.

I propose now to diacuaa the question whether the circum-
atantial evidence against Pahner be such aa tc. be inexplicable
on the supposition of hia innocence, and if I ahow you on the
broad and salient features of the evidence that it is not (you
will not expect me to go into the more minute details), and
I have succeeded in satisfying you on any considerable portion
of the points to which I have directed your attention, and if the
evidence comes up to what I have been instructed to say it
will, you will be too happy, recollecting that you are the
country in the language of the law—that the country out of
doors, in a case of crime, of life and death, is uninformed,
without the opportunity of hearing the witnesses examined or
croBS-examined on their oaths to decide between the Crown
and the Queen's subject on the evidence alone. Every
word of this evidence will be carried to all the ends and comers
of the earth, and it will remain to be seen whether this preat
country of England, in a paroxysm or convulsion of prejudice,
created by the rashness of one scientific man who had no
knowledge of his own about the matter, has made up its mind
to sacrifice the life of a fellow-creature under circumstances
which would expose any person who has ever bf;en present
at deathbed convulsions liable to the srme charge.

I say the circumstantial evidence in this case is not such
aa to justify you in coming to a conclusion of the guilt of the
prisoner. I will endeavou. in this part of the discussion to
address myself to those portions of the case which seem at the
first blush of them, and on judicial consideration of them, to
require notice. I will not avoid anything that is difficult or
that may seem to vou difficult, so that when I sit down you will
see that I have discussed this great argument fully and fairly
in every branch of it, and ask yourselves, what ground is there
for any verdict but a verdict of " not guilty "t I will avoid
nothing, and proceed at once to one of the most salient points.
I will pass over, after an intimation that was made from the
bench, the point about pushing the man at the inquest, or the
accident of a slit in the covering of the jar, which, sharp instru-
ments being used by the operators, may i^aRily have occurred,
or the putting it in a further comer of the room, from which
there was no possibility of its being removed. I do not
believe that any such circumstances as these would induce
you to come to a conclusion against the prisoner.
Lord Campbil^—No member of the Court, I think, has

intimated any opinion as to the other portions of the case;
merely as to the pushing.
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taJMBt Mr. Sbbjiast Sru—I do not wiah to suggest anything which
is not strictly correct, and perhaps I ought not to use what
was intunated from the bench in any wav, but ratlier submit
that, where everybody perfectly well knew' Palmer^ in any little
apparent shove, so to speak, during the course of the post-
mortem, is not to be taken as an evidence of his guilt. It was in
leaning over, if at all, to observe an examination of considerable
interest to all prsons present, and I cannot conceive that any-
thing of this ki;'.d can be taken into consideration. No serious
complaint was made at the time. Mr. Devonshire said nothing
was lost by it. He said also the jar was removed to a comer
of the room. It was not removwi out of sight. It was in
the broad daylight. It was impossible it could be taken
away without observation. It would be absurd that Palmer
should be suspected of having done so with an improper
object. This we know, that he was very reluctant to have
the jar removed out of the possession of those on whom he
could rely. That is very true; there were some persons who
did not want to pay him £13,000; there were some persons
who had been doing all they coidd to undermine his character
for a very considerable time, imputing to him the most wicked
conduct respecting a near re'ation, which none of his own
relations ever joined in, know'.ig that there were many persons
at Rugeley much prejudiced against him, and it was in his
judgment of the last importance that anything which could
be brought against him (and it was clear that this post-
mortem, from the conduct of Stevens, was intended to found a
charge against him), should be kept in unsuspected custody, and
that nobody should have an opportunity of tampering with it

and its contents. When told that Dr. Harland is coming
to make the post-mortem, he says, " I am glad of that, for
there is no knowing who might have done it ; and it is a
satisfaction that you. whom I do know, are coming to superin-
tend it." I say that was the conduct of a respectable man,
who knows that his conduct would bear investigation if it were
properly inquired into. But we know also that in a town like

Rugeley there were a great many serious people, who could
not approve of his habits of life, to whom his running about
to races wotild not much recommend him, and whom he has
reason to know would not very much regret any injury which
might happen t-o him.

Is therp any other part of his conduct connected with the
post-mortem which requires explanation t When the jar was
going to he sent to town he objects to its going to Frere's.

He had some reason for that. He had an assistant in hia

service who had been in the sftrvice of Frerr. We know the
jealousies that exist in country towns between professional

men. We will not do Mr. Frere the injustice to auppoM
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he .ould do «, great a wrong to Palxner^J^\l^ StST*
tampering with the contenU of the jar ; but atiU it *" "8"*

STcStioua. and Pahner told Dr. Harknd '

'
I

^"^ Ĵ^
to take it with you to Stafford, and not let it go to l-rere s

tou^' In theL minor incidental matter, hia conduct appear.

Jo me perfectly consistent with innocence. I^t me c^ your

StStioD to this more important matter, on which my learned

uSZ his instructions was told to "ly-and accordingly^

did in the discharge of his duty, rely upon it. I will call

vou'r att^tion to what has been stated by Myatt, the post-

C hS evidence was pressed into tiie case ; •* ^ould not ^^U

bS Mcluded from it as an evidence of gudt. Now, what did

^Sount to? Before I have done, under the general head

* ^rZr'« conduct 1 wiU caU your attention to what passed

itweS hLi and Steve^^^^ yL will find the conduct and

SSiortment of the ktter were such as would make some men

SVtkTck him; it was so very provokmg, «W^g P''^^

S^ad^vriU^uesS^h^^^^^^^^^

2^; the ir thing hostilely to him. as if he thought -m-

tWng wrong had taken place, and it was »"«.

fjjj/^.''^^""^^^^^^
nrntect the Dropertv. but to see any person who hp-l been guuiy

of S Pla? Sds Cook brought to cond^ punishment.

sUl.'i5?er%oring over, the -main, of Uie dead i^n a

the Dost-mortem examination, was ready to leave "'^""y-

and ? fly was ordered for him and his companion. Mr. Boycott

Jn wU they were to proceed with the jar to Staffo^ and

^[cke^et as tampering vnUi the iar

J
-gh^

-^rltdTnA

-t clmTted^rSelus^t^^V^ 's£ven\ ^His—^^^

Klmer had been ^ exatiou. and ""j^y^^;"
J^^^ ^f JTad

the fly was being pot ready after P«!™«'-'
J^J^^ 2u .ecord-

dined; and meeting tlie postboy ^?y»"' XwV Mr Stevens to

ing to Myatt. whether he/as going to _dr ve Mr. Me
^^^^^

Stafford.
" I told h.m," said Myatt, I jas.^

^,

me if I would upset themi ". ^^ fe J^'ord
t^e™^^

^„1

«"*-'"^t'Vi^iS:'loV3totteKnt t?rpply to thl

one jar at that time, so it cou«i
jo„|,tf„i for the reason
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dialogue betlSn'S'So ; ZVtffU^ ^""^ '^'^

ment on it) muat have MtLt^JLJu i°*^g anj com-

~knowingLm.eitoliSLoc^^^?^*^Tl "^ expression if

•ad brolhir to Cook ^T^^ ' i^' .^ had acted m a friend

when he wa. ilS 5^1^^"""^ ^'^ ™^*'°°» *»»"* ^m
tnunpery be" ng-b<il/whth rknew""?^*^ °' "^^^^ '^

ter^'^Xh^eJ^'^^^^ :oTp^in\:SthTt\r^d*1ot^

of my having stolen ^effin^'Klif "*!^?^ *° '^ suspicious

mind was impre88«»d with fh« .'^^^ V?^' v ^* "*'°*" *1^* l>i8

ScSfga^Vt t^r^ra^wS?^^^^^
insurance coLp^rmIre^ot^u^^'f *^' money from th^
may involve in ruin mS and f^™« 'u™ " P"'*'"" ^^'^Ji

That was evidentl^TLndenoy oTwTa?te\^^^^^
''"^y

He meets this postboy and askf hL S L • ! "v"""
''*'°"*-

drive the fly to Staflo^rd%« boyZ/ '
' Y- T

'^
""f."^^^"^.d " If I would upset 'them thTre w?s' a IlO ItTf ^?He has been asktvl " h„j -

^^c wus a aiu note for me.

giving £10 to upset him ''Wl K ^u' ^ «l»°»ld not mind
duct, and irritaS bv ^^ r.. .

^'^ '^^ ^^^^ »» h" con-
ness which he hSdLaviP"*'^"^''""^ """^ inquisitive-

like a friend! to show hh^Vh??
"*''" *^" ^«"* "P ^^^ Wm.

the thighs. Some DreZ« !
'^- *' '^''''^^"ng it down to

Stevens' mind TTut Palmer h„^^'"°°
""'* ^''^^ ^^''^ m

that he was gni ty of so fonl „ •
°° «"«P><=>°° of this thought
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*''''* '''*''*' """^ •"P"*"^
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the Talbot Ami ?nd T^ i 'T'"^ °' *h« '«°dlord of

driving to anHr'orJhe Talbo7r
"^"* **'^y''"*'• »»« ^»'

he must have be^n then> oS the ^?' ?\\^ ^^^^ °^ »»» «f«.-
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s poat-mortem examination on account of a lugpicion of murder. sarlMMt
He was not called before the coroner ; and nobody knew, at 'l>**

the time the inquest was held, that he had ever said anything
which could be fairly taken in a sense which would make it

evidence of a guilty mind in Palmer. But if he had said that
Palmer said, " I should not mind giving a £10 note to have
him upset; it is a humbugging concern," and in that manner,
and with the feeling I have stated, it would not have excited

any observation or suspicion, and no one would have summoned
Myatt to the inquest. I submit that is the true version of this

story. It is not to be supposed that a medical man, knowing
that he had given a large dose of strychnia, would suppose

that, by the accidental spilling of a jar, the liver and spleen

and son . of the tissues continuing untouched, he could have
escaped the detection of his guilt.

Next I shall call your attention to the evidence of Charles

Newton ; he is a person who has sworn before you that he saw
Palmer at Mr. Salt's surgery at nine o'clock on the Monday
night, and that Palmer asked for three grains of strychnia;

that he weighed it, and gave it to him in a piece of paper ; that

is the first part of what he swore before you and my lords.

Now, I should tell you how this case has been conducted. As
soon as my learned friend the Attorney-General, as counsel for

the Crown, was made acquainted with the illness of my learned

friend Mr. Serjeant Wilkins, with his inability to conduct the

defence and that I was to supply his place, he desired that

every scrap of evidence against the prisoner should be for-

warded to me, and to my learned friends near me ; and,

accordingly, as soon as he received this evidence of Newton
he forwarded it to me, and I received it on the day this Court

met. I believe it was sent to me late on the previous night,

but I did not see it until the morning you were sworn ; so that

this witness Newton did not bring this matter that was in his

knowledge of the fact of the purchase by Palmer at Mr. Salt's

surgery at nine o'clock on the Monday night of three grains of

strychnia—he did not bring that to the knowledge of the Crown
until the night before this trial commenced. Now, he had

been examined at the inquest, and he did not tell before the

coroner the rest of the story which he told when he was ex-

amined here. (The learned Serjeant read the examination

of Charles Newton.) He did not tell that to the coroner. All

he told the coroner was that he was present when Palmer

bought some strychnia off Roberts on the Tuesday night in

the shop of Mr. "Hawkins ; he did not speak to the purchase

of the strychnia on the Monday night ; he knew that he was

called to corroborate a statement which Roberts had made as to

the presence of Palmer at the shop, and the purchasing of the

tryohnia on the Tuesday, yet he never said one word at that
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lum on the Monday night or of hit haviniTMked hiTwh^appearance., if a dog were killed by .tryXirToulTbe «hibited on .t. po-t-mortem examiaatiL. Amiln who^^cj;'
t^f^Tfui' "^'^'y .""'"'^y °' credit xLre ~ Zehoneat laudable motive m a Court of justice, and Sat i. to

^:f.tt^tb-Te?;ft^;fLi^^^^
ubjoct as that of murder, the first time he takes t£I!thomiU a considerable portion of what he knows!aSf^w^£afterwards teUs another portion, and at a further interS come!

^a^^mw *^ "on^nough, in his opinion, to dr ve ThJS * t*° *» ?"^ ^^° " accuoed-the witness I say whoconducts himself m that mamier ought not to be Sev«dThe prisoner who is convicted upon the evidence of ...rl.man as that is sacrificed bv a iWr nZ t^^ 1 *

circumstances in that statelnt wffch render "^tVthe'tstdegree improbable. That Palmer shouu! once in I wikpu^hase strychnia in the town of Rugeley* isTt to L'wt-'

Sas^ bv pJLr .
^" jnentioned that strychnia was pur-

h«T»i X> uT •*'''''® '''*'''° *!>« '^eeJ^. *l»en the first time

»..tL . •
"""Ody can or ought to be believed whn

to him «F I ^^"^^^'r
°^ " "^''^*' ed-.-'aMon. and it is riSto him at once, without a word. B id been i^ T^JaI^.

Su^or'°'TJlv'V"1?K"°* ^^ •* tt. befoul?^t"K It h?L*3tav; gC to\"r"^it^^Sr "^'; '"'*

^t it is equaUy impossiUeTeM^ertuld have ^^Llt Z-uch a purpose as the purpose attributed to him. and thlt he
ISO
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would have been, if really guilty, m unwary aa to allow the

paper in which the strychnia bad been not to be found with

the full quantity he had purchased in it ; he would not have
been such a fool us not to take care that the paper in which

it was wrapped vma full of strychnia before his house was
searched, so as to make sure that it should be found that

nothing should appear to have been used out of it, and that

the exact qua'itity was in the paper. I submit, therefore,

it cannot be believed—it is not credible I

I am now in a condition to satisfy you that Palmer was
undoubtedly in town, and that he could not have been there

at nine o'clock ; that he was in London at a quarter-past three

o'clock, and that he could not have been there bjr nine o'clock

—the hours at which the trains start rendered it impossible.

The thing id false—downright false. It is impossible to have

got to Kugeley before a quarter-past ten, and we will account

for what be did in a way that will entirely satisfy you. He
attended the post-mortem examination, and is it credible that

a skilful medical man, who has studied at the London hospitals,

wculd have gone to that dolt Newton to ask him as to what

would be the effects of strychnia on a dog's stomach t Is it

credible that he should go to that stupid sort of fellow, who
gave his evidence in that dogged, mulish, sullen manner, which

often is indicative of something else besides the want of

understanding, and that he would have gone and asked a chap

like that, "What are the effects of strychnia 1 " and then,

when he had been told, he would snap his fingers and say,

" All right." It cannot be—it is impossible. No one would

believe it ; and I submit to you confidently that unless there

is much stronger evidence than that, it is evidence on which

you cannot rely for a moment. To show the animus of this

Newton against Palmer, I will remind you of what he stated.

Pahner said that " you will find that he has taken a great

deal of mercury ;
you will find this ' fellow ' died from a diseased

throat." When' he is questioned about it mildly and quietly

by my friend Mr. Grove as to what was the exact term used, he

answers, " I do not know whether he said poor or rich "
;
just

as if it could be a question of that kind. What we wanted

to know was whether he had spoken of the poor dead man in

a pitying way, or whether he had spoken of him as a disreput-

able person, unworthy of all consideration. As to that part

of the case I will say no more, and I will proceed to other

matters taking you back again to what occurred at Shrewsbury.

The case for the Crown is, that as early as the 14th Novem-

ber, at Shrewsbury, the scheme—the plot- of poisoning com-

menced. That is the supposition of those from whom the case

has been taken by the Crown. Now, it is suggested that on

the night of Wednesday, the 14th, Pabner dosed this man
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ber the early part of «^ adH-L, . ^" ?' ^' JO" "-einein-

•J
the end ofTletir^Lm^kVfJ "^ * '^'^ -°^'

Palmer, that i:500 should be p^ij^w*' ^' " weU „ to
po«Uoript "I am better " tI .

*^'"*"' ^« »dda in a

matter which i, of great ErtanJJ'Jf^'- «'«*« to another
he doea not seem U> trl^^u ^ *'.'™ *°<* ^o Palmer, and
hf^ that Paw £«iTugged hr^^r^^' '^i'

«"" »i°3 •
of deatroying hi. health atTrewTbu '

ThTn'"' *^' ''"T^"*
evidence, what doea Palmer mv hSi# I *°' *«^*'°' '^° t^e
at Shrewsbury

? He .aT wh^^ it^^l" **^"' '*'^»t «=<="'-red
have put .omething inS ^S. i H^ °»«f

^'f^ed. " Cook say. I
Pfople "-taking ft as i Kad LI °°* ^^^ *"«=*> *"«='"' with
wise than as a ll,se ewrewion nf " "^^^'" ""derstood othe^
drunk-the evidence dS, nTL i'^thT' ^'^''P' ""t «=*»«%
you wiU be of opinionTe wL^Jery iLrf'**°*^*^?"eh I think
condition. I co^d not helTbein7* itfi^

"^Pproaching to that
which I read some time agj ot^L i^S^ ^°'T'^ ^^ * '^"ion
plot. I will read it to fou-' ' Afte^"?:?

°? *H Sl>'-«^«bury
foreign wines of an Enel^h cn,t\

'°*^"l^ng freely in the
London, the owner of KstSr" t7t*?°'u

^^« "'"^ from
to restore his British soliSv t« ° - ^™°*^y ^''^ water
plained that there wrsomethilnn^f^^^ ?'""• »'«<='>»-
throat. Perhaps those ' hThavf ^ '^ ^"^ '* *'"™«1 hi.
water with similar haste ° ay Lvl'^ "^r^"^ "^^^^y and
-en«,tion; perhaps also, like M? Cook th?v'"'""1?

""« "*"«
afterwards. He bolted hi- Kro^^o" ^^^^ "'^^ haye vomited
chaUenge. and bolSd it uraSn'l""*"-!; '°"° «'' '''^'"^'"^
cold champagne. That n£hthl\ '* encountered the
«ck, and yery iU n;.^- ^ ^'"' ''^^ drunk, and yerv
his money he^deposited^ithhli'fri'Lr "A ^*° '^ basST
^porting wine merchant, of Shoe Jll n ^,f

"""' ^''^''' »
Mr. Ishmael Fisher the owner of^Pnl!.'

,^°1*'«'^- To this
till next morning, expressbg'h?! bSif*!! \r' ^^"^ *° '^^'PPalmer had dosed hL for the .akl .V A.""^

"""^ *^«' *!>»*
had been Palmer's intention would hfh' TT^' " """^l*
a moment! He neither foUrwS^ ^L^^ '^^* ^ook at such
his stomach rebelled nnr ^,-J iT ^"° ^'°™ the room when
Thi. neglect sho":^: fnde^^ hoVh u" ^'°^ "" ^^''^ "^^t
but it prove, his inn;cS^cr^'J'r^"?"! ^*l

*»" friendship,
officious. Next morniniciHS^liri ^^

^"^^u
^° '°"<=1> "ore

to do after eicessiVe yin^f.
^''°^«^.,7e'7 dl. as men are apt
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Cook believed it to be m. He breakfasted with Palmer tbesmdMuit
next noming ; he waa good friends with him the whole of the ^i***

daj, and went with him to Kugeley, and there remained on
Palmer's i&vitation. In coDsequence of the letter which Pratt
wrote on the 13th, and which Palmer got on the 14th, in which
they both had an interest, Cook wrote to Pratt to say that
somebody would call on him with £200, and he wrote to Fisher
to tell Fisher to do so. Did anybody at that time believe
that there was any intention to drug and poison this manf
Does not the explanation that Mrs. Brookes gave, which I must
say was exceedingly creditable to her, the readiness with which
she steted to me that her husband did not approve of her
atreading races, that it was disagreeable to him ; and the
dignity, if I may say so, with which she answered the question
put to her by my learned friend

—" Are you intimate with
Palmerl" by this other question, "What do you mean by
intimate with him} I am friendly," seemed to me to entitle

her to all due respect. And when she, being called for the
Crown, tells you, " That night I heard in several directions

of a great number of people who were purged and vomited

;

there was a general affection of the kind amongst strangers
visiting Shrewsbury on that occasion

'
'—I submit to you it

was to the last degree improbable that anything of that kind
occurred. About the tun..)ler which she saw in Palmer's hand
I cannot suggest any reason, because it is not in my instruc-

tions, but it might probably be accounted for in this way,
when he came back from Rugeley and found all the people

indisposed he would naturally look at the water to see if there
was anything to account for its unwholesomeness. Mrs.
Brookes said, and that is the point to which I wish to call

your attention, that he w; s in a passage under a chandelier;

that the waiter pointed to him when he showed her upstairs

;

that he spoke to her while holding up the glass to the light,

and said, " Wait a minute, and I will come to you." Nothing
can be more natural than that ; and I submit to you it is im-
possible to say that there is anything to justify a sunpicion

of poison in it. With regard to the money he gave to Fisher,

I can suptrest no other reason than that, just before being sick,

he gave his money to Fisher, feeling that it was coming upon
him, and that his stomach was revolting at the liberties he
had taken with it. He had the good »ense to place his money,
when he was still very sick, in the hands of Fisher, and he
afterwards went to bed. It may have been that he had been
guilty of excess in eating and drinking, and it was necessary
to send for the doctor, who, when he came, wished to send
him an emetic. The young man knew so well what to do that
he said, " Oh i I can make myself sick without an emetic

;

I wiD pat my tooth-brush down my throat; I can be sick
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it
i..

. /€.« r



Trial of WUJiam PaJmer.
without jour emetio " n. t^L
m«d«d to Lim and 'a black dr^i^f l^. T^" '* »" "»o«.^ head on hi, piu,^ hTw-Sirl *^« «»»•"» !»• Wd«d he got up the next n^Z^lTrfZtivl n""^ ?,^'^ *^'
that ui reaJJjr too ludicrou. toi^ »„^^ T"' ««nUemen.
"deration. Now, let ua <,o S rj^**^' °^* °»oment'i con-
more P*rticukrly USe^fI,?J n*"'

'"^^' """^t^"- and^uW ju.t mention that tS^reTa, ! 'tl^T'' ^^^^- »
of Myatt in the roooi at Se 1^^""" ^^T "' »*>« """^
water waa drugged. WLv l«.T ^*^ "*/ '^^ ''"«dy and
c*n.e in just &,e goilVS^d^'UVir*^ .

"^^^ ^t^*"
the whole evening, and Man not « ;«„ ^^J*" *"^ '»««'» there
room. You wig' U.rC vLioTZ T"^""^ "^'^^^ '" '^
They have now got back to T^J^i ^'" *** "' » neceawrv.
the slow poisoning cSntin^ "^"feu*"*^ '^^" *^« hi.^oi
together and probibi; thSrtalk aU^t"*^ ^f^'' ^° ^^
their difficulties, and^the waTof J/f/'"^ "^"^ P™" "d
of the smaU way that the ISnin«^?«^ °"u

°^ '''«»• «"»<*
effect the object. Tl.ev ll><I *^ **' f^hrewsbury will «> to
unle«, the PrU of WaTes":^J" "£ 'fo^i^/*'^" ^ "'^'^^
due upon the policy of insuranop ,JT^ *" ^'^ ^^^^ """oey
from aU suspicion of insokencv or „f^ w**'^

"'"' '"*'"«'•'> '^^
When they get to RugekySy LS"?''"*! "'.**'" meantime,
they provide for the temtwrki^H^ fJ^ "V*"® ^^00 to Pratt,
terms. Palmer makinnrof^Coof' 1^' ^^"^ "« °° friendW
attaining their own !bjLt. a^it woT' '"^ P'-°'«"y »>«*'"

8aid directly Cook diedE he had lol^l T^'- *^** P"'"*'
were outstanding; and that mJ^h.

'""^'nterest in bills which
they were engag^ed in racial ??.^„^ 7'" ''"^^ '^"' considering
owners of on^e IZsf; Lt^t^vST '

'^"^ '^^^ *«« Jo'-*
or each other at race.

, and that th«l
'""^ '"'''"''' ^'"^

friends on the turf. i„ that sort of ii!{- ""T '=«nf«J«™tes and
gave them a joint interest Tnthl **"°" ^ ^^''^ "'her which
at the table of Palmer on the lefh ?'^' ^"°*"'^'- ^ook sat
Pratt. Cook goes to bed ui ' ^u^

'"**'« "P *^»t night to
not so drunk as to preve^ hfs ,.w1n*''t^

""!"^'^' ^'^^ «°ough,
him a longer candleffn °de \JSZ SL^^''"''^'^'^'^

*° ^^«
seems to have had a h>tl» m,

°"^'** '"^"^ »« bed. He
made him drunk!;et ^Irha^S'S T '' ""'''' " *«>

^"-
by the excess, if it was exces^ aus£ewsbu;^" ""^^"'t

^^"'^^"^
which was occasioned by th^ ninJ« ^k

^' '^''^ **»« ^*"°iting
which he had taken. He tti^rth^'*'*""^ ^''^ ''°* *«*«^
he eats nothing that day !?,

"^ *^«n«t morning poorly;
called in by Palmer and P»b2 " ^^ '°.'" *'''- Bamfordto b^
to him on tU dT^n^sSay ?olS"^ '" ^» «'**«"*-

whati. a m- to doTV.SVX^f3^i^^hS;t-^
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ooaaiderablt* danger. Cook, h.i ing a joint intereat in racing
truuactioriH with I'u mer, tbinka it convenient to atop at
Rugeley, where he hnii no friend but Palmer. They are not
fluih of money, and Palmer haa a house and an eatabliahment
on a moderate scale immediately oppoaiU' titf imi in which
Cook ia atayinjr. He is enabled to send auch things over bm

calk be got in a private house, not at hotel prices, but at a very
trifling expt-niu*- ilc was t»n a visit to Palmer, und lu-

knew nobody there but Palmtr. He was ailing; and
aa it is very dull ior a man who has no intellectual

pursuits to be alonr all day when out of health. Palmer goes
over and t^lks to h 'ii, und attends to him, and (ntd him what
comforta L« can. i'hat is what a man would du to a friend ;

it is frecisf^iy what t man would i|o. U he had not done it,

but merely Htteiide«^i to him ut iiiprht when he was taken ill on
the Honda; iii(?lit, without v sitine him during the day, it

might ha\i Seen -^ai'l that h' w.in nepWting him, and only

attended f' liim when lu- waiit-ni to .'ive him another dose of

poison. TliiT is t' • -va th' Mown wnuld have put it then!

He is lab<jiiou.~Iy , ^ utivt- to him under circumstances which
can well be .'iccoiin)-' i for Ly tho rcuson that he had actually,

if not a aincere frirn.l infi 1>t biui at least a fri^ lly kind of

liking for him, and an interest with him on lietting ttn<l racing

transactions, and coiiM !<u|'|il) luui with seveial things from his

house at little or no fxi'eiiM'. If Cook had been well he would
probably have had hi-* meals at Palmer's house. He was ill,

and Palmer sends Ur. Bamford to htm. He saw him at eight

o'clock on Sunday mornin<jr. and again at six or seven o'clock.

Cook told him his bowcU had been moved twice or thrice. That

is what he told to Dr. Bamford ; it may have been krown lo

Palme, that it was oftener. and that the truth was b<; <
slightly suffering under some symptoms of diurrhu^a,

afterwt;rd8 stated in the letter to Jones. It was Cook hiunelf

who told Dr. Bamford about his bowels having been movef" :

and on the game day Palmer wrote a letter to Jones, intendina;

to bring Jones there, he being about to go to London, and stated
" Cook had been suflFering from diarrhoea." It was at Shrews-

bury, where everybo<ly else had diarrhoea. He took the pill

and black draught, and their e£fects continued, jiiohably to some
extent when he was at Rugeley. It is absurd to pretend that

the suggestion of diarrhoea could have any sinister object, as

Jones must have ascertained the truth as soon as he arrived

at Rugeley.
I now beg to call yor) attention tc the next important fact

ill ihis case. It aeefi> ' • uie to be, thoii^ii I touch upon it

briefly here, one ft the ~ rv last importance, and one which

ought to decide it ui th • prisoner's favour. The supposition of
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Bugeley. and that duJSg J,e 8.^^.^^"? "^ continuedTat
enoe of that treatment!^unl5^f/th<~i *","nder the influ-

•• wa. w.d, to force theS uZ^J''^
Calmer attempted.

M It 1. .uppo,ed, upon de,troyiSriw \u/°^' ^""^ ^°^'
the world who would be the ve^/l^.r •**''*." °°* "»"«» i"
••a witneM of hi. proce^S«Ve 1 "*!!,•''*. *°"*<^ »«'««'
prune of life, intimatelTSiaintS w1?h* r l!"'^'^"' ^ »»»•
•ame house with him, much attach^ L^

*^°°''' ''^"»« '« the
o«.ntly attached to him ti com" jj him «^"°' **

"H.*^*""
'"«-

that he had had an attack o?dii^rhr " *°<»° *« »»« had heard
worth. Palmer, intendimr tn „„ .

?~5''"- '^°"«"' ^^ butter-
to leave Cook alon^ wrote^on *P «° ^"•'"°' '"^'^ °ot wiahing
bin. that Cook C'tfe^lll wiS^J^^I"^ *" *^'-- •^«"««- t«Ui«l
i. not altogether incon,T,tent 4Uh thelf?' "

'^I'l^''^'
^»»'<^^

and what Cook stated, and begs of hii^ tn'"'"
°' ^'- ^'^'°"'

of you to pause heri. for . ^^ *° '-o™® over. I bejr

fuirimportSn^of tii, Set ."hT^'n
'" °"^\'*'' "PP^"'*** ^f

profound will be your conviction th/tT I*''",''
°' '* *»^« "^o™

fragable of Palmer's innTence K •
''^°'^' *^''^*"''« "^^-

•• that he intended tS ^000? .
'"P"^**'''" "Pon Palmer

'innings. Who was with Cook ^hl ?k
f""""" ''''"''^" °^ »>"

was by his side on Shr^wsburv r„A ^^
J"""

^^ "' ^ «" ' Who
that he ^as speechlessrWhoUwr^^''t ^"^ *^^ *'"*^« "in^tes
and count hi? wiS,;! aK burJo„t^ "l*

'''"

^t"'"^-^-'^hosom friend, his comnanion hi.
*'°"«'—^ones who was his

the last farthing the «moun;'oJhis''r^'^'"i'' "r"*^
^^° ^''^^ ^

men living, the most Sv to h^ ^u*""'"' •

'^**""' """>' »' all

fidence. and the man bound t^.l '"^^^T* **' ^'^^''> <=«>"-

friendship, and affmion to n^/f^ri^
consuleration of honour,

and to avenge his , 3h ^
Y^riK''""* ^ "'"''''=''*« »>" <=»»«.

Palmer sent, that iT^U, * *'"" ^"' ^'^^ »"•»" for whom
confidence, min'stlr to ™iSt S^SL"'^'^/-'^' r«=-ve his
same room with him ! How ;/p'1' ''"'^ •'""". "'^P '" the
they represent him are vo„ fn f]^""!'

'" ^''^ murderer
to (he bedside of ihesicrmanT"?? c' t" •'"T'"«">"P Jones
ai we are assured he did thTf P i

^°°^ ''^""^ s.ispected—
Ws the man Twhom J7wol '^osTwT TT'"^ *'™' J'"'^''

himself, and in whose faithS1^ k '"??';" '"'^^ unlwsome,!

disburthened the per lous stuff tr..
^'1°;!,'"^ ''*'*' """t ««^rfv

Jones, as weU asSer wa! 1 mJ"'^.'''*^
"P"°

i"" "^ ^•'••

«on^of '^^iz'^iirj^^^
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Utter. Ii it conceivable that, if Palmer meant to alav Cook AM>i«ut
with poiaon in the dead of the night, he would have previoualy >••
ensured the pretence in hia victim's chamber of a medical wit-
neea, who would know from his frightful aymptonu that the
man wai not dying a natural death t lie bringa a medical
man into the room, and makes him lie within a few inches of
the sick man's bed, that he may be startled by his terrific
shrieks, and gaie upon those agonising convulsions which indi-
cate the faUl potency of poison I Can you believe itt He
might have despatched him by means that would have defied
detection, for Cook was taking morphia medicinally, and a grain
or two more would have silently thrown him into an eternal sleep

;

but instead of doing so, he sends to Lutterworth for Jones. You
have been told that tuis was done to cover appearances. Done
to cover appearances 1 No, no, no I You cannot believe it

—

it is not in human nature—it cannot be true—you cannot find
him guilty—you dare not find him guilty on the supposition of
ita truth—the country will not stand by you if you believe it

to be true—you will be impeached before the whole world if

jou say that it is true—I believe in my conscience that it is

false, because, consistently with the laws that govern human
nature, it cannot possibly be true.

Gentlemen, there are other facts to be adverted to before I
sit down to which it is necessary your attention sliould be drawn.
There was a great stir at the hotel at Hufjulcy after Mr. Jones
had returned from I/ondon with Mr. Stevens, the executor.
Mr. Stevens arrives at the inn with Mr. Jones, has been in con-
versation all the way down with Mr. JoneR, and has heani from
Ml. Jones all that Mr. Jones knows, and does not appear to
have had anything communicated to him by Mr. Jones which
could justify any suspicion on his part. Mr. Jones, when they
arrive at Rugeley, introduces him to Palmer, and Palmer at
once takes him up to the room of the dead man, and uncovorR
the body down to the thighs, and Mr. StevcnR looks at tJie

corpse and oces there are no convulsionR about the l)ody except
the clenching of the hands. He rccr there is no emnciation, no
signs ns he thinks of illness, and, wondering within himself,
says, " How can you have die<lt " or somethinpr to that effect;
" How grievous a thing it is that your younp life Rhould have
passed away! " I think hr said he did not look nn if he were
(lend. After seeing the corj)Me they went down to dinner,
and he askeil Palmer to dine with him. and JoneR.
and Mr. Bradford, the husband of Mr. Cook's sister.

He has not been called ; he could have told us if there was
anything suspicious in the conduct of Palmer, anything that
could justify such coiiduct on the part of Mr. Stevens. They
have their dinner, and when their dinner is over, see what takes
place. It is important you should know it, because I think
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pecuniary troubles and wrI tZr^f •^*** '°''°'^*' 1»™ >"

freely maintain h.^^^Si'^f'^^iij TJ^ "''"^^ W^ "'«^

a clear brow and the annLLrn.o /' *'^*'" "'•''^'a'Aed. with
learned .erjeant read a Son of thl ^ ,'"°*^«°t.'°a«- (The
between M^. Bte^.\TZl^ 'S^J.^^^^^'T^ P'^^^^

modic convulsion of the throat " wKi.K » \ ,
* *P*'-

he could not see his face bur;h«« " P«'*^«=tb' apparent;

of his throat. Who could inir ",' " •'P"«"'^'« convulsion

that f He cxDecU fh^f P^ "•
'"'"^'

.* testimony of guilt as

everything of STe^y kind thaTw^" •" ^ ^^'^^ *° ^~'^*^*«'

Coolf. an! b4au:e^he coul^not S^d Vtti^'* Se^"?>
J:a« tfof^:^"^Sir? n^^r^^^^^^

:?erse^s^--\c^it?i^^^^^^

to the room, ,t h not fair, it is not right under the drcumstances
Tnl ir"? '" "^"'.^ '" """'*' » case of momentous imporNance without any ass.Vnnble reason for his purloining the SSnlbook to fix It on him without any proof that he efer had it^nh.s hands, when nothing like a proper search was made for Huntil some time after Cook's death. I ask^d whether the

they were. It was not seen immediately after the death norwa« there any search made for it. nor wns^it sot „?de and take,care^of m the room, so that it could not have lien removSby Palmer with a guilty intention of purloining it LeHs ^on for a moment with this dialogu^the learned seriennt th^n

r/a't Zri/r"" %' ^-'"^r
«^etailed"[;the":Sl Hnnd at last after goading and irritating the man for all thi^

voTe' ino?-''^
^- '!"'' '^": .-*"'"? *" n,nke%^,planatio;s a^i pro!yoke mqi.ries into anvthing or cirrumstanre which if inquiredinto would at once have led to a discussion of matter"' in a
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fair and pnUeman-like manner, Stevens snubi him by asking s«n«aat
him whether he intends to be at the post-mortem ; and at last,

"*•
when he sajrs, " It is a matter of indiflference to me," goads the
poor man mto saying, " So it is to me." That is the only
word of irritation that Palmer—who kept his grouiu' during
the whole time and stood up to this man—that i^ the only wor3
of irritation that he used. Mr. Stevens speaki to him in a verv
warm manner, yet Pahner manifests the composure of a geutle'-
man, of a man of feeling and consideration to the father—as
he called himself—but the stepfather of the young man, and
that is to be turned into evidence of guilt.
There is another story made against him, that he was foun<l

searching m the pockets of Mr. Cook shortly after his death-
it is the most absurd suggestion on their own showing. Thi
facts were these. Mr. Jones, I think, told the servants to tell
Palmer to come into the room. I tftink that was it—^to tell
Palmer to go into the room : and then I think Mr. Jones told
another senant to follow him into the room. Elizabeth Mills
is the witness to that. She says, " I went in, and I saw
him looking about seeing if thtre was anything in one of the
coats, and he also looked under the bolster' of the bed, just as a
gentleman might be looking for a watch ; and he went on doing
so after I got into the room." It was quite clear she sus-
pected nothing, and I submit it is not fair that any suspicion
should attach to him on the subject.
One other circumstance there is on wliich reliance has been

placed
; and although it has been si id great reliance is not

intended to be placed upon it, I cannot tell what effect it will
produce on your minds. I am sure that when those who have
promoted this prosecution first undertook it they intended to
rely, as proof of damning guilt, on the manuscript extracts
about strychnia in these medical hooks. I think it will be
within your experience that in youth and early manhoo.1 the
best protection that a man can have for his honour and
integrity is the company and society of a wife wliom lie loven.
If you find a man in early youth attached to a virtuims young
woman, whom he loves with a sincere and heartfelt attachment,
depend upon it he is of a gentle nature, and little prone to deeds
of violence. They have put in these books to show that Palmer
had a knowledge of strychnia poison, and thev are the books
which he used when a student nttendinc lectures in London, as
must have been known to his deceased wife I find, in what
I am in a condition to prove to be her own handwriting, proof
positive that this was his student's book, and that he then and
long after loved that young woman in the way in which it is
God's will, under the 'sanction of His holv ordinance, young
men should love their wives. UU niairinire w.is a marriage of
affection

: I e lovwl her for herself and for her person ; he
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trembliS aaSW for I ^L ° ?T* °**^' *l»o *"*• with

^
'"MheirP'V^^^^ -i-"^ ''^^

d«ir.7jT5S.^"''r'j?''*"*' a moment to write to your

With bit i^t llp^:ueTm^H''**'^'°™> -^^ »™''
William."

' ® ™®' ***"•"* ^^^ie. your own

coSr'oft^c;"' ifwrno°v;r/''''* ?- ^^°«"^y «-»

^

it to you but th«t K^t^ ^^ ° "^ matruction. to read
wa. a^;'!;kS ?etlt' Z^^^^S'^Jr^^'l''' -"
from it what he wai when thf; °f'P«'^*°<>' ^ I "how you
deceased wife faiew Sm to "be^lJ .tY

^" ^«e»-what hi.

who loved a young wla^for h«° ^°l"^ \^ y°"°8 °>*°

doom. ^ I caU upon vou^ «"'''*'"'' ""'' ''™ ^""" "" *''^"'

Crown, if vou belike thJtJ^.,!'^' 5"''/ ^^"''*=* '«• *»>«

doubt upon the^fnt tt^ Tl^ ^
*"'* '' •^''" h«^e a

.you will deeply re^et ?nv xrTnf .? J^
"PPa/ent. and when

of the eaae ^^io,T:iiZ'':X/^^ .^^^^^^^^

The Court then adjourned.
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Eighth Day, aand May, 185&

The Court met at ten o'clock.

Eridence for the Defence.

ir.fjf- '?*i"V?,'""™^J examined by Mr. Gbov»-I am aT.RuMto,
FeUow of the College of Surgeont. Profewor of Surgery at the
Leeds School of Medicine, and a member of leveral foreign and
Enghah cjentifio aocietie.. I have been in practice between
twenty and thirty yeari. I have leen oases of both traumatic
and idiopathic tetanus. One of the four cases of idiopathic
tetanus I have seen did not commence with the symptoms of
lockjaw, nor did lockjaw occur suflBciently to prevent swaUow-mg during the whole period of iUness. 1 have been present
during the evidence given here as to the symptoms of Mr.
took. I had previously read the portions of the depositions
as to the scientific and medical part of the case. Judging from
the symptoms at described, and confining myself to the evidence
as to the scientific part of the case, my opinion is that Mr.
Look died from some convulsive disease. I found that upon
the difference of the symptoms described in the deposition
and on the evidence before the Court.
Lord Campbell—This is not satisfactory; we cannot ask

witnesses what faith they give to the evidence of the witnesses
as contrasted with the depositions. This witness's opinion
ought to be founded on the viva vote evidence of the witnesses
given durmg the trial.

Examination resumed—The previous stote of health of Mr.
took had some effect on my judgment.

State your own grounds in your own way nr that opinion?
—If I take the evidence which has occurred in Court—
By Lord Campbell—The evidence of the symptoms of John

^arsons Cook as stated by the witnessest—Not merely the
symptoms, but the general state of health.
But we have nothing to do with that. The witness should

give his opinion on the symptoms described, and then stato
What influences tfte other facts mav have had on his mind.
By Mr. Skbjka.nt Sheb—Do you remember the accounts that

were given of what was said or supfMjsed to be syphilitic sorest
Ihe ATroRNET-GBNERAL—But there was no such thing said.
Mr. Baron Aldkrson—Supposing a person had syphilitic

sores, what would you say thent That is the proper way of
putting it.

r J /

Lord Campbell— We must take it that medical men are not
to be substituted for the jury.
Mr Jdstice CnsswEU^-If I were to suggest a mode of meet-

ing the thing it would be this—let the gentleman describe

itfi
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T. NnMtar what h« anumM to be the state of the deceased's health at the
tune, then tiie Attornej-General may saj he is not justified in

assuming.
PJiamination resumed—^Will you do that having heard the

evidence!—I assume him to have been a man of very delicate

constitution ; that for a long period he felt himself to be ill,

for which he Lad been under medical treatment; that he had
suffered from syphilis; had disease of the lungs; had an old-

standing disease of the throat; led an irregular life; was
subject to mental excitement and depression ; that after death
traces were found \u hin body which show this to have been
the case ; there waP found an unusual appearance within the
stomach ; the throat was in an unnatural condition ; the back
of the tongue showed similar indications ; the lungs were in an
emphysematous condition, that is, the air cells dilated ; in the
lining of tlie aorta or large artery of the bcdy there was an un-
natural deposit ; and there was a very unusual appearance in the
membranes of the spinal marrow. These are the indications

which are unnatural in the post-mortem examination. I should
also state it is descrilied by one of the witnesses that there was
a loss of substance of the penis. The symptoms on the root
of Iho tongue and tho throat I ascribe to syphilitic inflamma-
tion of the throat. From these symptoms I have described
I should infer that his health had not l)een poo<l for lon~, and
that bis constitution was (Ulicnte. It was also stated that
his father and mother had died younjr, and that the brother
and Filter were both delicate. That being the state of health
of Mr. Cook, he would be liable to nervous irritation. Excite-
ment or depression might bring it on. Exposure to wet and
cold would have a greater effect than on a healthy person. It

18 a coT:<^ition of the constitution when a convulsive disease is

more likely to supervene.

VVliat would you infer from the fact, supposing it to have
occurred, that throe days before (leath he siidrlenly \\oke up
in the miiMlo of the ni^'ht in a stnte described as madness, for

two or three minutes? I undeistim-l rhat he had three attacks
on succeeding nights, each occ-urrinp about the same hour.
Would you draw any infeicnce from that rircumstancet—Yes,
that they were of a convulsive character, in the absence of

other causes to accotmt for it. Convulsive effects are extremely
variable in their foriiis and degrees of violonce. It is nut
possible to give a definite n !me to every convulsive attack.
There are «ome forms of violent convulsions, such as hysteria,
in which tht patient ret.iins liis consciousness. It is stated
that there are forms of convulsions, epileptic in their character,
in which tlie fuitient ret.iins his consciousness.
By TiOFtn CAMi-BBr.i,—Have you met with any!—No, not

during a fit.

tte
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But it ia during a state of fit wo are inquiring»—I have not. T HnnnaUr
liJiamination resuir.ed—I know by my reading as a medical

man that that does occur sometimes. The degree of conscioui-
noH m epilep«y varies very much; in some attacks the con-
sciousness IS altogether lost. Convulsive attacks are sometimet
accompanied by violent spasms and with rigidity of portions
of the body. Convulsions arising from a convulsive disease,
either from infancy or from other causes, but not exactly
tetanus, sometimes ussume something of the complexion of
tetanic aflfection. Such convulsions might arise from any
cause—worms in children, affections of the brain in adults,
hysteria, administration of chloroform to some f»er8ons. Indi-
gestible food will sometimos produce convulsions in adults. I
agree with Dr. Copland, whose book was referred to vesterday,
that these convulsions sometimes end immediately "in death.
Asphyxia is frequently the cause of death when a man dies in
one of these convulsions. I have seen convulsions of the ch.r-
acter I have descril)etl recurring at various intervals, sometimesm hours, in other cases days. The time also varies very much
when a patient, suffering from a violent paroxysm of such
convulsions, becomes easier; it may be hours or minutes.
When death takes place in the paroxysm of such convulsions it
sometimes happens in f.ost-mortem examinations that there
u no trace of organic disease in the body.
Have you known at all or frequentlv in persons, not further

advanced in years than the age of twenty-eight, granules
between the dura mater and the arachnoid f—They are not
common to any ape that T am nwaie of.
Do you know whether granules have been part of the svmp-

toms of tetamform convulsionsi—I have seen three prepara-
tions in St. Thomas's Hospital museum where granules are
found in the membranes of the spinal cord, in which paticnU
are Mid to have died of (.tanus. In order to ascertain with
satisfaction the nature an'^ probable extent of the injury of
such granules the spinal cord should !;o examine.! immediately
after death. Not the most remote medical judgment could be
for:aed if the examination was made two or three months after^ J

If an examination of the spinal cord is made so long
after death, if there had been a lar-o tumour or some similar
change, it might have been discovered ; but neither softening
nor induration of the minute structure of tlie u-rd could h",
detected. The minut« nervous structures change within i^-f
hours f iter death.

I have in the course of my exjierience had cases of traumatic
tetanus. It generally begins by an attack of the jaw. Ihave ha.l under my personal observation four cases of idio-
pathic tetanus. One of them was mv own child. In three
cases the symptoms commenced with iockjaw. In the fourth

M

I i



P i

Trial of William Palmer.

owe th« ijrmptoiu oommenoed in the body ; the power of

S^iln ^K^ * '^''.
T"'^''

• post-mortem e«min.tion of tWowomen who have diH f.om the poi«>n of .trychnia. In b«Th

raTbin^uY fri"^ r'-^'" ^' ' t-certained the death.

t^k^LTT*^ •trychnia. In one ca«, the poet-mortemt^k^place forty-two hour, after death, in tb- ather%«.e thirty

«..«\'
*'*'**" produced hi. report to the coroner on tfaoM two

a dose. One, mul-ile-aged man. took one-.ixth of a CTain ofrtrychnia. give^ ,n .olution. In a very few minute, the

Sr?!,""'"' '1"^ them«elve. by the want of power of con-troHinp the muscle, by twitching and rigidityV with »>mecramp, more violent in the leg. than any ^rt of the bodT
S 7" "^.'°*^ """^^^ ^''°"*- '' ^" »«' k .evere ca.e fn«x Lour, the .paam. entirely disappeared. They were inter-mittent in character, every two or three Kcond. at fir.t. Theother case wa. .imilar with one-twelffh of a grain

I have experimented on upwards of sixty animal^-doa.
cat., mice rat. gu.uea pig., rabbit., frop.. Lxd toad.. A^er

™i"n..'f«!"» ^^K°!
**"* P°'"°° *^* 'ymptoms appear from twominute, to thirty, more generaUy about live or .ix. Thesymptom, m their order are—a desire to b. quite still; hurried

breathing; slavering at the mouth when -iven at the mouth-
twitching of the ears; trembling of the muscles; inability U,walk; convulsion of all the muscles of the body; the jaw. gener-
al y being firmly closed during convulsions; these convulsion,
followed by a total want of power in the muwle., which, inthe last attacks, were thrown into violent spasms with a
galvanic-like shock running through them. Spasms come on if
the animo! is either touched or attempts to .-nove. These spasm,
occur at various periods. The animals die at various pei iods up
to three and a half hours. In every case before death the rigidity
ceases, and the muscles aie quite soft and powerless. ITie
longest intervals between the violent convulsion, in the animal,
to which .trychnia has been administered has been about half
an hour, but that is not common. After death the hearts of •

the animals have been invariably fuU on the right side, very
generally the left ventricle firmly contracted, and the blood
usuaUy dark and often fluid. There is no particular appear-
ance attached to the spine. I have attended to the evidence

n? hts
^y^P*"™' °^ **• Cook on the Monday and Tuewlay

By Lord Campbell—What do you assume the symptoms to
have be..n on the Satuniay night?—A state of great excitement
ir a less severe form; that Mr. Cwjk described himself to have
been very Ul.
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ExMniMtion rwumed-What •laef-In • cotiditJoo that heT.NMMtav

tbrougb tome doim in the strMt.

.J!!!.^;.*^'"''*-"*;^**'^*'**
iyinptoiai deMCTibed on tbew three

K . ^ ^ !L'° *^* ^'"''*' " '* yo"' «P'ni«n that they could™w ^'T^."?*'
'^y ^''* *~''°° «' strychnia l_They did notretemble what 1 have .een to foUow it. He had more power of

freely •**"owing and asking to be rubbed and moved, and agreater length of time occurred from the taking of the pill.suppoMd to contain .trjcbnia and the occurrence of thelymptom., much greater than any period that ha« occurred inmy experience.
"cu ui

Doet any observation occur to you on the screaminirf—The
screaming foreran the vomiting. I have never seen an animal
Tomit after taking strychnia, nor scream as an expression of
Toluntary exercise. Where there is so much spaam there is an
inability on the part of the patient to vomit. I have a case,
which IS related m the 10th volume of the Journal de
rharmaete, in which attempts were made to give emetics
without success.

* •"i^^vn

With reference to the post-mortem observations of animali
poisoned by strychnia, could you form any opinion on the
port-mortem examination of Mr. Cook whether he had been
under the influence of poi«onJ—They diflFer materially in the
particulars I have mentioned. The heart is stated to be empty
and contracted, the stote of the lungs not congested, the state
of the brain not congested.

In the case of the paroxysms of the animals what has been
the course of the subsiding of the paroxysm f—Gradual. I have
never known a case of a severe paroxysm return, and then a
long interval of complete repose for several hours. I haveknown it for half an hour.

I have experimented on the bodies of animals poisoned by
strychnia with a view of discovering the strychnia poison from
a few hours up to the forty-third day, the body being perfectly
putrid in the latter case. In no one case have I failed to discover
the poison.

Suppose a person to have died under the immediate effects
of strychnia poison, in the first paroxysm after its administra-
tion, and his stomach to have been taken out and put into a.
jar on the sixth day after death, in your opinion must strychnia
bave been found in the body on proper chemical analysis J—If
It were there.

Adverting to the stetement about the stomach being put in
a jar, brought up to London, and then immediately submitted
to examination, m your judgment was that in an unfavourable
or favourable condition for ascertaining whether the strychnia

i6s
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rnvf?'*'®^"'* T.""'**
«'''* " ""^® °»«^« trouble; I do not see

IwJ ^ ^^-
/' '^ r* '?y ''P'"'^" t^'^* the analysis may be

ttll u""! *=°°fT*l^y *,^" ""*^°<=« •» tl^« stomach of anyother substance which would produce the same colours
bupposing death to have been caused by a dose of strychnia

poison sufficient, but not more than sufficient, to destroy tieammal. in your judgment would it be so decomposed by the

fi^'l
absorption as that you would not be ablo to detect

It by those tests in any portion of the system?—No

hi.vJi?'".
CAMPBELL-lt is a question on which toxicologistshave entertained a different opinion?-! believe they have

oi^t^Tl^^l'''''u,^T^^~^^^^ y°" ^'"^'^ ^^^ question suffi-

Z. ^f^ t
*"^ *.° '*^*^ '"'''°°« ^^•- tJ^'^king the minimum

dose, after having done its work, continues in the system ?-Ibelieve the illustration given was that as food undergoes achange on being taken into the body, these substances atso do

of ?oL T S^»'^«*^'—Itjias been said that the decomposition

riw. J" 'f"''r^-^'r-^*h*«- I believe not. The change

ar« ^f f i? •"'^.""uF
^ig««ti°°. consequently these elementeare not found m the blood, or. if the change does not takeplace there, they remain unchanged in the blood. Thesealkaloids are absorbed without digestion, and may be obtain^unchanged from the blood. ^ ooiainea

Cross-examined by the ATTOHNBT-GE>fBiiAi.—About half of theexperiments on the sixty animals I spoke of were made in co„junction with Mr. Morley, the gentleman who was called forthe prosecution. A few of these experiments were made inconnection with this case, but the great bulk certainly not

inJeTl ThlT ."J
^-h^* '"^y.be material, the general dose

Trn^LJ ^-
"?*l

''"'^ ^'^'" '"^ *h« experiments has beenfrom half a gram to two grains. I have seen a cat and a dog diefrom half a gram not always. There are varying degrees SBusceptibility both in animals of different species and inindividuals of the same species.
You say that the symptoms generally appear in from twoto hirty minutes; Mr. Morley states t/o minutes to aThoS

will you undertake to say there have not been cases in whSthe first appearances have been delayed an hour?—I do

r«rS!r.r"i"°*
'^"o^n. instances in which you have had to

IXtn ! uT °^P°'«>"V'^Vhen the dose has not been
sufficient to kill, bu to produce symptoms, there is a wide
difference. I have given it three times. The quantity I gave

to kS? ! ^u "I- ^^^K'""
*^" '""^ ''""'^ ^^"^^l be a small dose

!nri w^^K 1'°"^ K *'
"^ '"?"" "^"^^'^ ^^"'" «"ffi«e ^^ the fluidform. vVhere the half-gram dose has been given three timesthe reason was that the cat did not swallow the doses

..TiU^l^t^^ symptoms you have described to us, canyou tell mo whether the result of your observations is that
i66



Evidence for Defence.

these symptoms occur uniformly, or at uniform periods of T. lliuiBAlay

time, or whether they vary occasionally?—^They certainly do
not occur at uniform periods of time. I have not observed
considerable variation in the order, but I have in the time.
When the convulsions have once set in have you found con-

siderable difference as to the periods at which they take placet
—Some difference, with greater or less intervals.

Have you also found that one animjil will have a succession

of attacks before it dies, and another will die after a much less

amount of convulsion?—^Yes. An animal seldom dies after one
convulsion, generally four or five, and often a great many
more. I have known one or two instances in which the animals
have died after one convulsion.

From a dose which in the same quantity has not produced
the same effect in other instances?—^Yes.

Does the order in which the muscles of the body are couvulaed
vary also?—To some extent it does. The convulsions are gener-

ally simultaneous in the muscles of the trunk and those of the
extremities. I think the limbs are generally affected first j

they may be simultaneous; but tlie limbs are more easily

observed.

Have you known any instance in which rigidity greater than
is due to the ordinary rigor-morti.s has occurred after death?

—

I do not think there is any difference. I have known instances

in which they were very rigid, but I have known instances in

which tlie muscles were flaccid. I may state I do not think
there is any peculiar rigidity produced by strychnia.

With regard to the lady whose case we do not name, was it

not the fact that, although the muscles of the body were flexible,

the hands w.-re curved and the feet arched and muscles con-
tracted?—Not more than is usual from ordinary causes. I

have said the hands were curved and the feet arched by muscular
contraction.

Do you mean to say that when you spoke of the feet being
decidedly arched that you meant no more than is due to the

ordinary rigidity of death?—I do; that is what I mean by
muscular contraction.

Do you mean to say that when you signed this, " The hands
were incurved and the feet decidedly arched by muscular con-

traction," you meant no more than is due to the ordinary
rigidity of death?—I do, and stated so at the time, not in the
report I have signed, but in conversation with the parties

engaged.

You made a report which did not include the whole?—It is

stated in the former part of the report that the other muscles of

the body were so; that there was a distinction between the
two portions of the body—a statement of fact, but nothing
more.

i«7
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T. IlBii]i«l«y

i

Mr. Morlev itatod here the other day that in the eiperimenta
he made with you on animala killed with the poison, that after
death there was an interval of flacoidity, after this rijriditv
commenced, more than if it had been occasioned by the usua'l
ngor-mortis; you do not agree with him as to the statement of
tne lactl—I do not; it is a difference of opinion entirely

•J*"-i*^X°" generally found the heart full?—Yes, the
nght side. The fact of the heart having been found empty in
this case, amongst other things, leads me to the conclusion that
It was not a death by strychnia poison.

Did you hear the evidence given here the other day of the
post-mortemt—I did. I also heard this stated, " that the heart
was contracted and empty.'' I believe I was in Court when the
gentleman who conducted it gave his evidence of the post-
mortem examination of Mrs. Smyth, who died from the
unfortunate administration of strychr a.

In those two cases does the fact of the heart having been
found empty exercise any influence on your judgment ?—Not
unless I know how the post-mortem was made. If the postr
mortem was commenced in the head, the explanation is given
by Mr. MoJey and myself in the case at Leeds. We had no
doubt of the heart being full, the blood being fluid, but the head
being first opened, and the large vessels cut, the consequence
was that the blood by mere natural physical causes drains away

Are you aware how the postrmortem was made in this
particular case of Mr. Cook}—It is stated that the chest and
abdomen were opened before the head.
What effect would that have?—If there were blood in the

heart it ought to be there.
That would not make the difference. The head was not

opened there in the first instance?—No ; that is my explanation
of it.

'^

How do you account for the emptiness and contraction of
the heart in Mr. Cook's case?—The heart, if empty, is usuaUy
contracted. I cannot account, from the appearance of the
body after death, for the emptiness of the heart, any more than
It might be the usual effect of death. It vailjs very much,
but, as a general rule in post-mortem examinations, we find,
if the heart is empty, it is contracted.

If I understand you, the post-mortem appearance of Cook's
body, which you say differs materially from those you have
seen after death from strychnia, were the emptiness of the
heart, the state of the lungs, and the want of congestion in the
brain. What do you say as to the state of the lungp' The
lungs are described as not being congested.
Do you attach any importance to the emphysema?—It is of

two kinds. One consists in - dilatation of the cells, the other
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in a rupture by which the air, not being in the cells, paaaea t. NnniMUy
amongst them.

I suppose you say it was not from the rupture of the cells

heref—That I inferred from the description given.
Have you not found emphysema in the cases of the animals

that have died I—^Yes. It has always been from a rupture of
the cells. It could be in no other way.
What is there in the statement of witnesses which makes you

think there was emphysema of the other sort?—There was
during life a diseased condition of the lungs.

I am speaking of the appearance of the lungs after death t

—

I must put the whole together.

Would it not have been desirable to know whether this
emphysema was natural or whether it was from rupture? We
heard the witnesses here who made the post-mortem examina-
tion?—If the question had been put to them.
But you were advising my friends throughout, while Dr.

Harland was here, and you heard what he said. Did it occur
to you it was proper to ask him what was the nature of those ?

—

No, because I heard (which was sufficient to my mind) that
disease had existed. The question was put, as to the disease,
to Dr. Savage.

I am speaking of this emphysema ?—It did not occur to me.
You have told us the various symptoms about this gentleman,

fiop which you gather he was of a delicate constitution. To
which do you ascribe these convulsions of which he died?—Not
to any.

I understood you to say that the fact of his having syphilis
was an important ingredient in your mind?—^Yes, but you ask
for convulsions.

You have no doubt he died of convulsions ?—No.
You entered into a long detail ol the various ailments under

which this unfortunate man suffered, and you say that this
would predispose him to convulsions. 1 ask you which of
them?--The whole j the continuation of them.
Amongst others you mentioned excitement?—Yes, and de-

pression of spirits.

What evidence is there, on which you rely, of his being a
man subject to depression of spirits ?—It is stated by Mr. Jones
that he was subject to depression of spirits—mental depression.
There was a good deal of mental depression at Rujreley.
Would you expect excitement to produce its eflects recently

in its existence, or after it was totally and entirely gone?—It
may induce that state of brain in which convulsions will follow
at some distance.

Did you find from the evidence that the brain was perfectly
healthy?—No, not perfectly healthy. Mr. Bamford said it

was not.

I
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T. MuuMlaf Do you mean, as against the reputed testimonv, and the
testimony here of Dr. Harland and Dr. Moncton, as weU as
Mr. Devonshire, to set up the testimony of that old gentleman,
Mr. Bamford J—The evidence stated at the inquast iUelf is putm the depositions.

Do you mean to say, in your opinion, that excitement, pro-
ducmg disease of the brain, would bring on these convulsionsJ—
I mean to say this, that ii the condition of the brain, and the
statement that has been made, I believe it to be quite probable
that convulsions might come on and destroy a person, ind leave
no trace behind.
Do you believe that this man died of apoplexy?—I do not.

You must bear in mind he had taken doses of morphia.
Do you ascribe his death to morphia?—No, except that it

would assist in the convulsive attack, and it would affect the
spinal marrow.

Brought about by the morphia?—No.
In your opinion was morphia right treatment or wrong?—

I

should think not very good in the state of excitement he wasm then.

Do you mean that there has been anything to show any
excitement at Rugeley?—You will not allow me to furnish an
answer. There was no excitement at Rugeley, but morphia,
when there is sicknesr, will sometimes disagree with a patient
when there is an irritable state of the brain.
The stomach was irritated, I will allow, but where is the evi-

dence that there was any excitement at Rugeley?—There is
none.

Then why was morphia a wrong treatment?—Because it is
after sickness, and there is evidence of there being an irritable
state of the brain From what he said himself, he must either
have been delirious on the Sunday night, or he must have had
some attack similar to what he had on the Monday night.
Do you mean the attack of the Sunday night was similar to

that on the Monday night?—Less intensity, but I think very
probably of the same character.

"iou do believe there were convulsions on the Sunday nieht
then ?—No, I do not.
He died of convulsions?-Yes, but I say of the same character.
Then you do believe he had convulsions?—To a certain

extent, but less in intensity. There was a great deal of mental
and bodily excitement.
On the Monday night?—I have stated to you that he was in

that condition which very often precedes convulsions.
Will you admit if a man so under the influence of morphia

and he is suddenly disturbed by a noise, it is likely to have a
depressing effect upon him?—I will; but there is no proof
of a noise.
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There is no proof, except his own statement, of any illness f T. Nunnatoy—^Precisely ; that is part of my opinion—that he did not state

what had occurred accurately.

Do you mean to say that he did not state tha'^ thing t—No;
that he was mistaken. That is one of the symptoms. I

believe the man to have been delirious then.
Now, be so good as to tell me what are the convulsions of

which you gave some statement to my friend which will produce
convulsions of a tetanic form ?—Any irritation will produce it.

Ending in death ?—It may end in death.
Will you tell me of any convulsions which you have known

end in death accompanied with what my friend culls tetanic
symptoms?—I have known them in children. I have never had
such a case in an adult.

Has your reading furnished you with any J—The general state-

ment of all writers is that such cases do occur.

J^ave you ever known or read of a case in which the patient

was conscious to the last?—No, I have not. I have seen it

stated so, but I have never met with it.

In epilepsy you have these tetanic symptoms?—Yes, but
before death consciousness is gone.

You have had considerable experience in idiopathic tetanus,

and some five or six, perhaps, of traumatic. (An extract from
the evidence of Mr. Jones was read.) I have rend to 70U the
description of Cook's symptoms as witnessed by Mr. Jones. I

ask you to point out any distinction between those symptoms and
the symptoms of tetanus?—Do you mean the one paroxysm or
the disease which is called tetanus?

I am speaking of the paroxysm of tetanus ?—It is very like.

By Lord Campbell -You say this is not tetanus at all?—It

is not. I never saw a case of tetanus in which the rigidity con-
tinued at the time of death and afterwards.

Cross-examination resume<j—I am asking yon as to symptoms
of the paroxysms. I unde. stand you to say the 8ym,.toms of

the paroxysms ore not distinguishable from ithose of tetanus?

—

Some of them are at the moment of death.
Give me any of them ?

By Lord Campbell—This is not tetanus, but. as far as they
go, they coincide with the symptoms of tetanus at the moment of
death?—^Yes.

Cross-examination resumed—Observe, you have hei'e conscious-
ness to the last. That before the man dies he says, " Turn
me over," and as soon as they turn him over he dies. Tell me
of any case you know of in which death has ensued from con-
vulsions, vhere the death was not from tetanus, in which the
patient was conscious?—I have already said I do not know of

such a case.

Let me call your attention to strychnia tetanus. Would you
call the symptoms tetanic?—They are called so very properly.
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T. Rnmalay

\i .

Do you agree with Sir Benjamin Brodie that while the
paroTyBms of tetanic convulsion. last there is no difference
between those which arise from strj-oLnia and those which arisefrom tetanus properly so caUed, but the difference is in the
course of theml-I think there is. I think that the hands are
less violently contracted and affected in ordinary tetanus, and
that the whole effect of the spasms is less in ordinary tetanus.
You would expect to find the hands more firmly and tifrhUy

closed in tetanus from strychnia than in ordinary tetanust—

I

think It IS so. There is another difference, tha in tetanus the
convulsions never entirely pass away.

..T?^^*'l°°* ?' **^® reasons Sir Benjamin Brodie irave for
distingmshmg the courset-In the case at Leeds it was theame.

I believe you felt perfectly prepared in that case, on the
description of the symptoms, to come to the determination that

Z KM "
T^**?

^'°" strychnial-I thought it possible and
probable. I did not come to a determined opinion. I expressed
an oP'i'on I did not say I had no doubt as to the cLse of
oeath. We had ascertained at that time that there was
strychnia.

After the opinion you expressed in that cate, u it possiblethat you can represent this case of Mr. Cook as one of idiopathic

nt'thlt
''^^^' """^ ^""^ ^"'^ °°* ^^''^ ^"" "^*****

.1 *r* ^^''^- '*
r'** ^° *^" ''^^^ *^** this may have beensomething arising from a syphilitic affection ?-Idiopathic ortraumatic tetanus was mentioned. I do not think it was a caseof tetanu- il any sense of the word.

frZ^fu""""' *^r ^'''*° ^^^ description. Because it differed

!Tvf:irrd7di;s" '"" ^^--^^^'^'^ •" *^« p''^^-^-

Repeat them once more?—The very sudden acquisition of the^nvul«ons after the first rousing of Mr. Jonesi his Tower o1

Did you not know that Mrs. Smyth begged to have waterthrown upon her. and talked throughout ^llt did no? J^
Are you judging of the one incidental case, and coming here

Se time.
"^ *^**'~' *^'°^ '* " *° «^«°»«''t.

Then let me add the element, that the lady continues to thelast conscious, and asks to have her legs stretched just Keshe died; does that shake your faitht—Yes
Do you not know in that case her last words were to turn

?s saSd'so
*' "* '°°'°'°*-

^
^"^ °°* ^"P"*« i*

«"
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Were there not here the premonitory symptMna ; the animali T. Hanntler
are affected about the jaws and the ears, and Mr. Cook has
stiffness in his neck, and asks to have it rubbed?—It is a
premonitory symptom.
Was it not a symptom of the convulsions, which are not

distinguishable from tetanust—I have said so. I have stated
here that I believe in cases of poison from strychnia it is first
developed in the legs and feet.

You have told us the animals began to feel twitching in the
ea.r8. This gentleman had, before the convulsions came on,
stiffness in the muscles of the neck and jaw, and begged to
have them rubbed 1—That might be if it were anything else.

I ask you now, is not the difficulty of breathing one of the
premonitory symptoms? He sat up in bed and complained of
feeling suffocated 1—Yes.
And felt a stiffness about the neck and asked to have it

rubbed, and, as far as we know, this was the case in all the
animals, though they could not ask to be rubbed. I ask you
what were thesr but premonitory symptoms?—In no one single
instance could the animal bear to be touched, and it evidently
was most painful to it to be touched. I know that Mrs. Smyth
asked to have her legs and arms straightened.

Let me ask you this, have you not often found that it was
prior to the occurrence of the paroxysm, and not after the
paroxysm?—No, I have seen a paroxysm brought on by it.

In all cases?—No, not in all cases. But in the other case,
for two hours before she died, when she could speak, she begged
them not to touch her.

Did she not ask to have her legs rubbed?—That was when
*'

'» attack was slight, not during the fatal attack.

'ter the paroxysms had set in, did she not request to be
--.<ed?—She did before the convulsions came on; she liked
ave her feet and legs rubbed.

Afterwards she could not bear it, because it caused a recur-
rence?—^Yes.

That was in consequence of the twitchings, was it not?—

I

think not. It is stated by all the witnesses she begged she
might not be touched.

But for that one thing, that the paroxysms came on so soon
after the first premonitory symptom, is there one single point
in which this differs from strychnia tetanus?—^The power of
swallowing so lately.

On what does it depend, the inability to swallow ?—From the
inability to move the jaw.

I ask you whether it is not a fact that, unlike as in natural
tetanus, in tetanus from strychnia lockjaw is not the last

symptom, and very often never sets in at all?—I have never
seen an instance in which it does not make its appearance.

!"•
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T.MuBKOlajr Is it the laatt—I do not deny that it may be.
At what stage did it come on in the Leeds caset—^Very early,

more than two hours before death.
How long did the paroxysms continue before death took

placet—^Two hours and a half.

That was iu a case in which very large doses of strychnia
were administered 1—We supposed four or five times repeatedly.

In the case of Leeds there were four animals killed afterwards
from the contents of the stomach?—There were.
You state that you have succeeded in every case where you

have tried in your experiments in finding the strychnia T—^Yes.

Did not Mr. Morley differ from you in two cases?—In one
he did. We divided the poison which we found in the stomach
into two portions, and we adopted two different processes for
extracting it, and by the one process we were both rather
doubtful, but by the other we produced it.

Now, you thought you found it, and he thought you did
not?—Not that I recollect.

Do not you know that Mr. Morley has been rather doubtful
as to the results of these ex, L'rimenta;—No. Mr. Morley stated
differently in his own examination.

In his examination here?—Yes; if you 'efer to it, except in
one case, and that is the explanation I give of it.

Re-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shek—The Attorney-General
directed your attention to your report on one of these cases
that the hands were rigid and tlie feet incurved. In reports
of this kind do you state only extraordinary appearances, or
ordinary appearances as well?—Ordinary appearances also.
It is a statement of a fact without anything more.

W. Hepepath jjr. William Herepath, examined by Mr. Grove—I am Pro-
fessor of Chemistry and Tosicologist at the Bristol Medical
School. I have been occupied in chemistry forty years and in
toxicology probably thirty. I have experimented on the poison
of strychnia. I have examined the contents of the stomach of
a patient who died from strychnia. I discovered the strychnia
in the contents of the stomach three days after death. I have
experimented upon eight, nine, or ten animals. In the case
of a cat, to which I gave one grain of strychnia in solid form,
I could not get the animal to take it voluntarily, and I left it

in meat at night. I found the animal dead next morning.
The body was dreadfully contorted—extremely rigid, the fore
limbs extended, the head turned round to the side, the eyes
protruding and staring, the iris expanded so as to be almost
invisible. I found in the urine which had been ejected strychnia,
and also in the stomach. I gave the same quantity of strychnia
to another cat. It remained very quiet for fifteen or sixteen
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minutes, with but few BjinptomB until thirty-five minutefe. It
merely r«emed a little restless with its eyes, the breathing a
little quickened, and at thirty-five minutes it had a terrible
pasm, the four extremities and the head being drawn topether.
I watched it for three hours more. After this it had a second
spasm. A frothing s !i-'a wag dripping from its mouth, and it

forcibly ejected its u.ine. It had another spasm a few minutes
after, when I thought the animal would die. It soon recovered
itself, and then remained quiet, with the exception of a
trembling all over. The slightest breath of air would affect it.

It continued in this state for some time longer. During this
three hours and a half, or nearly so, the animal was in a
peculiar state. Touching it appeared to electrify it all through,
even blowing upon it produced the same effect. Touching the
basket, the slightest thing that could affect the animal, pro-
duced a sort of electric jump. I left it then, thinking it would
recover, but in the morning I found it dead, in the same
indurated and contracted condition in which the former animal
was found. About thirty-six hours afterwards, by chemical
examination, I found strychnia in the urine, the stomach, and
upper intestines, in the liver, and in the blood of the heart.
In my search for strychnia I took extraordinary means to get
rid of the organic matter.

In all cases which you have seen where strychnia has been
taken has the examination been successful?—Not only strychnia,
but nux vomica, has been extracted. In one case the animal
had bjen bu.ietl two months. I have detected strychnia in cases
where it has been mixed purposely with putrid remains.
Are you of opinion, as a clitmist, that where strychnia has

beer en in a sutiicisnt dose to poison, it can be detected, and
ougb be detected?—Yes, up to the time the body is decom-
poset completely. Even where there is putrefaction—where the
body has become a dry powder. I am of opinion that strychnia
ought to have been detected if it had existed in the jar con-
taining the stomach, even in the state it then was.
Cross-examined by the Attornet-Gbneral—Until lately my

experiments for the purpose of finding strychnia ha ^e been
principally in the stomach. In two cases I found it in the
tissues of the animals. One was the second cat, the other a
dog to which I gave the large dose of one grain. Judging from
reports in newspapers, I have said in conversation that strychnia
had been given, and that "If it was there. Professor Taylor
ought to have f- r.d it."

Re-examined by Mr. Grove—What in the smallest quantity
you have detected in the "issues of the stomach?—I am satisfied
that you could discover the fifty-thotisandth part of a grain
that is unmixed with organic matter. I dissolved the tenth
pait of a grain in a gallon of water, that is 1 in 70,000. I can

«7S
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take the tenth part of a drop of the water and demonatrate the
pretence of itrychnia.

What is the imalleat portion of strychnia when miied with
organic matter jou can detect!—I took about an eighth part of

the liTer of a dog, and from that I had enough to make four

dirtinct experiment! with the four testi.

So that 70U experimented on a thirtj-tecond part of the liver t

—-Yee.

J.B.0.legwt Mr. JuuAN Edward Disbrowi Rouirb, examined by Mr. Grat
—I hbve been sixteen years Professor of Chemistry at St.

George's School of Medicine, in London. I made an experiment
with one dog with a view of extracting strychnia from the body.
I gave it two gra is of pure strychnia between two pieces of

meat. Three days after it was dead I removed the stomach
and its contents, and took some of the blood. I analysed the
blood ten days after its removal from the body, when it was
putrid, and found strychnia by the colour tests. About a
month or five weeks afterwards I analysed the stomach and its

contents, and strychnia was separated in a large quantity.

Having heard the evidence as to the stomach and its contents
in this case being put in a jar and sent to London, in my judg-
ment strychnia, if it had been administered, must have been
found in the contents of the stomach.

Cross-examined by the ArroBifiT-GiNXRAL—I have only made
one experiment with strychnia on this dog.
Do you think it would make any difference if the contents

were lost?—If theie were no contents spread over the intestines,

then that would make a difference. If they had been spilt and
shaken, then it would make no difference.

But, supposing they were not there)—There would be the
washingt of the stomach. If the stomach was sent me with
no contents, I would wash the stomach and proceed with that.

If you had tried on the tissues of the deceased's body I sup-
pose you would have bec:i able to ascertain whether there had
been any strychnia?—That is my opinion.

So that the time that has elapsed since Cook died would not
matter. If you had an opportunity to operate on it, you would
have found the strychnia?—^If it had been there, I feel satisfied

I should find i<

Lord CiiPBh.^—Do you mean then or now?—I do not see
that the time would prevent it.

B.Lathebr Dr. Henrt Lethebt, examined by Mr. Kbnbalt—I am a
Bachelor of Chemistry and Professor of Medicine in the London
Hospital ; also a medical officer of health to the city of London.
I have for a considerable time studied poisons. I lelieve in
every case of this kind tried in this Court during the last four-
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teen yean I have been engaged on behalt of the Crown. I h
have been present during the examination of the medical
witneuea at thii trial and heard them describe certain symptomn
attending the death of Mr. Cook. I have teen many deatha by
trychnia m tha lower anin-als. I have seen several cases of
nux vomica in the human subject, one of which was fatal. The
•ymptoms in the animals do not accord with i le symptome in
thu case. In the first place, I have never V wn such a long
mterval between the administration of the poi. > and the coming
on of the symptoms. The longest interv .ias been thrfl-
quarters of an hour, and then the poison was given in a form
not easy of solution, and when the stomach was full. I have
seen the symptoms begin in five minutes after the poison was
admimstered. A quarter of an hour would be the average.
AnoLher reason is tl •>. in all the animals I have seen, and the
human subject als... .^hen under strychnia, the system has
been so irritable that the very slightest excitement, as an effort
to move, a slight touch, u noise, or a breath of air, will set them
off in convulsions. I do not think it at all probable that a
person to whom a dose of >trychnia had been given could rise
out of bed and ring a bell violently. Any movement at all
would excite the nervous system, and there would be spasms.
It u not hkely a person in that state of nervous irritation could
bear to have his neck rubbed. Where poisoning bv strvchnia
does not end fatally, the paroxysm is succeeded by' other
paroxysms, which gradually bhade themselves oP. They gener-
ally become less and less, over a period of some hours. My
experience agrees with Dr. Christison. hat it would t c er a
period of sixteen or eighteen hours beto, a the man

j, better.
I do not hesitate to say that strychnia is of aM poisoD e most
easy of detection. I have detected it in th- st-uiach. in the
blood, and in the tissues of animals in n. xerous instancee.
The longest period after death that I havi Timined a body
has been one month. The ani ..ii was then ir a state of de-
composition, and I succeeded in -. .;ting very minute portions
of the strychnia. When the strychnia is pure it can be
detected m a very small portion of a part, at least the twentieth
part of a gram. When mixed up with other matter it is a
httle more difficult. I can detect the tenth part of a grain in
a pint of any liquid that you put before me, whether the liquid
was pure or putrefied.

You have succeeded in detecting it in animals which have been
kiUed a month, and were in a state of decomposition. What
IS the dose you have given them?—I gave the animal, a rabbit,
originally half a gram, whicli killed it, and I have the strychnia
here within a fraction of what I gave. I lost about a tenth
part of a grain in the course of the investiga* m.

Supposing a person had taken strychnia eight or ten days
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, Latkaby before, and that be died of strycbnia poison, should you be

able positively to say that you could detect itf—I do sa^ so

positively. I have never failed. In the post-mortem examina-

tions I have always found the right side of the heart full of

blood. The reason for that is that the death takes place by

the 6zing of the muscles of the chest in spasm. In my opinion

this is invariably so. At that time the blood is unable to pass

through the lungs, and the heart cannot relieve itself of the

blood that is flowing into it. It therefore becomes gorged. I

have also observed that the limgs are congested, filled with

blood.

Do you agree in the opinion of Dr. Taylor that where strych-

nia is administered as a sort of pill or bolus it kills from about

six to eleven minutes?—It may do so. I do not say it would

always. I agree with him that the jaws are spasmodically

cl ;sed, and also that the slightest noise reproduces another

convulsive paroxysm. I do not agree with Dr. Taylor that

the colouring tests for the discovery of strychnia are fallacious.

They always succeeded with me.
Dr. Taylor has given as a reason for the non-finding of the

strychnia that it is absorbed into the blood and becomes

changed ?—I agree with its absorption, but I do not agree with

its being changed.

Have you turned your attention to the theory that strychnia

is decomposed after the poisoning 7—I have examined the tissues

of the body and I have found it; and my opinion is that it is

not changed so as not to be discoverable.

Supposing the contents were put into a jar and jumbled up

with the intestines and a portion of the stomach, would that

prevent the discovery of strychnia 1—It would not.

Supposing that all the contents of the stomach were lost,

ought the mucous membrane, in the ordinary course of things,

to exhibit traces of stryclinia?—I think so.

I have also studied the poison of antimony.

Supposing a quantity of antimony were placed in some brandy

and water, and it was drunk off at a sudden gulp, would the

immediate effect of that be to bum the throat, or anything of

that kind?—No. Not in the form of tartar emetic.

Cross-examined by the Attornbt-Gbneral—I am neither a

member of the College of Physicians nor of the College of

Surgeons. I do not now carry on business in the medical line,

but have done so in general practice for not more than two

or three years. I have destroyed about fifty animals by
strychnia, some within the last two months. I have never

given more than a grain. In recent cases I have always

administered the poison in a solid form—sometimes made into

a pill with bread, and at other times put on the tongue of the

animal. In one case I gave it under very disadvantageous
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oiroumstances
; the dog had had a very hearty meal, and it H. Uttehr

was kneaded up into a hard mass with some bread, and it took
three-quarters of an hour before the action came on. There
was one other case which took about half an hour, but the
poison, half a grain, was not given in suflBcient quantity. We
gave it another dose, which acted in about ten minutes.

Dr. Nunneley describes the symptoms—first, a desire to be
still, then a difficulty in breathing, a slobbering of the mouth,
twitching of the ears, trembling of the muscles, and, after
that, convulsions; did you observe all these?—I cannot say all
of them in that order. There is an excitement manifested in
the animal, an indisposition to touch, and tremblinir on heiaa
touched.

* *

I am speaking of the symptoms before the convulsions. The
touching, did that occasion a tremulous action of the musolest—Yae, I have noticed that.
Have they come on in regular order?-No, I think not.

There are some little variations.
After the convulsions have once commenced, is there an

interval?—Yes. A breath, a sound, or a touch will cause a
recurrence of the convulsive symptoms after they have been
seized. This does not apply where the animal dies in the firat
paroxysm, and I have known many cases where an animal haa
80 died.

You mentioned a distinctive feature in this case of Cook.
You were surprised at his manifesting so much power as to be
able to Bit up in bed and ring the beU. Are you aware that
that was at the commencement, before anv of the convulsive
symptoms had set in?—Yes, I apprehend that was at the onset
or beginning of the paroxysm.
Do you know that he sat up in bed and rang the bell, and

It was not till Palmer had been and had gone back and brought
the pills that the convulsions came on?—Yes, I do; and I have
noticed in animals that the mere touch sends them into con-
vulsions, and they show an indisposition to move.

In the case of the lady who died near Romsey, did you hear
what the maid eaid, that she discovered, when her mistress'
bell rang violently, that she had got out of bed and was sitting
on the floor?—It struck me as inconsistent with what I have
*«en- I l»ave no doubt that was a death from strvchnia.

If that evidence be true, and it is a fact that she got up and
rang her bell, does not that shake your faith?—No. it doea
not. You must compare it with what I have seen. Both are
irreconcilable with what I have seen.

Speaking of the Tuesday night, with the exception of the
rm^.ng of the bell, and lh.it in this case it was an fiour or an
hour and a half after the supposed administration of the poison
can you point to anything to distinguish the symptoms and
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ii til&abr death of Mr. Cook from d<^ath hj tetanus of strychnia t—^No,

I cannot. It is inconsistent with what I have seen, but it is

not inconsistent with what I have heard in the case of Mrs.

Smyth.
Is not one of the symptoms hard breathing?—It is a panting

respiration. It is excitement of the breathing rather than
difficulty. It is in the convulsions that there is a difficulty

of breathing. If a man were to breathe hardly it is a position

naturally assumed for him to sit up. Until the convulsion

of the muscles comes on there is nothing to prevent the

patient sitting up.

If I understand you, if I except the delay and the fact of his

sitting up in bed and crying for help on the Tuesday, is there

anything to distinguish the convukions under which this man
suffered and died from the convulsions oi tetanus of strychnia t

—It is not perfectly consistent with strychnia, because I say

that the account which is given of Mrs. Smyth is what I cannot

reconcile with what I have before observed.

With regard to the .abrupt termination instead of the gradual

subsidence?—1 have observed the gradual subsidence in man
as well as in animals.

In the case of the man—what dose hnd he taken?—Nearly a

grain and a half.

This is a strongish dose?—Yes.

You might expect a recurrence of the paroxysm?—Certainly.

The subsidence will not depend on the strength of the dose; it

will depend on whether the individual is to recover or not. I

have seen four or five instances of recoveries.

Is it not generally known that the effect of strychnia is very

varied in different individuals?—No, I do not think so. There

would be a little variation in time, but in the main features of

the case there is no vari.i*' >n.

Do not you find this di ence, that from the same dose in

the same species you get ..o paroxysm, or you get a series of

paroxysms ending in death?—Yes, that is true; but the attacks

are the same for all that. The symptoms are the same.

What do you say about the Sunday night fit?—I was dis-

posed to think it was a fit. I cannot tell you what it was;

I have formed no opinion.

What do you ascribe Mr. Cook's death to? -It is irreconcil-

able with everything I am acquainted with.

By Lord Campbbll—Is it reconcilable with any known disease

which you have ever seen or heard of?—No, my lord.

Re-examined by Mr. Sekjeant Shee—Do vou mean to say it

could not be the result of any variety of convulsions, however

violent, though not classeti under a particular description of

convulsion?—We are learning new facts every day, and I do

not conceive it to be impossible that some peculiarity of the
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•pinal cord, unrecognisable eicept the examination be made H.mimediately after death, may produce symptoms like thesTWhen you say It is irreconcUable with anything you haveheard of, do you mclude anything you have heard of strychniapoison as well as anything else?—Certainly I do.
Is the vomiting of the pills just before death inconsistent

with what you lave known and observed of strychnia poison I—It IS not consistent with anything I have observed

;. T^''^
''•°" ««''''^ai„ed whether, if you touch an animal which

18 beginning those minor premonitory sympto-ns, but which as
ye^J&as had no paroxysms, tliis brings the paroxysms onl

Was not the Romsey case exceptional from the manner inWhich the strychnia was administered and the quantity of the

r^!^ ^ '' *'"^- '* '^ *1"'*® consistent with all I am sayine
that the ringing of the bell by the lady the moment she fek
anything of uneasiness would produce the paroxysm which
ultimately wa^ observed. In ray judgment, it is not safe to
argue from the symptoms of a case in which the paroxysm
took place only a few moments after the ingestion of the poison,
and It was in a fluid state, to what may be the probabUities inanother case.

•> r •"

Mr. Robert Edward Gat, examined by Mr. Serjeant Sheb—I R.F.Oayam a member of the Royal College of Surgeons. In 1855 I
attended a person named Foster suffering under tetanus. Hehad an inflammatory sore throat, muscular pains in the neck
and the upper portion of the spinal vertebrae. He was feverish
and had the usual symptoms attending catana. On about
the fourth day the muscular pains extended to the face A
difficulty of swallowing came on the pains in the muscles
covering the spinal vertebrae and in those of the lower jaw
increased. In the evening of that day the jaw became com-
pletely locked; the pain came on in the muscles of the bowels
the same m the legs and the arms. He became very much
convulsed throughout the entire muscular system. He had
frequent and violent convulsions of the arms and hands, and
afterwards of the legs. The difficulty of swallowing increased
up to the ninth or tenth day. Not a particle of food, either
solid or liquid, could be taken or introduced to the mouth. An
attempt to swallow the smallest portion brought on the most
violent convulsions. The convulsions were so strong through-
out the whole sys^tm that I could compare him to nothinemore than a piece of warped board in shape. The head wasarawn back, the abdomen was forced forward, and the legswere frequently drawn upwards and backwards. The attempt
Of feeding with the spoon, the opening of the window, or
placing the fingers on the pulse frequently brought on violent
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. I. G«y oonvulsions. He complained of great hunger. He was able

to >pe&k. He repeatedly cried out he was very hungry, what
would he do if he could not eat) and he was kept alive till the

fourteenth day by injections of a nutritive character. He
screamed during these convulsions, and the noises he made
were more like those of a dying man. About the twelfth day

he became insensible. The convulsions, although very weak,

continued till the fourteenth day, when he died. He was by
business an omnibus conductor. He had been ill some few

days—it might be a week. He had no other hurt or injury

to his person of any kind which would account for these

symptoms. His body was not examined after death.

By Lord Campbell—What do you call the di-seasel—I call it

inflammatory sore throat from cold and exposure to the weather.

The symptoms became tetanic in consequence of an extremely

nervous and anxious disposition. He had a very large family,

and was a very hard-working man. I did not hear the

evidence of the witnesses who described the symptoms of Mr.

Cook.
Cross-examined by the ArroBXET-GKNBRAL—That is what you

call idiopathic tetanus?—Yes, decidedly so. I have had a

van? number of cases of inflammatory sore throats and a great

many anxious, nervous patients That is the only case I have
ever seen of idiopathic tetanus.

If I rightly apprehend your history of the symptoms, the

disease was altogether progressive in its character, and,

although there was an occasional cessation of the more painful

symptoms, there never was a full cessation of the symptoms)

—

He was not suffering from tetanic afVi'ction. There was a twitch-

ing of the muscles going on, but there was not that violent con-

vulsion. The lockjaw was the first of the more aggravated

symptoms that presented itself, the muscular spasms about the

trunk of the body progressing onwards to the extremities. He
was conscious till the tenth day, when insensibility supervened

while the convulsions were upon him. I consider the brain

had been affected and conges.ion had taken place, and that

produced insensibility.

After that —as there some diminution in the severity of the

convulsions?—Very great diminution, but they still continued.

Would that be likely to take place from the constant recur-

rence of the convulsions?—From the constant recurrence of the

convulsions the brain would be congested.

You would expect to find a difference in that respect in a

case where a man died very early in such a disease, and where
it was spread over a longer period?—That would depend greatly

on the violence of the convulsions.

By Loud Campbkll—And the repetition?—And the repetition.
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Ninth Day, Friday, 23rd May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

Mr. John Brown Roas, examined by Mr. Grovb—I am hou«e •»••'«
Burgeon to the London Hospital. On 22nd M. eh a labourer,
aged thirty-seven, was brought to the hospital about half-past
seven m the evening. He had had one parosvsm in the receiv-
ing room of our hospital before I saw him.

' He had a rapid
but feeble pulse, breathing quickly though not laboriously. The
jaws were closed and fixed, there vas an expression of anxiety
about the countenance, and the features were sunken. He was
unable to swallow, the muscles of the abdomen and back were
somewhat tense. Aftrr he had been in the ward about ten
minutes he had another paroxysm and opisthotonos, which
lasted about one minute. He was then quiet'for a few minutes;
le had then another, and died. He had only been in the
hospital about half an hour. An inquest was held on the body,
but no poison was found. I attribute the cause of death to
etanus. There were three wounds, two on the back of the
light elbow, about the size of a shilling each, and one on the
le.'t elbow, aboo*, the size of a sixpence. The man told me he
haa had the-n about twelve or sixteen years. They were old,
ohronic, indurated ulcers, circular in outline, the edges
thickened round, undermined, and covered with a dirty white
coating without any granulations. I am unable to say what
prod ced those ulcers. I have seen old, chronic syphilitic
wounds in the legs similar to those in the elbow, but I cannot
say that these were so, These wounds were the only thingf
to account for tetanus. There was no other .lanse found.

Cross-examined by the Attornbt-Genkiul,—I learned from
the man's wife that a linseed meal poultice had been applied
to this ulcer a day or two before. The jaws were completely
fixed when he came, so as to render him incapable of swallowing
anything. He s..id he had just been taken with strange
symptoms about the jaws at dinner that morning about eleven
o'clock. He was able to speak, though he could not open his
jaw. That is the case in tetanus.
Were there also symptoms of rigidity when he was brought

in about the abdominal and lumbar muscles; did you learn
from him how long this rigidity had been coming 'ont—Not
further than that th' first symptoms of the illness he had felt
were that morning. He did not say how long he had felt this
rigidity about the neck. He was seen by the parish surgeon
in the afternoon before coming to tb-^ hospital. I have no doubt
that the disease had been coming on from the morning.
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XB.IOW

F. T -ichUon

Thou^ you oannot speak as to the precise character of these
sores, were they ugly sorest—Yes; sores of a chronic character
^—ulcers. The two on the right elbow were perfectly running
into one another. A piece of integument connected tho two,
so th: it they would be likely to run into one another jveiuaally.
By saying that those sores were undermined I mean that the
wounds continued under the skin. There were no signs of
healing, and they had the appearance of old, neglected sores.
Were they near the site of ai.y particular nervet—They were

near the ulnar nerve, a very leusitive nerve connected with
what we call the " funny bone."
How soon was he seized with the first paroxysm after he came

'D*—He had one directly he came into the hospital, but I did
not see it. Ha?f an hour from that time he died.
Had he had any paroxysms before he came to the hospital I

—

I believe he had, all the afternoon.
That was not one continuous paroxysm t—No; there was a

twitehing of the muscles of the legs and arms.
What are the particular symptoms of the case to which you

refer as indicative of death from tetanus ?—From the tetanic
symptoms and from having wounds.

Put aside for the moment the fact of his having the wounds
that would lead to th»t inference; what were the symptoms that
mamfested themselves previous to, or concomitantly with, death
which you would call tetanic»—The tetanic symptoms there
are the lockjaw and the muscles of the abdomen and the back
also being rigid; and he complained of pain in his stomach, just
over the stomach. I did not hear the account riven of the
symptoms of Mr. Cook's death.

Re-examined by Mr. Grovh—Strychnia was suspected in this
case before the body was examined. The nerves of the tongue
are very delicate ones. There are very delicate nerves at the
throat and fauces.

Were you here yesterday ^-hen a case was described of an
injury in the throat—a sore throat that caused tetanus?—I was
Are you of opinion that an irritation of the nerves of the

thrcit would cause tetanus as well as the other nervesI—That
"^

m'^'^j"*'®*^ ^^ exposure to cold; it was therefore idiopatUc.
Would any injury to any delicate nerves be a cause of tetanus f—Decidedly.

Dr. FiUNcia Wriohtson, examined by Mr. Kbnbalt—I was
a pupil of Liebig. I am an analytical chemist and teacher of
chemistry at the School of Chemistry at Birmingham. I have
studied and made experiments in various poisons, including
trychma. I have not found any extraordinary difficulties in
the detection of strychnia. It is detected by the usual tests.
I Have detscted strychnia pure, and I have also discovered it
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when mixed with impurity, such aa bile, bilious matter from F.

putrefying blood, after having separated it from the impurities.
Strychnia can be discovered in the tissues. I have discovered
it in the viscera of a cat poisoned by strychnia, also in the blood
of a dog poisoned by strychnia, also in the urine of another
dog poisoned by strychnia. 1 have heard the theory pio-
pounded by Dr. Taylor aa to the decomposition of strychnia by
the act of poisoning.

Are you of opinion strychnia undergoei deconviosition in the
act of poisoning?—I am of opinion that it does not. If it we'^e
decomposed in the act of poisoning I should say it would tot
be possible to discover it in the tissues Portions of strychnia
can be discovered in extremely minute quantities indeed. In
the first case I mentioned of the dete- ion of strychnia in the
blood, 2 .'Trains were given to the dog. One grain was given
to the second dog, in which we detected it in the urine. Half
a grain was attempted to be administered to the cat, but a
considerable portion of it was spilt.

Assuming that a man was poisoned by strychnia, and that
his stomach and a portion of his t'ssues were sent within eight,
or nine, or ten days after death for analytical examination, do
you say you could discover the poison of strychnia in his
remains?—I .should have no doubt whatever in saving so.
Cr(>SB-examine<l by the Attoknbt-Ge-nerai,—Supp"osc the whole

of this poison to be absorbed, where would you esT ct to find
it?—In the blood.

In its progress to it. final Icstination, the destruction of life,
does it pass from the b'ood, or is it left by the blood in the
solid tissues of the br • before it produces that effect?—

I

cannot tell.

If it has passed from the stomach by absorption in the blood,
the whole dose, into the circulation, do you say yor would
still expect to find any of it ?—Decidedlj so, because I believe
it exists as stiychnia in the blood.
Do you say you v.ould still expect to find any of it in the

stomach?—In order to be absorbed it must be dissolved, and
in that portion of the fluid which surrounds the coats of the
stomach I should ixpect to find it.

Suppose the whole to be absorbed?—Then I should not detect
it.

Suppose the whole of it has been eliminated from the Wood
and passed from the system?—Certainly not.
Lord Campbell—You would expect to find it elsewhere, notm the stomach?—Yes. I would expect to find it in the blood

and in the tissues.

Cross-esamj'-atiou resumed—My question only supposes the
mmimum of v .a dose that will destroy life to have been given;
and, supposing that to have been absorbed into the circulation,
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F.WplchUoB and there deposited in the tiuuei, or part of it eliminated by
the action of the kidneys, would you know where to seard for
itt—I should search for it both in the blood and in the tisaaes,
and in the ejecta of the kidneys; and from my ezperimenta I
should expect to tind it in each of them, in case the ur'ne was
not ejected during the time of poisoning.

Re-examined by Mr. Sbrjbant Shee—If a man had been killed
by strychnia, administered an hour and a half before he died,
the poison would certainly be detected in the stomach in the
first instance.

Supposing it to have been administered in the shape of pills,
would it by that time have been all absorbed and circulated
in the system so as to get out of the stomach?—I cannot tell.

If it were so I would find it in the blood, the liver, and the
spleen.

Could you form an opinion whether it could be detected under
these circumstances on the coats of the stomach 1—Not knowing
the dose administered and the powers of absorption, I cannot
say with absolute certain; would be detected, but I should
think it in the highest degree probable if a moderate dose had
been administered.

Could you form any opinion from the fact that death had
taken place after one paroxysm, and in an hour and a half
after the ingestion of the poison, whether it was a considerable
or an inconsiderable dose i—I cannot give a decided opinion.

Loup Campbell—I cannot allow this gentleman to leave the
box without expressing my high approbation of the manner in
which he has given his evidence.

1. Partridge Mr. Richard Partiudob, examined by Mr. Grovb—I have been
for many years in practice as a surgeon, and am Professor of
Anatomy at King's College. I have heard the evidence as to
the symptoms of Mr. Cook and as to the post-mortem examina-
tion. In my opinion it is most important in a case of convulsion
that the spinal cord should be examined after death. The gritty
granules that were found would be likely to cause inflammation
of the arachnoid membrane, which would be discoverable if the
spinal cord had been examined shortly after death. If examined
nine weeks after it is not likely it would be discovered.
Although I have not seen such a case, there are cases on record
that such inflammation, if it existed, would be capable of
producing tetanifoim convulsions. The medical term for such
inflammation of the arachnoid is arachnitis, or inflammation of

the membrane. That disorder produces convulsions and death.
I should not say universally; sometimes it does not result in

death. I could not form any positive judgment as to the cause
of death in Mr. Cook's case. I have heard the evidence •! to

the state of contraction after death. No inference at all ;an
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be formed of the degree of contraction, or the kind of con- R.

traction, that I heard described. If I find the back curved
and the body resting on its back and feet after death, I should
infer that he died of that form of tetanus which convulses the

muscles of the back. Various degrees and varieties of rigidity

occur after a natural death. The clenching of the hands or

the semi-bending of the feet are not uncommon in cases of

ordinary death.

Cross-examined by the Attornbt-Gknbral—The granules

from which arachnitis might have proceeded were, I understand,

situated in the inner surface of the fibrous investment of the

cord. They are occasionally found in these parts; not com-
monly. They are signs. Aruchnitis, producing convulsiong,

has never come under my personal observation, nor has it

satisfactorily come under my observation without producing

convulsions. It is a very rare disease.

Are you enabled to state from the recorded cases the course

of the symptoms of the disease?—No.
Do not you know it to be a disease of considerable duration!

—The cases have varied in duration; commonly days at the

shortest. Arachnitis is accompanied with paralysis if they live.

Would it, considering the connection that there is between
the spinal cord and the brain, affect the brain by sympathy,

or otherwise, prior to death?—No.

In these cases, where granule., have produced arachnitis, do
you happen to know whether the granules have been consider-

able in point of size?—It has varied in different cases.

Suppose them to be very small and minute?—I should think

there would be less likelihood of their producing inflammation.

Suppose an examination at a longer interval than nine days

after death failed to detect the inflammation of the arachnoid,

that the spinal cord and its integuments had not undergone
any decomposition, and that the appearance was perfectly

healthy, should you be warranted in inferring there was inflam-

mation?—I should not conclude there was inflammation. Prior

to decomposition I should not.

The examination was made by four medical men ; are you of

opinion that they would be competent judges as to decomposi-

tion?—[The question was objected to.]

Docs arachnitis not sometimes extend to a matter of months,
even where it extends to death?—It might go on for months.

Does it sot affect the patient by a series of convulsions at

recurring intervals?—That varies.

Did you ever know, or hear of, or read of a case in which
the patient died after a single convulsion of arachnitis t—Not
a single one.

What would be the concomitant symptoms; would it affect

the rest of the patient or aflcct the general health ?—I cannot say.
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Do you beUeve that a man oould hare twenty-four hours of
•omplete repowf—No.

In the interval between the convulaiona could he be quitewelil—Wo; he would have pain and uneasineu according to
tbe utuation of the musclei convulsed, the back usually
You have heard the symptoms, and I presume you have heard

from the midnight of Monday till Tuesday Mr. Cook had
complete repose. I now ask you if, in the face of the Court
ana of the profession, you will undertake to say that Mr Cook's
death proceeded from arachnitis I—I should think not. The
majority of the symptoms do not show arachnitis.

lou have mentioned that there were one or two of the appear-
ances after death in Cook's case which would be common to
other cases, the semi-closing of the hand. Did you ever know
except in a case of tetanus, the hand so completclv clenched
as to require force to take the fingers away from the handt—
No, I do not.

Have you ever known the feet to be so dibtorted as to be
described by a medical man as assuming the form of a club
foot 7—A ever.

Did you hear the description given by Mr. Jones that when
this man died the body was bowed so that, if he had turned
It from Its side upon its back, it would have rested on its headand on its heels?—I did.
Have you any doubt that that indicates death from tetanus!—Not tiom some form of tetanic symptoms. I am onlv

acquainted by reading and hearsay with the symptoms thataccompany death from tetanus resulting from the adminutration
of strychnia.

From your knowledge of the subject, having attended to thesymptoms described by Mr. Jones from the moment the
paroxysm set in of which Mr. Cook died, and the symptoms
and appearan. es attending his death, does it appear that thesesymptoms are consistent with death bv strychnia f—Some are
consistent and some are inconsistent. The long interval which
occurred after the taking of the poison is inconsistent
What I am asking you is, whether these symptoms on theTuesday night, from the time the man was taken with the

paroxysms of convulsions of the muscles of the trunk, of the
legs, of the arms—the bending of the body into a bow—the
dithculty of respiration—are consistent with what you know
of death by strychnia?—Quite.
Do you agree" that the symptoms in tetanus come on gradu-

ally and progressive; thit. although they are inteniitted,
the disease is never wholly remitted?—I do.
What is the shortest period m which vou have ever known

the disease of traumatic tetanus run its course to death?—
Never under three or four days.
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Suppow a case could be deiciibed m of shorter duration, raoh 1.
aa a day or a few houri, would your medical experience lead
you to infer that the premonitory lymptoma had very likely
been neglected}—I ibould conHider that probable.

Bearing in mind the distinction between traumatic and idio-
pathic tetanua and a case such as has been here described, hare
you ever seen such a death as this was with the symptoms men-
tioned proceed from natural causes!—No.

Re-examined by Mr. Grote—Wliat are the other symptoma
which you consider inconsistent with strychnia t—The'sickneaa
manifested before the attack came on ; the beating of the bed
dothea with the arms, want of sensitiveness to external impres-
sion, and the sudden cessation of the convulsions, and apparent
complete recovery.

You mentioned previously the time that occurred between
the ingestion of the poison and the paroxvBm coming on. What
inference do you deduce from that 1—That it is inconsistent with
strychnia.

As to the mode in which it came on without premonitory
symptoms, do you consider that is inconsistent with strychnia!
—There was apparently un absence of the usual condition that
is described.

You stated that the bent form indicated some tetanifo n
symptom. Did that answer apply to natural tetaniform .is

well as to tetaniform convulsions caused by strychnia!—Vcs.
The bent form of the feet indicated tetanic spasm. That would
be the case whether it was a tetaniform spasm with poison or
without poison.

By LoRn Campbell—And the other symptoms of rigidity!

—

It is rather a question of degree.

They would be more violent if from poison!—No doubt.
You have stated in the cases of tetanus you have seen

there was no intermission. Do you know, from your reading,
that the intermission of the disease is a frequent thing!—

I

know it occurs, but it is not frequent.
As decomposition of the spine. Do you think it could

remain tor nine weeks undecomposed !—I do not.
Tlie Attobnet-Genbral—I have one question which I would

put (this gentleman spoke as to vomiting), whether, if the
stomach had been brought by any other cause into a state of
irritation, would he tliink those causes inconsistent!
Lord Campbell—I intended to put the question myself.
Wmrass—I should think it not inconsistent.

Mr. John Gat, examined by Mr. Grat—I am a Fellow of the John Oar
Royal College of Surgeons, and have been for eighteen years
a surgeon of the Royal Free Hospital. In the year 1843 I
had under my care in the hospital a case of tetanus in a boy
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•wr eight jean old. He waa brought in on the 28th of Julj.

The accident occurred a week before. I saw him on the 28th

of July. He could not o(«n hit mouth at that time. He
complained of great pain and Rtiffnesa about the neck. During

the firat three days I saw him he had unusually severe

paroxysms.
By Lord Campiiell—Durintr the first night of his admission

he 8tarte«l up convulsed, and spasmodically closed his jaw.

Diu-ing the followin<? night he was a good deal convulsed at

times. The ubdominal muscles, as well as the muscles of the

neck and back, had become rigid during the night. The

muscles of the face were also in a state of great contraction.

On the following day I found the muscles remained in the

same state. In the morning of that day, at two o'clock, on

visiting him I found there was much rigidity of the muscles,

especially those of the abdomen and lack. The following

morning the muscular rigidity had gone. He opened his

mouth as usual, and was able to talk. The lad appeared to

be thoroughly relieved. He had no return of the spasms till

the following day. At that time he asked the nurse to change

his linen, and she was lifting him up in bed to do o when

violent convulsions of the arms and face came on, and he di«^^

in a few minutes.

Examination resumed—About thirty hours elapsed trom the

time the convulsions of which he died came on and the last

precediiig' convulsions. The last paroxysm before he died

lasted a few minutes. Before it came on the rigidity which

I have described had been completely relieved. At the time

he was convulsed the nurse was lifting him up to put on his

linen.

By Lord Cahpbeli.—^The second day I gave him small doses

of tartar emetic to produce vomiting;, but without effect. I

repeated them in larger doses of 2 grains, but without effect.

I did not repeat the dose after the third day.

Cross-examined by the Attornet-Genbral—What was the

accident?—A large stone had fallen on the middle of the left

foot and had completely smashed it. The wound had become

very unhealthy. When I first saw it it had portions of bone

and cartilage adhering to the surface. I amputated the toe.

When the boy was brought in his mother said he could not

open his mouth so wide as usual. When I saw him his

mouth was almost closed up.

On 29th July he slept but little during the night, and during

sleep started up convulsed and spasmodically closed the jaw.

The jaw remained closed until the 1st of August. It was

closed when I administered tartar emetic to him. In all

these cases so trifling a remedy as the tartar emetic is easily

given.
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By Lord Campbkli,—The tongue leem* to retain iti powerit— JohnCtajr

Tei. The caie ia recorded in the Lancet.

Crou-examination rexunicd—After the 29th of July did the
convulBiona continue throughout the 3Ulh and part of the
31ttt—The convulsions came on during the night, and they
appear to have remitted during the day, except a muscular
rigidity. The tetunua did remain.
But were there uo spustms auiing the daytime t—I believe

not.

In the daytime, although there were no crnvuliiioni, were
the muscles of the body, of the chest, and of the abdominal
hack and neci: all rigid?—Yes. That continued throughout the
two days I administered tartar emetic. The rigidity of th«
muscles and of ilie htomuch ^Yould go far tc prevent sickness.

You have no doubt that your tartar emetic would have pro-
duced its effect but for the rigidity of the muscles 1—I suppose
it would have done so.

When did the symptoms begin to abate?—On the Int of

August, on the fourth day, and they gradually subsided. They
appeared to have subsided during the night. I 8aw the child
during the middle of the day, and I found that they had
subsided, and in fact had entirely gone off. I th aught he was
going to get well.

You told us the woman set him up in bed for the purpose
of changing his linen. Would thut in any wa^ have brought
the toe, that part that had been attacked, into any friction

with some parts of the bed?—It must have done so. But I

do not think the simple irritation of the toe at that part would
have any effect.

But there not having been, in your judgment, nervou- irrita-

tion set up from the original seat of the disease. .1 you
account in any way for the nervous or muscu'ir disease of
tetanus?—If the cause had not entirely gone the Bvmptoms
wore brought back by the act of sitting up in bed. My
impression is there must be some action about the spinal cord
as the immediate cause of the symptoms.

Action set up in the spinal cr-Hi by irritation of the nerves
in the immediate site of the laceration or wound?—Quite so.

May it not be reasonable to infer that any irritation of the
part originally injured, exciting or irritating the nerve or the
nei.es connected with the part, may support its action over
the whole system, and so produce convulsion?—I had removed
the end of the diseased part, so I cannot conceive that the
same cause could exist.

If you imagine you feel yourself ju.stified in saying that
the irritation of the spinal cord once set up continues, why
should you infer that the irritation of the nerve may not also
continue?—There must be some peculiar irritation of the
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•»r nerve to give rise to the affection of the spinal cord from which

tetanus arises. There appear to be some particular circum-

stances which produce it.

You have no doubt the state of the toe was the original cause

of the convulsions?—I have not.

And that death took place by something or other distinct

from the first cause?—^Yes.

Re-examined by Mr. Grat—I think you told my friend that,

with regard to the convulsions which end in death, you thought

they arose from some irritation set up in the spinal cordI—

I

did, from that and other causes.

May the causes of such irritation be very various in different

cases? May the cause of the irritation in the spinal cord which

would end in tetaniform be very various?—I think so.

Suppose in one you have a death accompanied with tetaniform

symptoms and opisthotonos, and the various symptoms of a

tetanic character ; in the absence of any knowledge of the case

—

of the cause you state, probably the irritation of the spinal

oord—do you think it is possible to ascribe thena to any

particular cause?—I think it would be extremely diflScult to

^0 so.

Will you give me the proposition you lay down?—In the

event of a given set of symptoms, tetanic symptoms I should

say, being proposed, it would be extremely diflScult, if not

impossible, without some other evidence, or collateral evidence,

to assign it to any given disease.

Lord Campbku.,—Or cause?—Or cause.

W. H'Donnell Dr. William M'Donnbli., examined by Mr. Kbnbalt—I am

a licentiate of the College of Surgeons of Edinburgh, and have

been in practice for about eight years. I have had practical

as well as theoretical knowledge of idiopathic and traumatic

tetanus. Tetanus will proceed from very slight causes. Almost

any internal disorder or alteration of the internal secretions

will produce idiopathic tetanus. Exposure to cold or damp

would produce it. Mental excitement would be a probable

cause.

By LoKD Campbeu.—Mental excitement would be the proxi-

mate cause of tetanus. The presence of gritty particles or

granules in any part connected with the nervous structure, m
either the spine or the brain, miglit produce tetanic convulsions.

I have seen small deposits or tubercles in the brain, the only

assignable cause for death terminating in convulsions.

Examination resumed—In addition to those slight causes, I

believe that tetanic convulsions arise from causes as yet quite

undiscoverable by science. I have had many post-mortem

examinations of patients who have died of tetanus, and no

trace of any disease whatever could be discovered beyond the
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M^f T^^ r.^f"*^ "" ~"^ °* *^° ^^'*^''' surrounding the W. H'Oon..*nervee Though tetanus la not easily discoverable, strychniau easily discoverable by scientific men. I had a case of idio-
pathic tetanus-a female, Catherine Watson. I was fortunate
enough to restore her, and she is here. (Dr. M'Donnell read
his notes of the case of Catherine Watson.) In her case lockjaw
set m about the middle of the attack. She was able to speak.
In acute Idiopathic tetanus, ending fatally, trismus is generally
a later symptom. I had a case of tetanus which -nded fatally
a man named Copeland. It must have been idiopathic, as therewas no external cause. Death took place in somewhat lessthan half an hour. I cannot say precisely. He was dead before
I could reach the house.
By Lord Campbbll—Do you know what the cause of the

disease was?—Yes. I examined the patient carefully, and made
inquiry as to the symptoms.

Examination resumed—I have made a number of experiments
on animals with reference to strychnia poison. I have found
the muscles of the brain highly congested, the sinuses gorged
with blood and in one case haemorrhage from the nSstrils.
That would indicate a very high state of congestion. I have
found extravasation of the blood in some cases, likewise in the
brain. I have cut through the substance of the brain and
found numerous red points. I have found the lungs of these
animals either collapsed or congested. The heart has been
invariably hied ,n the right side with blood, and very often on
the left The liver has been congested, the kidneys normal
generally the spleen in its ordinary condition. I have found
the vessels of the stomach on the outer surface congested, and
on the mucous or inner surface highly vascular. In the spinal
cord I have found the vessels of the membranes congested and
also red points seen on cutting it through, not invariably' but
sometunes. I have experimented in many cases for the dis-

*'°;.^7-n f*'"^*^''""*-
You may discover the smallest dose that

will kill the animal. If you kill an animal with a grain of
stiyclinia you may discover traces of it.

What do you mean by a trace of itt—Evidence of its
appearance.

i'oes that mean an imponderable quantity?—It may.
1)0 you mean by traces to convey the idea that you can

discover the smallest quantity ?—That will kill.
\Vhat is the smallest quantity you can discover ?—The fiftv-

thousandth part of a grain.
'

^*Jf 7°^. actually experimented so as to discover that
qu.intity?—^Yes.

You have heard a theory propoundod in the course of this
inquiry by Dr. Taylor—I mean the destruction by the supposed
decomposition of strychnia—to your knowledge has any

o
193

!H

i i



Trial of William Palmer.

W. m*Dmim1I aoientific man of eminence ever propounded that theory at alii

I neve' heard of it until mentioned in this Court. Iii my

opinion there are no well-grounded reasons for that theory. I

have proved that that theory is false by numerous experiments.

I have taken the blood of an animal poisoned with 2 grains of

strychnia, about the least quantity which would kill an anmial,

and have injected it into the abdominal cavities of some animals,

and have destroyed them, with the symptoms and post-mortem

appearances of strychnia. It should not make it any more

difficult to detect if the strychnia is administered in the form ot

pills. If the pills were hard, and not readily solved, you would

find it much easier, because you might find some remains of

the piU. I do not agree with Dr. Taylor's opinion about Wie

fallacy of colour tests. I believe a colour test is a reliable

mode of ascertaining strychnia. I agree with Mr. Herepath

that it is fou i'i in urine that has been ejected. I have found

it invariably. .

Does it first pa.-o into the blood and then into that watery

excretion!—Part of it may be drawn off by that means. It

is not true that strychnia can be confounded with pyroxanthine.

In these animals which I have killed with strychnia I have

generally observed an increased flow of saliva; that was a very

marked symptom. The animals were very susceptible to t<Mich.

A stamp of the foot, a slight touch, or a breath, or a sharp

word, would drive them into tetanic convulsions. We recognised

them by the straightened condition of the muscles.

Supposing that a dose of strychnia sufficient to kill a man

were adminibtered to him, do you think he could bear to have

his neck rubbed 1—1 think it would be very likely to throw him

into convulsions before the paroxysm came on.

Bv Lord Campbell—As soon as the poison is taken into his

system1—No. It requires a certain time. You must have the

first symptoms of poison developed. It would be after the first

symptoms.
Examination resumed—What would be the effect of a man

pulling a bell violently if he was poisoned by strychnia 1—1 think

it would be extremely probable, if the dose had been sufficient,

to destroy life, provided the symptoms had made their appear-

ance. I quite agree with Mr. Ilerepatli Hiat, if a sufficient

dose to poison has been administered, it can and ought to bo

discovered. I have heard the medical evidence that was given

in this case and the evidence as to the symptoms. The symp-

toms I attach very little imjKjrtance to as the means oi

diagnosis, as you may have the same symptoms developed from

many different causes. There ia one principal reason I have,

which is this—a dose of strychnia sufficient to destroy life in

one paroxysm would hardly require an hour and a half or two
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r,^l ^\
"'i^''''''

°* "^^^ ^™™ **»« Monday night to theTueKlay at «dl operate on your judgment in coming to that

re^foo^dt zr'°"
''''

''
'^^ '' «" '^'^^''' '^--*-

JLnE ?P,V"°",*''^t".*^''* ^''^^ «^ «n "epileptic character

ZTuZ ^?"<>^«V^he mtermission from the Monday nightwould be considered important, us epilepsy seizures verV often
recur about the same hours, as I have seen them
Assuming that a naan was in such an excitable state of mind

that he was silent for two or three minutes after his horsewinning a race that he exposed himself to cold and damp, thathe excited his brain by drinkinrj, and he was attacked by violent
vomiting and after his death gritty granules were found in
the neighbourhood of his spine, could not. in the present
mstanoe, such a death as it was arise from these causes?—Any
of these causes might aggravate or hurry it.

You say any one of those cau.-s ?—Might cause it
Cross-examined by the Attornet-Genbbal—I am a general

practitioner at Garnkirk, near Glasgow, general surgeon to
the ironworks, and parochial medical officer. I have had
personal experience of two cases of idiopathic tetanus—this one
I have recorded and another.
What you have been telling us about mental excitement

sensual excitement, is not within your own observation ?—Thi-
case might have arisen from those causes.
Have you any reason to think it did?—I have no reasou to

do so.

Then do not tell us what it might have done. Now, in the
case of Catherine Wilson?—I saw her about hK!'-,)ast ten at
night. She had been ill very nearly an hour be.', ,u I saw her
bhe had convulsions. She had gone about her usual duties up
o the evening. She felt a slight lassitude previous to that timea wag only by close pressing that she could call it to mind
ihe lockjaw, I think, came on in an hour or two; I co-Id
not be positive.

In the other case, of Mr. Copeland?—It was a young child
between three and four months old.

^ "s

Was that the person of the name of Copeland?—Yes
What was the matter with the child?—I saw it in good health

half an hour before the attack came on. It had an attack of
convulsions and opisthotonos. I rode away from the house

S '"PPO^^J I had not gone a couple of miles when it

It was seized with a fitt-Apparently a spasm, which I con-
sider to be of the tetaniform character. I had seen the child
half an hour before. There was nothing the matter with it

»9S
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It wa« in bed, I believs, with the mother who was laid

up. I did not see its face. I saw it lying in bed, but did not

examine it. I judged it to be asleep.

With regard to the animals that you experimented on with

strychnia, when did you begin with themf—I began this series

of experiments for this case in January. , ^. ^ . , ^ .

Had you ever made any beforeI—Yes; I think eight or ten

Tears ago. The dose bv which I killed the animals was from

19 to 2 grains. The animals experimented upon .'sre dogs,

oats, rabbits, and fowls. These experiments will relate to dogs

A gi-ain is the smallest dose I administered. In four cases I

UEoi a grain, in five U grains, in one. I think, IJ grams, and

in two 2 grains.
. , v t j'.i t

You never tried them with half a gramt—Yes, 1 did, l

did not mention it before. I gave half a grain for the purpose

of ascertaining the least dose that vould kill.

Did you try if you could detect it afterwardst—How could

I try before I killed the dogi

Do you mean on your oath you do not understan-
:
/ny

question? Show me one instance where you have g'^er- 'lalf

a grein?—I did not make a note, because it did not kiU. i

have never destroyed a dog with half a grain ;
I tried it, and

it did not answer. ,

Now let us .ome to your symptoms. You say you have

always found the brain highly congested t—By the stoppage oi

the circulation in the system.
, , . *

Have you not found in some cases that the brain was not

congested?—No; I think in every case there -ore more or less

congestion.
, , , <

Is that greater in proportion to the length of the paroxysm?

—No; it is greatest where the nniraal was young and in a

full state of health.
. , t ti.- i

Have you ever seen any case of traumatic tetanus 1—1 tmnK

two in my own practice, but I have seen a few others m hospital

Have you ever seen a case of strychnia in the human subject?

—No, I have not.

I understand you to say that, in your opmion, this was a

case of epilepsy with tetanic complications?—As far as I can

judge from hearing the evidence in Court.

What does epilepsy proceed from?-Nobody can answer that

Question.
. . « t ,^ j. ^i-

*
You have no theory upon the subject?—I have not exactly

arrived at any distinct theory, not quite as distinct as strychnia

or tetanus. I have seen one case of death from epilepsy. Tlie

patient was not conscious when he died.

Can you find me any case in which consciousness has

preceded death?—I cannot recollect.
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Tou have studied on purpose for these cases!—No; I am w. DonsU
pretty well up in most branches.

Being so universallj proficient in the science of your pro-
fession, do you know of any single recorded case of conscious-
ness at the time of death 1—I do not from my own knowledge.
I have heard what Sir Benjamin Brodie said on th»s subject
You mean deliberately to state that you believe this to havo

been from epilepsy?—I do state so.

Without being able to refer to any cause whatever as pro-
ducing the disease?—When I have told you before that deaths
often take • lace in idiopathic tetanus without leaving any
trace behind, I think I may say
That is idiopathic tetanus?—They are all of the same class.

1 think all forms of convulsions arise from a decomposition of
the blood, and, if a person has probably an incipient tendency
to disease of the brain, that it always may be affected, and
that the decomposition of the blood might set up the diseased
action.

Do I understand you that mental excitement had anything
to do with this?—I do not say it had. I said it might have
caused it.

Do you find any excitement in this case?—I find at Shrews-
bury he was excited, and wherever you have excitement you
have a consequent depression.
Do you find he was depressed?—When you find a man in

bed sick, he must be depressed.
I was speaking of the depression consequent on these

symptoms. Where do you find any symptom of illness until
he begms to vomit?—If I have much excitement, if I am up
all night, it upsets me the next day, and I generally vomit
the food I take. Cook was overjoyed at winning his race.
And you think he vomited in consequence?-He might.
Do you mean to swear that you th'ik the excitement of the

three minutes on the course on the ' sday accounts for the
vomiting?—I do not mean to say a

'

Do you find any excitement or de,
the t-me he died?—There is nothi
recjilect just now.
On the contrary, do you not recollect that tlie man, when

fie was not vomiting, on that very night, was joking and
laughing; was that sufficient to make him vomit?—That may
well be where a man is subject to bilious fits.
We are talking of excitement—of epilepsv with tetanic com-

plications; I want to know on what you can put your hand in
tne way of excitement or depression which will account for
the remarkable symptoms?-1 have told you that almost anyone of them is suflScient.

'

q of the kind.

>n from that time till

reported that I can

!
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Where u there one which you say might have occasioned

death?—^These white spots in the stomach might have cauaed

death by an inflammatory condition of the stomach.

But there was no inflammation of the stomach, was there t

—

I have given you my opinion.

If there had been any, would not tL gjntlemen who examine<l

it have seen it?—If those white spots were present you would

have had inflammation.

They say there was none?—I do not believe them.

Sensual excitement is a cause of epilepsy with tetanic com-

plications; is that what you say?—Yes, it might be.

Do you find a tittle of evidence of any such excitement?—

I

think so—the syphilitic spots. There wa3 no doubt about it.

Do you mean to say that you attribute this to some excite-

ment at some anterior period long before?—I am not called

upon to say that. I take my opinion from what was seen.

Supposing the man had any such excitement a week before,

do you mean that is suflBcient?—Yes; we have instances en

record of convulsions in the very act you allude to.

Have you any instance a fortnight afterwards?—It is quite

within the range of possibility.

Would epilepsy, with tetanic complications, set in from that

cause? Do you mean to stand there, as a serious man of

science, and tell me that?—^Yes, the results of st sual excite-

ment—chancre in ono of them, and syphilitic sore taroat.

Did you ever hear or know of such a thing as chancre or

any other form of syphilis producing epilepsy?—Not epilepsy,

but tetanus. You are forgetting the tetanic complications.

If I understand it rightly, it stands thus : the sensual excite-

ment produces the epilepsy, and the chancre produces tetanic

complications?—You are quite mistaken. I say the results of

a sensual excitement.

You have just now said that your reason for thinking and

referring it to epilepsy was that, amongst other things, an

hour or an hour and a half intervened between the taking of

the poison and t)ie appearance of the first symptoms. Do
you mean that in your reading you have not met with cases

quite as long as that when the death has arisen from strychni.i?

—I cannot recollect where death has followed.

Would the fact of morphia having been given for i.n hour or

two previously in any way touch your opinion with regard to

poison?—No; I have seen opium bring on convulsions very

nearly the same.

Will opium bring on convulsions 1—Yes, but a different form

of convulsions from epilepsy.

Because opium brings on convulsions, you assume in this case

that morphia accelerated the disease?—Drawing the inference,

I should say it might.
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Siq>po8e not a case of epilepsy, but of strrrhiiia; what w. •Ooiwail
would be the action of morphia? How wouV .^ attack the
disease}—In some cases it stimulates. It is exceedingly apt
to cause congestion of tho brain.

In which disease does it cause excitement?—It depends on
the idiosyncrasy, on the habit of body, if I might use a
common term.
Having taken it on the Saturday and Sunday night, and

having been free from nervous excitement on tho Sunday and
Monday, what would you assume judging from the result? If
it were opium, yet it is only presumed to be opium, it appears
to have soothed him.
And why, when the man was tranquil on the Sunday and

Monday, did you, alter that, venture to say that these pills
irritated him?-—I do not mean to say they did.
Re-examined by Mr. Sebjhant Shee—You stated that, though

you had seen no case of epileptic convulsions with tetanic com-
plications, your reading informed you that there had been,
and you mentioned Dr. Mason Goode?—Yes. He is a well-
known author on the subject of convulsions. There is a class
of convulsions called epileptic—not, strictly speaking, epilepsy
—though they resemble it in some of its features. Epilepsy,
properly so called, is sudden in its attacks. The patient falls
down at once with a shriek. Within my knowledge, the disease
constantly occurs at night and in bed.

Are the convulsions which the authors do not class as pro-
perly epilepsy, but as convulsions of an epileptic character,
sometimes attended with premonitory symptoms?—Sometimes'
The patient is thrown into tetanic and tetaniform convulsions.
Pending the struggle or the convulsions, actual epilepsy may
come on in this way, and the patient die. In epilepsy andm convulsions of an epileptic character, a patient may have
suflFere*! in the night and be well the next morning, and as well
the next day as if he had had no fit at all, more especially where
adults are seized for the first time. When an adult is seized
for the first time it is in my experience that several fits follow
each other during a short period.

If it were true that Cook's mind appeared distressed and
irritable the afternoon before he died, would you infer from tliat.
considering the former excitement and elation, he was in a
state of depression or not?—Yes.
What would you infer from what happened in the middle of

the Sunday night, supposing it were true that he represented
himself to be mad for ten minutes, and it was occasioned bv a
quarrel in the strert« ?--That he had been seized with sumo
sudden cramp or spasm.

Supposing there was no such cramp, and that he meant

>99

s

I,



Trial of William Palmer.

w. 'OonasU to tell the truth, would you refer what he uid to any nerroua
and mental excitement?—Yes, decidedlj-.

With regard to the spots on the stomach, which you men-
tioned when my friend was examining you, you stated you
differed from some gentlemen of your profession!—Yes.
The Attornkt-General—He said he did not believe themt
—I did not. I did not believe that inflammation could be
absent and these spots present.

Re-examination resumed—Have you known any serious con-

sequence of a convulsive character reasonably imputed to spots

of that dis!cription1—I have. There was a case about twenty
years ago. It was published. I saw a case myself, about
eighteen months ago. I examined the body after death. It

was a case of fever, I thought. I did not know what the

spots were, and consulted all the authors who had treated on
the mucous structure of the stomach, and could find no account
of it but in one wliich I have here, an essay by Dr. Sproshoid,

a medical man practising in Edinburgh, but now deceased.

Mabpidg*
^'"' ^°^^ Nathan Bainbridoe, examined by Mr. Gkove—

I am a doctor of medicine and medical oflScer to the St.

Martin's Workhouse. I have had considerable experience of

convulsive disorders. They admit of a very great variety of

symptoms. There are causes of them varying from what
are called chronic diseases to rigid opisthotonos. Hysterical

convulsions are very frequently accompanied with opisthotonos

;

convulsions of the muscles of the back and of the limbs. The
diflEerent cases vary very much as to the frequency of the recur-

rences, and as to the muscles attacked. Periodicity is very

common, that is, occurring at the same hour, the same day,

and at an interval of a year. I have known this very common
at shorter periods, such as twelve or tv.xnty-four hours. These
disorders run so imperceptibly one into the other that it is

almost impossible for the most experienced medical man to

decide where one kind of convulsion terminates and the other

begins. Epileptic attacks are frequently accompanied with

tetanic complications, or tetanic spasms.

Cross-examined by the Attornet-Gbnerai/—Do hysterical

convulsions ever end in death without being attended by these

tetanic symptoms?—Very rarely indeed. I have known one

case within the last three months.
Can you undertake to say that that was not a death by

apoplexy?—No. The symjitoms were somewhat of the same
character, but more of the character of epilepsy. It would
be very diflScult for any man to define the difiference in some
instances between hysteria and epilepsy.

In fact, had not the m n been subject to these fits for a
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long leries of years, and at last he died in one of them1—Tea, J. N.

he had. lalnkvMce

In attacks of this nature is there in the fits a loss of con-
sciousness t—Sometimes. I Luve seen several cases in which
there has been, and in others they can almost understand
anything you say to them, not perfectly perhaps, but you
may rouse them.
Have you ever known an instance in which a man was able

to speak when the paroxysm has set in 7—They will scream,
and recollect what we have said to them. I never knew any
of them, in the actual violence of the paroxysm, ask to have
their position changed. Epilepsy, when it is very bad, is

sometimes attended with opisthotonos.

When the convulsions aro bo violent that opisthotonos is

produced, have you ever known patients conscious?—Partly
conscious. If they were asked subsequently they would recol-

lect what had occurred. 1 have seen cases of traumatic tetanus.
As far as I have observed the patient always retains his con-
sciousness. I have frequently known epilepsy end in death,
and also hysteria with tetanic complications end in death.

Because you tell me you have known of hysteria ending in

death, I wish you to inform me what in your opinion is the
distinction between them?—The less cunsciousness more especi-
ally found in epilepsy, and the sudden falling down.
Did you ever know a case of death in epilepsy where con-

sciousness was not destroyed before death?—No, I do not
know one.

Mr. Sbbjbakt Sheb—I think it is an assumption that Mr.
Cook was conscious between the last shriek and his death.

Mr. Edward Austin Sthadt, examined by Mr. Grat—I am a b. A. staady
member of the Royal College of Surgeons, and am in practice
as a Burgeon at Chatham. In June, 1854, I attended a person
for trismus and pleurosthotonos, the head depending on one
side, and not backwards as is the case in opisthotonos. Con-
vulsions came on in paroxysms. The first attack continued
for a fortnight. She had trismus all the time. For twelve
months there were remissions of the pleurosthotonos. She
appeared to get better to a certain extent, and walked about,
but the tendons of one knee were contracted. About tvelve
months after she was again seized. Tlie seizure continued
about a week.

Did you ascertain the cause which had brought about this
disease?—It was detailed to me as excitement. A passion, I

believe, brought it on. I believe she had had som- quarrel
with her husband. I discovered no other cause.

Cross-examined by Mr. James—I do not know how long
before I was called in she had this quarrel. I learned that
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I. A. ttMiy during the quarrel the had had a blow gi'^en her on her tide
by her husband. I observed the wtting in of the lockjaw at
that time. I saw her in March. 1866, when she was under
my care for about a week. The locking of the jaw continued
the whole week. She has never got thoroughly well. She
has tetanic extensions of tho limbs in any case of excitement.
In my opinion the disfiise is in action in her system at the
present time.

•. loMoioB Dr. iiEuKGB HoBi.NdoN, examined by Mr. Kenkalt—I am a
Licentiate of the lloyal College of Physicians and Fellow of

the Royal Medical Chirurgical Society of London, and physician
to tho Newcastle-on-Tyne Pispenmiiy and Fever Ho&pital. I

have devoted considerable attention to pathology, and have
published essays on it. I have practised as a physician for

ten years. From the symptoms I have heard described my
opinion is that Mr. Cook died from tetanic convulsions, by
which I mean, not the disease of tetanus, but convulsions
similar to those witnesse<l in tetanus. Convulsions of that
kind occasionally aHsume the nature of epilepsy. I know of

no department of {)athology which is more obscure than that
of convulsive diseases. I have been present at post-mortem
cxiiminntions of person.s who died from convulsive diseases. I

iiave sometimes seen no morbid appearance whatever, and in

iither cases the morbid appearances which were visible were
fommon to a variety of diseases. Convulsive diseases

iiuloubtedly depend very mucli on the state of the nerves.

'I'hey are all connected %%ith disorders of the nervous aci.on.

The brain has great influence in producing convulsive diseases,

liut the spinal cord ha.=! a greater influence. The presence of

irritty granules in the neighbourhood of the spinal cord would
he likely to produce convulsive diseases. There is such a
disease as spinal epilepsy, which is accompanied by strong
convulsions, which might resemble in a great degree those

described in the present case. Periodicity would belong to

I onvulsions arising from sjiinal epilepsy. I should think from
the evidence I have heard that Mr. Cook's mode of life would
predispose him to epilepsy.

Cro8s-e.Tamined by the Attobxet-Gbnebal—In all cases of

epilepsy there are violent convulsions. I cannot tell you how
many I have seen assume a tetanic character; perhaps twenty.

Has it gone as far as opisthotonos?—Not the extreme opis-

thotonos of tetanus. The whole body has been straightened

out and the head thrown back. I heard Mr. Jones describe

Mr. Cook's symptoms, tl.at the body was sn bowed that he

could not raise it, so bowed that it would lean upon its heels

and the back of its head if it had been turned over.

Have you ever seen anything in epilepsy approaching to Uiese
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•jmptomat—I have never seen anything approaching to it. I G.

have never seen a body so stiffened that it would rest on the
bead and heeh.

la that sTinptom peculiar to tetanus!—You may have convul-
sions of the same character occurring from otbt:r causes—tetanic

convulsions from the operation of various poisons.

Keep to natural diseases. Did you ever know these CT'rnp-

toms of opisthotonos, in that sh:>iic or to that extent, arise

from anything but tetanus?—Not witliin my own experience. 1

have read of epilepsy being accompanied with tetanic convulsions.

Epilepsy, when it assumes that marked character, is accom-
pani^ witb 'ncons^ciousness. I have read in a case of Dr.
Mutjball Hi that sometimes unconsciousness is not present.

He does not L.^ntion '"hether death took jilacc in this case or

ot. That would make all the difference.

You said that gritty granules would be likely to produce con-
vulsive disease:*. What extent of devtiopnient. in your judg-

ment, must such granules reach to produce an action in the
spinal marrow?—I should say there is no relation between the
size of the granules ond the extent of the effect produced.
Would you expect when they began to get to the size that

they would have any effect on the nervous system—that they
would begin to show their effect more or less gradually?—No,
in epilepsy I have myself observetl several granules in the mem-
brar the brain: and any disturbins; cause in the system, I

think, would be likely to produce convidsions. 1 believe that the
granules in this case were very likely to irritate the spinal cord,

and an attack might very likely come on at once in a fit of

epilepsy. There would be pain during the continuance of the
violent spasms of the patient, not necessarily pain merely from
the spasms. Thrse gi-anulus might or might not produce
araclinitis.

You would expect to find inflammation in that case?—Not
necessarily. Irritation, not inflammation. (iranules of that
description do not often exist in healthv sjiinos. In the dis-

sections of epilepsy in the large hospitals, these small granules
have been found very frequently. The granules, in my opinion,
would be likely to produce epilepsy. In my experience I have
never known epilepsy unaccompanied by unconsciousness, nor
h: ve I known ej'ilepsy producing the marked symptoms of

te'inic character which occur in Mr. Cook's ca?e.

Do you feel yourself warranted in giving an opinion that these
granules caused epilepsy in this case?— I think I might have
done so. If I put a'^ido the hvpotliosis of poisoninir by strychnia
I would. Several of the symptoms dpscril)cd by .Mr. Jones, the
severe paroxysm, the stiffening of tlie body, the convtdsions of

all the muscles of the trunk and limbs, and the complete opis-
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thotonoa, are alao common to other oonTuhiona. Tite iTrnptomi
are certainly coniiitent with death by strychnia.
They are the aymptomi that you would expect after itryohniat—I think there would have been some alight premonitory aymp-

toma. If I had no other cause to which I could ascribe the
death I would aacribe it to epilepay.

But in tliia caae you admit some of the aymptoma are in-
conaiatent with your experience of epile^isy I—Yea.

Re-examined by Mr. fciKiUEANT Sin;s—They are consiatent with
the poaaibility of epilepsy. The/ are consistent with con-
vulsiona of an epileptic form ending in death, though perhapa
not actually amounting to epilepsy.

Supposing it to hove been nctuul epilepsy, at what period of
the last attack should you say the epilepsy commenced 1—When
Mr. Cook aat up in bed and cried out. I should imagine that
would be the sense of sufFocation which would be the premoni-
tory aymptoms.

After the final shriek, and throwing himself back in hia
bed, is there any symptom from which you would infer
consciousness after that moment?—Except that he swallowed
aome pilla.

The Attornit-Genkral— Allow me to remind you he aaked
them to turn him over.

By Mr. Skbjkant Sheb—Would you consider that a body
which immediately, or within ten minutes after death, when it

ia Mite warm, lay perfectly straight, the hands extended,
res ^ in its heels and its back and its head, was in a state of
opisthoto.ios?—Not if it rested on its ba-k 'n my j'jjgment
it might be that the body might assume, withou., actual rigidity,
the bow-like shape and appearance which has been apoken of,
and yet, when turned over, lie flat in the bed, resting on the
head, back, and heels.

tiahardson Dr. Benjaiok Ward Richardson, examined by Mr. Skrjbakt
Shbb—I practise in London, and I am a licentiate of the
Faculty of Physicians and Surgeons in Glasgow and a member
of the College of Physicians in London. I have never aeen a
case of idiopathic or traumatic tetanus, but I have seen a con-
siderable number of deaths by convulsions, and I have kno.n
these cases, when they have ended in death, sometimes asaumj
tetaniform appearances without being, strictly speaking, tetanus.
The patient, if conscious, generally desires to sit up. I have
known persons to die from a disease called angina pectoris.
The symptoms of the disease, when it is fatal, resemble cloaelv
the symptoms of the paroxysms in which Mr. Cook died. It

is classed amongst the convulsive or spasmodic diseases, and
has no distinctive feature in post-mortem examination.

Will you state what symptoms you particularly refer tot—

I
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could not do better than dewribe a caae which I mytelf saw. b,W.
A child, ten yean of age, r-i.a under my care in November, «•>»•«•

1850. I luppoaed the had auflered from scarlet fever. She
bad a ilight feveriih attack. She recovered so far that my
viaita ceaaed on 20th November. 1 left her merry in the morn-
ing, and at half-past ten I was called to see her dying. bhe
waa supported upright at her own request. The face was pule

;

the whole of the face and arms rigid, the fingers clenched, the
respiratory muscles completely fixed and rigid, and, with all.

complained of an intense agony and restlessnew such as I had
never witnessed. There was perfect consciousness. The child
knew me, and explained her intense agony; eagerly took from
my hands some brandy and watfr from a spoon. I then left

to get some chloroform for the -pose of producing relaxation
by chloroform vapour. On r» ning, I found the heivd was
thrown back. I could detect no respiration. The eyes remained
fixed open, and the body just resembling a fit. She was dead.
I did not observe whether the rigor-mortis came on at it.H usual
time or later. I made a post-mortem examination the following
day. Unfortunately I left the body in the arms of the sister'i

and, of course, it was laid out afterwards. At the post-mortem
examination I observed that the brain was slifrhtly congested

;

a portion of the upper part of the spinal cord seemed normal
and healthy, the lungs were collapsed, the heait was in such
a state of firm spasms and so empty that I rtma: kcd it might
have been rinsed out, it was so peifectly clean and fiee from
blood. There were no appearances of functional disturbances
except a slight effusion of serum in one pleural cavity, I believe
the right side. The other j^art. of the spinal cord was in a
normal state. They told mo the ( Lild was unusually well and
merry at supper; that she then went to bed with her sister,

:\nd in lying down suddenly jumped up and said, " I am going
to die," and begged her sister to run her.

Cross-examined by t. e ATTonNBT-GENEHAL—This case accords
with all the descriptions of angina pectoris by the best authors

—

Latham, Watson. Boyenu, Pratt, and Sir Everett Holme.
What is the true nature and cause of arifrina pectoris?—It

has been laid down as disease of the valves of the lieart. There
have been many cases in which there has been no discovered
cause.

Are the symptoms of angina pectoris not those that would be
produced by taking strychnia ?—Not exactly. In angina pectoris
the patient requests to be rubbed to crive rolicf

.

Did you hear the Lecfls cn=e?—A-^simnng that that was a
uase of strrchni.!, I must say that the Uso forms are so strictly
imalogous that there would be great diffcilty in detecting angina
from strychnia, with this difference, that anjrina is paroxysmal,
it comes and goes, and strychnia would not be so likely to do
that. You would not expect it for many months.
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But in this cue you are speaking &a if it ended in tb* first

paroxysm I—Yes.

How then can you be justified, in cases where you discover

no abnormal conditions of the heart or its arteries, in setting

down the death to angina?—Precisely as if I saw the symptoms
of epilepsy I should accept them as such.

Supposing the disease was referable to two causes, in the

absence of all evidence, what is your reason for setting it down
to one in preference to the other!—I quite admit that if I had
known as much of the nature of strychnia as 1 do now I should

have gone on to makt analysis.

Is the disease of angina pectoris attended with painful symp-
toms before it terminates in death?—Most painful. The
paroxysms terminating in death may run on for more than eight

minutes. It comes on suddenly. It does not always kill at

the first attack. It generally spreads itself over a certain period

of time.

You said that the head was somewhat bent back. Was that

opisthotonos?—^There was rigidity, not amounting to opis-

thotonos, but still very marked. The neck was so stiffly bent
back that if the body had been laid down, and the lower limbs,

which I did not see, had been the same, I have no doubt the

body would be resting on its head and heels.

You say in epileptic convulsions you have seen the hands
clenched firml; till death. Did you ever see them so long

after death?—I have seen them firmly clenched, not in epilepsy

only.

In what cases have you seen them fiimly clenched after

death?—In cases where there has been violent convulsion. 1

saw them once from haemorrhage.
In other cases have you?—I can only say, in a general sense,

I have seen the hands clenched over and over again, and have
paid no attention to it. My lielief, from seeing people die, is

that the clenching of the hands is, in many cases, mere matter
of accident.

Re-examined by Mr. Skrjbant Shbe—Have you known cases

personally or from your reading where patients recover from
angina pectoris, and whether within a short time afterwards

they sometimes have another attack?—They do, sometimes in

80 short an interval as twenty-four hours.

During the interval between the two attacks what is the

condition of the jiatient?—Perfectly healthy, to all appear-
ance.

Are the symptoms described in the evidence more like the

symptoms of angina pectoris or strychnia poison?—I should

certainly say angina pecioiiM.

You had no reason to suspect poison of any kind in that

case, either before or now?—Not the slightest.
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Dr. Wbiqhtbon, recalled, examined by Mr. Skrjbant Sheb— Dr.
In your opinion, when the strychnia poison is absorbed into Wf*******

the system, does it become diffused by the circulation of the
blood through the »j ^tem, or does it collect in the tissues?—

I

should think it i.-, ....^i».;..l throughout the entire system bv
circulation if i. t e wholiy .\\y- r,ed, and it would depend on
the rapidity v ah which Jeu*' takes place after complete
absorption, and on liio quicknc s of circulation.

Cross-examine
;

l) • Om ATTORNBT-GKNKHAii—Would the
absorption be more coiu^.lete if si longer time weie
given for the process between the administration and the death?—Certainly, it would be.

Is that suppowing a minimum dose given sufficient to destroy
life; if a long interval elapses between the taking of the poison
and the death, the more complete the absorption the less the
chance of finding it in the stomach?

—

Cateris paribus that
would be so.

By Mr. Serjbant Sheb—Would you have a very good chance
of finding it in the kidneys and upleen and in the blood?—Yes.

Catherinb Watson, examined by Mr. Grove—I live at Gam- C. Watsoa
kirk, in Scotland. Last October I was affected with a fit. I

had no wound nor injury on my body htfore. 1 liad taken no
poison.

Cross-examined by tlie Attoenbt-Genebal—I was not ill

during the day. I was in low spirits, but not in pain. A few
minutes before eleven at night I took a pain in the stomach,
then two cramps in my arms, then I was very ill. I have
never had cramps like this before nor since.

The Court then adjourned.
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Tenth Day, Saturday, 24th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

CPamberton m, Ouveb Pbmbkrton, examined by Mr. Serjeant Sheh—

I

am Lecturer in Anatomy at Queen's College, Birmingham, and
surgeon to the General Hospital at Birmingham. I was present
at the examination of the body of the late Mr. Cook after it

had been exhumed in January or Februai-y. I observed the
condition of the spinal cord. In my judgment it was not in

a condition to enable one to state with confidence in what state

it had been immediately after death. The upper part, wheie
the brain had been separated, wag green in colour from the
effects of decomposition. The remaining portion, though fairly

preserved for a body buried two months, was so soft as not to

enable me to form any opinion as to its state immediately after

death.

Cross-examined by the ATTORNKY-GBNEnAii—I did not see the
body till the day after the bony canal had been opened, which,
to a certain extent, would expose the interior substance of the

cord to the atmosphere. So far as I recollect, it was still

covered with a very hard, dense membrane. Mr. Bolton, the

professor at Qii> en's College, was also present on Palmer's
behalf.

Mr. Skrjbant Shee—My lord, this closes the medical testi-

mony.

a. Matthews Henry Matthews, examined by Mr. Grovh—1 am an
inspector of police at Euston Station. I was there on 19th

November hist. The two o'clock afternoon tniin is the last

that stops at Rugoley. The express for Stafford leaves at

five, and is due at Stafford at 8.42. On 19th November it

arrived at 8.45. From Stafford to Rngeley it is nineteen miles

by railway. I do not know how far by road. After the "iwo

o'clock train to Rugeley, the quickest way to get there is by
the five o'clock to Stafford, and then by road.

JoMpk Poster Joseph Foster, examined by Mr. Gray—I have known the
late John Parsoi.s Cook for many years, and, from what I saw
of him, he was of weak health and constitution. I have been

with him wlien he has had a bilious attack and sick headache.
Cross-examined by Mr. James—lie hunted regularly about

three days a week. He was a member of the Welford Cricket

Club, but I have not seen him playing for three or four years.
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GsoBQi Mtatt, examined by Mr. Grovb—I am a saddler at Georca Hyatt
Rugeley. I was at Shrewsbury races, and saw Palmer and
Cook at the Raven Hotel there on the Wednesday evening of

the race week. It was about twelve at night, and Cook
seemed the worse oi liquor. We had some brandy and water
together. Cook drank most of his, and remarked that it was
not good, and thought there was something in it. Cook
proposed having some more, but Palmer told him to finish

what he had first. Cook then drank his up. We all then
went to bed. I slept in the same room as Paimer. The
brandy we had was brought in a decanter and poured out.
I did not leave the room from the time Palmer and Cook came
in till we went to bed. Had anything been put in the brandy
and water I should have seeii it. As far as I can '-emember,
when Palmer and I went to our bedroom we left Cook in the
sitting room. I locked our door, and Palmer never left the
bedroom during the night. In the morning Palmer asked me
to call Mr. Cook, which I did. Cook then told me how ill he
had been during the night. He said he had been obliged to
send for a doctor, and asked me what was put in the brandy
and water. I told him I did not know that anything was
put in. He then asked me to send Palmer to him, which I

did. After Palmer and I had finislied our breakfast, I nest saw
Cook, who came into the sitting room and had his breakfast.
That night the three of us had dinner at the Raven, and left

for Rugeley about six o'clock. We went by express from
Shrewsbury to P^nfford. Palmer took the three tickets and
paid. We '

fly from Stafford, tliere being no train. In
the fly from to Rugeley Palmer was sick, and vomitwi
through the > They could not account for it, unless it

was cooking iu some brass utensil, or the water. I heard other
people Fpeak about being ill at Rugeley, and they could not
account for it. It is 9 miles by the road from Stafford to
Rugeley.

Cross-examined by Mr. James—I have known the prisoner
all my life, and he deals with me for his saddlery at his racing
stables. I am not in the habit cf going to racing meetings
with him, although I attend them myself. He paid my
expenses at Shrewsbury races, but never at any other race
meeting. About four or five weeks ago I went with Mr.
Smith to Stafford gaol, and was with Palmer for about two
hours. I have now and then stood in half a sovereign or a
sovereign with Palmer when bettinjr on his horses. On the
Wednesday night in which I saw Palmer and Cook I dined
at home at Rugeley, and reached Shrewsbury between eight
and nine. I went straight from the station to the Raven
Hotel, and up to Palmer's room, where I saw Cook. Palmer
was out, and I went to the town for about an hour, and
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ran returned to Palmer's roum. He was not in ; I waited about
two hours, when he came in with Cook, about twelve o'clock.

Cook was drunk, but not very drunk. The decanter of brandy
and the tumblers were brought in directly. The water, I

think, was on the table. I do not remember Mrs. Brooks
calling, or Palmer being called out of the room to speak to her.

I reme&iber Mr. Fisher coming in. I will swear that Palmer
did not at any time that evening take out a glass of brandy
and water and leave the room. He never left the room
from the time I joined him till we went to bed. When Cook
drank his brandy and water he made a remark to the effect

that it was not good, and that there was something in it, I

will swear that he did not say, '" It burns my throat dread-

fully," or anything to th^t effect. Tlie brandy and water
was then given to some tr, taste. I think there were but
four people in the room «».. 'ook drank the brandy and
water. Palmer sipped from ttie glass Cook liad drank from,
and said he could not taste anything the matter. He held
the glass to Mr. Fisher. I do not remember whether Fisher
said, " It is no good giving me the glass, it is empty." 1

will not swear he did not. Palmer and I went to bed about
half an hour after, and left Cook in the room. That I will

swear. The first I heard of Cook being ill during the night
was when he told me of it nest morning.

Jehn Sargent John Saroent, examined by Mr. Serjeant Sheet—I frequently
attend race meetings, and knew Mr. Cook intimately. I was
with him at Liverpool on the week previous to the Shrewsbury
meeting. We slept in adjoining rooms, and in the moriiiiip;

he called my attention to the state of his throat and mouth.
The back part of his tongue was in a complete state of ulcer.

I said I was surprised that he could eat and drink in the sto te

his mouth ^as in. lie said he had been in that state for

weeks and months, and took no notice of it row. He had
frequently before then shown me his throat when it was in

that state. On one occasion, when he took a ginger nut wilh
cayenne by mistake, he told me that it nearly killed him.
Before Shrewsbury races Cook was verj- poor. He owed me
£25, and paid £10 on account, saving he had not sufficient to

pay his expenses at Liverpool. Cook and Palmer were in the
habit of betting for each other on particular horses. I

have heara Cook apply to Palmer to supply him with a lotion

called blackwash. This is a mercurial lotion of calomel and
lime Tvater.

CroHs-examincd by Mr. James—He applied for it at the latte-"

end of last year. Having seen the state of his throat, I was
surprised at his eating and drinking so well.
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JiRBUiAR Smith, examined by Mr. Sbrjkant Shi»—I am an J. Smith
attorney at Rugelcf, and knew the late Mr. Cook. I saw him
At ten o'clock on I'riday morning, 16th November, 1855. He
wuB havmg breakfast in bed—a cup of tea with a wineglassful
of brandy in it. I dined with him and Mr. Palmer about two
o clock. We had a beefsteak and some champagne. After
dmner we had three bottles of port wine, of wVIch Cook drank
his share. We rose from the table between five and six, and
Cook and I went to my house, and then to the Albion Hotel,
which 18 nest door, and had a brandy and water each. Cook
left me there between seven and eight. He said he felt cold
During that day I asked Cook for £30 he was due me He
gave me £5, and when he took the note out of his case I said.
You can pay me the whole £50." He said, 'No; there is

only £41 IDs. duo to you." Then he said ha had given Mr.
Palmer money, and he would pay me the remainder when he
returned from Tattersall's on Monday after the settling. On
the Saturday night following I slept in the same room with
him, &A he was not well. We went to bed about twelve o'clock
In the early part of the night he got some toast and water,
and he was sick. I saw him using a night-chair in the room.
He tried to vomit, but I do not know whether he did so or not
After that I slept until Mr. Palmer and Mr. Bamford came
in the morning to see him. He said, "I am rather better
this morning. I slept from about two or three o'clock, after
the confounded concert was gone." Mr. Bamford said, " I will
send you some more medicine." I then got up and left the
house. I know Mrs. Palmer, the mother of the prisoner. She
asked me to see her on Monday evening, and. in consequence
of that, I went about two o'clock to see if I could find Palmer
but could not. About ten minutes past ten I saw him in a
car cominq: fn.ni the direction of StaflFord. I asked him " Have
you seen Mr. Cook to-day?" He said, "No; we had better
just run up and see." We went up, and Cook told Palmer
he was late, and that he had taken the medicine. We only
stayed two or three minutes. Cook said he had taken some
pills Mr. Bamford had sent him. He also said he had been up
that day, and Palmer said he ought not to have been up.
Palmer and I then went to his mother's house, about 400 o.
BOO yards. We stayed about half an hour, and then left for
Palmer s house. I left him at his house and went home. On
the Saturday I asked Cook to dire with me, but he did notHe said he was not well. I got for him a boiled leg ofmutton and some broth from the Albion, which was taken tomm by Ann Rowley, a charwoman. In the May befor. asdeath I borrowed £100 from Mrs. Palmer and £100 from

hi^^J^^S''' ^"^ ^°°^- ' ''^^» negotiated a £500 loanthrough Mr. Pratt. I kno-y that Pahner and Cook were joinUy
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J. Smith interested in one horw, " Pyrrhine," and that they were in
the habit of betting very frequently for each other. Shortly
before Mr. Cook's death I had seen Mr. Thirlby, Palmer's
assistant, dress Cook's throat with caustic. I have seen this
four or five times, chiefly before Shrewsbury races. I know
Mr. Cook's signature. [Some papers were handed to witness.]
Here are two notes, instructions for the £500. One is ngned
"J. P. Cook " and the other " J. Parsons Cook." I saw that
signed. Some weeks before Mr. Cook's death he was served
with a writ. [The following letter was read:

—

]

My dear Sir,—I have been in a devil of a fix about the bill, but
have at last settled it at the cost of three guineas, for the damned
discounter had issued a writ against me, and I am very much disgusted
*t **• John Fabson.s.

I destroyed the envelope in which that was contained. [Another
letter was read, dated 25th June, 1855—]
Dear Jimmy,—I should like to have the bill renewed for two

months more. Can it be done? Let me know by return ; 4 Victoria
Street, Holborn Bridge. I have scratched " Polester " for the
Northamptonshire and Wolverhampton Stakes. I shall be down on
Friday and Saturday. In haste.—J. Parsons Cook. Fred tells me
" Bolton " or " Arabus " will win the Northumberland Plate.

J. P. Cook.

I saw that " J.

read :—

]

P. Cook " written. [The following paper was

"' Polestar," three years ;
" Sirius," two years, by way of mortgage,

to secure £500, advanced on a bill of exchange, dated 29th August'
1855, payable three months after date.

These were the instructions to prepare the mortgage.

Cross-examined by the ATTORNE^-G'i!^•SRAL—I am the Mr.
Smith that took Mr. Myatt to Stafford gaol. I have been
employed a good deal by Mr. Palmer as his attorney. I do
not recollect that he applied to me in December, 1854, to attest
a proposal on the life of his brother Walter for £13,000 at the
Solicitors and General office. Nor do I recollect that I war
applied to by Palmer to attest a proposal for £13,000 to the
Prince of Wales office on his brother Walter's life. I knew
that Walter Palmer had been a bankrupt six years before, but
not that he was in great distress for money. I believe he had
an allowance from his mother. I do not recollect that I was
called upon to attest another proposal in the Universal office
for £13,000 upon the life of Walter Palmer. If I could see
any document or any letter to remind me of the circumstance
I would not deny it. [An assignment of this policy by Walter
Palmer to William Palmer was handed to witness. He was
asked if he received £5 for attesting the assignment, and
answered he might have, he did not recollect.] This is very
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like my signature. It is a good imitation. I have some doubt J. Smitk
that It 18 not my handwriting. That is Walter Palmer's signa-
ture, and the attestation, " signed, sealed, and delivered," is in
Mr. Pratt's handwriting. I got the document from Mr. Palmer.
I still do not think that what bears to be my signature is in my
handwriting. In October, 1855, I appUed to the Midlacd
Counties office to be a >Dointed their agent. Bates and Palmer
came together to my >ffice with a prospectus, and asked me
if there was any agent in Rugeley. I said I never heard of
one. They asked me to write and get an appointment, as
they wanted to raise money. I did so. The reason I became
an agent was to get an insurance effected upon Bates' life for
£10,000. Bates at that time was the superintendent of
William Palmer's stud and stables. After this I went to the
widow of Walter Palmer to get her to give up her claim upon
the policy of her husband. She refused. This document, the
signature to which I doubt whether it is my handwriting or
not, is signed by Walter Palmer. I do not know that he got
nothing for the assignment. I understood he got a house
furnished for him. I do not recollect being applied to by
William Palmer in December, 1854, to attest a proposal on his
brother's life for £13,000 in the Solicitors and General office.
I have no doubt I might. The body of the document [handed
to witness] is in the handwriting of William Palmer. The
signature is mine. I may have signed it blank. I do not
remember getting £5 for attesting the execution of that deed
of assignment by Walter Palmer to his brother. [The witnew
gave similar answers to questions put as to his attestation of
proposals for policies of £13,000 on Walter Palmer's life in two
other offices.] With reierence to that £200 which I got for
Mr. Cook, £100 from Mrs. Palmer and the other £100 from
William Palmer, Cook gave £10 for the accommodation t<.

William Palmer. William Palmer was the drawer of the bfll
and Cook the acceptor. He received £100 less £10 in cash.
Wlien the bill was given I handed it over to Mr. Palmer. What
he did with it I do not know. I do not know if he discounted
with Mr. Pratt. I have never seen the bill since. Palmer was
not short of money at this time, as he lent £100 to Cook. I
do not know that he wanted some money to make up the sum
of £500 payable to Mr. Sargent.

Proof closed.
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Attomai-

Attorney-General's Address to Jury.

Mr. Attornet-Gekkbal—May it plea»e your lordships

—

Gentlemen of the jury, tlie case for the prosecution and the
case for the defence are now before you; and it becomes my
duty to address to you such observations upon the whole of the
materiak, upon which your judgment is to be founded, us

suggest themselves to my mind. I have a solenm and an
important duty to perform. I wish that I could have answered
the appeal made to me the other day by my learned friend, Mr.
Serjeant Shee, and have felt that I was satisfied with the case
that he submitted to you on the part of the defence. But, stand-
ing here as the instrument of public justice, I feel that I should
be wanting in the duty that I have to perform if I did not ask
at your bauds for a verdict of guilty against the accused. I
approach the consideration of the case in what, I hope, I may
term a spirit of fairness, of moderation, and of truth. My
business is to convince you, if I can, by facts and legitimate
argument, of the prisoner's guilt. If I cannot establish it to
your satisfaction, no man will rejoice more than I shall in the
verdict that you will pronounce of not guilty.

Ctentlemen, in the vuat mass of materials which the evidence
in this case has brought before you, two main questions present
themselves prominently for your consideration—did the deceased
man, into whose death we are now inquiring, die a natural
death, or was he taken off by the foul means of poison t And
if the latter proposition be sanctioned by your approbation,
then comes the important—if possible the still more important
—question of whether the prisoner at the bar was the author
of his death! I will proceed at once without further observa-
tion to the discussion of those qu stions, taking them in the
order in which I have proposed them. Did John Parsons Cook
die by poison? I assert and maintain the affirmative of that
proposition. The case which is submitted to you on behalf
of the Crown is this, that having been first practised upon by
antimony, he was at last killed by strvchnia ; and the proposi-
tion which I have to establish is that the death of the deceased
was occasioned by that poison. The first question, with a view
of seeing what is the conclusion at which we shall arrive upon
that point, is, what was the immediate and proximate cause
'^ his death? The witnesses for the prosecution have told
y/u one and all that he died, in their judpment, of tetanus,
which signifies a spasmodic convulsive action of the muscles of
the body. Can there be any doubt thnt that opinion is eorrectt
Of course, it does not follow that because he died from tetanus
it must be tetanus from strychnia ; that is a matter for after

consideration ; but inasmuch as strychnia produces death by
214
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tetaniu, we muit lee, in the fint place, whether it admit* of Attaraw-
any doubt that he did die of tetanus. I have listened with C***'*'

attention to every form in which that diseutie bus been brought
under your considerution, whether by the positive evidence of

witnesses, or by reference i the works ot scientific authors;
and 1 ussert delibututeiy that no case either of a human sub-
ject, or of any animal, lius been brought under yuur notice in

which the symptoms of tetanus have been so marked as they
are in this case ; from the moment the paroxysm came on, of

which this unhappy man died, the symptoms were of the moat
marked and of the most striking character. Every muscle,

says the medical man who was present ut the time, of his

body was con ilsei] ; he expressed the most intense dread of

suffocation ; he entu-ateil them to lift liim up lefit he should be
suffocated, and when il>e,v sstooped to raine him every muscle of

his body, from the ci'<^wn of his head to the sole of his foot,

was so stiffened that tde flexibility of the trunk and limbs was
gone, so that they could have raised him as you would raise

a dead corpse or a lifeless log. It was found to be impossible,

and the man prayed to be tinned over in order to escape from
the sense of the imminent risk of suffocation ; they turned him
over, and in the midst of doing so a fearful paroxysm, one
mighty spasm, seems to have seized upon his heart, to have
preased from it the life blood, so that in a moment vitality

ebbed, and the man was dead before Inem ; wlien (lend, the

body eshihite<l tlie most marked symptoms of this most fearful

disease : it was bowed from head to foot, and it would have
rested, if it had been so placed, says the witness, upon the
back of the head and the heels ; the hands were clenched with

. grasp which it required power to overcome, and the feet

were curved till they assumed the appearance of a natural

malformation. It is impossible to conceive symptoms more
striking of tetanus ; nor is it possible to conceive evidence more
dishonest than that which has attempted to represent it as any
other than as a case of tetanus.

Well, then, if it was a case of tetanus, as to which I will not

waste your time with any further observations, was it a case

of tetanus from strychnia? I will confine myself for the

moment to the exhibition of the symptoms as they have been
described by the witnesses. Tetanus may proceed from natural

causes as well as from the administration of poison. While
the symptoms last they are the same, but in the course of the

symptoms before ' disease reaches its ccnFummation in the
death of the patient the dir:*: iction between the two is marked
by characteristics which will enable any one conversant with
the subject to distinguish between the two. We have been
told upon the highest autho-'ty that the distinctions are these

—

Natural tetanus is a disease not of minutes, not even of hours,
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AUMMT. but of d»yi. It takM, ny MTeral of the witneMea, from three"** to four daya, aad will extend to period of even three weelu,
before the patient ii destroyed. Upon that point we have
the moat abundant and oonoluaive evidence. We have the
evidence of gentlemen who have made it their eapecial atudy, like
Mr. Curling and Dr. Todd. We have the evidence of one of
the moat eminent practitionera who ever adorned that pro-
feaaion or any other, I mean Sir Benjamin Brodie. We have
the evidence of Mr. Gordon, who for twenty-eiglit yeara was
aurgeon to the Briatol Hospital; we have the evidence of Mr.
Daniel, who saw twenty-five or thirty of these casea of natural
tetanua; we have the evidence of a gentleman who practised
for twenty-five years in India, where, owing to the particular
character of the climate, those cases are infinitely more frequent
than they present themselves here, and he gives exactly the
same description of the course of symptoms through which this
disease runs. Idiopathic or traumatic tetanus are therefore,
upon the evidence, out of the question ; but traumatic tetanus is

out of the question for a very different reason. Traumatic
tetanus is tetanus brought on by lesion of some part of the
body. What is there in this particular case to show that there
was lesion in any part of the body at all? We have had the
most singular representations upon the subject of Mr. Cook's
health made by the witnesses who have come here on behalf of
the defence, and who appear to have come into that bo with
the determination as far as possible to misconceive every fact
which they could pervert to their purpose. We call before
you for the purpose of showing what Cook's health was an
eminent physician who had had him under his care. It seems
that in the spring of 1855 Cook, having fouud certain small
spots manifest themselves in one or two parts of his body, and
having something of ulcers under his tongue, or in his throat,
conceived that he was labouring under symptoms of a particular
character, and he addressed himself to Dr. Savage, who found
the course of medicine he had been pursuing, founded upon this
belief, was, in his judgment, an erroneous one ; he altered it

altogether; he enjoined the discontinuance of mercury, and
was obeyed in his injunction : mid t!ie result was that the
deceased, who was suffering, not from disease, but from the
treatment, rapidly grew well. Nevertheless, lest there should
be the possibility of mistake, Dr. Savage made him come to
him from time to time that he might see that things were going
on right, and he sees, long before the summer had advanced,
the very unsatisfactory symptoms had entirely gone, and that
there was nothing about him except that affection of the throat
to which sometimes people are subject, some abnormal condi-
tion of one of the tonsils, but in other respects the man was
better than he had been, and might be said to be perfectly
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*f'''»'"*^*-
0° the very day he left London to go into the Mmtmi.country about a fortnight before the race*. h« «tepfaUier aocom ^^SK'

f"i!.1? "^ ^- *''* "'*^'°"' ""'^ congratulated him upon his
healthy and vigoroua appearance, and the young man. in the
oonKjiouane.. ol the powewion of health, .truck hi. brea.t,and uid he wa. well, and he felt .o.

kZ.*"' *i! ^! *° S*i™*»»'"'y. and shortly afterward, camethoM matter, to which I .hall have to call your attention
presently, more particularly that ended in hi. death. I want
to know upon what part of this evidence there is the slightest
pretence for saying that this man had any affection about himfrom which traumatic tetanus could ensue. It is said at some
former time he had exhibited his throat to some of the witnesse.who were called, and that he had applied to Palmer for some
mercurial wash to apply to his throat, or some of those ulcer..The precise period of it is not fixed, but it is perfectly clear
that though he had at one time adopted that course, under therecommendation of Dr. Savage, he had got rid of it; and
there IS not the slightest pretence for saying ti.at this man was
suffering under a syphilitic affection of any kind ; nevcrthele..
that fact was distinctly and unequivocally negatived by a man
of the highest authority-a medical gentleman of erainenc*^-
under whose treatment the man got so rapidly well. That
fact I. assumed by the witnesses for the defence a. the ground
upoii which to suggest that there wa. traumatic tetanus in this
case. It 18 a pretence, genUemen, which has not the rfiadow

dItv f^T^ ^*J**"' /""i*^
""^^^

^ ^''""''^ b« shrinking from mv
.tflt- ij""^

denounce as altogether unworthy of your

tl^^T' J^f^7"* °°**''"g ''^^"t the man. according tothe statement of aU those who were competent to give you ,in
opinion, which would ..arrant for a single moment the sup-

E°° ^f -^'f
""'"^ anything in any part of the man's bodvwhich could justify the notion of traumatic tetanus ; even ifthere were, the character which his symptoms assumed whenthe tetanus set m is utterly incompatible, according to the

evidence of all the witnesses, with a case of traumatic tetanus.

«2ln T^^ **^ traumatic tetanus have been adduced inevidence on the part of the defence. We had the case of a

fnA K /^' ^J*""^''*
*° *^^ ^"'J"" Hospital in the evening,and who died the same night. Yes, but what were the facU

Wh/"'"' The facts are that he had had before he wa!

Jvmntn,"' PP?"*^ paroxysms; that he felt premonito^

7{7mZt
^^^^ "> the morning; he was suffering from ulceS

run thl;r/^''"''"*^„'^^-'=':'P*'*'"= ""'^ *»>«* the Bvmptom. had

Zir l.'^'-""'*!' "T^^^ '^ " *""-•' ^«t «*i" *^^^ disease wa. not a

cue that rZ^"' ^"*
* """'r^' °^ ''°""- '^^^'^ » ^'> other

iu brolL " ^.Y"V*- There is the case of the boy whowa. brought in, ,f ,t be necessary to allude to it. But there
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again we have the diaeaae existing for lome time before it ends
in death. It ia a matter there again of houra, and not of
minutea, and not a single paroxysm like this was observed. But
it is then suggested that this may have been a case of idiopathic
tetanus. Idiopathic tetanus proceeding from whatt They
say that Mr. Cook was a man of delicate constitution—subject
to excitement—that he had something the matter with his
chest—^that in addition to having something the matter with
his chest, he had this diseased condition of the throat—and,
putting all these things together, they say that the man, if

he took cold, might get idiopathic tetanus. We are launched
into a sea of speculation and of possibilities. Mr. Nunneley,
who comes forward here for the purpose of inducing you to
believe that there was anything like idiopathic tetanus, goes
through a bead-roll of the supposed infirmities of Mr. Cook
and talks about his excitability—talks about his delicacy of
chest—^talks about the affection of his throat—goes through
those various heads, and says that those things may have
predisposed him to idiopathic tetanus if he took cold. What
evidence is there that he ever did take cold I Not the slightest

in the world. The man, from the beginning to the end of the
symptoms, was never treated for cold by anybody, or ever com-
plained that he had taken cold. I cannot help saying, to me
it seems that it is a scandal upon a learned, a distinguished,

and a liberal profession, that men should come forward and
put forward such speculations as these, perverting the facts,

and drawing from them sophistical and unwarranted conclusions
with the view of deceiving a jury. I have the greatest respect

for science—no man can have more ; but I cannot repress my
indignation and abhorrence when I see it thus perverted and
prostituted to the purposes of a particular cause in a Court of

justice. Do not talk to me about excitement, as Mr. Nunneley
did the other day, being the occasion of idiopathic tetanus.

You remember the sorts of excitement he spoke of. They
are unworthy of your notice, and they were topics discreditable

to be put forward by a witness as worthy of the attention of

sensible men constituting stich a tribunal as you are.

But suppose for a single moment that excitement of this kind
could produce any such effect or influence, where is the excite-

ment manifested by Cook as leading to this supposed disease!

They say that the man, when his mare won at Shrewsbury, was
full of excitement ; and well he might be—his fortunes depended
upon tiie result of that race: and I do not deny for a ft'W

minutes he was overpowered by the emotions that the joy of

the moment excited in his breast. But that subsided, and we
have no further trace of it from that time to the moment of

his death. The man passed the reut of tlie day with his

friends in ordinary conversation and in ordinary enjoyment.
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No traoe of emotioo was left about him. He ia taken ill • h« a**
gpe. to Bugeley; he ia taken iU there again" ^"ife'^^SSSST
riighteat ymptom of excitement about thf man. or? on the

When he 18 ill like most other people, he is low; but aTsoonas he gets a little better he is cheerful and happv he^d^ta

death 80 far from any excitement, his conversation is ful ofcheerfulness and mirth-he is laughing and happy UtSe Sinkmg. poor wretch, of the fate that was impeSdL ovL hTmHe >. cheerful and happy, talking of the fuSirefnot in the

teZ m*f°'''\'
''^ ^^\°''« ^^' °' o^ depression onthe other. What pretence is there for this idle stoi^ of excite-

Ste'orW '" BuT f J""'
"^^

'''^}'T'
''""'^^ of^undaUon

in tMworld. But if there were—if those things were capable
of producing that form of tetanus which goes bv the term

2iZ^^\ .'^'' '"^'"'^^ °* *^« disease^r so^^entfaS;Afferent that it is impossible to mistake the two. What arJUie owes which they attempt to set up against it? They have

art ^v T "'^^^ °' Mary Watson, wlich a gentleman came^ -I, t?^j'™°
Scotland to teU us about. The girl l.adbeen m aU day. She was taken with cramps in thf nij.' t

gpea about her business. Is that case to be compared for h^le mstant to th j^^^h agony of that wretched ml and
the paroxysm that destroyed him J Those are the sort ofcas« with which they attempt to meet such svmptoms „s Sose

dtl"? r'Sok" '- *'^ ^•^"^''^^^ "' aeco'mpanying the

tJ.S°S?!?«; ' /-S-^'^Iu^P^" **"** '^•'^""*^^' *" "««*rt boldly

1, !«n ! !
'diopathic tetanus and traumatic, or what Imay oaU natural tetanus, are marked bv clear and distinct

SvS"''*'":,*\"*'"^"i.^*^'"^
*^«™ ^™" '^'' tetanus prodS by

cHI^^a' fu -^ "'^ ^'^^^ ^^^ t^*"'^""^ **»»<=»» accompanied MrCook
« death is not referable to either of those forms of

ofti,« 1.;J°t "P°° *^** P°'°* *^« «^'^«n«e of witnesses

L«?tv ^^
!i

*='""P^t;^'°.«.^ «"d of the most unquestionable

ian^Sl'* T° *!»«"•. evidence I am quite satisfied vou

efther nf .i? ""'.i!'*^""
*'"i"''l""«" ^ut that this was not a case

^v ff 1. T'l"*" °^ *'-«»™"t'<: tetanus. But, then, they

Sve bfn^n,«r. 1 """^^IJ?"^
'^'"' ""'^ ^«"°"« ^"e'nP*^

o fiZr^ ^*7-' *^"'^^'^- ^"*^' ^"*- ^« »»»^e the thlory

the^S ™?r?/T' '

"'"^ ^- -^r"^'^^'
'^'^^"''^ »«"« through

"Oh ?; u^*
supposed infirmities of Mr. Cook, says.

havr'wL""^ ^*? *'®^" * '''^'^ °' Pe^e--"! convulsions. Inave known general convulsions to nss.ime a tetanic char-
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*»»?«-y- actor." " WeU, but pause a moment, Mr. Nunndey. have
you ever seen one single case in which death arisiii from
general convulsions, accompanied with tetanic symptoms, hai
not mded m the unconsciousness of the patient before death!—
No, I never knew such a casfr—not one. But in some book
or other, I am told that there is some such case reported " •

and he cites, not for that purpose, I think, but he cites, with
reference to general convulsions being sometimes accompanied
vnth tetanic symptoms, and ending in death, a very eminent
author of the present day. I mean Dr. Copland. Dr. Cop.
land IS living, and Dr. Copland might have been called. The
author of the book, I apprehend, would stand before you as a
higher authority than a man who merely quotes the book as
the foundation of his knowledge. Dr. Copland might have
been called. Dr. Copland was not called, notwithstanding the
challenge which I threw out. Why! Because it is infinitely
better in such a case to call together from the east and from
«ie west practitioners of more or less obscurity, instead of
bringing to bear upon the subject the light of science which is

treasured up in the breasts of t»- ^ eminent practitioners with
whom this great city abounds. Dr. Copland is not called;
but I say, as regards general convulsions, the distinction is

plain, that where they destroy the patient they destroy con-
sciousness; and here it is unquestionably the fact, that to the
last moment of Mr. Cook's eiistente, until his burst heart
ceased to beat, his consciousness remained.

But then comes another supposed condition from which deathm this form may bo said to have resulted, and that is the case
which was intended to be set up by a very eminent practitioner,
I mean Mr. Partridge. It seems that in the post-mortem
examination of Mr. Cook, when the spinal marrow was investi-
gated, certain granules were found, and this is seized upon.
It is said, " Oh, those granules mav have occasioned tetanic
convulsions similar to those which were found in Mr. Cook'i
case," and a very eminent gentleman is called to give hii

opinion upon that subject. I admit him to be not only a

man of great eminence, but a man of the highest honour and
the most perfect veracity. I allude to Mr. Partridge. I must
distinguish between him and other of my learned friend's wit-

nesses. Some there were who would not be induced, for any
consideration in the world, to swerve from what they believed
to be the truth. Mr. Partridge is called here to prove that

this was a case of what he called arachnitis—inflammation of

the arachnoid in consequence of the granules, or some other

abnormal condition. I asked him the symptoms which h«
would find in such a case. I called his attention to what
evidently had not been done before, namely, the symptoms of

Mr. Cook's case; and I anked him, in simple, straightforwani
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was a case of ^eTticlon^rS^s^':^"'^' '^''' ^r; Cook'.
Now. I asked him this quelSon •' nS °'" comphcations.

of epUepsy. with or withrtleTaW SnvJ?sbr"i 'whV
""

|ciousness was not destroyed before the paS SeJl'' "Z•*»d, No; I cannot say that I ever did h.TrT »! , •

«>me book that such a case has occurri '' ' '• L thp"""* '^"l^-
'"

to make you think that this w^s eSsy?-Well rmT^°^

by'aloss ofrnUotl?"' "'wrrth^ntrdS^ ^^"^''^\^^

tetanic complications make?" Th.'*^ •'
*'^^^,<i'fference would

prove it that thpr^ ,<, „„r • i

"^"^ *° ^'^^ evidence to

witaJSes ioS «^/
''°"

r^"*
'^"^ *•>« *''^«'-J' *»'•'* his medical

I murt «dZf ?i. r^L"" *° '^* "P- ^«»''^. ""e after another

m^ w>.„ *^^T, ^r*" "« «"*''-«'^ ^^ ""Trise- The gentle:

Wkpdi " *'*"*^ yestenlav at the last moment and who
?11«^ K^lt Pr**'^''' ^""^'^ "«* have escaped qJite «o ealn^rf

1 had had the books to which he referred under my Sand!
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AMjjmy and had been able to expose, aa I would have done, the ignor-
ance or the presumption of the assertion which be dared to
make. I say ignorance or presumption, or, what is worse, an
mtention to deceive. I assert it in the face of the whole medi-
cal profession, and I am satisfied I shall have their verdict in
my favour.

But it is a fact, which I am entitled to dwell upon, that all

those medical witnesses, one and all, differed in the views which
they take in this case. There is this remarkable coincidence
between the views of some of them and the views of the'witnesties
whom I call" 1—Mr. Partridge and Dr. Robinson, two of the
most respectable witnesses they called, ay, and Dr. Lethebj
himself, strongly as he was biassed in favour of the defence,
being three of the most eminent of the witnesses whom mv
learned friend brought forward, agreed with the statement made
by Sir Benjamin Brodie, and supported by other witnessei
whom I brought before you, that in the whole of their

experience, in the whole range of their learning and infor-

mation, they knew of no known disease to which the symptoraj
of Mr. Cook could possibly be referred. When such men
as those tell us such a fact, I cannot but submit to you
that it is impossible to exaggerate its importance. But, then,
if it be the fact that no known disease can account for such

symptoms as those of Mr. Cook, and that they are referable
to poison alone, can any one entertain a doubt that that poison
was the poison of strychnia? The symptoms, at all events
from the time the paroxysm set in, are precisely the same.
Distinctions are sotight to be made by the subtlety of the wit-

nesses for the defence between some of the antecedent symptomi
and some of the appearances after death ; but I think I shiJl

show you bej'ond all possibility of contradiction, that

those distinctions are imaginary, and have no founda-
tion in fact. I think I may take this, however,
along with me as I go on, that the witnesses called for

the defence admit this fact, that from the time the paroxvsm
set in, of which Mr. Cook died, until the time of the death, the

symptoms are precisely olmilar to the symptoms of tetanus from
strychnia. But, then, they say, and this is worthy of your
most attentive consideration, that there are points of difference

which have led them to the conclusion, or some of them at all

events, that those symptoms could not have resulted from
strychnia. Let us see what they are. In the first place,

they showed that the period which elapsed between the sup-

posed administration of the poison and the first appearance of

the symptoms was longer than they have ever observed in

animals upon which they have experimented. Now, the first

observation which arises there is this, that there is a known
difference between animal and human life, in the power with

233
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SeoTln i »;v^T "^"^'^'^ to a rabbit will prSSe S «^^5iy

It wm act with stiU greater tardiness : and if that eubstancB

h« w °^
""u

*"?"' *^"° **^« P«"od wiU be stilllfni" bSethe substance, having become dissolved, is acted2 hv t^!absorbents and taken up into the system. ^ ^^ ^^^

.ttlr-l A ^^^ *^^ P^"°<* «* ^l^'^h this poison began to act

so that they were not administered upon his first arrival tkI

impended strenuously resisted the attempt to makrhim taSthem, and no doubt those remonstrances and the endea^ur to

rrrXn'^ir^P'"'
Bome period of time. T^^Turat laS

7ZthT\ ^ '
"'^"""'g them to have contained strychnia

& .^ k"'-^
^^ °°^ ^°'' *'^« P"^P««e of argument), how s7on

Hnnn K- .
^^^ «"PPer. and came back about twelve o'clock

t^on J^fh PT 1° *^" ™T' "^*^'- ^ ^•°'-<l o-- two of conversa:tion with Cook, he proceeded to undress and go to bed and

fhat an„r ^'".J"
^'^ *^" '"•"»*«' ^'^fo'-e thfwari^^'camethat another of these paroxysms was about to take place Thlmaid-servants put it still earlier; they say that about tJnminutes before twelve the first alarm wLXn which wouldmake the interval little more than threT-q?aSs of an ho"

STptlms
^°^°' *^^P^"/ •'"'' *^« ^' manifestation oflL

Sr?sTat ,-t^l°'
*\«'-«^°"^' ™y learned friend's witnesses

£re anothJ «wl "" ''""'" ""'' ** ''''" <"• *^« ^ours. we have

fiJita onV • *^
*''°"^ exaggerated determinations to see the

tW*t"l " ^^^ ^^^ '^^* ''^'" '"aJ'e most for the view which

mo^^>!"'' P'T' *^ P"* '°'^"^- I "av it certainly walnotmore than an hour, and I find in some of the experiSente that
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have been nude that the duration of time befora which the

Eiaon began to work has been little leu, if any Ina, than an
ur. Mr. Morley, who ia as much entitled to your attention

aa Mr. Nuimeley—indeed, when I contrast the way in which
the two men gave their evidence, I am paying him but a poor
compliment when I say that he is as worthy of attention aa
Mr. Nuimeley—Mr. Morley says in his evidence that five or
six minutes, or something less than an hour, is the period
which he observed the poison required to produce its effects

upon animals, and in every one of the cases which we have got
it will be seen that more than an hour was necessary. In the
case of the girl at Glasgow, though I see the medical gentleman
peaks of twenty minutes when he was called in, he could have
only had that information from the statement of some of the
people about. I see the nurse says it was three-quarters of
an hour before the pills began to work upon the girl. There
may have been some cause for the pills not beginning to take
effect within a certain time after their administration ; it would
be very easy to mix them with some substance that should
render them difScult of solution ; nay, which might retard
their action. I cannot for a single moment bring myself to

believe, if in all other respects you are perfectly satisfied that
the symptoms, the consequences, and effects were analogous
and similar to those produced by strychnia, it is not because
those pills may have taken a quarter of an hour or a longer
time to manifest their working, it is not on that account you
will hesitate to come to the conclusion that strychnia was ad-
ministered in this case. But then they say, yes, but the pre-

monitory symptoms were wanting here. They tell us in animals
they observed that the animal manifests first some uneasiness,

shrinks, and gathers itself into itself, as it were, avoids move-
ment, and then certain involuntary twitchings about the head
come, those beingthepremonitorysymptoms before the paroxysms
et in. They say there were no premonitory symptoms in

Cook's case ; I utterly deny that proposition—I say there were
premonitory symptoms of the most marked character, though
he did not describe them in language. He is lying in bed

—

he suddenly starts up in an agony of alarm. Wbat made him
do that? Was there nothing premonitory, nothing that

warned him that the paroxysm was coming t It is clear there

must have been. He jumps up in his bed, and says, " Fetch
me Palmer, I am going to be ill, as I was last night." What
was it but that he knew the symptoms that attended him on

the previous evening were now warning him of what he might
expect in a short period, unless succour could be obtained t He
sit^ lip, and he prays to have his neck rubbed. What wn«

the feeling about the neck but a premonitory symptom which
was to precede the paroxysm which presently supervened T He
ajrs, " Rub my neck, it gives me comfort to have it done."

«4



not

Attorney-General's Address to Jury.

^
»?JivHeSt't^^' f^^ "^PJ> ^ they «7 thi. eould Atfn-,.

bear to be touched; a CS bS^'*^**"~ »°™»^ cannot ^^^^ff
a touch but a brea'th of a^ ^JJ" ?« paroxyam; not onfy
•ny one near, will hrii^ L '^' " ''°"^' * movement of

T^i^utthatiaaft^rtSeirSxyr^r' °'u*^^ P""^"^'
when It is juat about to be^^^ ??

• " "?''« *>e«° wt up, or
witncMes who come and aa^t^;. *if* J"

'''"*® *=^««"- ^^ thoae
dedred to have ^ nSk "ubtS ?\'r**°l

*^'"- ^^''^ ^'^^^
could not be a death from tS.,.' I '*"* *° P^'^e that thM
preaaed the knowlSw in «.«!!

^' ^T« "*^«'- '^UfuHy -up-
had heard, or thTSd naS noT V^' °' *^« ^^'^ence thfy
caae. of death from a?ScW ^ 7 *° ^ ^^^'^'> ^ t^o
endured the touching of theS,« Zh /^ ^**''^ *^« P»tie°t
it. In Mra. Smyth'a case wt I' ^^ '°"°^ satisfaction from
^ny of the conr^sfori iSaJeSlSnTn

^^ ^ *^«
rtraightened; she founl no add^Sni ^°*f**ed to have them
The lady at Leeds "f/

°° "*^<^»tiona pam from that operation
*ttended^ impK'her Sfsblnd T^}"^

^r N„„^^,
P«^j^on.

her legs and her arma in SS't. ^'° *^^ 'P^«"«> *« ^ub
rigidity. That casT was undir hiHl^T '°? i"^"« *1»"''

V'te of it, although he detSjd ^LrT f"°:^^^"' ''°^' ^
body of that unhappy woman S o^**'^f*^«

strychnia in the
and say that the fa^cf T^r Cook w' ^l?"'"

'"'"^"'^ 1»«™
tolerated rubbing, ana ffu^H .«!? J"?^ ^^^"""^ *^« Paroxysm
could not have btn a dea?h frl ff"* i°-'*'

P™™^«« '^^^ this
of the honesty of%U ? wresl7 b""*

"

^>> •

*'''°'' ^°"
case, which is the case of Mr HntfLK t ^^T " * *^''d
Moore. That eeatieLn h.^"

"""^'^buck. spoken to by Mr.
and he ^uSe!XomZ\ tlf

'^''^°
f°

°^^'"''°«« o^ strychnia,
fort waa ha^Sg h?iSbfruC "^ tetanus; his onYj com!
contend and to endeav^^o 1.!?/^'^^ •*^^'"*^°'"«' ^ ^-^y- *<>

Owk's having had hTs Seek ruS "
il^'^u*^"*

**»« ^"^t «'
tetanus from^8trTchn?a Trov.« t

P™^^* *hat this was not
honesty and insiStv' JT '

I
'^^' °°**'"'» but the dia-

forward such T^Sce ""*"""'"' ''^^ "="" '^'^^^ *« P"*

Nobody ever pretend^ XV ^u°"'
thf Paroxysm came on.

paroxysm came on R« 7 ,,
^\ *"l"'^

"^^""^ after the
very curious and as thL^y^^^f **»« P"l«. and, what ia

part of thelJ'tJeoTy is thfs if'
^^

"J,!
°"* ^"** ^"«*™*"

"

iwaUow the pills-She -nHh^*
''''' *^^ *''* "^ attempting to

place in raiabg^rheS °5 ^IIT"**^*"'* """* ^''^^ *^«"
mediately brinls on «,« ^^f T'''

'"'" ^'^^ Purpoae-that im-
So far fim^S TtS sliiS r'^^s^."^ "^^^^ ^« died,

opposition that th?8 was a cas« nf
^^'^ mditating against the

•tangly and deciatjrnS'iS^r};^^^^^ '* "
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But tb«n they take ui to the appearaaoea after death, aiul
thtj aay that there are oircunutancea to be found which mili-
tate against thia being a case of strychnia poisoning. Let us
ee what they are. In the first place, they say the limbs
became rigid either at the time of death or immediately after,
and that oi^ht not to be foimd in a case of tetanus from
tryohnia. Mr. Nunneley says, " In all cases upon which I

hare experimented I have found the animals become flaccid
before death, and they do not become again rigid after it."
I CMUi hardly believe that statement, and I certainly was not
a little surprised when the very next witness who got into the
box (Mr. Herapath, of Bristol) told us he had made two
experiments upon cats, and killed them boUi. He described
them as " indurated and contorted." Those were his ex-
pressions when he found them some hours after death. The
preaence of rigidity in the body at or immediately after death
here is put forward on the part of Mr. Nunneley as one of the
grounds upon which he says thia was not a death by strychnia,
although Dr. Taylor had told us that in the case of one of the
oats he killed the rigidity after death was such that upon taking
the animal by the hind legs and holding it up in the air, the
body maintained its horizontal natural position, as though the
animal had been upon its four legs upon a plain surface. Not-
withstanding that evidence, Mr. Nunneley had the audacity
to say that he did not believe this was a case of poisoning bj
strychnia, because there had beei. '•ndity of the limbs—be-

cause the feet were distorted, the l ds clenched, and the

muscles rigid as the unhappy man exhibited prior to his death.
The very next witness called upon the other side produced two
instances in which the animals were indurated from one end of

their bodies to the other. As he says they were contorted in

all their limbs, and so they remained, it shows what you are

to think of the honesty of this sort of evidence, in which facts

are selected because they make in favour of the particular

hypoti)esi8 of the party who brings them forward.
Then the next thing that is said is that the heart in thii

case was empty. In the animals Mr. Nunneley and Dr.

Letheby have operated upon I think the heart has been found
full. I do not think that applies to all the cases ; I think they

make some exceptions; and. as I said at the outset, it is s

remarkable fact connected with the history of this particular

poison, that you never can rely upon the precise form or order

which the symptoms before death and the appearances after

it win assume. There are only certain great, leading, marked
characteristic features—^the collateral incidents are capable of

infinite variety. We have here the main marked characteristic

features, and we have, what is more, collateral incidents similar

to the cases in which the administration of strychnia and the
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it i. obTiou. to any om who ^flL^ » ^ "*^ emptiea,- and

from more than one cause. AU the muacleg of 7»,r^kL

Slhrh**"'"- f^^"" ''S*'" ^i*t 4a«i to t^e^col^Btion

Dowerof *}.» J/- ^^v^"^' °^ P«'-°^y8m8 exhausting the vitalS co^^eS"!: *^A"
^°" "P^* *° ^^ *»»« I'r^^and othervessels congested by those aeries of convulsions and soaamsAs death takes place from one or other of those caSes fo^

to nLtiv?^'! "
J?**".'"?. I ^y- i° this for a single momenJ

fillet
conclusion which you would otherw«e arrive at

Wnfl-^P*r' ""J"^^ "PP^*"-^ '» this man7r.4Tthetime of his death and immediately afterwards-that tloJe ar^

iind?^tES"-
"^ *'*'°"^'?' ^^ "^W^t and mo^t ag^aJaS

«nw • J
*,P™P«>«tion about which, I think, you c^

any other description t Certainly not; because ^ %?JrBenjamin Brod e told you, the course of the ymptom ^s markedby characteristics of unquestionable difference
18 It not then preposterous to contend that this was not a
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OMe of tetenuat And if eveiy one of the dirtinotioni they
h*Te attempted to let up I ihow you to have really nothing ta
do with the oaae (because I produce you at once an undoubted
oaae in which the adminiatration of atrychnia ia beyond the
reach of queation, in which thoee particular aymptoma and
appearance* were manifeated and observed) I get rid at once
of all thoae vain, futile attempta to diatinguiah thia oaae, either
in ita premonitory aymptoma or in the appearauoea either before
or upon post-mortem examination. I get rid of all those
difficulties, and I come back to the symptoms which attended
thia unhappy man 'a demiae. I aak whether you can doubt
that, when I have excluded all those cases of tetanic convulsions,
epilepsy, and arachnitis, or angina pectoris, which occurred,
you recollect, in a young girl after an attack of scarlet fever

—

m all human probability the scarlet fever had been thrown
back upon the system, and had produced all those consequences—when I exclude all those cases, and then, lastly, exclude trau-
matic or idiopathic tetanus, what remains! The tetanus of
strychnia, and the tetanus of strychnia only. I pray your
attention to the cases of which evidence has been given, in
which there was no question as to strychnia havmg been
administered, there not being the shadow of a doubt about it,

and in which the circumstances were so similar, and the symp-
toms so analogous, that I think you cannot hesitate to come
to the conclusion that this was death by strychnia. Medical
witnesses of the highest authority, both on the part of the
Crown and on the part of the defence, agree that in the whole
range of their experience and knowledge V.\ey know of no natural
disease to which these remarkable symptoms can be referred.
If that be so, and there is a known poison that will produce
them, how strong, how cogent, how irresistib' iiecomes the
inference that to that poison, and to that pr. :..i alone, are
those symptoms and this death to be ascribed I

Nevertheless, gentlemen, on the other banc the case is not
without its difficulties ; and I will not shrink from the discussion
of them, nor from the candid recognition of these difficulties,

so far as they in reality exist. Strychnia was not found in

this hoc/; and we have it, no doubt upon strong evidence,
that in a variety of experiments which have been tried upon
the bodies of animals killed by strychnia, strychnia has been
detected by the tests which science places at the disposition of

scientific men. If strychnia had been found, of course there
would have been no difficulty, and we should have had none of

the VL minus theories which gentlemen from a variety of parts

have been brought forward to propound in this Court. The
quflstion for your consideration is, whether the absence of it«

detection leads conclusively to the view that this death could

not have been caused by the adminiatration of that poison.
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Now. in the firat place, under what circumatancea wm the ax. itt»n.«•mm.tion made of which Dr. Taylor and Dr. ReSh^iSk" ^SSST
to them for the purpce of analysia, it waa preaentiri to tSm
r^n'^nf'^.T^

unfavourable circumatance..'^ ^^.^y th^It. contenU had been loat, and that they had noTpportunitrof experimenting upon them. It i. ver/ true UiatC wS
L"vthL*?K

^" rr ",
****"»' '««°«^fa«t different llijjay that the contenta of the atomach were emptied into the i?but there api.ear8 (at all evenU I wiU not put it higher than«c.dent). by accident, to have been some apiUing of^the ooS^

evidence of very considerable bungling in the way in wbkhthe rtomach waa cut, and the way b which it wa. emptied iitothe jar It waa cut from end to end, aaya Dr. Taylor it

r nS "? "S'^? ^°'^"'.'^ ^"'^ been'tuiied LiLCt' intothe contenta of the intestines, and lay there in a maaa of

^at"fi r'"7' "°^"^'' *^^'-^^°'-'- '"^ conditiVthTmo^t
anaatiafactory for analysis and experiment. It is very truetoat the witnesses upon the other aide—Mr. Nunneley Mr
taS^* '*°\^'- J^t»»fby-say that, no matter tZ' con

W?w *
how mixed with impurities, they would have

iT^Z.i' • "^^t*"?
*•»« P'-e'ence of strychnia in the stomach,

LSn *7u ^f ^"^ *^^'*- I °^° I «hould have mor^confidence m the testimony of those witnesses if their par-tiah.y and partisanship had not been so much marked as they

h!; J-T'l ."'^f
'""'^ confidence in the testimony of Mr.

#.r^t- u'f ^^ ^^^ "°* ^^^" constrained to admit to me afact which had come to my knowledge, that he has again andi^ain asserted that this case was a case of poisoning by strych-

made
" * '***^"«°* ^^ •»«« ^gai" and again

Mr. Shrjbant Sheb—It was in the newspapers, he said.Mr. Attornet-Gknkul—He did not venture to say that the

SrSffJ^^?u°*^° ""^ ^"y ^'^^'^ ^••°°» the fact whichhe admitted in this Court. I have seen that gentleman not

Tnl^f
*=7*^"*'"g himself with coming forward! when called

T^r^L purposes of justice, to state that which ho knew

ZLTIY' » "^''^"''^ •" ?^ experiment, but I have seen him

SSL mTfi "L%' •* thoroughgoing partisan in this case.

Ind h?*"^ uTu ^r^"*^'
^^g^"*™? question upon question!

IsserI«JV\ f-
''"^°/ \"'''' ""hom he has again and again

savS u '!u'^/'' K" P°'^""^^ hy strychnia. I do not

Uk at thf^ril ?'/"!*' ''"t-
I d° «- th.,t it induces one to

o?Ln,vt„ T
^^""'^ witnesses with a very great amount

and »^^l f .
I reverence a man who. from a sense of justiceand a love of truih-from those high considerations which form
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- Um nob.e,t diMnmta in the charkctor of ofii—ooibm fonrutlm favour of a man againat whom the wcild mav run in a
torrent t- pr dice and aversion, and who atanda and itatea
what he belj. e to be the truth; but I abhor the traffic in

V i'. ioh I regret to nj men of aoienoe tometinMe
eaiM»..ie to oondeicend. I aik you therefore to
If y%t menta of thoM witneeiea with diapassiooatc

I la/ e vou attach implicit credit to them. But
I. « ti. kt all they aay ia true, that it ia the met that
hjif fcv[>«riirenta have lucceeded in diacovering

pannit
look at

n ftd wit I other impurities, and contaminate*
wii t c»u« —tjiey say that no extent of putre

iMmc
they i.

trychui.i. w
no mai ^

.

faotiop, n im. rt .
' . ool , uiion, will alter the charaotw'of

that V .tat .c m- '.t, ,u u»at it may not be detected if it iam the :.. v m »,-.i.-c. Be it ao. But then must it always
be found ik ev • -^v) where death has ensued? Professor
Taylor sa a to j a^i' - says it would be a most dangerous and
auBOluevou proi«jv'-vii to assert that that must necessarily beso—that It would euab'.d many a guilty man to escape who,
by admmistenng the Binallest quantity whereby life can be
affected and destroyed, might by that means prevent the possi-
bility oi the detection of the poison in the stomach of the
individual. All the witnesses seem to agree in this, or, at all
events the great bulk of them agree in this, that the pcison
acU after it has been absorbed into the system ; taken up by
the absorbenta of the stomach, it is carried into the blood;
paaemg by means of the circulation through the tissues, it ia
deposited there ; at some stage or othei- of tta progress it affects
the nervous system ; and as soon as the nerves affecting the
muscles of motion become influenced bv its baneful power
then come on those miiscular spasms and convulsions of which
we have heard so much. If the minimum dose be {riven, and
Uiat operates by absorption, it is perfectlv clear—and must
be clear—that the whole must be taken upbv absorbents and
pass into the blood, and that none therefore "will be found in
the stomach. Nay, a further proposition is ako clear. If it

18 necessary that it should be first passed by means of the circu-
lation mto the solid tissues of the bodv, before it acts upon the
jrvous system, it will cease to be found in the blood. Affain,

a portion of it, if in excess, will be eliminated in the kidneys,
and pass off m watery excretion. You do not know, th refore,m what part of the human body to put vour hand upon it.

But this IB undoubtedly the fact, if there has been an excess over
the quantity necessary to destroy the life of a particular indi-
vidual, then, as soon as the absorbents have taken up the
neccMary qnsr.iity, the nervous sjstcn; will at once be afitc..!
and life destroyed ; you will find t)i- excess in the stomach, if

you adopt the proper means of seeking for it. Now. what
33>
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did Umm genOemea dot They gare neTer leM than • gram-
«lt«B M much M two graina; and yet we now know that a
quarter of a gram ia enough to deatroj a amall i»ii«im | like
a rabbit, and that no man ooukl venture to hope for life who
took half a grain or three-quarters of a grain of it. There-
lore in the oaaea of their experiments, and experiments made,
•Uow me to say, for the purpose of this case, after those
parties had been reUined—I use the word "retained," for it
u the appropriate word : no parties can be more thorough-
going partisans than scientitic men who have once taken up
a case—after they have been retained for thi» case, and desire
that their experiments should hAve a certoin result, they take
good care to have doaes lai^e enough to leave a small portion
in the stomach. But be this aa it may, I have only now to
dtal with the experimenU or Proi-^ssor Taylor and Dr. Reea;
they may, for aught I know, be u pair of bunglers ; it ia no
part of my business to uphol.i them if their professional repu-
tation will lut do it; but they tell u.s ?hat they t-ied iU effects
upon four animals of the b.xme sp es with t'ully adequate
dose-s. Wheie they administertl tw- grains rhey reproduc^
the jpoison in abundaut e ; where thev administered oae grain
they found a small indication of it; 'and when taey adminis-
tered half a _-rain to two rabbiU they found no traces of the
poison at all. It may well be that that may result, as Mr.
Herapath say from Professor Taylor not knowing the right
way of going about it. It may be, if Mr. Herapath had had
the stomach under his more scientific manipulation, he would
have produced the strychnia. It is enough for my purpose
when, a.«i I show, the man who did in this case experiment apor
till fomach of Mr. Cook, in two cases out of four when he
had given a smaller dose to rabbits failed to eprnduce the
poison. What is the conclusion J draw from it? Why, that
although I cannot have tlie advantage here which the positive
detection of the sti\chnia would have afforded if it h.ad been
found, there is no room for the opposite conclusion—the i n-
verse of the piojiosition f which my leamf^i friend ai I as
witnesses contend—that the fact nf the strychn a not h -''

k; been
reproduced or discovered affords negative con. hisive
the death was not produced by strychnia. I h.ave
{MW)f on the one hand, but on the other hand m • leu

n in the =:vine predicament—he cannot aav that a h
proof conclusive f the fa*, of this death not ha\ njr

by strychnia.

But now is there no other evidence in case ' Do I ask
you to come to rhe conclusion that he adni nister -d =!tryohnia
to his f^-ien-!. ^imply b-eeause the symp'xjti.- of zhs.t F.-icnd's

death are rfcomilable with no known frrm of Hsease which
-ply J No,

'3«

<x>f that

. [.ositive

ed friend

necative

aken place

the most enlarged experience or knowle<^<:e can

;1i
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gentlemen, it does not nat tham v«* u^

But. alMl it doet iot I m.,^« T* **"**' ' ''^^ itdS

• death of ^Mr^t^^r^lJlTZ'' ^' \*^* ^•^
the character of .trySSa SSS ^J^'.^" ^"^^
the bar powewed of that poffoTpDirf hY k.*^* P"*°" **
eve of the death intoS il a.S 1i. °*'*T '*JJP°° **»»

matters of fearful moni^t Th..
"^quu-ingT

.
Thew are

behoved my leame?fS' iJ^ «« matters with which it

the vigour iftShlS.'«^S'an*3S T^'"^ "^*^ *"
hi. caae afforded. Bui" SWe to 1^ ?" *^« mean, that

Newton tell.3S "
.if? ° i^^T^ """I* ' •"Ij-

explamed to you the reasons which induced his sUence m,

a^a™ to?.Ji^^ """• ^''°,'^ew him. however, and who
hf^^A h ^.*^" "'^'"^ "'• '«»« "Pon 'amUiar t^mu with

m2?ci men "tS"'"'
""'"' ?'^ "*'7ohnia*' i. often Sod by

S;* time o7 n;.K?''^
was nothing extraordinary therefore at

be shuTun Z^ ' ^''^V^'S",'*' ?^°P« "•»*»* ^ ^'^t^d to

«a,^« «»?' K •• "r°
*'• P«l™er's coming to him for thmgrains of strychnia, be gave them to him, and probably thought

mS k"""'A"A •*• ^"* ^*>«" afterwards the questfon ofXmode by which this man's life had been taken awiy became rife
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tft ^nfiZZ
•,"^'''™'* °° '»™. and this youne man was called

That does not apply to this witness, for. even though ^^

brnfcJ'jK ' ^°" ^•"\>''' 'vidence, it mmt take'.,.;

not^iak SeTn ^'™? /T^' ".^ ^">^ «"'* Newton d^,
Hll tK^i

**»«.*™^»'—first, because he did not come forward

«i nw commuu cation with the prisoner, and affordinjr him the
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- Now, in the first place, I must rem&rk i',pon thia that the
young^ man doea not say nine o'clock. He saya, " about
nme, and every one knows how easy it is to make a mistake
as to tune with reference to half an hour or three-quarters of
ail hour, or even an horn-, when your attention is not till
perhaps a week or a fortnight or three weeks afterwards called
to a particular circumstance. A man may be sitting workingm his study or his surgery, and have no clock before him, and
have nothmg particular to impress upon his mind the precise
hour ot time at which a certain transaction took place; and to
say afterwards, when he comes to speaJs to it under the sanction
of an oath, that because he makes some slight diflference as to
the time therefore he must be taken to be speaking unteuly,
appears to my mind a moct untenable and un»,atisfactory
argument. It is due to my learned friend to say that he has
soujj'ht fa meet this part of the case. He has produced to-day
a witness of whom all I can say is this, that I implore you, for
the sake of justice, not to allow the man who stands at the bar
to be prejudiced by the evidence of that most discreditable and
unworthy witness who has been called to-day on his behalf. I
say that not to one word which that man has uttered will you
attach the slightest value. Before I come to him, however, I
must make this remark— that, if Newton could not be mis-
taken as to the time, how is it possible that the prisoner could
be mistaken as to the time? Yet he clearly was. He told
Dr. Bamford (and we have it from Dr. Bamford himself) the
next morning that he visited Cook between nine and ten
clock the night before. And now there comes a witness who

tells uh that it was a quarter past ten that he had with him
alighted from the car that brought them from Stafford, and
he coulc" not till after that have gone to visit Cook. My
learned triend reminds me that it was ten minutes past ten.
Then he had to go to Cook. One of the maid-servants, Lavinia
Barnes, like every other witness, may be mistaken; but she
asserts that on that night, the Monday evening, Mr. Palmer
came to the hotel, and went to see Mr. Cook before nine o'clock.
It is clear that she must have been mistaken. It is clear
that he could not have been there much before ten. I am
told that they get over in about an hour. There was a
carriage waiting for him, and he would come over to Rugeley
with as much rapidity as he could, which would not be before
ten o'clock. As to the fact of the witness pretending that he
saw him alight from the car, and that he went to Cook and
stayed a certain time so as to cover the whole evening. I ask
you not to believe a single word, and I do so because in my
heart I do not believe a single word of it.

It is a remark.ible fact, which has not escaped your .ittentinn,

1 dare say, that my learned friend did not open a single word
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JO^tey. Did he teU ua what the witness was goinff to provethat Jeremiah Smith had been upstairs in theW aSd s^
^oTd^i ^t'^'trv^^ ^ r^^ upstair. :oro;k*^ts
brtVa^n Sat InH i^\^'^ ""^ '^''"^^ ^""^ ^^ Pl«°ty of timebetween that and this to ascertam how the fact stocxl and Ibeheve have been ready to meet Mr. Jeremiah Smith with coutradictory evidence. It was weU to foUow that cour^ when vou

mght be. because you might be met and confronted by c"
hats L\t??f • i "^. '»«* '^y '^'^^ -^y evidence wou?d

we saw exiubited to-day. Such a spectacle I never saw in

member of the legal profession. I blush for it to number suchaman upon Its roU There was not one that bird hhTLSay
Sfe ke?/'*"^f i?"*

**""* '°''° "*"« ^''^ to teU a false

hi\«.J^- 1^ ?* ^ * """^ ^*^o '« °°t convinced that he

h!^ w t!
"P^" °"'°>' ^ ^'""i°>' ^'hich, if not perpetratedhad been attempted to be perpetrat'ed in that quarter and he

SaT "^
'^'^n

\^' '^'°' *^« "^^ *>^ his companion and hi!S \Tu°' the woman with whom he has had thatmtmacy which he sought to-day in vain to disguise. I say,

Th/l.^""
look at the whole of those circumstances. balanS

fc^ ^°''u° ^^^ ^'^^' '^'^ ^"^^ ''t ^^ question o whetherNewton can by any possibility have any motive for coming hero

TJir t! "r.
^'^'^}} ""'* ^ ^"^^ *° ^ ™"° '^ho. if thatevidence be not true, he must believe to be an innc .nt man-when you see that he can have no motive for such a purpose-

&L f
"" •" '^ **":''* *"^ ""** '^P"'"'^* form to b; onehundred times more w.cked and perverse than experience e.'-ryet ha, found it-I cannot but submit to you that you ou-ht

S^f.«nri/*1*/'''*^T''
"""^ ^ cannot but submit to vouS .T « '^' S **' *^' """" *™« «™»»>- *"<! emphaticUly.

that ,f vou do believe that evidence it is conclusive of the ca.e

!.«« *K T °°* "^^^ ^^^'^- ^^ *•»« ""••'•o^ of that day we
ftave the clearest and most unquestioned evidence that Mr

rfion »n5*";?^
niore strvchnia. IIo wc, t t,. Mr. Hawkin.'

!SL l*''f«
purchased six grains more, and the circum-

rtaace. attending that purchase are peculiar in the extreme.He comes to the shop, and he gives an order for prussic acid.

.r.:.k • "^n*?** ^l' f"*"^''" *"'^' 1»« gi^es an order for
•tryohnia. Before the strychnia is put up. Newton, the s.-me

^«JTf ?^ *\*r
'^''^'- '^- '^'^'^ the prisoner dot Hemmediately takes Newton by the arm. and says he has sorae-«ung particular to say to him, and takes him to the door.
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^4^5rSl**.7" '*'?«' »»d to «jr to himl Wa- it anything partiouUrf

that might not have been said in the presence of KoberU Th8wa. puttmg up the strychnia? Certainly not. 5r;'a. toM* a most unimportant questi^^n. namely, when young MrSalt was going to the farm which he had taken at Sury

& ? ^ presence of anybody, no matter who. '^ He takeshun to the d(K)r and then puts this question. At the sametune a man of the name of Brassington. a cooper. coaL^and Brassmgton had something to^y to Newton\iprbu£:
ness, havmg some bills against Newton's employer. Mr Salt

sormtfed^rT" "I'*
?^"^" set into^cJrv'erfation ai

!T« A
*"**"''*, ^T" ^^ *^°°'"- '^'te prisoner immediately

takes advantage of those two being in conversation, and hegoes back and completes the purchase of the strychnia. ButwhUe the strychnia was being made up he stands in the door-way with his back to tho shop, and his face to the street,where he wculd have a perfect command of the persons oNewton and brassington. and where, if Newton hS quitted
Brassington to return mto the shop, the prisoner would atonce have been m a position to take every possible step for

h,°M ..nfn^K *
°

u^**- ""C
^yj^^^^-^g the conversation withhim until the strychnia had been taken away. I ask youhaving this description of the transaction given to you by

Roberts, in the first place, confirmed by Newton afterwards
can you entertain any reasonable doubt that the prisoner wai

itZZ' 1""* »«"'"g Newton know that he was purchasing
Btrychnm there? You can very well understand that he would

^,f!?."? V .^J"5? *'l".*
^"•=' ^'*"" Newton, because, if it be^e that Newton h.id let him have three grains the night before.Newton 8 attention would be naturally immediately aroused by

so strange a circumstance, because nine grains of strychnia were

n3 fe?^^''?i
""^'^ enough-to kill three, perhaps six

people. What could a man want with nine grains of strychnia

H^r f«S^**r;f''*'f "^J™^^ .
^* ^*"'**^ *"••«<=» Newton's atten-

tion, "d It did
; for Newton immediately went and asked what

he wanted there, his attention being, in the first place, directed,
not so much to what he had come to purchase as to the sinRU-
lanty of his coming there at all. because for two years past
the prisoner never bought an article of any sor. or kind at thehop of Mr. Hawkins. His former assistant, Mr. Thirlby,
had two years before set up in business as a chemist, and from
that time, naturally enough, Mr. Palmer had withdrawn his
custom from Mr. Hawkins, and had given it to his former
assistent. Mr. Thirlby. It wa. a remarkable thing th..t he
should go to Mr. Hawkins' shop upon this occasion to get
trychnia. Why did he not go to Mr. Thirlby t I will teU

*3fi
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had taken hi, SSt M? Pal^ ^ ""^'f
^- ^'- ^^l»>y "••ral'

frieild-; and if he Ld gZ to Mr Thi*"/ °^r^«H"te
nurlby would have ^^ nlX^^i,^^!.'^^' "'•

going to do with it J" 1,>T *i. V
enougn. What are you

S:£€S!?/~^ -^^^^^uuucuiauijr irue, and if on the one hand some litflo h.a?cdty ar«e.. on the other hand is not the difficulty iLfinfte^;

7iT^ !f-i^'
patient and why is he not produced ? My ?SS

ndoubted and indupnubk IM. Throw doubt it to" nl.iL!2I bl.»e you not for it_„pon >h, ,tory of the puX„ oHhl
Sirs ^b,v o^r"*,"".'""

'"'«'')''
" "A»".«o„Tbi; t^5:

.ome dogs that had been troublesome in the paddSs' wW

.ho„ o *!.
" **'®'^® ^"^ ^^" «"y recurrence of such a thinewhere are the grooms who had the care and charge of thofemare, and foals, and why are they not h.re to statue the fact?If this poison was used for the purpose of destroyinff dTs

Whrir^lJ / that purpose. Where are those persons?Why are they not caUedt But. not only are they not caUed

WntSL JhJ •"«^^''*'°" »' anything of the kind. I ask!K o^; ^
conclusion can we draw from these things

SltLhn^^J^ ?u*•*'°«*^ ^*''*^' '^>*»> a» the symptom
whiKSt;fr'*'- "" *"

i**"
convulsiye agonies and throe.

Sh «ir*k
'^''*'° produces in the frame of man-^eath

hJwtSt!SltKT'"*'"'"^.''^''^
'°"°* "P'*" '^«»t'»' »°d marknow that death haa come to pass-all these things, in the minda
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iLS^J^tT ^""T^ «»^**" *^««° ^^ o«J», <ii«-pMMonate attention, who do not mix themwlyet up a> advo-
oatoi, partuani, or witnewea, leading to but one M»ncluuon •

•nd then the fact of the strychnia being purohaST^^;
prwoner on the morning of the fatal dayfif not obtained by

Z^'JS '"!? T? ***' °° ^* °^''* •^'o"' » left ^i»oUy un-ooTered and whoUy unmet, without the shadow of a defence.Alaal gentlemen, is it possible that we can come to any otherthan one painful and dread conclusion f I protest I can suffsestto you none. "eK"'

It « said by my learned friend, " Is it likely that Mr. Palmer
should have purchased strychnia at Rugdey when he might have
got It m London! " I admit the fact.' I feel the force of
the observation. If he could have shown that he had doneanythmg with this strychnia- if he could have shown anv
legitimate purpose to which it was intended to be applied, and
to which It was afterwards applied—then I should say that it
would be an argument worthy of your gravest and most atten-
tive consideration. But just see on the one hand how the
fact may stand. He was in town on the Monday, and he had
the opportunity, as my learned friend suggests, of purchasing
strychnia there. But on the other hand he had much to do;
he had his train to catch by a certain time; he had in the
meanwhile his pecuniary embarrassments to solve if he could,nme may have flown too fast for him to be able to go and
obtain this strychnia ; and even if he had had time, I do not
believe it is sold in chemists' shops in London without the name
of the party purchasing it as a voucher. If he had given
his name, of course, it would have been still worse if he had
bought strychnia in London than if he had Iwupht it in Rugeley.
I do not say that it is not worthy of your consideration, that
it IS not a difficulty in the case ; but I say there is plain, dis-
tinct, positive proof of the purchase of strychnia, and under
circumstances which cannot fail to lead to the conclusion that
he shrank from the observation of Newton at the time he was
buying it; and there is a total absence of all proof, nay, of
all suggestion, of any legitimate purpose to which that 'fatal
poison was to be, or was in point of fact, afterwards actually
applied.

Then, gentlemen, it is said that there are two other circum-
stances in the case which make strongly in favour of the
prisoner, and negative the presumption of a guilty intention,
and those are, the fact that he called in two medical men.
Here, again, I admit that this is a matter to which all due con-
sideration ought to be given. He called in Dr. Bamford on
the Saturday, and he wrote to Mr. Jones on the Sunday, and
desired his presence to attend his sick friend. It is perfectly
true that he did. It is perfectly true, sa medical men, they
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WBld be likely to know the iymptoma of poiioniM br

enmied from it; and yet even here it itrike. me that there iatS^ mconsietency in the defence. See the SJange co

"

tradiotionm which the witnesses caUed for the defence involve

toms were not the symptoms of strychnia. If they arereferable to aU the multiform variety of disease to whicfthLlintaesM^ have spoken, why, then, should Mr. Palmer havrJhJcredit of havmg selected medical men who would be llSIfy t^

S^^hn^T ?"^ •y'^Ptoms that they were symptom? ofs^chniaf I pass that by ; it is not a matter of very much
»r "^- „S ' ^r^V"^ ^* ^'^ '^^^^ those twolSSmen. He caUed m old Dr. Bamford. I speak of that gentSe-man in terms of perfect respect; but I think I do hmi no

i1h« f7^ " '"'•^L^"
impaired, as all human powe^are

hable to be impaired, by the advancing hand of time. I donot thmk he was a person likely to make very shrewd observa-

^hII T'X"''^
symptoms exhibited to him, either immediately

Z^^u^J"" "P?°/''? subsequent examination of the body •

and Ae best proof of that is to be found in that which he hai

^S^M°°^ ^""^
r"'"*" ^*'» ^'^'^"•^e to this case. Asr^rds Mr. Jones the same observation does not apply He

^Z^ ^°"7 "«n m the full possession of his intellect and the
professjonal knowledge which he had acquired. Nevertheless,
about him the observations I am about to address to vou I

^wJ't-" ""^"^Jhv of notice. The prisoner at the bar

^Zi}' a"!^ T\ ^°''
'''??,* has come to pass shows howwwely he judged of what wns hkelv to take place. This death

occurred m the presence of Mr. Jones, with all those fearful^ptoms which you have heard described; yet Mr. Jones sus-p«t^ nothing; and ,f Mr. Stevens had not exhibited that
sagacity and firmness which he did manifest in the after parte

If lL^™"r!!T' "'"' 1 ^'- P«''"«'- h«<1 succeeded in getting

S L^^.4 j^ introduced into the strong oak coffin thathe bad had made for it. the body would have been consigned
to the grave, and nobody would have been aught the wiser.

wJ.!irr?T
°',*5'"- ^T"' ?"*' the presence of Dr. Bamford,

Z^. •*u"''\'.^ *? «letection. would not have frustrated thedesigns with which I shall presently contend before you thisaeath was brought about.
On the other hand, gentlemen, the matter is perhaps capable

«^„.i'*'"l!^ I'L™"''
have been that a man whose cunning wa«equal to h,s boldness may have thought it the best counie toMopt to avoid suspicion—to prevent its possibility—was to

n~!.«r'** I'v* "J*^""! ?*" "hould be called in and should be
present at the time of death : nor is there anything to show
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that tlM priaoner had the most diitant noti<m that Mr. Jonea
intanded to aleep in this room that night; and if he had not
the man would have been found dead in the morning; he would
hare gone through hia mortal atruggle and intenae and fearful
tfpmj ; he would have died there alone and unbefriended : he
would have been found dead the next morning; the old man
would have aaid it waa apoplexy, and the young man would
have put it down to epilepay. If any one had whiapered a
auapicion, the aame argument would have been uaed which haa
be^ uaed now with ao much power and force by my learned
friend. Can you imagine tiiat the man would have called in
medicid men to be the witneaaea of a death which he himaelf
waa bringing about! But, gentlemen, aa I have already aaid,
if you believe the evidence of Newton, and if you believe that
that aame night pilla were administered to Cook by Palmer

—

and that, I believe, will be your opinion and concluaion, not-
withatanding that wretched witneaa to-day aaid he heard Cook
aay to Palmer that he had taken the pilla already, becauae he,
Palmer, waa late, whereaa the woman witneaa, Milla, told you
that the next morning Cook reminded her that hia agony was
auch aa ahe never could have witneaaed in any human being,
and he told her he aacribed it to the pilla which Palmer had
given him at half-paat ten—if you believe that statement, and
that the pilla were given him by Palmer at half-past ten, and
you find Uiat Palmer a few short minutes, perhapa, before went
to Newton, and got the poison from Newton, and you find upon
that night the firat paroxysms, chough not so violent and not
fatal, yet similar and analogous in character to those which
preceded the death, can you doubt on the first night the poison
waa administered to him} though with what purpose I know
not; I can only speculate—whether it was to bring about
by some minute dose convulsions which should not have the
complete character of tetanus, but would bear a resemblance to
natural convulsions which should justify his saying afterwards
that the man had had a fit, and so prepare those who should
hear of it on the next night, when the death waa to enaue, for

the belief that it waa merely a succession of the aame deacrip-

tion of fit that he had had before. That ia one aolution. The
other may be that he attem; ' xd on that Monday night to carry

out hia fell purpose to its full extent, but that the poison

proved inefficacious. We hear that an adulterated form, or,

at all events, an inferior form, called bruchsia, is -i.-'onaUy

sold, and it may have been that it failed in its effect. . „ ia only

one-tenth of the strength. We know that he purcha> ^ poiaon

on Tieaday, and that on that night Cook died witii idl the

aymptoma of poiaon ; and why he purchaaed that poiaon ia not

in any way accounted for. The aymptoma were the aame on

the Tueaday night in character, though greater in degree, than

340



Attorney-General's Address to Jury.

they were on the Monday ; and there is foxrnd a witneM who Attaray-

oomea forward and aays, with no earthly motive to tell so foul a '

falsehood, " I found the character of the convulaiona the two

succeeding nighta the same." I cannot resist the conclusion

to which my reasoning impels me that poison was administered

upon both nights, though it failed upon the first. I can only

speculate as to what was the cause of failure. There are the

facts, and you must deal with them.

Alasl gentlemen, it does noi stop there; there is another

part of this case which, though it may not have been the means
of death, is of the highest value in estimating the credit that

is to be given to the point which we advance of this death

having been produced by strychnia—I allude to the antimony.

We have had medical men and analytical chemists who have

told us a great deal about strychnia, but not one has said a

word about antimony. On the Wednesday night, at Shrews-

bury, when Cktok drinks his glass of brandy and water he

fancies there is something in it that bums his throat ; he ex-

claims at the time, and he is seized immediately with vomit-

ing, which lasts for several hours. On that same night Mrs.

Brookes sees the prisoner shaking something in a glass, evi-

dently dissolving something in fluid. A man has been called

here to-day, the boon companion, the chosen associate, the

racing confederate of the prisoner, to come and tell you that

all that story is untrue—^that the woman never came down
stairs—that Palmer never carried out the brandy and water

—

that there is not a word of truth in it—and the fact is that

Palmer and Cook only came in at twelve o'clock, when Myatt,

forsootii, had been waiting for two hours. Mrs. Brookes'

story is, according to him, an entire invention from beginning

to end ; he swears that he must have seen if anything had been

mixed with the brandy and water, and nothing was mixed witii

it. 1 think you will be more disposed to believe Mrs. Brookes

than to believe any of those persons who were the associates

of the prisoner, and who had been partners in his transactions.

It is a remarkable fact that Cook drinks that brandy and water

and a few minutes after is taken ill. There were other persons

takcE ill at Shrewsbury ; it may be within the verge of possi-

bility—although ten minutes after he had drunk the brandy

tnd water he was taken witii vomiting—that it was the same

form of complaint to which other persons were subject in Shrews-

bury ; I do not want to press it one jot further than it ought

to go, but it is a remarkable circumstance that the man is

seen with a glass and with a fluid which he is mixing up and

holding to the light, and shortly afterwards his friend who is

drinking with him or drinking at the same table at which he is

drinking, who, if Myatt be telling the truth, was somewhat

in liquor, and ought not to have been pressed to take brandy

a »4»
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. and water—Palmer m.^ that be will not take an^rthing until

Oook haa exbauated hia portuaH-and then immediately after-

wards the man ia taken iu. Theae are oiroumitanoea not alto-

gether incapable of producing certain imprenions i^Mii one
which it ia difBoult to abake on.

Nevertheleu, I pau on from that, and go to Rugeley. From
the Saturday morning until the Monday morning I find thii

poor man suffering imder the influence of conitant vomiting;
that was not the ^irewibury disease—he had got rid of it ; he
was well on Thursday and he was well on Fri<uy. On Satur-

day morning, after dining at Mr. Palmer's, he is taken ill ; and
then we have the fact of Mr. Palmer administering his food,

administering bis remedies, sending over toast and water, send-

ing over broth ; and, no sooner has this poor man taken those

thmgs than he is seized with incessant vomitings of the mo8t
painful description. What about the broth t The broth ia

said to-day by Smith to have been sent from the Albion. Tea

;

and where does it find its way toT It is taken, not to the

Talbot Arms, but to the prisoner's kitchen. After that,

instead of leaving it, as one would suppose he would leave it,

to the woman to take to the Talbot Arms, he takes it himself

from the fire, puts it into the cup, gives it to her, it is taken
over, and the man vomits immediatel} after he has drunk it.

On the Sunday the same thing is done again ; the brotb is

brought from the same quarter, and attended with the same
results. Of that broth the woman tak'^s a couple of spoonfuls,

and she is sick for several hours. She vomits twenty times,

and is unable to leave her bed for some hours. My learned

friend said she did not state that before the coroner. Never-

theless, it is sworn to by the other servant that the woman
was ill. I can quite understand why the woman did not state

it before the coroner. It shows the honesty of the woman's
character. It did not occur to her to connect the sickness

from which she suffered with the taking of the broth ; but

afterwards, when the story of the antimony came up, and

Cook's sickness was connected with it, then she remembered
perfectly well, after the evidence had been given, how she,

having taken the broth, immediately became ill. The fact

is not one capable of dispute, although it may be that she

did not mention it before the coroner. And I think you will

regard it as a very important and significant fact in the case,

that, on the Monday when Palmer is absent. Cook is better.

On the Tifesday he vomits again, though not in the same

degree. But after death—now comes the important fact

—

antimony is found in tiie tissues of that man's body, and hia

blood shows the presence of it ; the blood shows distinctly that

it must have been taken recently, within the last eight-and-

forty hours previous to his death. How came it theret The

«4«
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•mdi quantity ihtt u found doM not form the iligLtart oriterion
of the quantity that had beea adminiatered to him. Part of
It, you know, would be thrown up by the act of Tomiting which
It proTokea

; part of it would paaa away in other forma, but
none would be there unleas he had taken some. When did
he take it I If you find that he ia auffering from vomiting
for daya before hia death—that a peraon ia conatantly admini?
tenng thinga to him, and after taking thoae thinga he vomita—
whMi the priaoner aenda him over a baain of broth he vomita,
and when the aervant takes a couple of apoonfula ahe ia reduced
to the aame condition—what other concluaion can you come to,
knowing that antimony ia an irritant that wUl produce vomiting
and retching m the human ayatem, than that the antimony
muat have been admmutered to him by aome one ? By whom I
?nio but the priaoner at the bar could have done it! My
learned friraid aaya Cook might have taken antimony at some
foraaer time—that he might have taken Jamea' powder for a
cold. There ia not the alighteat trace of evidence from the
begimung to the end of the caae that he ever had a cold, or
ever took Jamea' powder over tiie whole period we are now
ranging. Moreover, aa I have even now aaid, it was in hia
blood, it muat have been adminiatered eight-and-forty hours
before death ; who could have administered it but the priaoner
at the barf I ask you to form your own judgment upon that
matter, but I cannot resist the conclusion, it is irreeistible.
If so, for what purpose was it administered; it ia diflScult to
say with anything like precision ; one can only speculate upon
it. It may Ijave been, however, to produce the appearance of
natural disease, to account for the calling in of medical men,
and to account for the catastrophe which waa already in pre-
paration; but it may ako have had another and a different
object, and it ia this—^if we are right an to Uie motives which
impelled the prisoner at the bar to commit this great crime,
it was, at all events in part, that he might possess himself
of the money which CJook would have to realise upon the
settling day at Tattersall's on Monday. If Cook went there
himself the scheme was frustrated; Mr. Cook intended to go
there himself, and if he had done so the prisoner's deaigna
would have failed of accomplishment. To make him ill at
Shrewsbury—to get him in consequmce to go to Rugeley.
instead of going to London or anywhere else—to make him in
again and keep him ill at Rugeley might be part of a cleverly
contrived and organised scheme. It might have been with
one or other of those motives, it might have been with both,
that the antimony was administered, and so sickness produced,
hut that the sickness was produced and that the antimony was
afterwards found in the body are incapable of dispute.

' Put
them together and you have cause and effect; and if you are
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Mtiafiad that antimonj wm introduced into that poor man'*
body for the purpoM of producing Toioiting and aiokneu, then,
I laj there ia no one who could have given it to him within that
recent period but the prisoner at the bar. Neither the doctor
at Shrewsbury nor the doctor at Kugeley ever gave him one
fraction of antimony which had thoee natural t^Secta which aa
a cause it was certain to produce; then it will be for you to

ask yourselves whether it can have been with any other than
a feu purpose and design—with a view of paving the way for

the more important act which was afterwards to foUow.
Hy learned friend has dealt with this case of antimony in no

other way than that which I have suggested, namely, casting
out some loose, floating, imaginary notion that at some period
or other, for which no precise date is given, he may have
taken James' powder for the purpose of getting rid of a cold.

Alas I gentlemen, I feel that so idle an objection cannot stand
between you and the conclusion which, I submit to you, arisen

from the fact that this antimony waa given to Mr. Cook with
a wicked design. If it was, just see the important influence

which it exercises upon the other question. If antimony was
found—if antimony can have been given with no legitimate

object, and if it can only have been given Ly the prisoner at

the bar—how great does it render the probability that to carry

out the purpose, whatever it may be, that he had in his mind,
he gave him this strychnia, of which the deadly effect* and
consequences have been but too plainly made manifest.

Tlien, gentlemen, let us take the conduct of the prisoner

into consideration in the after stages of the case, and also in

one remarkable particular—in an incident that took place on

the day of the death, on the evening of the preparation of the

pills- -and in his conduct taken in all its circumstances I fear

you will find but too cogent proofs of his guilt. I begin with

the Tuesday, the day of the death. Mr. Cook had had what

every one will admit to have been a most severe fit on the night

before. Dr. Bamford comes upon the Tuesday, but not a

word is said to him about it. He comes, and the prisoner

is solicitous that he shall not see Cook ; and twice in the course

of that morning, when old Mr. Bamford is desirous of coming

up to see the man, the prisoner said, " He is tranquil and

dosing; I wish him not to be disturbed." Tliat may have

been innocent, but on the other hand, if Dr. Bamford had come

at that time when the fit was fresh in Cook's mind, the proba-

bility is great that Cook would have told him what bad

happened &e night before. Cook does not see him till seven

o'clock, when Mr. Jones had arrived. One would have ex-

pected that, baring been invited to come by the prisoner, the

first thing Mr. Palmer would have done would have been to

mention how he found him the night b^ore. He talks of
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nothing but about the biliou* nymptooM—bflioui at Shiem- AnovMV
bury, bilioua to Dr. Bamford. and bUiou. to Mr. Jonea; «jd ««5«
thua he w reprewnt«d throughout by the pruoner at the bar,
jret all thia time the medical men agree in say i fig that there
wae not a biliou* t^ptom about him from begiiming to
end; no feverish ikm, no loaded to^e, and none of the
concomitanta of a biliou* condition. 'fiie monw>nt Mr. Jonca
Met him, considering he had heard that this man was suffering
under a bilious affection, he saya, "That is not the tongue of
a bilioua patient." The i^ly answer he t;tts is, " You ^oukl
have seen it before." Whenf When the man saw him at
Sirewabury, or when Dr. Bamford saw iiim, they both found
hia tongue perfectly clean ; the irritation in the bowels was not
the result of natural actior but of the antimony , and not one
single word docB he say to Mr. Jones of the fit that had taken
place the night before. It ia a romarkablu circumsance. when
tiie three medical men are conauiung at the bedside, the |>^»t
aaya, "I will have no more piH/* .0 more medicint to nigbt,"
intimating that his sufferings <i usd u . heron I.f ascribed
to the pills which he had taken. TLurt is ,10 owe'^vation made
by Mr. Palmer as to what had bt-en the • aturc 01 the man'^
attack the night before, he having betn ciilltd tijj in the dead
of the night. Tliey go into an adjoininp; 100m to ronsult as to
the beat thing t< be done. The man had declaied Iva aversion
to taking any pills or medicine; and Mr. Palmer immediately
pro|'<>«es that he shall take Uie same pills that he took the
night before. He says to Mr. Jones, "Do not tell him the
contents, becauae he has a strong objection to them." It is

arranged to have the pills made up ; he does not wait to have
the piUs sent by Dr. Bamford, though it waa early in the
evening, but he accompaniet Dr. Bamford down to hia aurgory.
I cannot for the life of me understand why Dr. Bamford should
have made up those pills at all. The prisoner had a surgery
of his own close by, and he could have made up the pills in
two minutes, he knew perfectly well their contt'nta, instead
of which he goes down with Dr. Bamford to his surgerr. One
would have supposed it would have been quite enough, aa he
was the person who every night administered the pills to Cook,
if Dr. Bamford put the pills in a box and handed them over to
Vr Calmer, who knew whal was to be done with them, instead
ot ;nich Mr. Palmer asks Dr. Bamford to write the direction.
He does write the direction, and then Mr. Palmer walks away
with the pills. An interval occurs of an hour or two, during
which time he had abundant opportunity o' croing home to
his surgery and doing what he pleaaed in the ^v.i > of substituting
other pills. He comes back, and befo'-p he (.^ir s the pills he
takes care to call the att«>ntion of Mr. Jones who was preaent,
to the remarkable handwriting of the old gentleman. Dr. Bam-
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r- ford, M being worthy of attention in a man of hi* advanced
age. What neoaeai^ was there for all thatT Waa not it,
think you, part of a loheme. that in oaae there ihould afterwards
be an^ o,uestton aa to the cauM of this man's death, or the
possibility of his baring had poison administered to him, he
should be able to say to ICr. Jones, "Why, you know they
were Dr. Bamford's pills. You were present at the'bedside of
the deceased, you saw that I administered nothing except pills,
and you must be clear they were Dr. Bamford's pills. Did
not I show you the address written, and call your attention to
the excellence of the handwritingt " Who knows but all that
prevented the possibility of suspicion being excited and pre-
senting itself to the mind of Mr. Jones.
Now, any one of those circumstances in itself would not be

•uoh as I could venture to submit to you as conclusive of the
pnsoner's guilt, but I ask your attention to a series of things
foUowmg one upon the other, which, at the same time, are of
a most remarkable character, and, taken as a whole, lead but
to one conclusion. The death having taken place (I am passing
over for a moment other circumstances which have no reference
to the immediate cause of death, I shall come back to them in
another part of the case), we find the father-in-law comes do^vn
to Rugeley upon the Friday. Let us see what the conduct of
the prisoner is then. The father-in-law applies to him for
mformation on the subject of his stepson's affairs. I pass that
over, because that, too, will come under a different head ; but
having done so, and it appearing from the representation which
the father-in-law made that the man had died in comparative
poverty, something is said about his being buried. " Well,"
wys Mr. Stevens, " rich or poor, poor fellow, he must be
buned. Mr. Palmer immediately says, " If that is all, I
will bury him myself." "No," says the stepfather, and the
brother mterposes. Mr. Stevens says, "No, I am his step-
Mther and his executor, and it is my place to bury him."
Well, there is nothing in all that. Palmer may have said,
with regard to his friend, that he would see the last respect
paid to his memory. But there is this remarkable thmg,
when the stepfather says that nobody shall bury him but
himself, and makes the observation that perhaps it will be
inconvenient to the people at the inn to have him lying there
for two or three days, because he intended to have him buriedm town, so that the poor man might lie in the same grave with
his mothei^iramediately after this Palmer says, " There will
be no harm in that, he can stay as long as you like ; but the
body ought to be put in a coffin immediately." After that
Mr. Stevens gets into conversation with Dr. Bamford about
his son-in-law, and while they are in conversation Mr. Palmer
sups away, goes out into the town, and comes back in about
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hftlf Ml hour, when Mr. Steveiu Mka him for the naino otAttonMr-
•ome undertaker in order that he may so and give the under* oiiii'M
taker direotiona about the funeral, and be finda to hia durpriae
that Mr. Palmer haa gone out, aind haa himaelf, without any
authority, ordered a ahell and a atrong oak coffin in order that
the body may be immediately put awajr. Thia, again, ia a
oiroumatanoe not unworthy of conaideration. Why ahould he
inUsrten and meddle in a matter which did not concern him,
and which it was the buiineaa and province of another man to
Attend to, except this, that he had made up his mind that that
body should be consigned to its last resting-place and removed
from the sight of man with as much rapidity aa circumstances
would permit off You have heard what took place in the
course of conversation upon the subject of the betting book.
I pass that by for the present.

I nor come to Saturday, when, returning from London, Mr.
Stevens and Mr. Palmer met in the railway train, and at the
different stations when the train stopped hod convei'sations
with one another; and it appeared at that time Mr. Stevens
had fully made up his mind to have the body examined—^there
were circumstances which had engendered suspicion in his
mind ; he had seen the attitude of the corpse ; he had seen
the clenched hands ; and, being a man of sagacity and shrewd-
ness, upon putting things together, there was a lurking
suspicion in his mind that be could not overcome, and he was
determined that he would be satisfied, and he made known his
intention of having the body examined before it was consigned
to the grave. It is due to Mr. Palmer to say that he did not
flinch from the trying ordeal of Mr. Stevens' scrutinising glance
when he mentioned the subject of post-mortem exammation;
he makes no objection to the post-mortem examination ; he is

anxious to know who shall perform it, but Mr. Stevens will not
inform him of the fact. It is to take placo, and it is appointed
to take place on the Monday. On the Sunday we have that
remarkable conversation to which Newton speaks, i.nd which
has been in the posiesfiion of the Crown (it is not, like the
other part of bis evidence, brought forward at the last moment)
and in the possession of my learned frisnd. It is true he did
no, state it before the coroner, but the explanation is extremely
easy. Before the coroner, Roberts was the man who came
forward to prove the purchase of strychnia, and vouched
Newton being there. Newton was immediately fetched, and
his deposition will be fjund immediately following that of

Roberts; not for he purpose of giving a general statement,
but for the purpose of corroborating Roberts, which he does.

Hence it came to pam. in answering only the questions which
were put to him by the coroner, nothing was said upon the
subject of that Sunday's conversation, but it was given
immediately afterwards to the Crown.
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OmSff' .J
****** you wiU not believe that Newton oomee forward for
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Sy for^^f^hf^"^
question.* h; obtained uU"??;
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But. then, my learned friend uti that the man had nnSS *"
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Mtnn- hand! of Mr. Wright; uki he had a bill for £2000 in the hands
••'•» of Mr. Padwiok. Although it ia true that £1000 upon that

account had been paid off to Mr. Pratt, yet the biUa itill

remained for the full amount in Mr. Pratt's handa. Although
£1000 had been paid to Mr. Padwick, he heU a warrant of

attorney and a bill of sale upon the stud for the remaining
£1000. All those biUs, without exception, were forseriea.

A correspondence took place between Mr. F^tt and himself

with regard to the £13,000 policy upon his brother's death,

through which he hoped to liquidate Mr. Pratt's demand; he

had been disappointed of that money, and upon die office

deolimng to pay the money, as early as the middle of October,

Mr. Pratt gave him to understand, in the most distinct and
positive terms, that the bills must be met. Bills for £4000
were due, or were coming due, at the end of that month—one
upon the 26th for £2000, and another upon the 27th for

£2000. Bills already renewed were coming due from month
to month, and there was £6500 which it was necessary im-

mediately to provide for. Mr. Pratt gave him notice that he

could give him no longer delay, inasmuch as the office hod
resolved to dispute this policy. It was no longer an existing

valid security, and consequently Mr. Pratt could not be a

party to representing to his clients, with whose money those

bills had been discounted, that it was in any respect a valid

security, therefore the bills must be met.
The matter was coming to a crisis ; the bills must be paid

at maturity ; he sends him up three small sums, first a sum of

£300, and then two sums of £260 each, making the sum of

£800. Of that sum £200 was to come off other bills to fall

due in January, leaving only £600 applicable to the princifmi.

He is told at once that he must do a great deal more ; he ii

told, late in October, that unless he does a great deal oore
writs will be issued against bis mother and against himsolf,

which would at once bring the matter to a termination by

showing that those bills were forgeries. He entreats that

time shall be given ; he obtains this concession from Mr. Prntt,

that the writs shall not be served until a given day, and he

in the interval must make further payments on account of

the principal bill due. That being the state of things upon
the 13th, Mr. Pratt writes and presses him for further pa\Tncnt.

On that day " Polestar " won. Cook was, as you have heard,

in an ecstasy of delipht, feelinpr that his difficulties were, at

aU events for a time, removed ; that he should now get throutrh

the winter and live happily till the next racing season. He
little thouffht what was about to take place. If this accusa-

tion is well founded, the mare winning, and his being entitled

to a large sum of money, was the most fatal thing that could

have befallen him. Alas! how great is the shortsightednen
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of mortal nunl Wlien we have the bighert uiue of joy and Attonw-
exttlt^ion, often whUe the eunahine of our proeperity warm* <»«««
and riaddana our heart for a moment, there ia lurking beneath
our feet a fatal abyM, into which we are about to fall. Thii
poor man, d thia charge be true, might have been living now,
had It not been that upon that fatal day hia mare won, and
he became entiUed to a large sum of money, which afforded
temptation to hia murde ir.

Now. it becomea perfectly clear that at thia moment mattera
were approaching an immediate crisis. What was Mr. Palmer
to do I He had no aource to which to turn for money. It
IB clear that be could not go to his mother. I presume
that wuroe had long aince been exhausted, or he would not have
forged her name. What waa he to do if he could not eet
money to aatufy Pratt'a demand f You know, although a
moneylender u conaiderate and indulgent enough as long as he
la oertam of hia payment, and geta hia heavy uaurioua interest
paid down on the nail, if he once becomes doubtful of the
aeounty and uncertain of payment, you may aa well ask mercy
of a rabid tiger, or you may aa well ask pity of atonea, aa hope
to Und bowela of compaasion in him. Pratt gave him fair
warning that the money must be paid, or something must be
paid by way of matalment on the principal, and to keep the
mterest down. Where waa Mr. Pahner to get money froml
My learned fnend aaya Cook waa hia best friend, and that
took waa the man he waa to look to ; and that aa long aa he
kept Cook alive he had a friend in need to whom he could
resort for aaaiatance. In what way? Waa Cook to give
Mceptancea to Pratt? Is anybody weak enough to auppose
that Pratt would have taken Cook's acceptances to keep thoae
bills alive, unless there waa a part payment of the principal
and mtoreett It is quite clear that he would not. When
even for the sum of £600 he wm asked to take Cook's security,
he refused to do so, unless there was the collateral security of
an aaaignment of his horses. Cook had assigned to him all
the property he posseaaed. All that Cook had in the world
was his winnmgs upon that day's race at Shrewsbury, and
what httle money he may have obtained by his winniiips at the
races at Worcester. If you believe the witness Myntt, those
winnings were exhausted, and therefore this man had nothing
except his winnings at the Shrewsbury races ; and you are asked
by my learned friend to believe that it would have been of
use to Palmer to keep this man alive. The reverse is proved
by the evidence. With Pratt his personal security would
have been unavailing. Pratt tella you that he would not take
Mythii^r from him unleaa it waa the real security of an asaign-

""k"*!. « ,
iionen or other property. Jiist see the interest

Which Palmer had in securing all Cook's eflecta. My learned
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AttMiiMr- friwd wyt they were mixed up together in truuMtioitt in
which they had a joint and common interest—they were con-
federatea upon the turf and had joint beta together. Yea;
but <me man putting another on doea not mtan that when A
puta B on and aaya we are likely to make a good thing, and
^f '^ i^»*re it, that B U to pay A'b loainga if they So not
wm. They might be confederates on the turf, but that did
not make Cook responaible for Palmer'a liabilitiei. Doea any
one auppoae that Cook intended to find the me ma to enable
Palmer to meet Pratt'a insatiable demands, to stave off the
difficulties in that quarter! Was Cook to deprive himself of
his winnings, and leave himself without money, for the benefit
of his fnend? That is the proposition, for the whole of whichmy learned friend must contend before you before be can
establish anything like a case to show that if Cook had lived
It would have been better for Pahner than that he should die.My learned friend says there is proof that they were mixed
up closely together to be found in this, that Cook writes to
his agent, Fisher, and says to Fisher, writing on the Friday
after he had dined with Palmer, " There is a matter which
IS of importance to Palmer and to me, that £600 ahould be
paid to Mr. Pratt to-morrow; £300 has been sent down
to-mght, and I request you will be so good as to pay Mr. Pratt
£20U to-morrow on my account, and charge it to me." My
learned friend thought that that transaction would be favour-
able to his client, and he put it prominently forward. To mvmmd he could have adduced nothing more fatal. ITie ex-
planation of it is to me as clear as the sun at noonday. Cook
had brought with him some £600 or £700 ; it least at Shrews-
bury he was seen by Fisher with a roll of notes amounting to
some £700 or £800. On the same evening the parties came
to Rugeley, when he had not had time to spend the money.
He speaks of a £500 transaction, in which be and Palmer have
a jomt interest. There is only that one transaction with Pratt
in which they had a common interest, that was the £500 raised
by the assignment of " Polestar." and a bill, of which we sav
Cook never got the proceeds; and he savs, writing on that
night to Fisher, " £300 have been sent up'to-night. and I will

^ nl^^ *° y°" *" P*-^ ^^^ °*'^*'" ^200 to make up the whole.
"

No £300 were ever sent up that night. Mr. Pratt has given
an account of the whole transaction. £300 were to be sent
that night; by whom were they t« be sent? Can you doubt J

Where is all Cook's money gone? I can quite understand
«iat he handed over £300 to Palmer to send up to Pratt, and
directed Fisher to pay another £200. What followed in
respect to the joint transaction! What was the joint trans-
action! they never had but one, and that was for £500. Wliat
was It! Why, it was the money which had l)een got by tlie
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jurt won at Shrewtbury-it waa natural that the man ahouW ^^SSST

JrtirA *T .*»"^P'™ ;
moreover, the bUl wa. coming due :h.^ the cadi m hia pocket, and he knew that he wm goini

!!^hi«WK
wUl be .ent up to-mght. " It « the only matterm which they have a common mterest. not only as to the £600

but m any reapect; Pratt had no other dealing whatever wSthem lomtly or w.tb Cook, if we eicept the bUl for /soS-what does It show I It showa that £300 had been sent for theDurpo«^he senda up £300, but how i. it applied? Pauw
ior a moment

;
the £300 is not sent up, Pahrer keepa it TZpocket; what w done with the other £200? h it carried toAe a«Bount of the matter in which they had joint intereat

r5 K D .
'^^ «"S^ ^»°g J >t goe" a« part of the payment

A I. ?!,
'4"'"" *° ^™" ""^ ^°"°* o' the baU which* Pratt

then held—It never went to any matter of joint interest-it is
an Idle and faJse pretence to say that Cook was in any way
responsible to Pratt; ,t may have been the intention of Palmer
when Cook should be no more to represent him as so, but there
IS no foundafaon m reality and in fact for the statement. I
•ay the^ transaction of the £500, so far from helping the
prisoners case, shows conclusively that the £200 advanced
by F-isher and the £300 to be sent up that night to satisfy
*"'? .^•". f*"" ^500. """d the assignment to release " Polestar "
and Sinu,.-' was £500 more taken from this young man and
appropriated by the prisoner to his own use.
But the matter does not rest there—would it did. I comenow to the transaction of the Monday, and I find £1020 of

took s money applied to the prisoner's use. He goes up to
London

;
he had ascertained by some means or other the amotint

Kr ?°^ * m"k*°*'*'^u**' '^"Z* °° *^« Monday-possibly

S?i
tad *oW h™

;
Fisher was Cook's agent, and the proba-

ouity 18 that Qjok desired the prisoner to hand an account ofms bets which he had won to Fisher, who would go and settle
with the parties at TattersaU's ; Fisher would have to pay
hunself back the £200 ; we know that he intended his accounts
rtould pass through Fisher, because he asked Fisher to ad-
«Doe the £200 upon the credit of it; but it is suggested thatmder the guidance of Palmer he now meditated a fraud, and»at be mtended to pass his account through Mr. Herrinu in
order to avoid paying Fisher the £200 for a time. Is it
charitable to Mr. Cook to ascribe to him a fraud of this
description, which so far as we know, he was not in the
nami of doing? I ask you this question as reasonable men
iupposing he bar! disposed of hia rcadv monev, and we find
none left^that he had given the prisoner £.100 to send up, you
cannot suppose that this man who had nothing of his fortune
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Trial of William Palmer.

AtwnMr. l«ft, who mm ruin Uring him in the face—lie wm not a
rained num h long u he had this money, but having
parted with thia m<»ie7 he wm a ruined man

—

70U cannot luppoM that he intended to deprive him-
mU of the whole of the money that he had won, to leave
hinuelf dMtitute and naked for the coming winter ; the thing
it out of the question—^beaidn, if the priaoner'a repreaentation
ii true which he nuide to Mr. Chediire, that he bad got the
genuine cheque of this man for very nearly the amount,
through his agents, Messrs. Wetherby, of the stakes at Shrews-
bury, Tou are asked to believe on the one hand that he had
given him his ready money, and on the other hand that he
had given him a cheque to receive of Meurs. Wetherby, and
that ho had given him £1020, which constituted absolutely the

whole that the poor man possesstid—you are asked to believe

that he hands it over to we prisoner to go and dispose of ai

he pleases—that is my learned friend's proposition, but I do
not think you will adopt it.

Then, if that be not so, what does the prisoner dot He
goes to London, but does not go to Fisher, who was the agent
of Cook, who would, in the first place, have paid himself bank
the £200, and, in the second place, would not havo paid the

sums which he received except upon Cook's authority and
instruction, but would have sent the money to Cook, or have
paid it upon Cook's written direction as to what was to be

done with it. He takes the account, therefore, to a compara-
tive stranger, who never h;id acted for Mr. Cook before, feeling

that that stranger would buve no hesitation or repugnance in

paying the money according to the direction of the man from
whom he had the direction to receive it, supposing that both

emanated from Mr. Cook, tiie person interested in the money.
Accordingly he says to Mr. Herring, " Here is a list of bet«

which Cook will be entitled to be paid at Tattersall's ; they

are so much, yoii dispose of it in this way ; pay yourself

£200 " ; it being the fact that Mr. Cook and the prisouer had

before raised the sum, I think, of £600; £200 hai! leen

rained by Mr. Cook on his acceptance, and £400 hnrl been
r: ,>d on the ctptance of the prisoner. Mr. Cook's portion

had been pain off, but that of the prisoner remained unpaid.

Pnln:^r says t(. Mr. Herring, "Pay yourself £200, then go to

Pratt's and pay him £450 ; then go' to P..dwick and par him
£360." Now, it is perfectly clear that the £450 was a debt

due from Palmer to Pratt, and it is untrue tlinf Cook had

anything to do with it. The debt of £350 to Padwick was for

some bet, and although it is not proved. I have reason to

believe that the minor part of it was a debt of Cook's, but

the larger part was a debt of Palmer's upon a matter in

which they stood in together. There is evidence that Mr.
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Palmer treated the debt due to Padirick m hia. He mti Mmmm-" I wfll pay you my bet of .£360 at auch a time.' I am O^SST
girmg lum credit for what I believe waa the fact, that a
PjM* of It waa Cook'a. Why waa Cook'a debt paid then!
There waa a warrant of attorney in the handa of Mr. Padwick,ud Mr. Padwiok waa getting impatient for hia £1000, and if
thu bet had not been paid to Mr. Padwiok, Mr. Padwick would
have reaented the non-payment of the debt of honour which he
had no meana of enforcing, and would have come down upon

^;«^ J
**"' °° ^o^^^> at a very early period in respect of the

XIOOO due upon the bUl diahonoured twelve months before.
Exactly that came to paaa—in conaequence of Mr. Herring not
reoeivmr the whole of the money, he waa not ablo to pay Mr.
Padwick, and the reault waa that Mr. Padwick put the proceaa
of the law in motion againat the prisoner on that bill, and
brought an action againat hia mother. The bill for £1000
waa the bill oi Mr. Pahner, upon which Mr. Cook waa not
jranarfly liable. I aay here waa a distinct interest which
the pruoner had to appropriate this money to himself, because
It waa the means for the moment, and the only meana he
could reaort to, of staving off the evil hour which waa rapidly
approaching. The degree of difficulty in which he was placed
muBt not be measured simply by the amount of his pecuniary
liabilitiea. It was not merely that he had these large biUs
upon which at any moment process might bo issued, but he
had made his mother answerable for those bills, and the moment
the first of them waa put in motion in the Courts the fraud
and forgery would come to light, and he would be exposed not
merely to the consequences of his inability to pay his debte,
but to the consequences of the law which he had violated The
former might have been got rid of in the Insolvent Court or
the Bankruptcy Court, but the crime of forgery couJ-^ not have
been got nd of; for that he would have to answer r^ the bar
of a Court of criminal justice, and would have incurred the
penalty of transportation, or of penal servitude in an agjra-
vated form. But there is a further sum lesides the £1000-
he appropriated a further sum of £350, which was to be eot
from Messrs. Wetherby. It is said that he pot a genuine
cheque from Cook to entitle him to receive that moner, but
It IS not for a moment suggested what induced Cook to give it
to him. Was it a genuine cheque? That matter might
have been solved by its production. I^ is not produced

; yet
It 18 quite clear that it waa rcvumed to the prisoner's handa
by Messrs. Wetherby when they could not get the money.
It u quite clear that it was of great importr.nce to him to get
the money, because there was £100 to be paid to Pratt, which

?i"JfLr P*'** '" ""'*"' *"" '**^® °^ ^^ ''^'^ ^'»y "Pon tl»e bill of
•el BOO, which was due on Uie 9th of November. Where ia
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tiut cbaque ! If it Lad been produoed we oould have Men
whetlier it waa a genuine cheque ur not. It ii not forth-

coming. What are the circtunsuiuces under which he preeenU
tiiat cheque to Ur. Cheahirel He goea to Mr. Cheshire upon
the Tuesday, and, having ihown the cheque to Mr. Cheahire,

he aaks Mr. Chestiire to be ao good aa to fill up the body c'' .^

I auppoae he saw aumo u^aaifeatation of aurprise in .'ir.

Cheahire, and ho said, "Cook, poor fellow, is ill, and 1 am
apprehensive if I fill up the body of the cheque Wetherbyi
will know my handwriting." Why should not the\ know hit

handwriting} Wlmt objecti'^n wits there, if the cheque was
genuine, and if the transaction was an honest one, to Messrs.

Wetherby knowing that the handwriting was his J Does not

it pretty plainly indicate that there was .some fraud going on

which he was afraid might be detected! Why, in heaven's

nar >), should he send for Cheshire 1 He had to aend for

Cutishire from the post office when Cheshire was busily en-

gaged in the business of the evening, at seven o'clock in the

evening. Just about that same period, a little Ixffore or a

little after, aa the case ma/ be, ho had to meet Dr. Bamford
and Mr. Jones in consultation as to Cook's case. Mr. Jones

was his intimate friend—the trusty friend that came over that

afternoon. If poor Cook intended to give him the cheque,

and was at the same time so ill that he could not write, why

not have said to Mr. Jones, " Jones, I do not want to bother

Cook to fill up this cheque, fill it up in my favour for £350,

and we will get Cook to sign itt " Wh^ should he send to

the post office to get Cheshire down to his house, alleging at

the time that he was apprehensive that if he '"Med it up hii

own handwriting might be known. Does not that transaction

bear fraud upon the face of itt On the other hand, it maj
be a genuine cheque ; Hut, I ask again, where is itt Between

the time when these matters were cnlled in question and the

time when Mr. Palmer was finally arrested, not upon the

criminal but upon the civil process, which came down unluckily

for him before the coroner's inquest, which secured his bodilj

presence to answer not only the pecuniary matters but these

charges, in the interval he bad undisturbed possession of hii

own papers. From the moment when that freedom of action

and possesaion ceased, we have traced the possession of the

papers ; and it is clear that at the time those papers were taken

possession of that cheque was not amongst them ; it is clear

that the prisoner, who had possession of it, must have dealt

with it in some manner. What has become of itt Why ii

it not produced? Can you help drawing the inference from

its non-production that there is something in the transaction

that will not bear the lijrhtt It is clear that he intended

to get possession of the £350, which ouerhl 'o have been given

as6
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JO Cook, upon fab, pr«tono«. H» b»d imt * tuttma himmU
IbMr. .bowii. a p««« nude . brt for himimon £ ncm
not get oaotUr ihillii u from him, I diow you that he oomeal»okto Bugeky aad i« from that momentum SJ poLSSI
I "T^; w

Where could he have got that moneylui
SThSii?* r*' ^'* «?* '' '«>» Cook, who^ not L»y
^ ^^*,Vn * » clear that he had aU that money toS«^ of £350. probably much more, and beeideTZf b?gSI
fi^r^f^FT^ "' **»• ^"^^ »» Tatter^aU'.. Sd*to•ttempta to get but doee not get.ll76, which ought to hawbeen paid mto Memir.. Wetherby.' hand.. Thi. wS^kewhZ

But he it not utiified with that—it it dear that he meditatedanother fraud of a different description. On the ^af•taort a. won a. the breath i. out of the man', bir h^mtmate. that he ha. a claim upon him for £3000 olSSre.pect of bUl. which had W. (Palmer'.) name or acwSL^
purpose. He tell, the Mune story to tho father-in-law but
rt .. a. dear a. the .un at noondiy that he ende^vol^ to

MrrKSl ^^*^*^ °\^* Thunriay or the Friday toMr. a>eAire a^d bring, to him a document which he Lk.^ to attoet, that document bearing the .ignature '' J. f*Cook The man havmg left the body, and living only in thejpmt eight-and-forty hour, before that .igna^ Sd b2nbrought to be atteated, who can faU to .ee that here wm ^eFeat fraud and deaign meditated! What wa. the dSL^St

w7~ a^r *
w* ^'**.'° ^T ^^ ^^^^ fa»d been negotiated

heTpSL^K ^ t"?**'
""^ '7 CooJ''- I'onefit alone, wd thS

So Lh K^- •
''• *^* °° P*"^^' *^" P'"^"^^- Now. there are

weU I think "L„'h"**""'- u^* ^^" *^'"»*«* *he bill, prettvweu. I think, and none .uch are proved to exi.t; but if ther^he any such bill, in exi.tence. who would know it better lE
n. 'voro7 fi

'^' *"' ."V°"" ^'"'^ °" difficultyin StLf;

S^ckinthewtlfL*- Tf °' T'*'r"*f *'^" ^at tumbling.

«nd nn tK ^ ^J"" ^^I'^'T '
*>"* *»« produces this document

;

d^th I* 'T* f'^n***^
'^y *•»** '°"«^«d *•»" poor man';

•PokUar'tft'. *",!""• *!i."f^'
"^f'"^' '«"»•* l'*^'

HavWL ^'''u-,^
arranged." What wa. thi. schemet

to SrftLr^l *'"'°» °' *^« °«n'. money, hi. purpo«, wa.

y^lT]^, II' u*v® P^P*"^ **"** remained in "PolVstkr." the

SlfiLratS' fe
°*^ Perh«P.,to himself have considerablyexaggerated. The mare had just won. and she might fa«
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Trial of William Palmer.

Attonwr- supposed to be worth more than she had been, or he had in
view speculating at other races to bring about results of benefit
to himself. Further, he may have intended to pay out of
Cook's estate some of those bills, under the pretence that Cook
had had the money for them. For all these puiposes, from
the beginning to the end, it was necessary that Cook should
be put on one side. Then with this document in his hand he
goes to Cheshire, and he asks Cheshire to attest the signature
of a man who was then dead. If Cheshire had had the weak-
ness and wickedness to comply he would have had him in his
power; and the next thing would have been that he would
have brought him trembling and reluctant into the witness-bos
of some Court of justice to swear to the fact that he had seen
the dead man put his signature to that piece of paper. But
it may be suggested that, after all, the document was a genuine
one, and that the signature was not a forgery. Then produce
it and we can judge. Here, again, I point out, and tixere is

no escape from it, that the papers of the prisoner were in his

possession till the time of his arrest, and they have been taken
care of since then, and are here one and all, either to be
answered for or pioduced in his presence, or they have been
handed over to his brother. Who would not fail to notice

that this paper has never been found or asked for? Who can

doubt that that paper brought to Cheshire remained in the

possession of the prisoner? Who can doubt that it is either

destroyed or is purposely withheld? Under these circum-
stances wlo can doubt that in it is to be found proof of some
meditated act—of some vast design of a fraudulent and
flagitious character, for the full completion of which the death

of Cook was a necessary thing?
Now, gentlemen, I have gone through that part of the case

which relates to +^e motives of the prisoner, and it will be

for you to say whether you are satisfied that this was a death

by strychnia—^that the prisoner was in possession of strychnia

—

that he had access to the dead man's bedside, and that he

administered pills to him at a period short enough to be

capable of bemg connected with the catastrophe that after-

wards happened; and it will be for you to say whether yoii

do not find that the state of things with reference to pecuniary

matters to which I have been just alluding is sufficient to

account for the act which is ascribed to the prisoner.

But there is another part of his conduct as throwing light

upon this matter to which I cannot fail to refer. What has

become of Cook's betting book? What has been the conduct

and the language of the prisoner with reference to it? On

the night when Cook died, ere the breath had hardly passed

from that poor man's body, the prisoner at the bar was

rummaging his pockets and searching under his pillow. That
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ma/ have been for a perfectly legitimate purpose. But let Att«.™.vUB see what takes place. He calif to Mr. jSf and he tells «««J^'''
Mr. Jones that it is his duty, as the nearest friend of the deadman, to take possession of his effects, and Mr. Jones does takepossession of his watch, and afterwards, at the suggesUor of

ft S.?W^ '^ilV"'^^, .^* *^« «^« '^^ Mr. Jones asksfor the betting book. My learned friend endeavoured to ex-

^'^.r77
this most awkward part of the case by saying.There were other persous who had access to the place. The

outThfr ^T:.*^'''"/'!^ ^' '°^°' ^^' ^•°'"«° came to layout the dead body, and the servants were there; any one of

Sr?».TfJ*.^'"" .1*°^"° *^" ^^" B"t "U tl^is "met by

IntfHnV? A
°-

*?u *
'^""^ "i^ht, before the women had hadanything to do m the room-before they came to lay out the

ZIT'^^^'Z "7^^. '"^'^^ ^^'^ appearance-that very

th! JLh ^\ ^''V '/ ''^^^^ *° g***"^"-
^'P the effects of

'^Oh '• «i^rP ^'
^'^'

I"' ^^' *f
"'^^ ^^^* '« the answer?

A ^! f^^^f'
*<^opting the language which he after-wards repeated, "the betting book wilf be%f no use to any

WHn„ K r^ "a^^'^^ ^f"^* *° ^" °^» °>md whe.e thatbettmg book had gone to? The father-in-law came down onthe Friday, and he begms to discourse about the affair, andhe IS not satisfied with the answers he gets. The day passes

son-m-law s bettmg book and papers and bring them awav ''

Mr. Jones goes upstairs ; he is immediately foUowed bv the

&olT;;;"PM'^^°• ''"* '}"'^ " '^^ bettingW to be fUdDown comes Mr. Jones, and says to Mr. Stevens, "We cannot
find the bettmg book." " Not find the betting book I surely

best judge of that. I think it will be of a good deal of use."
ITie observation 18 agam repeated, "It is of no use." MrStevens said. "Why?" "Because a dead man's bets ai^void, and because he received the money himself upon thecourse at Shrewsbury." A dead man's bets are voidT Yes!

:Jr.
"

*^t'. *?y. are void, but not when they have beenreceived m his lifetime. Who received the dead man's bets?

Ar/T"^'" **
i^^

!'*'• ''^^ appropriated the proceeds ofthe dead man's bets? The prisoner at the bar.
^ Who w^s

answerable for them? The prisoner at the bar. Who had aninterestm concealing the fact that he had received them? He
„f ;>..^f*- """i^^l

best mode of doing it! The destruction
of the betting book. What was the best mode of calming
the determination of the man who was the executor of the dead

fr!?' w u 'l®
^'^^^^ *° '^""^ ^^'^t he was entitled to receiveand what he had received, and to see the record of his pecuniary
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traiwactioiuif Why, to teU him that the record, even if found
would be of no use, for a dead man wa> not entiUed to any
bets, he having died before they were leceived—yet at that
very moment he had received the proceeds of the bets which
he was representing as void, and was applying the proceeds to
his own purpose. Does not that throw light upon the real
nature of the transaction J What possible motive could hehave for representing that the bets were void, having himself
received them, unless he knew that he had received them
fraudulently and wrongfully? See what would have taken

frf^ ^® *"'*^, ^^ *=°™® °"*- **••• Stevens, if he had seen
that book would have seen that his stepson was entitled to
receive ;£1020. He would have inquired who was his agent, to
see whether by any possibility those debts could be realised: he
would have learned what e-erybody knew, at least that portion
of the turfites with whom Cook was In the habit of communi-
cating,^ that Fisher was his agent. Fisher would have told

T^m »,r*T''V*'
^*'® received the money to repay myself

^200, but Mr. Herring received the money." He would have
«one to Mr. Herring, and he would have found that everv
shiUmg of the monpy found its way into the prisoner's pocket
and was appropriated for his own purposes. How was aU this
to be done! By the removal of Cook, and then by the
destruction of the only record which could have aflForded to hb
representative, who was entitled to stand in his place and
realise his pecuniary rights, the information of the money having
been received by a wrongdoer, by a man who had no right to
It. Gentlemen, I submit these things to your consideration,
but I submit them to you as leading, unhappily, but to one
conclusion, and that the conclusion of the prisoner's guilt.

But, gentlemen, the matter does not even rest here ; there
w more of the prisoner's conduct yet to be commented upon,
on which I must say a few words before I conclude. Mr.
Stevens determined upon having a post-mortem examination.
Let us watch the conduct of the prisoner in respect of that
most important part of the history of this case. Dr. Harland
comes over to perform this most important office ; the prisoner
18 on the watch to see who comes ; he meets him as he alights
at the inn; he accompanies him to Dr. Bamford's; they get
into conversation about this death, and Dr. Harland says,
naturally enough, speaking to a brother medical man who he
supposed had been attendant upon the patient, " What is this
case? I hear there is a suspicion of poisoning." " Oh, no."
says Palmer, "not at all; no suspicion of p' ing; the man
had two epileptic fits upon the Monday and sday, and you
^11 find old disease, both of the head ana of the heart."
Well, there was nr disease found of the head or of the heart,
unless that very w. 3 gentleman, whom I should have liked to

26o
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have aiked a few questions of to-dav wa* ri»h* «»««,* u-
story of angina pectLs. which I doSwrevefaccoml^ ^W''by tetamo symptoms in this world, or that any otS mSm the umverse would deckre that it was. - You wTu ZSdisease of the head and the hfiftrt " tC

»ou wm tma

found neithr. He said -H^^;^ *
They opened hmi, and

„ J .,
'

.
^ ^**<^> 'le had two epileptic fits on th«Monday and Tuesday." That very same man the day iforehad gone to Dr. Bamford. and asked Dr. fiLford to ffiU upthe certificate, and Dr. Bamford said naturaUy Sough " h5

rVueS'^'*"°*No^""^^' ^r °^y -^nIJS):t yo^request. No, I would rather you did." He irctM TIt

SSanH^h^'?>
"apoplexy"; tL next day S fefi Sr!Harland that it is a case of epUepsy. This is not an ordinalindividual, but a medical man, p<48e88ing full knowledw aidinformation with regard to mediTal matters. Howeve? thepost-mortem examination took place; before thev go to it there

« some conversation wth Newton which I will not again mZ
I»rticularly refer to; it is not satisfactory, nor does it Z,w
whose friend had just died, from the way in which he speaks
of the examination about to take place.

^
Let us come Zlhl

examination itself. The stomach^and its contents aTe, as weunderstood, removed; there is some story about his 'having

H^S^ T ^^•"'f ^Kp?"^'^" ^^° ^^--^ performing the txamina^

&kL **'j* " carrying the matter too far; it mayhave been an accident, and we will look at it in that light; at
ast the stomach, we say without its contents, and a portion ofthe intestines are put mto a jar, and the jar is fastened with aparchment covering doubled over it; it is tied and sealed, and
then It 18 placed upon a table while the post-mortem examina-
taon, with reference to other parts of the body, is made. Dr.
Harland has this done ; when Dr. Harland turns round he finds
the jar removed; he immediately makes an outcry, and then
at the other end of a long room, and at a door which was not
the proper entrance, but a door which led into a different
apartment, which apartment led into the passage, the prisoner
was found with the jar in his hand, and when Dr. Harland
exclaims, he says. " I thought it would have been more con-
venient to you when you were going out." That might have
been his motive, though it was an awkward circumstance that
the jar containing the stomach should h. in the hands of theman rgamst whom there rested a suspicion of having deprived
the deceased of life by unfair means. That is not all : two
RUts were found in the parchment cover when it was tied and
sealed up

:
who could have made them except the prisoner f

What did he do it for? There, again, we are lost in conjecture,
nut the only conclusion at which we cnn arrive is against the
honesty of the purpose and the integrity of the transaction ;
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Trial of William Palmer.

oiSUSS*" T*^«*^®'"/^
may have been for the purpose of introducinir aome-»•»•«' thing which might be capable of neutraluing the poiaon. I

cannot teU you ; aU I know is the fact, and it is a fact of very
significant importance in the consideration of the case.

It does not end there—we find that he is restless and uneasy
as to what is gomg to be done with the jar, and objects to ite
bemg taken wajj he remonstrates with Dr. Bamford at letting
it go awpy, its if Dr. Bamford had any interest in the matter,
and as if any one would suspect Dr. Bamford of having had
any hand m the taking off of this joor man. The jar is
taken away, and then that occurred which must have made a
painful impression upon all who heard it in this Cour<^-then
comes the story of his going to the post boy, and asking him
to upset the carriage which was conveying those who had
possession of the jar to Stafford or London, for the purpose of
Its contente being analysed. My learned friend sought to give
a comparatively innocent complexion to this transaction: he
says that this bribe of £10 to upset the carriage arose simply
out of resentment against the officious stepfather who had
dared to mterfere in this matter—to insist upon a searching
investigation—he had been guUty, my learned friend says, in
return for the civility, courtesy, and kindness with which he
had been treated by the prisoner, of " prying, meddling,
msolent curiosity." A man who had seen his poor stepson,
to whom he was tenderly attached, lying dead under circum-
stances which raised in his mind a suspicion—and I think I
am fully justified, at all events, whatever may be the result
of this inquiry, in saymg that the very inquiry we are now
upon—the gravity and importance of it—at least fully justify
Mr. Stevens in the suspicions which he entertained for havinp
mf ied upon the inquiry, and that ought to have protected
hun against the suggestion of "insolent curiositv." It was
known that Mr. Stevens insisted upon inquiry—was it a
reasonable motive operating upon this man's mind that it
should occasion such a sense of resentment and anger that he
should desire the destruction or mutilation of this man, and
offer £10 to 'he post boy to upset him upon the road! I
believe the o ner to have been the true veision—if you upset
him you may break the jar, and then the contents never could
be found, and there would be no danger of strychnia being
discovered.

But it does not stop even there ; the inquiry takes place,
and the post-mortem examination having been mude, a coroner's
inquest is insisted upon and becomes inpvitable, and then we
have the prisoner seeking to tamper with the administration of a
most important office

; sending presents to the coroner at the
time the inquest was sitting; presents, unquestionably, of game
and thmgs of that description, and if the evidence does not
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Attorney-General's Address to Jury.

very much mislead ug a present of money also. For what pur- Attorney-
pose was all that done J We find him, with uneasy restlessness, Omani
obta'Tiing through Cheshire information of what is taking place
between the professional man who was employed to analyse the
contents oi the stomach and the attorney at Rugeley who was
instructed on behalf of Mr. Stevenj; is that the conduct of
innocence or of guilt! Why should he be desirous of knowing
whether strychnia, above all other things, should be found in
the intestines of the deceased? Let me "all your attention to
the letter which he writes to the coroner—" I am sorry to tell
you that I am still confined to my bed; I do not think it was
mentioned at the inquest yesterday that Cook was taken ill on
Sunday and on Monday night in the same way that he was
on Tuesday night when he died; the chambermaid at the
Crown Hotel can prove this; I believe a man of the name of
Fisher is coming down to prove that he received some money
at Shrewsbury ; now, here he can only pay Smith £10 out of
£41 he owed him." Does he tell what had become of the
rest of the money that the man had at Shrewsbury? " Ead
you not better call Smith," that is, Mr. Jeremiah Smith whom
we saw here to-day, " to prove this? " What a witness
Jeremiah Smith would have been in the hands of the coroner,
Mr. Ward, the friendly coroner of Staffordshire ! And, again,
" Whatever Professor Taylor may say to morrow, he wrote
from London last Tuesday night to Gardner to say, we (that
is. Dr. Taylor and Dr. Rees) have this day finished our analysis,
and find no traces of either strychnia, prussic acid, or opium;
what can beat this frori a man like Taylor, if he says what
he has already said of Dr. Harland's evidence? Mind you,
I know it, I saw in black and white what Taylor said to
Gardner; but this is strictly private and confidential, but it

is true. As regards his betting book, I kn^-^ nothing of it,

and it is of no good to any one " ; the repetition of the same
story. "I ho;'9 the verdict to-morrow rUl be that he died
of natural causes, and thus end it" ; but the verdict was not
so, and it did not end it; and it is for you to say whether
upon a review of the whole of this evidence you can come
to any other conclusion than that of the prisoner's guilt. Look
at his restless anxiety; it may possibly, it is true, be com-
patible with innocence, but I think on the other hr\nd it must
be admitted that it bears strongly the aspect of guilt; if it

stood alone, I would not ask you upon that to come to a con-
clusion adverse to the prisoner, but it is one of a series of
things, small perhaps, each individually in themselves, but,
taken as a whole, as I submit to you, leading irresistibly to the
conclusion of the guilt of this mun.
Now, gentlemen, the whole case is before you. It will b«

for you to determine it. You have, on the one hand, a man
overwhelmed by a pressure almost unparalleled and unexampled
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Trial of William Palmer.

«2SSy' ^^^T"^ Iwbihfae. which he i. utterly unable to meetmyolvmg the penaltie. of the law, which murtbrine disSjmd rum upon him. Hi. only mode of averting iSil^ST^y °^**"^ °\?°*y
'
*™»' ^^' thoSefi^tSStSS;jnth a bad man a «naU amount, if that amountTilSthe exigencie. of the moment and avert the iTpendhS

iw..!^! •
°°^ inquiring into; that he ha. the means of^mwtenng poi.on to him. and you find that, within eigh?-

^iln ?K
?"' *'%»'''?

*r<»
"quired po8.e«.ion of the fery

" di7Kw ™"**°''''^
"^l

°' ^^''^ "« characteristfc^ni;

f«nf?w ? *v
P?!'**" ""^ °^ °° "t**®""- You have then the

pusned. You have all those fact., and the undoubted an,4

^^"^J^r^T V""i?^ ^^^ was alVuS ^whkhtrace, have been found m the man's body, although no traces

fh« «^^^ ' u'
**'* principal poison, whose possession bv

lil £Z *
''^ ^? *™^^' ^"'^ ^^°'^ presence'Wrshow inthe .ymptoms which accompanied the death of the deceased

sL"att,.^°"
*" "^^ ""^ ^^'^ circumstances into yot^'Si

finS?«Tfi°' ^°*
^'f^t' i"''^' '^^'^ introduced into this case

omVtS dr^KV,""^ ^ ^^i"*
^**'^** '^«^« ^««° better

lZl*y.- V T * ^"'^ '™" "y '«*™«d friend the unusual.

^?ti„n nf^- \^% '-^ nnprecedented. assurance of his con!viction of his chent's innocence.
Mr. SiEJBANT Sheb—Not unprecedented.

>,*« >u«"rfr'"^f'™**^~^ ''*° """^y ^^y I think it would

strlnJ^^^i
**'*•'* my learned friend had abstained from sostrange a declaration. What would he think of me if, imitat-

•' hoSou;- '^.^t V? t^i^^^'-cnt stated to you, uVrmv
rni^^^l-

^*
-f^'

^^"^ " "y i°*ernal conviction from aconscientious consideration of this case. The best reproof

iSiL"*"
^'°">"*«'- *« "^y 'earned friend is to abstain frl

ad^r.r»^r i^°r°"' ?,° "."'"P'"- ^y '««™«i friend in that

JdontS' » 7 ''' ""^ all admired the power and ability, also

SwLr.T,TK*T-'' •:"'°^ *° by advocatS but

^nr thVln 'P *'V°'''™?^ ^ "°™ <»•• Je«« '^ insult to ajnry, the endeavouring to mtimidate them by the fear of theirT *'.°°'«'rr *"^ *^« f^*-- °f *he countrv's^plnion fiJm di

'

charging firmly and honestly the great and sokmn duty which

told Zt ^ P*''""" T"" *^" ~^'^"°°- % learned fTiendWd you If your verdict should be "Guilty," one day orother the mnocence of the prisoner would be made manifest.
*4
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utr^J'°^»''^^''I *'**".**' "?«»* *^« ^««"ct you had ffiyen Attorn.,If my learned fnend wa. .mcere in that-and I Lowhe wl^ ^^SSS'

?eSv XrS "^
^i^" *l»VP^it of truth and honour is ,^keenly alive—he said what he believed ; but aU I can sav inanswer IS. that it shows how when a man enters whh TbiSupon his mmd ui^n the consideration of a subTecr he is kdmto error; and when my learned friend said thiThe had SS T ^^''./l'* "'^ •"" "°b^"«l «°d an unprejSiS

wh^ w^''\'^° "'I'?
'**^"^*^ *^" i° thinking thatt Fof

HS^ «"*K*?
^" ',5" ^"t ^^^'-gieo to a defence upon sucha cbme as this would not shrink in his own mind from the

SSlTtA'* "^vl^
to advocate the caus^of^Se wCm^S:beUeved to have been guilty of the foulest of all unairinable

h^*lL •
"y- therefore libiink my learned friendSTetSj

S^ a..?™„r!./'r
"^^^^ ?°? observations which invol?S

h« n^^h^ •
° *" own conviction. I say. further, I think

«W^ ''f^
justice and in consideration for you. to have

f£ countJ^^/t!f'°'*!°^
5^°"- " *«"^« y°" that the voice of

«>^n?T^ °"^T
°°* sanction the verdict which you were

fn^oW .f •,. K'"^ °"**^& °* the inconsistency which iS

hZ w r^ * statement, coming from one who but a short

fo.^n^rn^*'^
compbined in eloquent terms of the universal

wa^onnrLT'"^ t^ P'^j"'*'"* ^^ ^^^^ he said his client

„ t.^T !^ f"^^ l^?t ^''^- ^y' gentlemen, in answerto my learned friend, I hr-e only to .y. pay no regard to *V>

13.° *^' "°"°*'7' 7'*^*^'^ 't be fVcondeSation

SToS^wS'^L""'"'^"''
to anything but the internal voic

«n/r^ ^ consciences, and the sense of that duty to Goo

;; rTw^J
"'^ ^? r *°

^r^'''^' "P°° this occasion. SeS
Wk K ^; l^"^*'*

^''^ comforting assurance when you shall

the iSt^f**"' *^'K-r/ ^'^i'
^^y- *^"* y°" have discharged

iL H% *.>°'*^?" "^"^'^^ ^""^ to the uttemost of your pow^the duty that it was yours to perform. If, upon a revfew

and ITn theTt.' '^'^^r''^.
the evidence uponVe one sw"

h?.fW^
*®'"' ""* weighing it in the even scales ofjustice, you can come to a conclusion of the prisoner's iSno-S o7wh?o^ ^K*"'^^ '}^' ^"'- ^""^ reasonable amoun? Sfdoubt of which the accused is entitled to the benefit, in God's

ZlnTl ^r ,^!J*
'^' '''.'^' "^^^ hand, aU ie f^t

selves to tb«or?
'•'"'*

'iT ™'".'*«- ^'th satisfaction to your!

oSy risk for a v-^" f ?' ?,':"°"^'"'« ^^*' *hen, but then

protection of tL Ti "'^ ^^^''*7 ^* y°"'' hands- For the

I asTfor thit « J^?*'v'*°'^..°r
**»^ repression of the wicked,

safetVnf !^- 7"*^'<'t- J'y ^hich alone, as it seems to me, the

SrioLlZn^*^ T t '^"'i^' ""-^ the demands, the im-perious demands, of public justice can alone be satisfied

The Court then adjourned.
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Eleventh Day, Monday, a6th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

Charge to the Jury.

C^pbaU ^o»» Campbell—Gentlemen of the jury, we have at lentrth
arrived at that stage of these solemn proceedings when it
becomes my duty, as the chief judge presiding in this Court,
to eiplam to you the nature of the charge brought against the
prisoner, and those questions and considerations upon which
your verdict ought to be found. And, gentlemen, I must
begin by conjuring you to banish from your minds all that
you have heard with reference to these proceedings before
entering into that box. There is no doubt that a strone
prejudice elsewhere did prevail against the prisoner at the
bar, in the county of Stafford, where the offence for which
He has now to answer is alleged to have been committed; that
prejudice was s. strong that the Court of Queen's Bench made
an order to remove the trial from that county. The prisoner
by hia counsel, expressed a wish that the trial should take
place in the Central Criminal (. Durt. To enable that wish to
be accompliAel an Act has been passed by the Legislature
authorising the Court of Queen's Bench to direct the trial to
take place in the Central Criminal Court, where it was believed
and known that the trial would be fair and impartial I
must not only isam you, gentlemen, against being influenced
by what you may have before heard, but I must likewise warnyou—although I am sure it is an unnecessary caution, but
one which It is my duty to offer—against -'ng improperlv
influenced by the evidence that has been laid before you';
because there has been evidence which certainly implicates
the prisoner in transactions of a very discreditable nature It
appears that he had forged a great many biUs of exchange,
and that he had entered into transactions not of a reputable
nature. These transactions, however, would have been
excluded from your consideration altogether had it not been
necessary to bring them forward to assist you in arriving at
your verdict. By the law and practice of some countries it is
allowed to raise a probability that the party accused has
committed the offence which he has to answer, to show that
he has committed other offences, with a view of showing that
he is an immoral man, and not unlikely to commit other
offences, whether of the same or of a different nature; but the
law of England is different, and, presuming every man to be
innocent until his guilt is established, it allows his guilt to be
established only by evidence directly connected with the charge
brought against him.
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Charge to Jury.

Gentlemen, >t give« me great iatiifaction to find that thi«
o««e han been ao fully laid before you. Everything haH been
done that could be accomplished for the purpose of assisting
the jury in coming to a right conclusion. The prosecution
haa been taken up or the Government of the country, so that
juatice may be effectively administered. The Attorney-
General, who is the first law officer f the Crown, has con-
ducted the prosecution as the Mi ter of Public Justice.
Again, I am mtch pleased to think ut the prisoner appears
to have .'lad ample means to pre .e for and conduct his
defence. Witnesses very properly have been brought from
all parts of the kingdom to assist in his defence ; and he has
had the advantage of having his case conducted by one of the
most distinguished advocates at the English bar. Gentlemen,
I most strc -ly recommend to you to attend to everything
that fell so e;jquently, so ably, and so impressively from that
advocate, with the exception of his own private personal
opinion. It is ray duty to tell you that that ought to be no
ingredient in your verdict. You are to try the prisoner upon
t^? ®yi<lence befoit you, according as that evidence may be
laid before you up.-n the one side and on the other, and by
that alone, and not by any opinion of his advocate. I feel also
bound to say that it would have been better if his advocate
had abstained from some of the observations waich he made
m his address to you, in which he laid great stress upon his
own conviction of the prisoner's innocence of the crime imputed
to him and of his apprehension that if you returned a verdict
of guilty /ou one day would .ve to regret ir erdict. The
fact of the prisoner saying •

. ,'ot guilty '
- a mere fom

;

It goes for nothing, and it may le-d to t} nost disastrous
consequences if that formal answf.r i,; to be dwelt upon with
too much importance, as it may I: i n jury to believe that
a prisoner is not guilty because > advjcate expresses his
perfect conviction of 1 .< innocence. And, upon the other
hand, if the advocate ..holds an opinion, the jury may
suppose that he is conscious of his client's guilt, whereas it
IS the duty of the advocate to press his argument upon the
jury, and not his opinion.

Gentlemen, I will now in a few words give you the allegations
upon the one side and on the other. On the part of the pro.so-
cution it is alleged that the deceasti, John Persons Cook, was
first tampered with by antimony, that he was then killed
by strychnia, and that his symptoms were the symptoms of
poison by strychnia. It is then alleged that the prisoner
at the bar had a motive for making away with him; that he
had an opportunity of administering the poison ; that suspicion
fell upon no one else; and that on wo days, wheu the poison
was supposed to have been administered, he actually pur-
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Trial of William Palmer.

^Sib«"Sl!!? K*'^*L*^%P°''*? ««°Pl<^«ii a°d that, as theyaU^, his conduct before that transaction, before the deed
wiule It was going on, and afterwards, was that of a jniUtv'
and not of an innocent, man. On the other side it is con-
tended (and you are to say whether or not truly contended)
that the prisoner at the bar was reaUy the victim of prejudice
that he had no interest in the death of the deceased: and, on
the contrary, that the death of the deceased was to his pre-
judice; further, that Cook did not die from poison by strych-
nia, but from natural disease; that his symptoms were those
of natural disease, and not of poison by strychnia; and
further, it is contended that no part of tHe evidence which
has been given shows anything which is at all consistent with
the guilt of the prisoner. Gentlemen, it is for you to deter-mme between the allegations on the one side and the other
according to the evidence. A most anxiona task is imposed
upon you, knowing that the life of the prisoner is at stoke-
and, If you find him guilty, he must expiate his crime by an
Ignominious death. It is of the last importance that you
stiould be convinced of his innocence or his guilt; and, if you
are not convinced of his guilt, you will rescue him from the
fate with which he is threatened. On the r.ther hand, when
you have heard the statements which were given in evidence—
If you are satisfied of his guiit^it wiU be your duty to return
a verdict of guilty; for if the poisoner were to escape with
impunity there would be no safety for mankind, and society
would faU to pieces. Gentlemen, the burthen of proving the
guilt reste on the prosecution; and unless that is fully sus-
tained, and you are not convinced upon the evidence that he is
guilty, then it will be your duty to acquit the prisoner; but
in a case of this kind you cannot expect that witnesses should
be caUed to state that they saw the deadly poison administered
by the prisoner or mixed up by the prisoner openly before
them. Circumstantial evidence as to that is all that can be
reasonably expected; and if there are a series of circumstances
leading to the conclusion of guilt, then, gentlemen, a verdict
of guUty may satisfactorily be pronounced. With respect to
the alleged motive, it is of great importance to see whether
there was a motive for committing such a crime, or whether
there was not, or whether there is an improbability of its
having been committed so strong as not to be ovenjoweredby positive evidence. But, gentlemen, if there be any motive
which can be assigned, I am bound to teU you that the
adequacy of that motive is of little importance. We know
from the experience of criminal Courts that atrocious crimes
of this sort have been committed from very slight moti-es
not merely from malice and revenge, but 'to gain a small
pecuniary advantage and to drive oflf for a time pressing diffi



Charge to Jury.

ieU whethtrTh" *° T' ^°*'^°»«°' yo" ^iU have to consider Lord

rDoilntnfh?./^"^^ •°'°'
?I

9°«^'« <l««*h are conristent with "^^^
deS. ar^e ^f or7"^°i''- ," ^^'^ *'* °«*' « ^o" b«««^« that

entitted {^^ L^ *°%*"'^^ '=*."'^'' **>« P"«°°er is at onceentitled to a verdict of not frailty at vour hands • h»t it l,«.I
symptoms are consistent wit¥ a^Lni^g by Ht;Tchii* the"^

ZtW Sf'"
''^°'^'' """^ *° i'l'portant^question to considerwhether the evidence which hr.s been adduced is sufficSnt to

whT'thr •^'' '*
^*i " ^««*^' *>y Btr,chnia,1nd by sti^ctnSwhich the prisoner administered. In cases of the s^ the

Zor^K^" 5^°, ^'^ ^^'^^ '°to medical and moS ev'™T ,f^
"^"'"^ ^?°» *^*t of the scientific men and the

tZTn.th' r.'^"".'*""*'"'
^?*=*« ^^'''^ »"•« calculate?' tSprove

Eey cLot b! iTv"^'^'*.*^/ P"Y ^«="«^- Ge^tleTen!
K-^u. ? •* • u ™*"?. separated in the minds of the iurvbecause ,t is by combination of the two species of evideS
looR at the medical evidence to see whether the deceased in

iz:n::^ ';M!%*'^ ^'t^-^i - ^y naturSfs:fknSyou will look at what is called the moral evidence and rnnsider whether that shows that the prisoner not onl'v had fhiopportun ty. but that he actually'^"v£ 2 mTeS o?^that

7STL SJ'"''''''''
'^ ''^ ^--^ th^eTeSly-^o^

nr?ooIi
P"tlemen, with these preliminary observations I wiUproceed to read over to you the evidence ihich has been rivenin this long trial; and I must implore you eamestlv tha? inany observations I may make ujon its efSryTu wS* Sguided only by your own judgment. To assist yoJTrom im^

SJL? *
^""^^ "^^^ observations, but you wiU not b^^n thelightest degree influenced by them unless so far as y^ur ownudgment concurs in them. The verdict must be vours aid

rffirior^i^v 'Sf "^,! ''^ '^' P"««°«^ """St rest ^ •

"^

«fnW J p I
P *^^^ ^^^*" ""'t^ ^""^ took the jury through the

?S' •ii^*^""'ou^"'^°"*'
transactions; ne:ittK evidence ofCooks Illness at Shrewsbury; and then that of Elizabeth Mills

Ruiir'°'^®"'°'^' ""*^ "^ ^^' Jo"e« as to the ilness atRugeley; and passed tu the evidence of Newton 1

he tried to prevent"^ N^^U' fiSm fc-fn'^g'^rhThaVb"'obtaining this drug at the «hop of Mr Hawki- m^? l ?
TheVthe d'"'

^f-ther Portion'of the evidence oMr.^S^w^SThen the deposition of Newton was read, and it had bette? bi
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Trial of William Palmer.

CampbeU
™*** ^Lgun. (The deposition of Mr. Newton, taken before
the coroner, was then read, and his lordship concluded reading
the evidence of the witness.) Now, gentlemen, this is the
evidence of Newton, and most important it is for your con-
sideration. It certainly must be recollected that he did not
mention the furnishing of the strychnia to Palmer on Monday
before the coroner, and that he did not mention it till the
Tuesday morning, when he was coming up here. That cer-
tainly requires consideration at your hands; but then, gentle-
men, you will observe that in his deposition, which has been
read before you, although there is an omission, which is always
to be borne in mind, there is no contradiction of anything
that he has said. Well, then, you are to consider what is

the probability of his inventing this wicked and most abomin-
able lie. He had no ill-will towards the prisoner at the bar;
he had nothing to gain by injuring him, much less by saying
anything to affect his life. I see no motive that Mr. Newton
could have for inventing a lie to take away the life of another
person. No inducement could be held out to him from the
Crown; he says himself that no inducement was held out to
him, and that he at last disclosed it from a sense of justice.
If you believe him, certainly the evidence is very strong against
the prisoner at the bar. Nos'. I will take you to the evidence
of the next witness, whose evidence is closely connected with
the witness Newton—who did furnish strychnia to the prisoner—I mean Joseph Roberts. (The learned judge read the
examination-in-chief of Mr. Roberts.)
Now comes the cross-examination, which consists in this,

and this only, " I did not make an entry of any of those things
in our books; if articles are sold over the counter and paid
for at the time, we do not enter them in our books." Now,
gentlemen, thi« is the evidence of Mr. Roberts, which is most
important, for : ? is not cross-examined as to the veracity of
his testimony, lor is it contradicted at all. It is not denied
that on this Tuesday morning the prisoner at the bar got
6 grains of strychnia from Mr. Roberts. If you couple that
with the evidence of Mr. Newton, believing that, then you
will have positive evidence of strychnia being procured by
the prisoner at the bar; that the ymptoms of strychnia were
exhibited in Mr. Cook, the decea ed; and you have the evi-
dence of Mr. Roberts, undenied and unquestioned, that on the
Tuesday the 6 ^ains of strychnia were supplied. Now, gentle-
men, if you believe both, a very serious case is adduced, sup-
posing you should come to the conclusion that the symptoms
of Mr. Cook were consistent with that poison. If you think
the symptoms are accounted for by merely ordinary tetanus,
of course the fact of strychnia being obtaiiaed by the prisoner
at the bar is entitled to very little weight; but if you should
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Charge to Jury.

Si^ *on r"S"°;? ^''^
t^^ ^^P*""'^ ^^«»» Mr. Cook Lord

^ntZith
**'« Monday night and Tuesday night are con- *=*»•*•"

s^tent with strychnia, then a fearful case is madi out amdnsthun Gentlemen, I have listened with the moTanriois K^taon to know what explanation would be given JesoSnt th«

iSS'coun^^r fr'^""* °° *^« TuefdarmTrSC^^xJ:
n^^c i^ti.

'°''
^h^ P"'°°«>" *oJd "8 that we must believenothing that he would combat and disprove evernhLr amt

Z?°M*' T^'""^ *° ^'' instructions, he ve^ pro^Sy ^den^Sthat Mr. Newton was to be believed; and, dfsbeSn?Mr

SSlievfn^ Mr %ollT^' ''"*'u
^^'^^^^-^^^g Mr. nIwJo" Soeiieving Mr. Roberts, you have evidence of 6 OTaina of

Tltl" ^^^'"^• ^^ "^'^'''^ 0° **>« Tue^ay morLT andno explanation is eiven of it Tho ^^»^^A "'"''""s. »"«

favoJus with the^h?ol;'wLh^t Kr^Tin hl-s' oTnmmd respecting that strychnia, and how he cZider^ ii t^ K^
consistent with the view that he suggested Se^ i^evidence of the intention with which h warpurchasJd • the^

Then I say, gentlemen, that it will not at all influence vour

^f Mr l^lr ^°" '"""^ '' '^' ''^'^^^'^-^ that th^Ssof Mr. Cook were consistent with a death by strychnia -iM^t

'!Sl rT. u
*^^' conclusion I should shrink from my dutf

clsid.'r.r
^ ?.

''^''°''^^ *° "* '^^^«' i* I did not d?awio yoi
t may affori of'tSST^ °-

^'^t
'"''^'^''^ ^^ «^« i-^-e'e

and^tLf tK / the death having been occasioned by strychnia,and that that was administered by the prwoner.
^^nnia,

«f Vk
«^»Jence as to the post-mortem was then read, and thatof «ie postboy, of Cheshire, +he postmaster, and 8eye;al otherswithout comment of material importance Passine to th^

or Idiopathic tetanus, whatever it may be orwheSer thesymptoms correspond with a natural dise^ase, 'and do not corre!pond with strychnia, is a matter that is of very ^eatimportance for you to consider." Until his lordshirreaTdDr Taylor tie scientific evidence was read to the iury wi?h nnmaterial comments.] ^ ^ ^"^ no

The next witness is Dr. Taylor. Now crAntlomc.., i.

something most important for ^o'^ consfderftS^^Y^u're S
8 veiy properly rehed on, on the part of the prisone? Xithough strychnia may be found in t'he body byS^ tn'

271

i; N



Trial of William Palmer.

OunpbaU
WM found npon the anslTsis which was made by Dr. Taylor
and Dr. Reea, for they, and they alone, experimented upon it,

and they could find none. We know that experiments were
made by r.hose two individuals, and they say that, so far as
their skill goes, there may be death by strychnia and yet
that strychnia cannot be detected. But Dr. Taylor and Dr.
Rees state experiments that they made where the death had
been by strychnia which they themselves administered; and
in at least two of those cases where there had been death by
strychnia they could discover none. Now, it is possible that
other chemists and other medical men might have discovered
strychnia in those animals, and might have discovered strychnia
in the body or in the jar which contamed the stomach of Cook,
but they found none in their analysis. They found none also
in at least two cases where they killed animals by strychnia,
and afterwards did all their skill enabled them to do for the
purpose of discovering the strychnia. I thought at one time
that these examinations were made with a view to show that,
if the pills prepared by Mr. Bamford had been taken as he
prepared them, mercury ought to have been found in the
body of Mr. Cook; but I think that was not pressed, and I

should think that it ought not to have any influence upon your
verdict—there was no mercury found. There was mercury
in the pills which Mr. Bamford prepared, and which Cook
ought to have taken, but the simple fact of no mercury being
found in those parts of Cook's body that were examined ought
not to have any influence upon your verdict; but that, of
course, you will judge of for yourselves. Then the learned
counsel, in cross-examination, read a passage from Orfila about
a dog who had taken antimony, and some few minutes after-
wards antimony was found in the bones, in the fat, and in the
liver. (His lordship read the letter written by Dr. Taylor
to Mr. Gardener.) You will bear in mind, gentlemen, that
was written before the symptoms were known to Dr. Taylor
and Dr. Rees, but thev had been informed that prussic acid
and strychnia and opiam had been bought by Palmer on the
Tuesday. They search for all these poisons and they find

none; Sut they swear distinctly that they found antimony
in the body, and therefore, in the absence of the symptoms,
they do not impute the death to strychnia, but th'^y say it

may possibly have been produced by antimony, because the
quantity they discovered in the body was no test of the quantity
that had been administered to the deceased. Then a letter

was read which Dr. Taylor wrote to the Lancet, and I must
say that he would have done better to have abstained from
taking any notice whatsoever of what was said about him, but
you will say whether what he did write materially detracts

from the credit which would otherwise be due to him. I think



Charge to J'^'-y.

^K-f I.- y.^'^ei *bwh I wiU read to you. He explains C">i*«u

?ad bin soiT h'^^°' "5* «=TP'"°'' °' *»>« reV«SZ
Wb leZ Zi-'.fn*'*

r-^pectmg hm. and then he conclude.

thl^A- '° concluding this lette: I would observe
Jiat during a quarter of a century which I have now sSlv
lTl^t*".K°""°^"^*'*^

inquiries, I have never met w£hScases like those suspected of poisoning at Rugeley. The mSem wjich thoy will affect the person accu^^is of iSSorunportance compared with their probable influSce on sodetyhave no hesitation in saying that the future securTtyTf Ufe

and the counsel who may have to dispose of the chanres of

Z^n"" ^^^!f ,^rV"l"''^ ""' "^ *»»«»« investigations^
again say that I tlnnk it would have been better if he hadtrusted to the credit which he had already acquired insteadof writing a letter to the Lancet; but it is for vou to'sayThat

Wter r^ ?'k-'
*«„'^«.^*y«> inisrepresented, and writing this

^^ft L^'^r'u"^^' ^'^^*^«'- **>«* materially detractsfrom the credit which is due to him.

• ^^^u ^^' m^^^
follows, and he corroborates the evidence

fZ'iy ^"- ^^^\ ^'''' '^'''^''''' '« Dr. Rees, whl noone can suppose to have an interest in the matter. I do notknow waat interest it can be supposed that Dr. Taylor had

hVulw !k- u^
^as regularly employed in his profession;

he knew nothing about Mr. Palmer until he was called on byMr. htevens to analyse the contents of the jar: he had
I.U animosity against him, and no interest whatever in
misrepresenting the matter.

Mr. Skrjeant Shee—He said that the ezperiments with the
two rabbits were made after the inquest.
^ORD CAnn-BBLL—Certainly; it cannot matter whether they

were made before or after if they are witnesses of truth. If
IS the case that there was the death of the animals by strych-
nia, and tha^ after death no strychnia could be found in
the animals; and, if the experiments had been made this
morning, the effect would have been the same. Dr Taylor
has been questioned about the indiscreet letter which he wrote
to the Laiicet and some indiscreft conversation which he had
with the editor of the IlluHrated Times; but with regard to
iJr. I^ees that imputation does not exist, and he concurs with
Dr. Taylor in the evidence that the rabbits were killed by
strychnia, and t'.at. although they did everything in their
power, according to their skill and knowled'ge, to discover
the strychnia, as they did «ith regard to the contents of the
jar, yet no strychnia could b« "lund. You will judge from
the vomiting that took place at Shrewsbury, and afterwards
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Cuii
•t Stafford, whether antimony maj have been adminirtered to

Cook at Shrewsbury or Stafford. Antimony may not produce
death; but it ia part of the transaction, a .d deserrea your
deliberate oonaideration.

The Court then adjourned.
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Twelfth Day, Tuesday, 27th May, 1856.

The Court met at ten o'clock.

of ^rcfuTv!^'"*^*"*" ^S**^^ i""^' »* the adjournment Utd

m peounuty difficiiltiea of we mort lonuidabl. nMiir.- h.

w.evidence from which an inference may be drawn Sat fh!

ITZ urtd'^h^r "^ appropriating SrmteV^nia own use, and that he is prepared t( do whafover ttoo

"^t77A "°'=°" '''''''

't' '^i'^- ThereTs some e^fden^e

£r wWi?S »PP™P'^*t« that money to the payment ofS
whT was a f .«;«^

drew a cheque in the name of Cook,

nf thlT! ^''??7' "Pon wtich to obtain payment of partof the money which was due to Cook: and there is furJhJr

Monday anl*to''
'"^'"^^ ^™^ to'cSlt* m^ney ofth:

wZ/i ^i>
**
u^

appropriate it to his own use. What effectwould have been produced by the survival of Cook unSsuch circumstances, you are to^onsider. However it 'annealthat from Cook's death he contemplated tLadvLa^/eS

!?i^*^j ^°°^' *°^ ^°^ ha^e evidence of his having fabri

SSlnJe^'^rVncf"? "^^ *° ^f"' ^^''^ certJ^biUs ofexcnange with which it appears that Cook had no concern

TLTr'tl f'ir'''^ t''^'^*'^^^'
'^"•^ that the priSat the bar had derived no benefit from them. Gentlemen

stvV"eS%hat"f?au?'""?f" &°^'« ^^''*^' ^^ if SokT^dE minUhi TV.™"'* ^!7^ *^^° «^°'^' ''"^l anight havebeen pum,hed. Then, gentlemen, with respect to tixe iointhabihfv of Cook and Palmer, which, it is saW would noiL
Ind'if PaS hr ^f""'"'

*^* "" ^-^^^^^ « <ii«*^°* object

thTmZ^K *^t^
»^°* possession of aU Cook's property bythe means that he resorted to, he would not have Sn a
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Lord luflerer by hia death. Then, gentlemen, aa to thi important
^•""^

question wheUier Cook must be luppoied to L .ve cued by
nattiral diaeaie or bj poiton. Tou nave the evidence of Sir

Benjamin Brodie and other most skilful and hoi '>urable men,

who say that, in their opinion, he did not die from natural

disease; they know no natural disease in the whole catalogue

of diseases which attack the human frame that will account

for those symptoms. Further, gentlemen, the witnesses go

on to say that they believe that the symptoms that were

exhibited by Cook were the symptoms of strychnia, that they

were what would be expected from strychnia, and that, com-

paring those symptoms with natural tetanus, they do not

correspond with it, but they do correspond with the symptoms

brought on by a man boing poisoned by the administration of

strychnia. Then, gentlemen, with respect to the consideration

that no strychnia was found in the body, that is for you to

consider, and no doubt you will pay great attention to it; but

there is no poin* m. law according to which the poison must

be found in the ii, ^iy of the deceased; and all that we know

respecting the poison not being in the body of Cook is that

in that part of the body that was analysed by Drs. Taylor

and Rees they found no strychnia. But witnesses of great

reputation have said. Dr. Christison among the number, that,

under certain circumstances, where there has been poison by

strychnia, they would not expect, the strychnia should be

detected; and you have the evidence of Dr. Taylor and Dr.

Rees, who made the examination, that they having experi-

mented upon animals killed by strychnia which they them-

selves administered, and by resorting to the same means that

they had employ«i in examining the body of Cook, no

strychnia could be found.

Then, gentlemen, with regard to the length of time that

occurred between the alleged administration of the strychnia

and the time that the symptoms appeared, the evidence seems

to me to lead to this conclusion, that, where it is adminis-

tered to animals with a view of making experiments and with

a view of observing its operations as quickly as possible,

it generally operates more rapidly than in the human

frame when it is put in the shape of pills, and that will

depend upon the manner in which those pills are compounded,

and likewise on the state of the health and body of the

person to whom they are to be administered, and whether

there may or may not have been any previous tampering with

the health of that person. Instances are referred to where,

even in the human body, a greater space of time has elapsed

than in this case between the administration of the poison

and the symptoms which were exhibited.

Mr. Serjbant Shhh—I think that is not so upoi the evidence,

my lord.
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Lord Campbhx—There are inatancea referred to in which it Ui-d_ _
baa been detected; there have been instances referred to in the

^'•""
ooone of this trial in which there has been as long an interval.
Mr. Serjiant Shie—I believe that is a mistake.
Lord Campbkll—With regard to there being no blood in

the heart, which seems to have been relied upon, it appears
that the result is this, that if the death is produced by an
obstruction of the respiratory organs, producing asphyxia, the
blood is found in the heart ; but if it be produced by a spasm
upon the heart itself, the heart contracts, the blood is expelled,
and no blood is found after death. Now, taking the evidence
before us, there are two instances where that took place.
Then, gentlemen, we have to look to the evidence as it

implicates the prisoner at the bar. You must consider the
evidence to show that he must have tampered with the health
of the deceased, by administering something to him in the
brandy and water, in the broth, and in the other things which
were administered to him at Rugeley. One part of the
broth was taken by Elizabeth Mills, as she swears, and the
consequence which followed, according to her evidence and the
evidence of Lavinia Barnes, was that she was taken ill with a
vomiting in the stomach as Cook the deceased had been.
Then, gentlemen, you have antimony found in the body of

the deceased; antimony, which would show that tartar emetic,
producing vomiting, h\d been administered, and it seems to
be clearly proved that that substance was found in his body,
from what source ynu are to say from the evidence before you.
Then, gentlemen, comes the more direct evidence that the

prisoner at the bar, if you believe the witnesses, procured this
very poison on the Monday and on the Tuesday—3 grains, I

think, on the Monday, and 6 on the Tuesday. For what
purpose was that obtained? The evidence of the witness who
swears to the poison being obtained on the Monday is impeached,
but no impeachment rests upon the evidence of the witness
who swears to the poison being sold by him on the Tuesday
to the prisoner at the bar. You have no account of that
poison; what was the intention with which it was purchased,
and what was the application of it, you are to infer. Then,
gentlemen, it is impossible that you should not pay attention
to the conduct of the prisoner at the bar, and there are some
instances of his conduct which you will say whether they belong
to what might be expected from an innocent or a guilty man.
lie was eager to have the body fastened down in the coffin.
Then, with regard to the betting book, there is certainly
evidence from which you may infer that he did get possession
of the betting book, that he abstracted it and concealed it.

Then, gentlemen, you must not omit his conduct in trying to
bribe the postboy to overturn the carriage in which the jar
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^gf^^ij
WM being conveyed, to be analysed in London, and from which
evidence might be obtained of hii guilt. Aeain, jou find him
tampering with the poitmaiter, and procurmg from Uie post-
master the opening of a letter from Dr. Taylor, who had been
examining the contents of the jar, to Mr. Gardner, tite attorney
employed upon the part of Mr. Stevens. And then, gentlemen,
you have tampering with the coroner, and trying to induce
him to procure a verdict from the coroner's jury which would
amount to an acquittal. These are serious matters for your
consideration, but you, and you alone, will say what inference
is to be drawn from them. If not answered, they certainly
present a serious case for your consideration. It is for you
to say whether the answer is satisfactory. Either you may be
of opinion that the case on the part of the prosecution i8

insufficient, or you may be of opinion that the answer to it is

satisfactory.

Then, gentlemen, that answer consists oi two parts—first,

of the medical evidence, and, secondly, of the evidence of facts.

With regard to the medical evidence, I must say that there
were examined on the part of the prisoner a number of gentle-
men of high honour and solid integrity and proved scientific

knowledge, who came here only to speak the truth and assist

in the administration of justice. Tou may be of opinion that
others came whose object was to procure an acquittal of the
prisoner. Gentlemen, it is material, in the due administration
of justice, that a witness should not be turned into an advocate,
any more than an advocate should be turned into a witness.
It is for you to say whether some of those who were called on
the part of the prisoner did not belong to the category which
I described as witnesses becoming advocates.

Gentlemen, the first witness on the part of the prisoner was
Mr. Thomas Nunneley. (The learned judge read the evidence
of Mr. Nunneley and the documents therein referred to.) You
will recollect what he says, and you will form your opinion as
to the weight that is to be given to it. He certainly seemed
to me to give his evidence in a manner not quite becoming a
witness in a Court of justice, but you will give all attention
to the facts to which he refers in the evidence he gave. He
differs very materially in his general opinion from several of

the witnesses who were examined on the part of the prosecu-
tion. He speaks of there being an extraordinary rigidity of

the body after death, when there has been a death of this

description, vrith other symptoms, and he attaches considerable
importance to the heart being empty, but you will say what
weight ought to be attached to his opinion.

Mr. William Herapath is then culled. (The examination-
in-chief of Mr. Herapath was read.) He seems to differ from
Mr. Nunneley with respect to the rigidity produced by this
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poiaon. Now, gentlemen, Mr. Herapath U a verj ikilful
ohemirt, and I have no doubt he spoke linoerelj what he
thought, and what was hit opinion 1 That when there haa been
death by strychnia , strychnia ought to be discovered; but
it seems he intimated an opinion on this very case of Cook
that there might have been strychnia, and that Dr. Taylor
did not use the proper means to detect it. Now, the only
evidence that we have in this case that there was not strych-

nia is the analysis by Dr. Taylor and Dr. Rees that they did
not discover it. An I before pointed out to you, in two other
oases in which tliere certainly had been poisoning by strych-
nia the result waa the same—they could not discover it.

Then the next witness is Mr. Rogers. Now, this is a
gentleman whom there seems lo reason to doubt; there seemH
no reason to doubt the facts that ha stated, and that he does
sincerely entertain the opinion that he expresses; and, accord-
ing to his evidence, where there has been strychnia mixed
with impure matter, it may be expected that it would be
detected by skilful experimentalists, and by using the proper
tests. Then Dr. Letheby is called; he is the medical officer

of health to the city of London and of the London Hospital.
I doubt not that Dr. Letheby speaks sincerely, and according
to his experience and opinion, but he does say ^'uly that casex
vary very much, and that there may be cases which he calls

"exceptional," alluding to the >'a8e of the l^dy at Romsey;
and it may probably be the fair result that enough of this

disease ia not known to be aware of all its varieties, and that
any peculiarity that may arise where there is strong proba-
bility of strychnia having been administered would not be
anything Hke conclusive evidence to rebut that result.

Then Mr. Robert Gray is examined. Now, gentlemen, here
you have a case of what is called idiopathic tetanus; but you
are to say whether from this you can infer that the illness of Mr.
Cook was idiopathic tetanus. The great weight of evidence
seems to me to show that it was not idiopathic any more than
traumatic tetanus; but that vihatever form of disease it might
be, it would not be idiopathic tetanus; and you will find that
the symptoms vary most materially in their appearance from
the case that is here detailed in the duration as well as the
rest of the course of events.

The next witness that was called was Mr. Brown Ross. Now,
gentlemen, I do not know for what purpose the case alluded
to by Mr. Ross was brought before you, unless to lead to an
inference that Mr. Cook's was a case uf tetanus of the same
sort with this which is here described, because this was tetanus;
and I suppose it was intended that you are to infer that Mr.
Cook's was of the same description; but whether you call it

idiopathic or traumatic, it was a case of tetanus—was directly
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to b« Moribed to wounda which were upon hia body, aM whkh
•re here ^aoribed. No such wounda were upon the body of
Mr. Cook; and other witneaaea who were examined on the
part of the defence aay that thia waa not a case of tetanun
at all; but then, even in thia case that has been described,
you aee there were the symptoms so nearly approaching those
of strychnia that strychnia was suspected, but there was no
rund for it- and in the case described there was no ground

supposing strychnia could by possibility be the cause of
death.

The next witneaa is a witness worthy of all praise for the
sincerity which he exhibited. I mean Dr. Wrightson. Now,
gratlemen, thia witneaa, who, I have no doubt, is a most
aoientifio and a very honourable man, speaks as a man of
aoienoe, and, according to him, the poison would be found in
the body; but he speaka with proper caution, and upon his
evidence you ought to say whether, under particular circum-
atancea, it mi^t not be discoverable, or whether the person
seeking for it might fail to employ the proper means for
detecting it in the body.
Then comes Mr. Partridge, a most regiect; ble gentleman,

who says he hai> been many years in practice as a "urgeon,
and IS professor of anatomy at King's Coiiege. Now, gentle-
men, you have here the opinion of a very re pectable witness
as to the different topics that he touches upon : and the most
important one is that he thinks that the symptoms that were
exhibited did not correspond with what he should expect from
strychnia; but he speaks from his own experience, and you
have It from the other witnesses that the symptoms vary
considerably in different cases.
The next witness is Mr. John Gay. Now, gentlemen, this

was a case, you see, of tetanus arising from the toe being
smashed; and it seems to me, although, of course, you will
form your own opinion upon it, bears no analogy whatever to
the case of Cook, with regard to whom no such cause could be
assigned. Again, gentlemen, he says, what is very material,
that, m the event of a given state of tetanus, it would be
extremely difficult, if not impossible, without collateral evi-
dence, to ascribe the tetanic disease to any cause in the absencL"
of any evidence as to the cause. But you will form your own
opinion upon it. Therefore you are to look to coUateral
evidence; and if the collateral evidence would impute the
symptoms of tetanic convulsions to any particular cause,
according to this witness that cause may be assigned. That
I say with a view to got what is called the moral evidence with
regard to the conduct of a particular person, and with regard
to what ne may have done or what he may have had in his
possession.
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Now oomM Dr. lI'Donald. Tou will obMrre that he givet
an aooount of exp«rimenta he made for the prisoner, and you
will Me the lengthi to which he goea in adopting a new form of
diaeaae <^ epilepij with these complication!. You are to tB^j

what weight you give to that evidence compared with the
witaeiaea who have given evidence before you.
The next witness is Mr. John Bainbridge. The object of thin

witnen'a evidence seems to be to induce you to believe that
this was a case of epilensy, and from the symptoms you will
say whether you can come to that conclusion.
The next witness is Mr. Edward Steady. The case referred to

by this witness seems to be a case of traumatic tetanus; and
you will say, if it were idiopathic, whether the course of it in
the slightest degree resemblea the symptoms of Cook, the
deceased.

The next witness is Dr. Robinson. Now, gentlemen, you
have this respectable physician, who gives an account from
which you are called to infer that Cook's case was a case of
epilepsy. He says he should only take it to be epilepsy in
the absence of evidence of strychnia being administered.
He says that all the symptoms described by Jones on the Tues-
day night are consistent with stryhnia; and, with regard
to epilepsy, he says in no case where epilepsy had existed would
it cause death without a loss of consciousness. Cook, vou will
remember, remained conscious to ti.e last, and you will say
whether, upon the evidence that is laid before you, there was
or was not a bending of the body, which is characteristic of
tetanus, and what the witnesses have described as being
inconsistent with epilepsy.

The next witness is Dr. Richardson, who now brings in for
the first time angina pectoris as a disease which it may be
presumed Cook died. Now, gentlcmt i, you have to attend to
this case; the witness, who seems most highly respectable,
says this case being detailed by him, ilie symptoms were con-
sistent with strychnia, and that, if he had known as much of
strychnia then as he does now, he would have made an analysis
to see whether stryc'i-'ia was in the body. The great ques-
tion that I propounded for your consideration was "vhether
Cook's symptoms were consistent with strychnia, and, f they
were not, then the conclusion would be in favour uf the
prisoner; but if they were consistent with strychnia, then
you are not upon that alone to find a verdict of guilty against
him; but you are to consider the other evidence and see
whether the death arose from strychnia or not. Dr. Wright-
son is recalled, and he says that, in his opinion, when stryc' -

nia is entirely absorbed in the system it is diffused equa..v
throughout the entire system. Dr. Wrightson is a philosopher,
and, as a man of science, he speaks with caution, and you
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fg*,^„
*»*« heawl hii evidence. He ujn that if the minimum dose
were taken to destroy life, and then a long mterval elapsed
between the taking of the poison and death, the more complete
would be the absorption, and the less chance there would be
of finding it in the stomach.

Mr. Sbbjeant Shu—I thinJs he said he would expect to find
it in the spleen, the liver, and the blood.
Lord Campbell—Yes ; "I should look for it elsewhere, in

the spleen, the liver, and the blood."
Then comes Mr. Oliver Pemberton. The evidence of this

witness only goes to show that, in his opinion, an examination
of the body at that time was not of much value, and did not
afford the means of coming to a satisfactory opinion, differing
in opinion, therefore, from others that had been called.

His lordship then dealt with the witnesses as to facts, and
pointed out tiiat, according to the trains. Palmer could not
have arrived in Rugeley on the Monday night before ten o'clock.

Now, gentlemen, comes a very material witness, who, if he
were to be believed, would be very important, particularly
upon one part of the case. I mean Jeremiah Smith—and you,
havmg heard the whole of his evidence, the examination and
cross-examination, are to say what faiih or reliance you can
place upon his testimony. Now, gentlemen, this would show,
if true, that the genuine and very identical pills that Bamford
had made, and in the state in which he had prepared them,
were taken by Cook before Palmer arrived from London at
Rugeley, or, at any rate, before he came to the Talbot Arms.
It is for you to say whether you can place reliance upon such
testimony. You saw how he conducted himself in the witness-
box, and how he at last denied that the signature to the instru-
ment which he purported to have attested, and which he
received from the prisoner at the bar, was in his handwriting.
He said it was li!re it, but it was not his handwriting. Then
it appears that he did receive £5, and vou are to say whether
it was not clearly for attesting that very assignment. The
counterfoil of the cheque for £5, from William Palmer the
prisoner, is shown him ; and with that piece of paper he goes
to the bank and receives the £5. Can vou believe a man
who so disgraces himself in the witness-box? It is for you to
say what faith you can place in a witness who, by his own
admission, engaged in such fraudulent proceedings. We are
now upon veracity, and you are to say whether you can believe
a witness who at last acknowledges that he had been applied
to and had been engaged in procuring an insurance on the
life of Walter Palmer, who had been e bankrupt six years
before, and who had no means of living except by the allow-
ance of his friends and an allowance made to him by the
prisoner at the bar.



$

Charge to Jury.

Again, he acknowledges that he was engaged in the proposal Lord
to insure the life of Bates for £10,000. Bates being at that c«"»»*«"

time superintending the stables of the prisoner at the bar, living
in lodgings at 68. 6d. a week, apparently having no property,
and nothing depending upon his life, his life was to be insured
for £10,000. Smith gets himself appointed agent to an
insurance office, and, with a knowledge of these facts, he pro-
poses the insurance to be accepted by the office which he
represents; and can you believe such a witness who acknow-
ledges himself to have been engaged in such fraudulent pro-
ceedings, and who, now being examined upon his oath, denies
the handwriting of his own attestation to that document?
Gentlemen, of his credit you are to judge. His evidence would
be material as to what took place on the Monday night, be-
cause it would show that the pills that Cook took that night
were taken as they had been prepared by Bamford, and before
the prisoner at the bar had had any opportunity to substitute
others for them in the pill box. Such is the case with regard
to what took place on the Tuesday. If it stood there, and if

it were believed, it would be evidence in favour of the prisoner
at the bar ; and you are to say whether you believe it, or, if

you disbelieve it, what effect it has upon the other testimony
that has been brought forward.

Gentlemen, the case is now in your hands ; and, unless upon
the part of the prosecution a clear conviction has been brought
to your minds of the guilt of the prisoner, it is your duty to
acquit him. You are not to proceed even upon a strong
suspicion; there must be the strongest conviction in your
minds that he was guilty of this offence; and if there be any
reasonable doubt remaining in your mind, you will give him
the benefit of that doubt; but if you come to a clear con-
viction that he was guilty, you will not be deterred from doing
your duty by any considerations such as have been suggested
to you. You will remember the oath that vou have taken,
and you will act accordingly. Gentlemen, I have performed
my task

; you have now t« discharge vours. and may God
direct you to a right finding.

Mr. Skrjkant Shee—Your Ic.dship stated to the jury that
the question for them to consider was whether the evidence
that has been brought forward is consistent with the death of
Cook by strychnia. I submit to your lordship that that is

not the question which ought to be 'submitted to the jury.
Lord Campbell—Serjeant Shee, that is not the question that

I have submitted <.o the jury; it is a question. I told them
that unless they considered that the symptoms were consistent
with death by strychnia they ought to' acquit the prisoner.

Mr. Sehjhant Shek—It is my duty, my lord, not to be de-
terred by any expression of displeasure at" my stating it ; I am
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te?pMI f«»™t«We not only to your lonUhips. but I am aooountaUe
to a much higher tribunal; and I am bound to submit to you
whrt poem to me to be the proper question to be put to the
jury va ttus case—it is your lordship's duty to overrule it if
you think proper. I submit to your lordships that the ques-
tion, whe^er the symptoms of Cook's disease were consistent
with death by strychnia is a wrong question, unless it is
followed by this, " and inconsistent with death by other and
natural causes;'—and that the question should be, whether
the medical evidence establishes beyond all reasonable doubt
the death of Cook by strychnia—it is my duty to submit
that to your lordship.

^^ C^f"^'''^^°''®"®° °' *^« jury I did not submit toyou that the question upon which your verdict alone was to
turn was whether the symptoms of Cook were consistent with
death by Btrychma, but I said that that was a most material
question ior you; and I desired you to consider that question
with a view to guide your judgment as to whether he diedfrom natural c-sease, or whether he did not die by poison, by
strychnia administered by the prisoner. Then I went on
to say that if you were of opinion that the symptoms were
consistent with death from strychnia, you should go on to
consider the other evidence given in the case, whether strych-
nia had been administered to him; and whether strychniahad been administered to him by the prisoner at the bar; and
those are the questions that I again put to you. If you come
to the conclusion that those symptoms were consistent with the
strychnia, do you believe from the evidence that it was
strychnia and do you believe that that strychnia was ad-
mmistered by the prisoner at the bar? Do not find a verdict
of pjiilty unless you boliove that the strychnia was administered
to the deceased by the prisoner at the bar. But if vou believe
that, it IS your duty to God and man to find a verdict'of guilty.

The jury retired, and, after an absence of an hour and
eighteen minutes, returned a verdict of guilty.
The prisoner was asked what he had to say why the Court

should not pass sentence of death upon him according to law.
and he made no answer.

. ^°«J!
Campbkll then said—William Palmer, after a lonir and

impartial trial you have been convicted bv a jury of your country
of the crime of wilful murder. In that'verdict my two learned
brothers, who have so anxiously watched this trial, and myself
entirely concur, and consider that verdict altogether satis-
factory. The case is attended with such circumstances of
aggravation that I do not dare to touch upon them. Whether
It IS the first and only offence of this sort which you have com-
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mitted 18 certainly known only to God and your own conscience. Lord
It 18 seldom that such a familiarity with the means of death c«npfc«U
should be shown without long experience ; but for this offence
of which you have been found guilty your life is forfeited.
You must prepare to die ; and I trust that, as you can expect
no mercy m this world, you will, bv repentance of your
crimes, seek to obtain mercy from Almighty God. The Act
of Parliament under which you have been tried, and under
which you have been brought to the bar of this Court at your
own request, gives leave to the Court to direct that the sentence
under such circumstances shall be executed either within the
jurisdiction of the Central Criminal Court or in the county
where the offence was committed. We think that, for the
sake of example, the senten'^e ought to be executed in the
county of Stafford. Now, I hope that this terrible example
will deter others from committing such atrocious crimes, and
that It will be Been that whatever art, or caution, or experi-
ence may accomplish, such an offence will be detected and
punished. However d struetive poisons may be, it is so
ordamed by Providence that there are means for the safety of
His creatures for detecting and punishing those who administer
them. I again implore you to repent and prepare for the
awful change which awaits you. I will not seek to harrow
up your feelings by any enumeration of the circumstances of
this foul murder. I wUl content myself now with passing
upon you the sentence of the law, which is, that you be taken
hence to the gaol of Newgate, and thence removed to the gaol
of the county of Stafford, the county in which the offence of
which you are justly convicted was committed ; and that you
be taken thence to a place of execution, and be there hanged
by the neck until you be dead ; and tl.ir your body be after-
wards buried within the precincts of tu; prison in which you
shall be last confined after your conviction ; and may the Lord
have mercy upon your soul. Amen

!

The prisoner was executed at eight o'clock pn Saturday
morning, 14th June, 1856, in front of Stafford gaol. He
reiterated that he was " innocent of poisoninff Cook bv
strychnia."
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APPENDIX L

LITT.B FROM Thomas Palmrr, BaoTHKn or William Palm.b,
TO THB Lord Chief-Justice Campbell.

The following extract from the Diaiy of Lord Chief Justice
Campbell will serve as introduction to the foUowiug letter :—

had a Sunday to prepare for my 8ummin| up, and to th« I HpvXJ

«nn»ll-°'""^w^""/' .*'.*''"' command, they corrupted «ome dil:

!?,„. iVn"'"*'"
'°

i*^,""*
*''?''« diatribes against me. t^ pulbfiah^d

T PaW•Wh/^;?P''^'^""u'''':u'''« *•"« of • a Letter fromZTev
in x^J.h »i, nif- P"«°"." brother, to Lord Chief-Justice Campbell
?™r T«ff

^'"^f-Jsn'ce ''»» represented to be worse than hTs'^ pr":

Vn^A rt 'f?'',*"*^ 'K^** ««erted that there had been nothing inEngland hke the last trial since the " Bloody Assize." However the

r. k t •
°*™er has smce disclaimed the pamphlet and it ia iiaiHto have been written by a blackguard barrister."^ iTear him no enmUv

A LETTER TO THE LORD CHIEF-JUSTICE CAMPBELL.

«J^j**/i,*
ft'ugS'e with internal emotions too dreadful to be described

ho,iholVkn?t tol hT^^^'r'/' J"y
fa-i'y. the bereavem:nrof anouaenom knit together m bonds of etrongest love and amitv and

ri:nd7°?Tddrerv„''''°i'y-rr*'*'*''*
indignation of relatTve^' andS mv bite ^?Y

lordship, not only as the man who has

to as {he i'S/o' S^" *"•?. ^.°'"« •'™ *° th« foot of the scaffold.

fXwmen frt=*rr-.°
''i'' ^^^e to render an account to vo";

humw being wCf2' w"*^ ^ ^"^ .°? ^""^ •^'^'^'"8 ^""ds a
hand, and on whn.. J 7-^' *° * '=*'''»"» «'«"»*, placed in youranM, and on whose destmr you operated in a manner hitherto
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unknown, »t leut in our dayg. Th« law, with bitter irony, pro-
pounds it ia an axiom dear to Englishmen that a magistrate invested
with powers like your lordship is "counsel for the prisoner"; but
every man who witnesses the late mockery at the Old Baliey, in
which you played so prominent a part, confesses—to his own beart,
at least, whatever he may own in pubUc—that a more infamoM
delusion has never been solemnly enacted before a British audience
since those days of shame when Jeffreys went forth upon the
"bloody assize," and, in the name of Justice and the Law, oon-
siraed the young, the innocent, the helpless, and the stricken
with years to the dungeon and the gallows, professing all the while
to be actuated by a sense of duty to the Crown and to the people.
These may appear strong words, and this a heavy accusation, but

I will demonstrate it to all who read this letter. What though I
may not hope to move your lordship to justice, yet I may, at feast,
awaken within you a sense of that awful day which approaches
you as certainly as it looms on my brother, and which, at your
advanced age, cannot be far removed. I may awaken within you
a feehng of compunction, or, at all evenU, of solemn reflection; for
you, also, will have to stand before a Judge enthroned in majesty
and power; before whom you wiU be, indeed, as nought; and when
upon your biow appears the awful record of your administration of
justice to the man whom you have condemned, in that hour also
shall you remember this word from the brother of his affections.May It avail you before that terrific moment ! May it serve to save
yourself from yourself, and to warn you in time that it is the duty
oi a iiritisb judge to hear, not to condemn; to adjudicate, not to
execute; to admmuter the law as the representative of the country,

»» iP'j'*'* '* *° •*'• "'"' purposes with the anxiety of a hangman.My lord, in one week—in some short days from this—William
Falmer, my brother, will stand before his God; he will have to
•newer for hu life, and for the sins of his life ; he will have to
endure that fearful scrutiny into his past from which even the "oest
of us may well shrink with terror. But there is one crime for
which he will not have to answer, and that is the crime for which
your lordship has convicted him. My brother, William Pahner is
no murderer. Hia whole life, his while character, his whole bearinij
at and since the trial are quite convincing of the fact. From child-
hood upward no man was gentler of heart; his charity was inex
haustible; his kindhness to all who were in distress was well known.
10 him the wanderer resorted in his afflictions; by him the poor and
houseless were fed and comforted. I write in the face of the public
with my character as a gentleman and a clergyman at stake, and
I avow only facts that cannot be denied. His liberality was a
proverb, his frank sincerity, his courage, his faithful loyalty to his
friends, his temperance, his performance of the duties of religion,
hie social relations in the character of father, husband, and sonwon for him the love and confidence of all who approached him
and though it is true that in one fatal instance he violated the
laws of his country, and subjected himself to a severe penalty for
an infringement of its commercial code, yet this excepted, his was
in all respecta the very opposite of that cool, calculating, cowardly,
crafty temper which is essential to the poisoner, and which we know
cannot co-exist with these qualities which my brother possessed from
his ear.iest years down even to the day when your lordship eent
him to his death. My lord, beware, lest while you convict of
murder you are not yourself a party to a murder! It is not thn
first time that the annals of our own jurisprudence have exhibited
traces of blood ; it is not the first time that judges have persuaded
juries to convict to death on circumstantial evidence. The records
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dLt'^tlS J!^"^'''
'»''""«',."> W'n»rk«bl« cam of penoni judiciaUy

•Jen M^ th- .^„. *S' '"^.l"*
perpetrator, the fact of having b«en

S^tive .rf «H inurt
.'•""• '^- ""°; ''" committed, an apparent

!^i^-„»t^ **'*''• con'uMon of manner when he was accused

Si^cf i T»
"»?'"<>"• circumstance has contributed to br"ng theodinm of guilt and conseouent punishment on the wrone oartv At

f^ivd'llS.T'
°'

'J5*«''*''?
'"J'""'=« ^^" commuted Sy^cSSue^mning

£^n ~rpetraU"'^''fl.r''r ''
''ff

"°* I^^T*" ^•>"* » "'•''<'« ha§

£^-vKlaUd tnH,«H I,

well-recognised principle in criminalimw violated, indeed, by your lordship m my brother's ease—that
^,Ttr^"i. »'\»'«'<1 " having been commftted tm the b^y ofthe deceased has been discovered, had. apparently terminated th^

^««i^ ^^ft'i 0?"^" r"' r" lo^d^hip^Vrsua^'ed a^urv t, find• man .guilty of blood where there wag no actual positive oroof that

!n.te'"^%'"*^ •*.'^' ''*''" perpetrated, and wLn Ihe'^ chemicSl•naJysw had even demonstrated tliat it had not. Another andperhap. one of the most common cause, of prejudice i^ trie's of

oartv .h.r.j:;'' -.k"
F«^"i'=''t'<>n or the suspiciou. conduct of the

L^^^h- -^"^ ""'•'
^^f °^'""=''' *"d 'his. irkewise, your lordshio

»U fL}^^ ^" PT' ?' "ly
»'"'**'"''' K""ltiness. ' binding him^seU, though innocent, placed in an awkward predicament theaoouaed sometime, invented a plausible story in Yiis deface' andthe deceit being discovered, he was at once preaum^ to be^nevery respect guilty Sir 'Matthew Hale men?'o% a melancholymstance of this kind. An uncle, who had the bringinK un of h«niece, to whom he was heir-at-law, correcting her for some*^ offence.he was heard to say, " Good uncle, do not kill me ! " Xr wWch

SaviS^ 1°^* ''^
'r"**- /'"' """='« "»" committed on suspicion ofhaving murdered her, and was admonished by the judge of the™' ^ *"• «"t the child by the next aesizes. ^Being 3e To dtcover hu niece, he brought another child, dressed like her and

w«"&ed*'a;fd'^3 t\"'
''"'"• \"'' «>" -»{"'"' *'°°* th/fraSdwaa detected, and upon the presumption of gu It which those cir-cumstances afforded he was sentenced to be 1iangX«^dth? sen-tence waa executed The child afterward reappeared when "f

run awav Tnd had'*"!!
O" .being beaten by h^e? uncle she hadrun away, and had been received by a stranger; a iurv workedupon by suspicion, and probablv also by a judge who pind^'red thenas judges pander now, to public prejudice, had thus murdered anmnocent man, and that great Chief-Rustic; has preserved the fa'

t

of the law fS tl,?
P' ^ho has succeeded that noble luminary

«Li,* ; / 5 * *"'* memorable case in the moment when vouought most to have remembered it ; though I take upon mvself to«ay the c.rcum«tantial evidence against my brother "^^as not halfas powerful as that against this gentleman whose fate h^ thusbeen commemorated in vain by your lordship's wise and Christianpredecessor in the judgment seat. Yet do I believe that as surelv

^div Xn*'""'\°^.*'"^* ^°^ "^«' " the heavens ther- w ll*com^

men ^a^d^hZj,
''*''"

f 'S"'^*"''*
'''" ^e demonstrated before Tumen and though your lordship may not live to see it vet will

tte ^.^ rW'^'l *"" P'**"" ?"^«' «"'' his fate will 'blackenthe memory of all who were parties to his death with immortal

^r^rtharoVt'h."'^* ^T ^'^^ *-^'
'J-y'"

^^ ^y h" convTcTion-

7L^ wl k„ ^ '^ ^u°
''•"* ^"""^^ "P°" to convict, and whowonJd have been more than men if they had resisted your looksyour gestore., your actions, and your arguments. My loH .°nw««. con-iction of death ha. been recorded I have ieen WifliamPalmer. I have visited him in his condemned hold. Ihave beheld
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^t darling brothw, tli* pkynwU of my infancy, th« eompuiion
-k^ yon"/«»l porU, in wbom my bMrt't blood circul«U., wilVith
T„?°k"^ J j^'u^u "'*'"'»•*'• "•* •»»'' did be preMnt bimMlf?And how did btjMMt our preMnce? I My, Uke 8oc»t«i in bia

SiLl ••£' ^^^ ^"'"*y in^ the Tower; I wy, like Cak. before the

rjj . P^ewrvee a cheerful, an undaunted, an Engliab bmrt
i^ t^u *°^ * """ .P''°"<^ °' '''" •''««> in his death doom. Yourlordship hoc not crushed or trampled my brother's soul. He main-
tains hu energy Mid his hope in justice, not indeed from men, forhe was condemned lon^ since, b-it m the course of events, in theaiscovenes of science, in the confession or conviction of thoee per-

t™?^ " TK^I ?*'""^ ^'"J "/'. '•>••• "^l '"""B. '" th« Ciod of

t n
^"*"'8'' * n«»« doubted his innocence, yet did I resolve tomake all certain and positive before I hazarded this letter. I fell

Sf^-T^j u"**
'**'°^^ "'"'•

. ^ implored him by our past love and
kl 11 '*v

yj*".' early recoUectionji and hopes, by our common faith,by aU the duties which be owed to man and God, to disburthenhu conscience if he were guilty, and not to ^nter before the presence
of his Creator with a falsehood upon his lips. I adjured him to•ay If he were puilty or not guilty. Oh, my lord ! he did not wince;
he did not change his noble composure; be spoke and looked aU
innocence. Calmly, earnestly, and solemnly he answered, and the
seriousness of his words went into our hearts with the fullest per-
suasion of his perfect guiltlessness of blood; the most complete relianceon that dying tongue which never spoke falsely to one of n«, but
to whose language we listened ever with full assurance in it^ in-
tegrity and its faith. Under these circumstances, therefore, I makeno apology for addressing your lordship. A great, a majestic duty

nJZZ "^"^ °°
y°v"- " y*'" '•»"«•' ^™™ execuUng It you a.eundone There are but seven days between this and the irrevot-

h. nn.v!!n „^ •,'^!w- ..
^4 y°"' repentance, all your shame wilibe unavaihng if that dread sentence be rashly carried into effect.L^ ^°"

°°n
*-° "commend a pardon for my brother-for that, I

a respite for him till hw guilt or innocence be demonstrated t the
satisfaction of the world. Bear in mind that my brother'., counsel
offered fearlessly at the tnal that an experiment should be made,
k. '"ij""!,"

that some of the most able chemical analysts inthe world have declared upon their oaths that if strychnia were
administered it can be found; that the Attorney-General himself

^ Nfr Hl.t''\k"''
«P"''i?**^ »; Taylor, and supported himselfby .Mr. Herapath s supposition that strychnia was there, though

Taylor could not find it; bear in mind that Taylor's theory of theabsorption and decomposition of strychnia was never heard of until

inl? *k!;' Ii Jk**' r?'.*"*, "P°° ''y '*™ *o •^l»ter up his credit,

^L^tL^l 1^^ "k***
°' **"*

'.t"™"^ »* *»'« trial una:.imou.Iy

fhn^ k.I tk ', *
''^"''yi

"°''ortl>y o' credit, and whose fallacy

.,y
had themselves proved by actual experiment; bear in mind, 1say, all this and remember with what a harsh and angry denio'

Jh^Mn^^t^^"^'*' ?"''' "5 "Pe""l«"*' *''°"S'' "PO" it deperded

^J}^ i ?k'"*"j .J /*yv
deliberately that if these chemists havt

bodv fh!n w^n w-ir^'"'* i'T* '\"° "t'ychnia discernible in Cook',

ky.'Jkf 'H r^'l'-'l",
^*'"'" ^ murdered as effectually under

nn!l.,7k
"''* °/ ?"^'"''

i*.T "t,^'" *'^« ""'^t innocent was butchered

fPAPfnl ~Jl^if?*'™ z^'VI''"'., ^IP"*' Inquisition; and that the most

i;ii k-
'*'P'>'"'^'l'ty of blood that ever rested upon human head

ThilwJP'*"tT .w"* .[**."** to concede the test which is now
^•n !ri^ ; ! f^ ^'"'* 1^**. «Pe""'ent shall be performed, which

rii ^Ll\ '!!l' k-
"'

*^u
"

^'l"
>mpntation of judicial murder that will

•ear your lordships character with the present and with the future;
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M blood that It roiut mlr if you oppow thi. »pplic.tion. WUtui there unujuaJ, what .1 there crimrnll, what li there iUe.Il inonly aaking for a reipite until it be proved—aa it caji li nro^in

i?Te''dT'„''or;''*'^".^°?'' "••! ^' .trych".'*oJ'"no?T "TdIf he did not die of itrychnia, then ia iy brother', innoce^n»de manifeat, evea to your .atufaction ! While, if it L ah^SShe did ao die then u the voice of accuaation iu«nt for ever a^
E„^lurV''*''"**1""J!'*y' *-^^ •"?P<^«» impartiality and parity rfEMluh law vindicated in triumph before mankind. The DrLi-
Z?' "t'k

"'' **•" "Pori-nent miiTht be made it U not for me T.u^geat. I have no objection that it thaU be made in any waj wWci
^X?Tr"T'"'V'''"*°'yn "*=*''• ."*"°« Office. provX^d only thatneither Dr. Taylor nor Dr. Rees U entrusted with ita manaiement
« "• P<»' of worthiea I have no confidence. The fir.t p?onoSicedH. 4er guilty of pouoning on ground, the mort ridiculounhtt
?hf„V .k""»8"'«<1. "J*" "•'''-••' •'«» • 8t»fford Grand Jury d'd notthink there was aaffecient to warrant them in findina even a «Wm-
facxe caae for investigation at the assizes. He wwte leturt t'o tU
f.,IP."P'" }>T'^"'^

'.he "ccueed a, a most de.perau crim'ni he

M^roI^rM ?•«?'•'"« "•?•*'"' P'o-'^-'tion. and was bus ly'Sngkg^
AH«,nr^?^

the trial in writing noU. and making suggestion, to the

MDtTwt^wZ".l*"**
'*"' "'•"'! prosecuting couiSel

; ge amUed „?,!

endorse all that. Ta'vlor ^yl, V^T I^^l^e nX^tVe whatTv^ ^
alSi^ v^k' "' ^"^^ P'P^."' "•'o » unknown to me, mrke. a .uL"geetion which you may bring if you choo.e before the H^.

this noblf principle of the TaT fhT T'""''
"*

'-^'S'^'y
iUuatrate.

of it hero -ri- .V
tne 'aw that I may remind your lordshin

after atrip^^inH. to^h^wT^ Ihe^'Lt' ''ftie'^'bX'L '?k''

^sj^^^^Ht^'M r[^e^kn^i:bdiSs:^
a93
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f?*-lli*'i!L!S?
aother for th« murdir ot their child, obMrvwl Ui*t

^ ^^|£™S1!? '!." «=1»*»'«?- The cMe i. m,ntion«i by Omww
n^h^n'h'*^ Hflf,""**

J'«lg«t,th.t ever .domed tb« linchT»nd

thw perraaded janei to condemn men who might po<.ibly b« inno-

SSn ^W^J?"" krdihip would have decided tVu trial had itUfcen pUce before you, and had the public Preee, under the in-floence of insurance aocietiei, hounded on the many to a err for

for mercy adjudicated accordins- to the weD-known principle, of

h^ E^3^"*U^ ? '''1'*^ ^ am a..ured by every man wEo haS mad.

i .hoSf^ "P
hie .tudy, and who i, too pure to be influenced by

Ji»tt iL^'^^'^i*"?: ""nn"^ •"'"' ^'^ •''"'it without the

filJ? n.'^:?-'^*''
' •*""''*• ^•^•' ?«""• the ordinary caw which

L„™ ^nS -i.**'i.'"t
" Monymoua letter in one of the morningpapen, and which, I am informed, ii eo itrongly illuitrative of thecaution exercised in aU criminal caiea where the judge u impartial

H^ Jji?"
™«<'."»J.»c'Mce n"?^ occaeionaUy be fallible, that itneedi

?. i^w *•*
^u"* V*

^^ '* •'» 'orce. Iti value i. increaeed by thi.

.hT'l.. . iT* ij ^ ^? '^y ?*""" connected with my family hfls
the leaat knowledge of who tje writer ii, and, therefore, no coi.-

hli 'rSnd
" honour can be auppoaed to operate

SaI^ «taWieh," he eaya, " » perfect chain of cireumatantial
evidence, every circumstance m the caie muat be proved beyond allcavu. And the first and most important and absolutely indispens-
*ble circumstance in a case like that of Palmer's u the fact ot amurder having been committed. That is the groundwork of the
circumstantial fabric, without which the rest of the edifice topples
over. It is a circumetance of which merely the conduct, however

picious, antecedent or subsequent to its occurrence, of the allecfd

«„ .)f^f,i"i"';''**.i"^''^'"* J"^'-
To convict a man of poisoning,yon should distinctly trace the death ,/ t" .. leceased to ,,oi8on.Take a case m point It is of frequent occurrence in this country

that a woman la charged with the murder of her newly-born infantShe u unmarried; she is proved to have been suspected of pregnancy!

5^Hvi?J"'«f\'''K-M ^l" 'if'^'u'^" ^ P'°'*'' «o have beeS recently

tllZ ,t, ij f^I
*';».•'"' *" been seen going to a water-closet, ancT

after she has left, there are found, rammed down the pipe oi that
water-closet, the dissected members of an infant's body ; a knife
•meared with blood is ducovered hidden away, and traced to the prisoner'spoeaoBSKm; she has made no provision for the reception of the child,
which, should It aurvive the moment of its birth, must prove an
incubus upon it« mother and t. living witness to her shame Here
•re circumstances of a damning nature. A strong mot. -e, a cool

Kliitin"' \f'°u*'ll**'*
^"^y- "1^ P^yi^oi traces whi.:- cannotbe mistaken Mark the result. A surgeon is caUed at the trial,Md states that he cannot positively swear that the child was born

•live; that it may bv possibility have been bom dead: that there
being no proof that the child was ever alive, he cannot be sure that
It was kiUed by being cut in pieces. In that case there is no Pro
feasor Taylor, who, while the case was pendtnte lite, has written
letters in a newspaper stating that ' society demands a victim ' andwhose sworn testimony is to the effect that, inasmuch as 99 children

l"j .1.*/*..'*°^° "'r'*'
h" •'>l«mn belief is that so was this child,and that he has therefore come to the conclusion that the cutting

?ii iu'*"- '"'Iv""*^''"
*=*"*• of death. There is no Chief Justice to

tea the jury that they are to take aU the circumstance* surrounding
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Uw CM* into couidcMUon, 4nd th*t, although it wm not prored
b«yond • doubt that dwth wm the rmult ol mortfti .g.ncy. wt
If they miyed at th. ooncloiion that the priwner had • .trong motiw
lor dettroying the deceaMd, and had poeaeiaion of *n initrumint bywhich to effect that pnrpoee, there wa* a prima foci' caae made
out which would lead them to the next queition, namely, waa theaute of the body, or waa it not, conaistent with the fact of a violent
death. There u no infuriated and Preaa-prejudiced populace

w 1 i?i? V"*?"*©"""** great criminal, and thirating after her blood.

4 ik I i" *'u
""y" *° *''* J"'y y°" cannot, according to the Uw

01 trie land, whatever your auapicioni in thia caae may be, find a
rerdict of guilty ; there ij no proof of a murder having been oom-
mitted, and the prisoner muat be acquitted on that charge. That
I?*f . J * ''5i°"*

'*''• ^"' '^ "• *•»• •»"• a"** had no more right to be

r,3u^.l"
»»»•«•'•.'>' William Palmer than in that of any otherladmdiwl. If It be, the whole proceedinga of the trialare amockery and a deluaio- -a diagraceful pandering to out-of-door pre-

J»«w«» »nd a laating < t^e to thia country."
Thia la the Unguag ,f a, man who writea aa an unprejudiced

obMrver, and, I am told, with a deep knowledge of the law. If it
Be, a» be sayi, that thia is the law in caaes of this nature, withwhat face can my brother be executed when preciaely the very reversewaa done by your lordship in his caae, and, when forgetting ordeapuing all the precedents of mercy with which our juriaprudence
abounds, you took only the sanguinary view of the evidence, and
•nhirced^ everything against the prisoner by argument, by gesture,

That the law i^ wise in exercising this salutary caution I thinkmay be proved even by the testimony of the actor who next, after
your lordship, had moat influence in the verdict apainst my brother—
J
«"«n D"-- Taylor. In that writer's work on " Poisons.'^ page 139,

I Bnd the following sUtement :—" It often happens, in the hands of
the ablest analyst, that the last steps of a process lead to a result
r*rj different from that which was anticipated at the commence-
ment; and, therefore, a suspicion derived from a few incipient ex-
penmente is very lik.iy U> be overthrown by continuing the investi-
gation. In the Boughtoj) case Dr. Rattray gives an opinion, in
the Brst instance, that the poison administered to the deceased was
arsenic; but he subsequently attributed death to laurel-water' A
case occurred within my knowledge where arsenic was pronounced
to be present when sulphuno acid was reallv the poison. In another
case, tried I' the Kingston Assizes in 1^2. the medical witness
admitted that at the coroner's inquest he stated the poison to be
arsenic, but by subsequent experiment* he found that it was oxalic
acid, and in a case which baa but recently occurred the poison was
at first stated to be oxalic acid, but on a more careful examination
It was shown to be arsenic !

" Whether or not all the unhappy persons
in whose cases these chemical mistakes wpre thus made, and thus
coolly avowed, suffered death is not stated, but. as I am told that
one of them. Donellan, was certainly executed, and as it ia evennow a question deeply involved in doubt whether the person whom
he is supposed to have poisoned was poieoned at all, and the most
able medical authorities incline to the opinioi 'hat he waa not it
la hkely that the others also were as ruthlet^ly sacrificed to what
IS called public opinion," and that they have been sent to their
graves with the stigma of murder when they were, in fact, but
victims to medical delusions, or toxicolneic.i! miytakps which are as
eooUy confessed by Taylor as if thev were merely ordinary trifles,
not affecting m any way the life and death of the wretches whose
interests were at stake.
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W Whv wiX !! ^•"'y .''SP} '""='' ^""^ »•>• knowledge of the
^ti,. T- ^ !l*^ A°*y concealed from your lordship? It wai nrovw?

«ffBo» % »2";. -J *"• V ''^ ^•»« mesLns within your power the

enL'tVTivIor'7brcZ\olld"^ari '^ *?" P^-eutLT- had

Home Office not merelv ^ .n.^KM* P'^'^"
authorities and the

prisonerThar'ged wiTh m^ur^erT to atL°;:,nf»P*V*y ^'"™P'' °" ^

fir? ti^/.^:%%fT^rr -T™ p- bSt ^roij c^
weu'as tW ttt'are"',L7aturteThe'rarn H> % f.^°«'

^
tions against him as weU « th^ .t.JI**'' P°t"*"' °^ *'^^ ^'''"'^-

jury, wlioare (in twT) hi^i.^S^ t^ '*'"*
''."""JK- ^° ^^*- the

cumstanee, however Stean^d^f^' "^ "* """^ ''""^ *^"y "r-
come to ; righr'^ndS w'to'Te *v1rdfc't"Cch°'th'^"' "'°'f

'

pronounce. But this salutarv^ rnl- ^I. .^i.V' . "*y *r6 to
pro«,cutors in the prwent c«e^. tit wnfullv /f" ^!? ^^. tL Crown
counsel for mv brother .nHK^*^- "."'""y deceived and misled the
expose, they deprived the'°"i>Lrof%wo^ ^"'"'" PFT^''^
nesaes, who could prove his inn^fin« Ik . °/ '''® most material wit-
have. The fimt of thl*e t^fn«^. '

*'"'^ '* '^** P°«'"hle for man to

what manner he had used the strv?hn? l^u P"^^hased, and in

and^oes not now rn^^nZ'^^liiy^t^.S^to^ ^^X'^^^tt

were in the hab"t of leapfni^nnH ^ ^'"
'fu'*'

°'*' ''hieh the dogs
«o much so that even Bat^f wJ nhr'lS^'''*? ^"'T^ <°'°« <" «">.
the " Duchess of ^nf" ha? slinifr^W %^'"i* *'"'l

9°« «>' them."

that "Goldfinder" had suffered fmr^ari, '"'''•'
u"*'

I* ^ » '«*
refused to acknowledge 't Inde^ Ba « ""'mP' *''*'"?•> ^"^
anything, or give a dfrapt «niv »„ ' .:l ''""''^ warcefy admit
He're i/«n example taken frL.K*"^ °l*^ q"""""* Put to him.«i example, uken from the verbatim report of the trial-
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"Can you give ma any notion of their valuer " "I do not i>F«t<,nH ••

aMwers Bates, "to teU the value of the stoik my.elf " No^on^ hin«ked h,m to do so. yet thi. stable-bo^ br^erXmir, or whatevw
t^ ^» ^booses to call himself, who 'has been awCL. all hilLfe^oould^..^,,e Serjeant Shee a notion of the value of^th^U br<Sd

."id fo ac Buint/:-' T'^^'^n'^ "'J«»"t. ''that one of them
hil!»i.i- .

• ii^ L ^°"'' Sates knew th s as well as mv
he Sr '7 -ivv"'

""•'•
*"]• r^^J-"l have hearS^so' AgaS^

b^g^nL'1'tJ\VX^^^^^^^ before or at^he
3^?n ^- . ,f r it- ni^rT***" •

^^"'^' >°" ^'" remember,

qu.ti|, .1 e:Lot r; «^^tre7we'r7or^tt.'^XX -t"
£a"^^barirhTv/°t; relri^TylyTirSlS

"^ad anr'**
** '"PT^ ^"^ ^ates. This man waV again S'

dJ^k^-'^MtT Z '^T.'"'"*'
about dogs going abou? the ^

ircut Sp here- horis^'tf'?- °y7'
.^'!f ,

^"^ "*"1? " 8°«*
not been asU wWe hidtid to Ha?^ t°ht wL C^Cn^:) btt

by my bSer'a^'to^^he ^^^^"'^ and w'|ll.Wowrco^&*mad"e
huntir^ hlVhl/ .u ''^ .'," "hich his mares were constantly

you woufd not af the'tLr'^.'"'"'"'?**' ""i*
y°" "^'^ see, IhougJ

wWi. I,

"o?' at the trial, the evasive and equivocatine wav in

ee on the'tS fth.f
^"/""^ ^^'' *"*" proceeded-'^VVhaf dTd^ou

ft r,?t nn K-\ T**
'"''"<=«d you to mafe that observation '-I sawIt cut up which I supposed to be with horses' feet for thev cn.fld

TanythingS-f aUrSted 'it^^t fh""^^"^- ^/'^ ^'^ ^^^^^'^ "^It

^':^i:i'^ HUVi^e^nTn^^t-^if^- H- -

^l~^°\ ^^'"' ?^ '" * condition to be used?-! neverT^ it inmy hands to examine it." In ordinary cases T am ir-M fW i.

givTsr;:, ~ndih "'T" i%»'^'"~" thVc^w^i^i^^^^^^^^gives mm up and the judge informs the jury that no reliance i. tr^

your lordship was told at the trial, by Serieant SHao »»,. !,- /u- J

depositions, and thi- witness th7 fV„wr ^lul IS » "^ *^ '° '*'*

Had Cockavnn h««n o.iuj v Vown withheld from the jury.

my brother, to shoot the dogs that worried hie broo.i mar«I? that
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Trial of William Palmer.

he had also threatened to poison them, that the strychnia was pur-
chased for that object, and that he had missed dogs since tnen
which had been in the habit of prowling about the paddock and
hunting the mares. That my brother left poisoned food about the
place is a matter which can be proved only by himself, for these
things are not always trusted to servants; and, as it is a positive
medical fact that animals to which this poison has been given ^o away
into secret, concealed, and quiet places, where they die undiscovered,
and would be mortally atUcked in so short a time that they could
not get to their own homes. Is it not almost demonstrated that
this has been the case here, and that my brother is thus made the
victim of circumstances, harmless in themselves, but which, having
occurred at this precise period, tell now with fearful weight upon
his unfortunate case? The Crown may cry out, " Produce the dogs,
and show us the strychnia in them." With how much more freedoma the condemned man say, " Produce the poison from Cook's

J before you liang me to satisfy a medical theory invented for
this trial and broached against me by a deadly foe !

"

In the same way, the non-discovery of the money which Cook is
said to have possessed at Shrewsbury was urged by your lordship as
startling evidence against my brother, and you signified, to the jury
by gestures, by looks, and shakes of the head, that my brother
had fraudulently got possession of that money, and poisoned Cook
in order to conceal the fact. But your lordship was well aware at
the time, for it was in the depositions of Saunders, who was also in
Court, and who had be^n examined before the coroner and the Grand
Jury, that Cook had sent for Saunders on the Monday before his
death, that he had paid him £10 (his account), and excused himself
for not paying any more, by stating that he had given my brother
ail hw money to take with him to London, to settle his affairs. Thus
the disposal of the money was accounted for by Cook himself; and
Saunders, whose testimony was thus highly favourable to my brother,
ought to have bpen called to prove this fact. But, strange to say,
Saunders, thou;, in Court, was not called ; he waited until the end
of the case for the prosecution, and then was sent awny by the Crown
lawyers, who not only thus deprived the prisoner of the advantage
of his testimony, had they called Saunders for the prosecution, but
absolutely put it out of the power of the prisoner to call him for
the defence by sending him away into the country at the last moment,
when they had all aloni; left the counsel for the defence under the
idea that it was intended to examine Saunders as a witness on behalf
Oi the prosecution. A more scandalous trick than this, I believe,
was never committed, and I do not envy the feelings of the parties
who perpetrated it.

It may be asked, why did not Mr. Smith, an able, indefatigable,
and skilful lawyer, get Cockayne and Saunders put into the box
as witnesses for the prisoner? My lord, the answer is already given
They were the witnesses for the Crown; they were kept in "London,
in the custody of the Crown, until after the case for the prosecution
had terminated

; they were then rent out of London, into a distant
part of England not so easily accessible as was needed by the prisoner

;

and if we are to take your lord.«hip's manifest and angry impatience
at the ten minutes' delay in calling witnesses for the defence, which
occurred on the morning of Saturday, the tenth day of the trial, as
indicative of your feelings, we may be very certain that if you so
chafed at that brief interval, repeatedly during those few minutes
asking Serjeant Shee if he could not go on—if, I say, we u« to
consider that angry haste significant of anything, w« may very wl'
conclude that you would not have waited until Saunders and Cockayne
were brought up from the centre of England, if, indeed, it was
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p sBible for the priaoner at all to discover their exact lodgings at the
time. I have myself heard, on many occasions, in Courts of justice
where judges themselves called witnesses whose names were in the
indictment and order them to give their evidence for the Crown. But
this was where the judges were not biassed against the accused

—

where they had no desire to become the objects of public praise or
to prostitute their high places to the low desire of popularity acquired
by pandering to a cry for blood. Whv your lordship did not follow
the well-known precedents of law in mj brother's case is best known
to yourself. Yet there are many of the public -also who can form
a pretty accurate guese as to your real motives. Let me revert,
however, to the subject, from which this is a digreE5ion, and pursue
the confession made by Dr. Taylor of the general inaccuracy of
medical men when they are retained to carry out a theory by the
prosecution. These, which I have quoted, are not the only instances
in which mistakes have been made for want of proper caution. Taylor
(p. 63) mentions the case of M. Pralet, where " several medical
witnesses deposed that the deceas^ed had died from prussic acid,
administered to him by M. L'Heritier, the accused. Orfila was
requested to examine the medical evidence, and found it extremely
defective. The inferences drawn from the application of the medical
tesfas were highly improper, and the results were extremely negative.
Had it not been for the interference of Orfila, it is most probable
that the accused would have been convicted, more from the strong
medical opinions against him than from the medical facts of the case.
The witnesses appear to have acted on the principle that the whole
of their duty consisted in rendering the charge of poisoning probable,
whereas we shall hereafter see that no f erson can be convicted of this
crime on mere probability. The fact of poL«oning must be made reason-
ably certain either by medical or moral evidence, or by both com-
bined." He cites also (p. 110) a case reported by Anglada, in
which there were circumstances of grave suspicion, though the party
inspected was wholly innocent. " A lady, in perfect health, while
gupp'' I'.h her husband and family, complained, after having taken
two > mouthfuls, of severe pain in the region of her heart.
She in her chair and died instantly. The parties not having
lived jest of terms, the hu.sband was openly accused of having
been r .essory to the poisoning of his wife—a circumstance which
was rendered still more probable in the opinion of his neighbours
Iiy the fact that the wife had lately made a holograph will in his
favour. One of his servants, with whom he was said to live in
adultery, was arrested, and a paper containina a white powder was
found in her possession. The husband enrleivoured to compromise
the affair by offering to give up the will. Here, then, were strong
iiioral presumptions of death from poisoning. Three surgeons
(expeite !) were appointed to examine the body. They opened the
abdomen, and, observing some green 8pot.s in the stom.ich, produced
(as it afterwards appeared, by imbibition from the gall bladder),
pronoui.ced nn opinion that the organ was in a ganerenous state
from the effects of some corrosive poison. Some doubt arising on
the correctness of this view, four other surgeons were directed to
re-examine the body. They found that the stomach had not even been
opened, and that its mucous membrane, as well as that of the intes-
tines, was perfectly healthy. It contained a small quantity of un-
digested food, which was free from any trace of poison. The
deceased had died from natural causes. The white powder found in
the possession of the serv!»nt was nothing more than white sugar •"

Nor does he omit the case of Hunter (p. 144), whose trial at
Liverpool Ataizea somewhat resembles that of my poor brother, but
who was fortunate enough to be tried by an honest judge and an
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hS5!f!;!?'
ij"'^- "^ '**!??" '" '=''"8«l ^'th having poisoned her

n^^^ ^ /'**'"'=• ^^ '"'^'<=»' evidence reeted chWfly on thi

WM found^ti),^ * ! membrane of the stomach and intestines

Jlff^nl^ Tu "^'i°"^ ''* "'''°'« "te"' exceedingly inflamed and

Siv »f„.v 5*wi;;^''*^T""'''«*. ^°^ '"^o prosecution referred Ta-they always do) this condition to the action of arsenic : thoee for thedefence considered that it might be owing to idiopathic Kastroentent.-. independently of the exhibition of \ny iSt The c^.

aZ'tt^^^nl m' .T ''"' "*'? auspicious, b^it the prisoner wa,

Sn^'b^t frZ L "k*'^''*""^
°' •*'?« ^"'»"" « 'he medicaleviaence, but from the absence of positive proof of poison t e its

J'c^urofYaw"''"'T't .'"^'f'*/;-
*^'' «^?^""y wefghs mucV'wi^h

«n« kIT, ;„ u Yu'
7°""" lordship so contrived that it did not weighone hair m my brother^s case. The principles of law being thusSand the mistakes of medical science being*^ also equally admiUedkt

«„Lt r 1 tnat the symptoms in his case were such ae thev would
,>r^^nn.'? M ''^

^J"'}*'^ I'^I"
'^e administration of strychnia and wererreconcilable with death from any other cause. Upon the Darl of

c^n^accoTt lor\t'l°L'T!l^ T''''"'.'"''^l''^'
me,rs?aty'thrthey

,.1 1 r iu u' *"? *-^ "^ the deceased w thout being comoeUed to

«cnla«. th«%^P°/''''"-'' °^
^'rJ'"'"'

»"'l *hat in many fmj^Xt par& ^Vrxr^s rr^.it!;res:'':- nt^Lf/i^indr

rt^m^r ?""" professor Taylor, who analysed the contents of the
ii^^t^ 'k*u' "?f

"'ho states that he found no strychnia nor anvpoison which could account for the death of Mr. Cook ^As Lord Camo^
It itr?k« I'*'' "k"*"""'

°^
"°i'"«- "P"" this the whole defence resT.^'

;r«.nM ^T?"
'"'"'5

*T^'"":J:
^^»"hle defence inaeed. but more of that

S^^l '^-
.w'T.*''^''

^'- *''y'°'' states that you must not dr^w the
S^lf'f"J^\* '^•'""l^

""^ strychnia was found, therefore non^ ^aadministered, because he had known cases (though of very rare^cTitre:.ce) where he had himself administered that drug to animals anditterwards tested for and failed to discover it; andXm the Tvm;tom.
rJ,* U^T^ -^^ ^'•'•. C""'' .'»"''* have di'ed fromTtrv.hnr^ Dr

tt l^

**
''li*"*

minutest particle of strychnia were presenrL the
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fiably and illegally, to the jury—that Profeagor Taylor might not have
used the proper test*, and that it wa« for them to consider whether,
It the proper te its had been applied, strychnia might not have been
dwcovered. Btt, however, iMr. Herepath, whose testimony is borne
out by other chemical witnesses for the defence, sUtes that he wQl
guarantee to find strychnia in all cases where it is present, however
infinitesimal the quantity, tliat he never found his tests to fail, and
that the only conclusion he could draw from the fact of strychnia
not tH>ing found is that none was administered. Upon the one hand
therefore, you have the positive opinions of fallible medical men!
founded upon a second-hand knowledge of the symptoms, as to the
impossibility of their resulting from any other cause than strychnia.
Upon the other hand you have the equally positive opinions of medicalmen similarly situaled as to the effect of those symptoms being recon-
cjlable with natural causes. Cast into the scales the unerring inspira-
tions of chemical ecience. add that the life of a ff llow-creature is st

»f 'i^ J " ''"y ''®* ^^^ balanca of evidenr.e? "
My lord, what answer can you make to this argument? You will

say, perhaps, that you have convinced yourself that my brother is
guilty. Ihis, indeed, may satisfy a man of weak or of no conscience

:

but how will It fall upon the great body of the enlightened British
pubhc, who have been wound up, it is true, to the most awful excite-ment against this unhappy man, but who will assuredly awaken from
that excitement and demand in tones of thunder how it came to pass
that you, who should have stood between the prisoner and prejudice
ministered to that prejudice, and were found to be his accuser rather
than his judge !

And here, my lord, before I proceed further, let me exonerate voufrom all the blame of this sham trial. You had a brother judee byyour side who shares with you all the responsibility of prejudice againstmy brother, who made no secret, but rather an indecent display of thdt
preiudice in a manner which astonished the whole c-iditorv, and <vhnought also to be recorded with ycu to all time coming as "having par-
ticipated m the laurels of blood with which you should be crowned-I
allude to Mr. Baron Alderson Tl.... learned functionary, who inaugurated
the hrst days proceedings by faUing asleep and nearly tumbling over
his desk during the Attorney-Generars opening speech, amused himself
during the progress of the trial by suggesting questions to Mr. James,
the counsel for the prosecution, by lifting up his hands in apparent
aatonishment when anything favourable to the prisoner was elicitedon cross-examination, by looking at the jury with every mark of in
credulity and contempt when Serjeant Shee suggested any matter bene-
heial to my brother, and by joining with your lordship in overruling
every legal objection which wos raised by the counsel for the defenceOnce also, when Serjeant Shee asked one of the witne.^ses. " Where are
the pathionic glands? " Baron Alderson started up with everv mark ofanger and exclaimed, "Humbug!" And on another occasion when
your lordship, or Mr. Justice Cresswell, addressed the Serjeant as
Brother Shee, Baron Alderson impatientlv oriad out, "Oh bother

Shee ! I can feel no surprise, therefore, when I find your lord«hip
while pronouncing sentence on my brother, declaring that Baron Aider-
son concurred with the finding of the jury, though, unless he con-
curred with you before the verdin was pronounced, he certainly did
not do 80 in Court, as no communication passed between you and
either of the judges after that fatal word. But of Mr. Justics Cress-
well I feel bound to declare the feeling of my brother, of all r amilv
and nn.inimotisly, as I am told, that of my brother's counsel hat hii
conduct was in accordance with all that we hear or know of the purity
of the bench

; tha*, ..is demeanour was dignified, noble, impartial, and
most honourable; and that, but for his interference, visible, as was
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2S!ifS!? «?H.?"^n ""RO'^nt. occMioM, your lorcUhip would have
-Wk K-

•"^«?" lUegatly against my brother, or excluded testimonv
Ztf h". -dy^g^ ^ p^J ^^^,^ j;^^^ favourably for him .n Uiemmd« of hi. jury. Never shall the memory of his conduct be erasedfrom our hearU; we all have felt, and we sh^ always Continue to foel

hit^sLlf^^^y,
"""**' '^°'' "" "^« f°' »»>« rem^ndM o? my daythat shall not witness my eam^et prayer for him who Hid .11 »,.?.

judge should do to maintain the '^ha^racter o ™u7^umry anS ittcriminal jurisprudence; and who probably would have^xerted himself

rht'^'A •''fr°"'''y
''"' '"^ the feeling' that upon your lo^dshi^ aschief judge, the great responsibility of this ca^e rested «nH Thf; hi

hu...lf was but an appendage rather than 1 minieirriSg' officVaf tS:

„„5^-i ^°^a'
*''?• '?'"a"'k8 which I have up to this time made mav be

^em folJ""-?
'"""*'y *" "y investigations of your^ha^ge b"t ^thej

horrible it may be that a systematic poisoner' should escape the Zaltv

human nature namely, that a man should be hanged for a 3er whichthere is no satisfactory proof had ever been committed."

fhk Ihrt^Jr'f-
' " something Mill more dreadful, and it is

£ ;k^S ,*5* time-renown«d prestige of British trial by jury ehould
to h«^?l.'*'^i t"

«^™K«'«'J it "ill be. if your lordship's precedent isto be followed by present or future judges Did your lorSshin rfillv

ietl^n*"^
?,"^'"°° \l

^^' ^"y "P^" ^hl'^h to exercise an iSparlia^

IJ^Z u ?L°"
.'•'"'"' "P""^ tf"*™ the whole responsibility of theverdict, as by the theory of the law you ought to fiave done' AiH

^ot^srro'ut'Jf fh""
'''^'^«''' """"''¥' ^oJnL,theTj°ltiid ?ounot st«p out^of the way to comment (like an advocate) on the evident"

sun^rted^ '^:' ?l'T- 7u^
"^ ^'"^^ '*°"" "'at one, to prafse those w^o

j^Sr r J-
^"y'^"" * t'"''""y ""d to censure those who were indenendent of such nonsense? Did not your lord.hip convey as clearlvTothe jury, by meaning looks, by thumping the desk with neculiir enerirtby laying emphasis on certain parts of the evidpnce and then naS

thonf^r^'"*'"'[y T'".'^' J"^J-™«"- by shaking your head as »Tu?
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•tation there u an end to the libertiee of Englishmen. frial by jury
becomes, in the language of Lord Denman, " a mockery, a delusion,
and a snare, ' and the moet glorious privilege which we have inherited
from our ancestora degenerates into an engine of tyranny, cruelty, and
falsehood, to entrap and destroy those who regard it as their dearest
birthright. My lord, if there be no sympathy for my brother, let
there be at least a feeling for our own rights when they are invaded,
and let the public meditate in time that it is by little and li.tle the
grandest rights of tates and empires are insidiously sapped until they
pVtXaiXt

I -.n not about to recpt)itulate the arguments of Serjeant Shee, which
prove that this charge ol murder is one of the most improbable in the
annals of criminal jurisprudence. These argumente failed with the
jury because they were not permitted to exercise a calm judgment upon
them. But I may call attention to the gross fallacy on which the
whole prosecution was founded—that of starting with the positive theory
of a murder and then endeavouring by all means to fix that murder
upon my brother.

It is, therefore, clear that in this case a great, and what would have
proved in any other an insurmountable difficulty meets one at the
threshold—that in order to obtain a conviction one must reverse the
legal and customary order of proceeding. Instead of proving a murder
first and discovering the murderer afterwards, you first prove the
murderer and thence deduce a murder. That is the course which the
necessities of the case compelled the Attorney-General to pursue, and it
was your duty to have exploded that theory in your summing up. But
yon did no such thing. On the contrary, you went into aU the ante-
cedents of the prisoner, and put them to the jury as an element in the
consideration of whether a murder had or had not been committed.
And having thus prepared the minds of the jury by the antimony ot
motives, suspicious circumstances, &c., you then administer to them the
strychnia of a murder. You descanted more especially upon the pur-
chase of strychnia by the prisoner juet before Cook's death as strong
evidence that Cook was poisoned. That circumstance, coming after
proof of Cook s death by strychnia, would reduce the case to one of
almost geometrical accuracy ; but by itself, in the absence of such proof
—nay, in presence of scientific proof to the contrary—of what value is
it? Besidof, it is t^uite incompatible with the case for the prosecu-
tion. The prosecution suggest? that my brother had a deliberaU
intention to murder Cook, and had for ten days been adopting pre-
liminary measures to carry that intention into effect; that when the
time for the completion of hie infernal purpose approached (which was
on the Sunday), he wrote for Mr. Jones, of Luttervforth, a surgeon,
and a personal friend of the deceased, to come over and be present at
his last moments, in order that his presence there might stave off
suspicion. Now, if that were so, is it not reasonable to suppoee that
he would have had the poison ready to be administered, and not trust
to the doctrine of chances to procure it at a villace like Rugeley when
wanted for immediate use? Surely the professional poisoner might
naturally be expected to keep a good stock-intiade? Nothing of the
sort. On the Monday night (if the case for the prosecution is to be
heheved) he gets from Newton three grains of strvchnia, which he given
almost immediately afterwards to Cook. Cook is attacked wit
strychnia-tetanus, but recovers, and is nearly quite well the next day
The prisoner, finding Cook not dead, gets six grains from Roberts on
the Tuesday, which he also gives to Cook, and this time he succeedsm his purpose. Nr>w, is not this—the blaekc.'^t part of the case against
my brother—very improbable? Would the poisoner of fourteen people
do his work in such a clumsy fat'.ion? But, then, the possession or
destination of those six grains is not attempted to be accounted for.
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t2^i *i?'*^y ".' ™*** incult»tonr circunuUnc*. But w« mut

it wL S^t ?iJ* ^^ "'w ."•'^'••l »»«t Cook di'S fn^ .UTchS?
brorh^r'. tnii *"'"i**°u'*

*&"•» origiMUd the train of ideu « t^ my
^u»ht 5.at i)fi"* 7''? ?'"'?.H

"'^^ """•*« »»• «"•/ naturally I "Jtaought that the atrychma, if found in hia poueMion would beevidence of hi. guilt, and «> may have destroyer wher*T if h2

Se^oe^^'TL'n if*
^* Z"!? ?'" K" the .t«.nSt p^ol orS!; J2!

?«^^» --. ' :
''" ^^^ dwtroy it, he could g ve no proof of the fact.

nL ifTT'j'V'"'"'* l"
'^°'"> '''*°"t the"privity of any one XrNow. if he had been in France he himwlf woSld have been iubiect^

SienTn iviHSn«'*"MP*'°*' '^'''"i '"^ '^^ •8»i°»t him. would haTe

wiJh ih. mlZ!i ?{"•*»'•'' hor does thie part of the ca«> reconcile

rrain u.-.m^"'^-''"^^*^''*- ,.}*• "« «d"iitted on all handa that half aa eurvfveTha^ '^fni' ^l^'-^f " «"''"' '»' *^°' °' ^^ree, no man
n,!r^t;t^ J • . ''V'

*he inference unquestionably is that thatquantity wa« administered on Monday night but did not kill and thenext day the dose wa. doubled ! Nine'grain. in all ! A^d of thm nine

^^Zl ?iT'"'J"'
"^'"^ unquestionfbly were admiS^teredTcc^kdied from that ooison, no trace whatever can be discovered in the bo^ !

l„.il,^n".
''^^'"ther dweU upon this subject, but come to j^ur

ortis letter
*" '^*' '"* *^' "*'" immediate object.

The first thing which appeared to me unfair was the order which

C^~^'-f»"'-?'^'A?»*r"'«^''='^ ^'tneese. for the Cro^ .hoddbe accommodated with seats m the most convenient part of the Court
Z,h

^ho. greater number of witnesses for the defence were obliged ii

J^.™ f,"/?^/'"' *"^^" P"";? •»' *•¥ ^""J-no "light mode of exhausting

out th^t non/or.iT'"
".PhyiFflly- And so rfgidly was this carriel

fnfVr J? .?/ 'n* Z"*"^'?"! w'tnesees for the defence were admitted

«i?,^n? f""?!"'
'" ^^^

^'"i"*""
'»' the prosecution had taken th"r

f .ifij,? 1- -VPfT?"P"''u'^^ *he vacant srace. This may appear

m.i^l ^'"*' ''"'. ^ know how greatly it aftected some of the oldermed cal witnesses for my brother, and how much it weakened them
for the violent attacks which the Attorney-General made upon them.Ihere are few men, however vigorous, who will not be worn out by

Court "a^ Ihe ofd Vaile";"'
"'^' '" ''* '""^^'^ atmosphere of such I

k^A***"**'' *li'"^
'^.•''^h appeared to me unfair was your permittinnthe Attorney-General to open to 'he jury all the facts connected withBates s insurance, and this you ^.d after Serjeant Shee objected. It

IS true that evidence of this negotiation was afterwards excluded asbeing irrelevant, but whv did you not exclude the statement whichvou most have known beforehand would prejudice the jury against mybrother? The eimple fact of that affair wi that my\,rother wanted
to raise money for Sates whom he pitied ; that this device was resorted
to for that purpose, and I am told that not on the turf alone, butm commercial circles, it u a common thing to raise loans upon the
deposit of insurance policies. Your lordship, however, allowed thejury to infer that my brother and Cook wanted to insure Batea's life inorder that they might afterward* murder him !

It is a principle of the law that nothing which is said in the absence
of a prisoner can be given in evidence against him. But you permitted
a conversation between Cook and Fisher to be proved when my brotherwaa not present, and when he could, consequently, have had no means
of contradicting Cooks drunken folly about the "dosing." In this
I arn tM4 hy a moat accomplished B-f-ber of the bar, you violated one
of the teading rulee of evidence—one adapted for the protection of allmen, as it is obvious that if private slander be once permitted to be
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detailed before a jury, the most innocent man living may be hanged
on atateuiente made behind his back. In your charge to the jury you
seemed conscious of the impropriety you had committed, and you did
not read that portion of the evidence to them, but it had already pro-
duced a fatal influence on their minds. Yet vou would have i^ad it,

as I could plainly see, only that Judge Cresswell interposed just as vou
came to it. What renders this more indefensible is that Serjeaut Soea
objected to it, but you overruled his objection. (See verbatim report
of trial, p. 26.) And the Attorney-General himself refrained from
•tating it in bia opening address, because he said it was not evidence

i
report, p. 9). Upon its manifest falsehood I need not say a word,
t is incredifsle that Cook should say to Fisher my brother poisoned
him, and . et after.vards go to Rugeley with him, cTme with him, send
for him every hour in the day, entrust him with all his moneys, make
no mention of "dosing" to his oldest friend, Dr. Jones, and retain

hia affectionate faith in William to the last. Yet, not one word of

these obvious reflections did you put before the jury to weaken the
force of the illegal evidence you allowed to go before them. You only
aid that it was " mysterious," whereas, in truth, it was incredible ;

and you added that " Cook was under the influence of Palmer to a
very ereat degree," as if he would have continued so after an attempt
to kill him. It was very soon apparent that your lordship was resolved

not only to admit illegal evidence, but alsn to allow the prosecuting
counsel great liberties in their mode of examination. Serjeant Shee
repeatedly called your attention to Mr. James putting " leading ques-
tions " to the witnesses, but you overruled him, until he told Mr.
Smith that it was quite useless to object any further. I am told that
every member of the bar in Court was of opinion that the questions
were irregular in the lead'ng shape in which they were put.

In his opening speech the Attorney-General made the following state-

ment to the jury:—"The next morning, at an early hour. Palmer was
with him, and from that time, during the whole of Saturday and
Sunday, he was constantly in attendance on him. He ordered him pome
coffee. Coffee was brought up by the chambermaid, Elizabeth Mills.

It wae taken into the room, given to the prisoner, and she left. Palmer,
having received the coffee, pave it to the man. who was in bed, and
had, therefore, an opportunity of dealing with it " (report, p. 12).

Elizabeth Mills was called to prove this statement. So far from proving
that it was given to Palmer, she distinctly swore that she " placed it

in Cook's han '= " so that Palmer had no opportunity of tampering with
it (report, p. ?^ . Yet your lordship, whose duty it was to see that none
of these misstatements should be unobserved upon to the jury, did not
point out this remarkable discrepancy, nor did you think it incumbent
on you to set them right upon a point of such material import to my
brother. You allowed them to believe that he had poisoned that coffee

when the evidence neeatived his dealing with it at all.

In commenting upon the evidence of this woman, Elizabeth Mills, you
said that Serjeant Shee had made " a most foul charge against her
and Stevens," representing that she had been bribed, but that you did
"not see the smallest pretence for such a suggestion." I wonder
that, after your three score and ten years in this wicked world, you
could ..ave been so exceedingly innocent and simple. Tou come from
a country where the inhabitants are keen-sighted enougn, yet you thrust
yourself forward as the defender of Eliza Stills, a woman upon whose
countenance her character was written, and whose whole demeanour
flashed conviction to every mind of the sort of person she was. This
woman was brought away from Rugeky by Stevens, she was lodged by
him at Dolly's, where she saw him " always " in the sitting-room, that
gentleman having called " merely to see how I liked London, and
whether I was well in health, and all that, to see whether I likeid the

X 30$
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pUoe," though ihe afterwarda added that he called about "lometimec
one thing, »ometin)«i another," and " many more things which I cannot
-jmember. I do not keep things in my head for weeka or montht
together. I do not pretend to keep in my head what the conveni.ilii.n
WM, yet " there were many more thingi talked about thut I do not
wian to mention. Perhaps my thoughts were occupied about something
•"•• -And when the fame woman is asked to give BOme account of
herMlf, and her visit to the man Dutton at Hitchingley, and asked
to name " who are your friends?" she answers, "1 have some friends
there. VVho are they?" tays Serjeant Shee, to which MUU
anawered, Friends are friends, I suppose," and then she gave an
account that she slept with the mother, and was " engaged to the
•on, though what she meant by this she did not venture to explain.
Your lordship, however, " saw not the smallest pretence," 4c.
Again, when the deposition of the fame woman waa read, in which

there was no mention of the " t«itcliiiig.s and jerkings," and all those
other boiTors which she imparted into her narrative, and which she
enforced by so much pantomimic action ; and when in the deposition
•he proved that the "broth was very good," while in the evidence at
the trial she swore that " it poisoned her," you coolly told the jury
that It was "an important omission; but you will gay whether that
which le stated is not substantially the same as the evidence which she
gave on oath when examined before you." Whereas you ought to have
•aid that they were substantially opposite, the two statement*! being
reconcilable by no manner of even Scotch chicanery. In fact the
manne in which you supported this woman was exactly opposite to
that which judges usually do when persons of that description come
tMfore them; and I have heard of judges telling juries to place no
.".

; ince on witnesses whose conduct and demeanour were every way
' y.TioT to that of Mills. I can conceive no gi( er blow to public

...al than the support given by a judge to a witness like Mills, but
a fellow feeling makes us wondrous kind," and vou adopted her

with all the fervour of a champion of romance. \Vhen it was pro-

?°*i tf, contradict this woman by Ur. Collier, who was in Court
Judge Alderson said, with unres.rained anger, "It is better Dr Collier
should be absent from the Court. If he is to be examined as to facts,
he ought not to be here at all ; he is here under the false pretence
of being a doctor, forgetting that Taylor, Rees. and Monkton, who
were also to be examined as to facts on behalf of the Crown were then
present, though not, of course, "under the false pretence of being
doctors! The jury very soon saw what the judges thought of the
case. Mr. Gardner, the lawyer of Rugpley. was then called to prove
that the coroner had not asked several questions of Mills, and that the
jurymen had expostulated with him for not doing to. This illegal
oonrse yon permitted, assigning the following strange reason for it:—
What was said there i.s part of the transaction of taking the evidence.

It cannot be evidence against the prisoner, but it may explain the
manner m which the depositions are taken." It requires no lawyer
to tell me that " if it cannot be evidence against the prisoner, then it
ha« no right to go upon your notes, or to be stated in the presence
of the junr at all, whom it cannot fail to affect, ilthough they are
sworn to decide according to the evidence." Yet all this you per-
mitted, allowing the Attorney-General to damage the character of the
coroner in every way he could ; and there is no knowing what you could
not have got Gardner to say had not Judge Cresswell interposed and
terminated the scene. He said " the depositions which had been put
•" did not show that any questions had been put by the jurymen. If
they had contained such questions they would have shown the motive
of the jury in putting them. But the Court was left totally in the
dark as to whether qoeetions had been put by the coroner or any other
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E^^i, anything that appearMi to the contrary, th« witneMUm ght have made a voluntary statement without any question* at allbeing put fcp them. No foundation waa, the.efore, laid for the Attorney-Oeneral. inquiries." Every one in Court saw how chagrined youwere at this interpositrn of Judge CressweU, but you were obliged to

?^wl;^ ^1,
'**''*"*

'=°'iS"."<l "'th him. One word with reference
to Ward the coroner. He w a very able lawyer. The jury wanted to

Kr^lr?/ n
'".^""O"^ ''"n""":* about ny brother William poisoningLord George Uentinck, Bladen the brewer, and twenty other people!

««i.'tuUl/ ^tTh- °^''""tl. "» "V-h folly, the sapient jurymen didexpostulate with him, and this was Gardner's mart's neat'The next witness examine.! was Mrs. Brooks, and though she gaveevidence of the most valuable kind to the prisoner, vet not one syllable

mv L/m ^"" ™™'"e"t "Pon ^' the iury. The main evidence against

^?i.fc I'
«"'"«<=H «'th Shrew.,6ury, related to the sickness withwhich I uk was seized. If therefore, other persons in various parUof the town were similarly aflected, it could not fail to benefit William

for he could not oe said to have poisoned or " dosed "
all the others'

especially as he was not at Shrew..^uiy at all when they were sick, but^" ^^ }^'':e at Rai^eley Serjeant Shee asked Mrs. Brook., (report,

^^1:.A
y°'' ^"°^* whether other racing men were taken ill on theWednesday at Shrewsbury ?-Jhero were a great number; one ofmy company was dreadfully ill, and there was a wonder what couldcause It. We made an ob.servation. We thought the water might havebeen poisoned at Hhrevv.^b.ivy. We wore all afflicted .-, some way by

eioknei.s-stck and purged." After twelve d.iys the jury can bescarcely expected to have remembered this most important admission
It wa« your iiicurribent d.ity to have recalled their attention to it for
It was stroni'y in mv brother's f.-ivour; but. if they recollected it

tL^UV ^.t
="'«

**''l'
'hey shoula pay no attention to it, for, after

remarked Ihis end.« tiie affair about Mr. Cook's illness at Shrews-bury, and taken by it.«elf, it really amounts to very little but vouobserve, It 18 connected with what follows when he returned to

te'?K "T'V ''• ^"'- •^"". t*'*" f«^«^d «>"• "°t "aying a wordabout the incident just mcrtione<i, and, associating in the minds of thejury with sub.soquont tran.sactmnf, ai Riigelcy that part of Mrs. Brooks'evidence which was brought forward for the piosecution, you keptback the most valuable portion of her testimony to my brother and
entirely ignored its existence in the case

Dr. Jones, of Lutterworth, the friend of Cook, to whom mv brother
writes, gave ev.denre of the most valuable kind, showin"- Cook'sbroken constitution, hie sore«. his syphilis, his se:ondarv symptoms hisunbounded confidence in William, ^nd William's brothTrl/kfnZe''. to

n,f?;-^
"
Ti,°"* T"'''

°^ cOMiment did yoj offer to the jury "Pon these

r,t»lf ^ °"'y ''7'n'''
y°" ""'''« '^"^ ™«' highly damaging to my

m,?ch L r^'-^'v "? f^'lo^yf^-'-At first sight it would appear very

fT;«nH^f r 'l'^'' ^:i''°"J;
*'"",''* •'""^' f°f ^ "'edical man who is a

him 1»^ °^\^'
^".'i

"^^^ '""'' " 'r^'-^
"'"««' '" him, and wishedhim well. But, nt the same time, there are circum.«t,ince, in this caMthat may enable you to draw a different conclusion, but I will^

pausing here
, , looked n», the ,ury and shook vour head at them fo^

Wn "l,T'!l"'n
\" 'he mosi mysterious manner, eo that they must havebeen the dullest of all mankind if they had not perfectly well known

S™teh^s,hTlT*f Ik'"-"'"
h-"-TH -ore than one pcUn rer^ark upon theScotch subtlety of this mode of proceeding. Your lordshin is a sort

of biographer of the Chief Justices of England, thoi.h I am toH thai

^ Oxfin fo"/!?'- ""'^"k
.'^•homyon had the' pleasure of ..eniencingat Oxford to twelve months' imprisonment, is the real author of that
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prodxtion; And I auppoM yoa hope to figurt one day in the litenry
fftkUmy with thoae whom yoa have commemonted. It would be
imposMble^ perhaDt, for • future hittoruui who merely read your pro-
ceedings in my brother'! trial, to form an accurate notion of your
demeanour; but, with the light which thia letter will throw upon the
tranaaction, luch an annaliat— if ever you ihould be thought worthy of
notice—will be able to inform future timei how you managed to convince
» jury without leaving any trace behind of tne meana by which you
did it.

The next witneM of any conMt|uence wai Newton ; and here I ihould
have thought your lordihip'i feelingi as a man, if they had not entirely
periehed, would have exhibited «ome trace of natural poaaion. Newton,
according to hie own account, waa an accessory to the murder, and the
murderer after the fact ; he knew the current gossip oi Rugeley and
Stafford, that Cook had been poisoned by my brother ; he assisted at
the post-mortem examinations for the purpose of detectini;; the poiaon
which the murderer had used ; he had an interview on the Sunday after
Cook's death with William, in which thie skilful poisoner (whoae
chemical knowledge of the minimum doae of strychnia which deatroya
life, and of the hitherto unknown fact that antimt ly neutralises tne
discovery of strychnia, places him a hundred years in a'dvance of all
the chemifts of the age), asks the ignorant shopboy of the nature and
the effects of atrychnia ! And when the learned Newton gives him
information on the matter, the poiconer snaps liis fingers in joy and
exclaims, " That will do "

; and after that he goes with him to the poat-
mortem examination ; and after that Newton swears againat him at the
inquest; and after that he keeps the deadly secret buried in hia bosom
from November until the middlo of the month of Mv. just one day
before the trial ! And after the trial he communicates the further
fact to the Attorney-General that it was he who made up the deadly
P"'J ,'?T ""y brother on the Monday night. With reference to the
credibility of this monstrous witness you have not one word to say,
though you did not hesitate to stigmatise Mr. Nunneley and Dr.
M'Donald as persons on whom the jury could place no reliance; and
in the course of their crose-examination you looked at them in a manner
significant of total incredulity of their testimony. Observe the mode
in which you support Newton. You say, "There is no contradic-
tion of anythmg that he has said." Why did you not tell the jury
that, as he fixed no time or place when any one but the prisoner him
self, whose mouth was sealed, was by, it was impossible he could be
contradicted? You go on (report, p. 313)—" Well, then, vou are to
consider what is the probability of his inventing this wicked and
most abominable lie? He had no ill-will towards the prisoner at the
bar. ' (Who told you that? ^Vho provrd it? What richt had vou
to assume it? What ri(rht had you to tell it to the jury?) " He tad
nothing to gain by injuring him mnrh less bv saymc anything to
aflect his life. ' (I ask again who told von all this, and on what pre-
tence did you venture to say so to the jury?) " I see no motive that
Mr. Newton could have for inventing a lie to take away the life of
another person." (Are ynn omniscient, then, and do yon profess to
read that inscrutable mystery, the human heart, and have you not
read m the annals of crime of innumerable murders and perjuries com-
mitted without apparent motive?) " No inducement could be held out
to him by the Crown; he says himself that no inducement was held
out to him, and that he at last disclosed it from a sense of justice."
(As if a man who screened a murderer for six months could have any
»«n»e of juRtico.) " If yon brlievc him, certainly the evidence is verv
strong against the prisoner at the bar." Not "a word of caution is
here given; not one Scotch hint of doubt in this witness. Tour
" canny " countrymen are not always go credulous ; they are not at all
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^Z^.r,*^^A* '*^*' '" P*"""* »' *•>" de«cription. Yet your milk

^. ZrJ^i^n'ThJ'v*' f"«
'»>*t you canuot for your life un.gii„

f» •
'•'*"' ^°y Newton tbould not be believed

oh-Jl.iLnT^ihf"^ i''j
fvidence of Robert, that your lordehip u«ed

th! m,d public mind. I have already explained how t wa. that

S hlvi^V.
• <l«P"ved by artifice of the u,tne«i Cockayne, who

h^w BatI! n,!"''" '. T"" ''.^''^ ,"P°" **" "«*'• """1 I havP ^hown
m^Te. Mv'^h,?.l!"'*K *"^ reference to the doK» and the brood

thffij«^ ^1 .^°^\'y"l'
'","'*'^> f"'"'''''' ""y '°"ld he account for

time. Qir hln ! 'y^^l""'*'
. ,P* y°". ^^^o knew all Ihi, a thou<«u.d

•rfTVj^ '•'* J'"'y' '"""^ "'«" t*»at "a very .erioi.s cane is

.vmt.'tom.o^^r'r^J'"'
"'"""''^ '°'"« t° '*>« conclusion thaf the•ymptom. of Mr. Cook were consistent with that of poison. If you think

t ZTotZZLr^T'"^ l7
by merely ordinar^ tetannV. Tcou»e

veJv Tihr„ w.7„M ^^*""?, "'•^•"l'*
^y th* prisoner .,t the bar is of

th7.v^Jf. ^'1''u'"JV 'ly?" •"h""''' «""«' to the conclusion that

Tue./av'^nlX
^^''^ ^'^. ^°°'' .exhibited on the Monday night andluesday ni(?ht are consistent with strychnia, then a fearful ca.a i<,

Xe'^theonr-wrV''!.'''-; .^^ lea. ncd ^counsel didU I'our u'with
.trvrhr,?,^„n^ i''' t^

had formed in his own mind respecting that

he^eu^JesteH
'^^^ -onHdercd ,t to be consistent with the view that

w« nn^^K,-^ ^T " "" e^'dence of the intention with which it

h!^^lJt t ^^w " "° evidence how it was applied, and what
m!!?™ -1 \°I

"''"'^
'''?/ <'°"'' ^'"' 't ('epoft. P- 313). What

"?^Thi» *?« f^°7 r"''" '" " "''-'^'^' J^^th «^" ventured to tell ajury that a fearful crime w-ns made out against the prisoner"'ScragRs or Belknap might have done it , Jeffreys might not ha^e blushed

^erriL* T^'- -^i;*
''"'^^^"'y ^^ould now be used in the face of anopen Court, and with a pantomimic gesture and grim stare at the jurv•uch a., vou gave, are facts discreditable to any law. By what righTwith what face, on what authority did you venture to teM the fuA;

.r^ n% l"""'^
counsel" was tK,„n,i to prove hi. innocence or toacrount for his r 'ises.Mon or disposal of the strychnia' I have alwavs

ce"nt"n^ l'
"" ""' '^* '^

^''^u*
*^"? '"''" -«'' presumed to beScent until he wag proved to be guilty ; but you have reversed thismajestic, merciful principle, and intimate that every man is euiltv

ve,!.;n„"'nriV"'* ^'Vu' ^.V"? '°r
^*" i'"l°<=ent. A more ehamefuf per^

n«r enftfle/i '^1'^V
^^ ^V" 1'^ y"" ''"''" "">* Serjeant Shee wasnot entitled to put forward to the jurj- " the theory which he hadformed in his own mind respecting the strychnia." Had he ventured

to do so I have no doubt you would have interrupted him with un-
feeling harshness, and repeated to him in even .stronger language thanyou did that spoces of msult "that a witness had no more right tomake himself an advocate than an advocate to make himself a witness."And then you glaringly tell the jury that there has been no "evidence
of the intention, ae if you did not well know that if such evidencewere possible to be given it could only be given by my brother
WiUiarn himself (who, by law, could not speak) ; and that, even if
be could speak and was about to mention his intention, you would
have stopped him, and said that such evidence was illegal, fact*.
not mt^iions, being the only admissible evidence in a Court of
iaw. Yet you gravely complain as if the thing might have beendOM, and the jury, who probably believed you, convict«l my
Ml b**^""^" "* '^"'d not prove an impossibility.
ftly lord, if our present gyetem of representation were anything
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bnt • Bwckery, and if th« Hooaa of Commons ware constitated m it

WM in the dayi uf Pym, Vane, and Hampden, I verily believe you
would be impeached for such a charge as thia, for you stated to the
jury that the prisoner was guilty because he did not do that whirb
TOu absolutely knew h« could not do, namely, prove his intention.
But, under the present system of things, judges may do anything
they please with impunity, and no one calls attention to it, because
the wretches whom tney hang or exile are friendless outcasts, deprived
of all sympathy from the world, enemies often of society, which
thus becomes their enemy; and the great body of the community
not being acquainted with the law, and the only persons who are,
namely, the bar, being a body of degraded, crawling, sneaking
slaves and sycophants who do not venture to arraign a judi;e, because
if they do tney fear that attorneys will desert tl em ; in this way the
most frightful licentiousness of power is given to men like you, and
they are as despotic as the Cadis in the remotest part of Turkey.
In civil cases, indeed, there is a check upon them, because there the
parties are rich, and there is an opportunity for a new trial, bat
in criminal cases there is no new trial, even in the most scandalous
and infamous conduct of the judge ; and the consequence is that a
wicked man may commit almost any conceivable crime upon the
bench, and gratify his love of blood to the utmost without restraint
or fear, thsr which I can conceive no more shocking infamy to exist.

Next, as to the evidence of Mr. Stevens, you made it a rule all

through violently to censure Serjeant Shee whenever he said any-
thing against the witnesses for the Crown, but not one syllable did
you say against the Attorney-General for his attack on the medical
witnesses for my brother. Thus you say here (report, p. 313)—" ITie
learned counsel in the discharge of his dutv did, as he was perfectly
justified in doing, make very violent attacKs upon the character and
conduct of Mr. Steven*. It rests with you to sav whether that
attack was well founded." But had you not said that he was
justified in doing so, and did not this inip'ly that Stevens deserved it?

And if it "rested with the jury,"' what right had you to add, "I
own I can see nothing in Mr. Stevens in the slightest degree calling
(or it"? Thug you first say Serjeant Shee was "justified," then
you say it "rests with the ]nry," and then, lest they may jointly
agree with the serjeant, you volunteer your own opinion, that Serjeant
Shee was not justified. Conduct like this requires no comment, but
if mv brother is hanged upon such a charge, who is guilty of his

The next witness was Mary Keeling. She gave impnratnt evidence
OS to the condition of the body. Mills and one or two other of
the witnesses had endeavoured to show that the body was " bent
like a bow," to use the imaginative language of that man Taylor,
and this was pressed in to support your view of the case that "the
death was consistent with strychnia." Now, Mary Keeling proved
the exact reverse of this, but you did not either take it in your notes
or read it to the jury. Serjeant Shee was obliged to interrupt you.
I copy from the report, p. 513

—

" Afr. Serjeant Shee—I am not quite sure whether your lordship
read that the witness said that the body was lying straight on the
back on the bed?
"Lord Campbell—I have read all that I have taken down. b

it in the cross-examination?
" Mr. Serjeant Shee—No, in the examination in chief. * How was

the body lying?—On the back, straight down on the bed.'
" Mr. James—Where do you read that from?
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" Mr. Serjeant Shee—It is in two reports ; one in the Timu mod
one from the shorthand writer's notes.

" Lord Campbell—Barnford says it waa lying straight on tli« bed.
" Mr. Serjeant Shee—I did not allude to Bamford'a examination.

This witneu says ao too."

And there the matter ended, and though it was admitted that it

had been said, and though it corroborated Dr. Barnford and Dr.
Jones, and entirely refuted the " opisthotonos " theory of Taylor
and Mills, and thus got rid of one of the most remarkable symptoms
" consistent with poisoning by strychnia," yet not one word of com-
ment did you offer upon it ; but, as you said, it was not upon your
notes—where it ought to have been—you left the jury unadvised upon
this essential contradiction, which, taken with the evidence of the two
medical men, entirely demolished Mills and her congenial companion
Taylor, and took out of the mouth of Sir Benjamin Brodie and the
other medical witnesses one of those vital symptoms on which they
founded their diagnosis of the causes of death. For, if there was no
opisthotonos, or bent bow-like shape, then Cook did not die of

strychnia; and this being proved not to have been so by these three
witnesses, or, at all events, left in deep doubt, my brother was entitled

to the bcneBt of that doubt, and should have been acquitted.
The same wish of omissinn was manifest in your notes when you read

out the evidence of Devonshire to the jury ; you forgot to tell the jury
that Cook's left lung was diseased, which was important, as his death
arose from natural causes. Serjeant Shee was again obliged to interfere

(report, p. 314)

—

" Mr. Serjeant Shee—I think the witness said there were tr.ices of

emphysema in the left lung?
"Mr. Baron Alderson—Yes."

But not one word of comment did yoa make.
Myatt, the postboy, whose testimony was wholly incredible, yoa

bolstered up with this remark, " Now, there seems no reason t) doubt
the evidence of this poor boy." As if you could fathom the secret

motives of man.
Upon the letter which my brother addressed to the coroner you say

—

" This letter is a most improper letter, addressed by the prisoner to
Mr. Ward, the coroner, who is, of course, a judge. It so happens
that I myself am the chief coroner of England, lut all the coroners
are judges as much as I am, and ought, with equal integrity and in-

difference, to administer the law of the country." This self praise, my
lord, is of that species which is said to stink. It would have been
better if you had not eulogised your conduct upon this trial, but allowed
others to do so. You did the same thing when you were sentencing
my brother, for you prefaced your " hanging speech " by these words

—

"William Palmer, after a fair and impartial trial," &c., ftc. You then
go on, and suggest to the jury that my brother was guilty because he
wrote that letter. " You will say whether this is consistent with
innocence; it is clear tampering with the judge." Yet the conduct of

the gentleman mentioned hy Sir Matthew Hale, or the French gentle-

man who offered to surrender his wife's will, was just as suspicious,

thoui^h the first was hanged innocently, and the last, fortunately for

himself, not tried by you.
When Cheshire was cross-examined by Serjeant Shee he asked him,

" Did he not say I knew they would not, for I am as innocent as a
baby? " You immediately interrupted, in a moBt angry tone, saying,
" He has already said that," whereas in truth he had not done ao, but
the phraae was likely to have an influence on the jury.
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Again, wh«n Herring wm examined, and Mr. Welaby propoeed to
five Mflte evidence from the pages of the lost betting book, about whose
iMppearance one of the greatest points was made asainat William.

Serjeant Shea said, " We cannot have the contenU."

" Lord Campbell—The laat account we have got ia that it waa in
Ifr. Palmer's possession.
"Mr. Serjeant Shee—I do not think there is any proof of ita ever

having been in Mr. Palmer's possession.
" Mr. Attorney-General—m show that it was in the dead man's

room on the Tuesday night before hu death, and Mr. Palmer is after-
wards seen looking about; we have no one else, my lord, that we can
resort to. ... (This was utterly false, for the last person who saw
It, or swore she saw it, was Mills, and that was on Monday night.)

Lord Campbell—I do not think we can receive this evidence"
(report, p. 41).

Thus you were about to admit the contents of that book on the plea
tbat my brother possessed it, a plea entirely untrue, and not only
not supported, but even negatived by the evidence. My lord,jf you do
wt °^" *" "natters of life and death, who among us is safe!
When Bates was called, it was proposed to give in evidence the

facta of the insurance, and you permitted a discussion to arise which
put the jury in possession of all the facts. You then said, " On the
Attorney-General's onening I doubted • .lether this would be rele-
vant and proper evidence to be received at this trial " (yet you per-
mitted him to open it !), " and upon consideration my brothers agree
with me It IS too remote to be admissible." But Ul the evil had then been
done, the jury having been prejudiced by the stetement and discusuon.And not one word did you say to them in your charge about disabusing

IJrv
""° •*' *'** '*"* impression which it might have made.When you commented on the medical evidence you told the jury thatmv brother had an opportunity of substituting for Bamford'e pilli

others made by himself. What right had you to do that? Was it not
leading their mmde to an inference that he did so, and that the aub-tituted pills contained poison? (report, p. 315).
You introduced Sir Benjamin Brodie with great praises ; in fact, you

f^W. '^"i
'"*^"''] ,'"*'»««/«» for the Crown, and confined your

tSth T.W°^^ f"'
°' '^°** ''?^

''i"
Pri«°"". ''ho »«Khtly coincided

^n„^vI!^i '•""Vr"- J°" »"•"' °* S" Benjamin-" You will takeinto consideration the solemn opinion of this distinguished medical man.

i?«W*.^I!% ' ° T* '" "^^'^ ^^^ aymptoms that he heard de-

diseases that afflict the human frame in all their multiplicity, and he
^1°^^-

no natural disease such as will answer the symptoms which he

dtse^T^nlh-'V^
"="«.°' Cook; and if it did not arise from natural

vf\ K *S?
'"'«''«"'=e 18 that It arose from other causes " (report, p316). Now, Sir Benjamm formed his opinion upon two inconsistent

Jif.^'^r*' ""^.f
''y l^'"V"? ^r- Jo""'- K what Afills "wore wa* In

«v?;„ fwrt""' ^'.u".'I!^T'."
^"^'^ ^""''^ f"*^" been justified ^n

hJt^ wh»f Tnn***''
^•"'^ •""

\f^ ?•" ""^"^^"^ "it"' that discripiion;

wifVwW n T
""°"

""S" xl"
'"'?"• »"'' ** ^'"' entirely inconsistent

TJ^,Z%- '• '^''"**
^I^""^' V''*"

''''° ** """•'l "°t be einsistent with

innocent of this crime. If Mills invented a number of symptoms whichno medical man had ever seen, and it is what an ignorant chambeSwho was disposed to perjure herself mi,?ht be aucpoa^d »a dr. then whatSir Benjamin Brodie nroved would have been correct, and he c^nldnot assign to any natural dise.«, that which was, in truth, but a fictittons



Appendix I.

nwrative ; bnt it would not necessarily follow from that that Cook died
of poif-n, as you told the jury it would, but it would as logically follow
that tiie whole of the symptoms not being in accordance with «...
known disease were invented by an unskilful person, and unskilfully
put together for the occasion. I think you saw in its full force the
effect of this, for it will be seen by the report that you prevented
Serjeant Shee from discoyerin|; on which of these two witnesses Sir
Benjamin relied in premising hu opinion.

" Considering how rarely tetanus is witnessed at all, would you think
that the description of a chambermaid, and of a provincial medical
man who had only seen one case of tetanus, could be relied upon by
you to state what description of diseaee the disease observed was?—

1

must say I thought the description very clearly given." (How could it
be given clearly if it accorded with no known disease? Besides, the
answer is an evasion of the question.)
" Mr. Serjeant Shee—On which of the two would you rely, supposing

they differed—the chambermaid or the medical man?
"Lord Campbell—That is hardly a proper question" (report, p. 120).

In my judgment no question could be more proper, for if Sir Benjamin
relied on Mills, then the jury would have known why he pronounced so
strong an opinion, and if they disliked her, the opmion would go for
nothing; but if Sir Benjamin relied on Dr. Jone.= . then the symptoms
described by him were accordant with mai known diseases, and Sir
Benjamin Brodie must have said so. This ruling therefore hanged my
brother

!

But let me hasten to a close. I am so heartbroken, so wearied out
with fatigue, and pain, and grief; I am so utterly disgusted by these
enumerations that I feel I cannot go on. From the first to the last
my brother had no chance. You introduced him to the jury as a
forger in the following words :—" There has been evidence which cer-
tainly implicat«s the prisoner in transactions of a very discreditable
nature. It appears that he had forged a great many bills of exchange,
and that he had entered into transactions not of a reputable nature."
If all this was irrelevant why did you introduce it? In the same tone
was your allusion to the "student's book," which even the Crown
abandoned. "This book has been laid before you in evidence, and
certainly I think I need hardly beg of you to pay no regard to it,
because it was a book that Palmer had when he was a surgeon, and at
a time when I have no doubt he would have shrunk with horror at
any such crime as that with which he is charged here to-day There
IS, in the title page of the book, "Strychnia kills by causing tetanic
fixing of the respiratory muscles," and in another part there is a descrip-
tion of what nux vomica is, and how strychnia is produced from H,
with these words—' Strychnia kills by causing tetanic fixing of the
respiratory muscles." Again I say that 1 think this being found in
hu possession ought not to weigh at all against the prisoner at the bar

"'

(report, p. 315). If it ought not to weigh against him, why, in Heaven's
name, did you so solemnly drag it in? Why did you read and re-read
it? Would it not have been fairer to put it Bj>ide altogether than to
impress it on the minds of the jury, and then tell them it ought not to
weigh at all? Is it possible to believe you were sincere? Is it
possible the jury could have drawn any other conclusion from your

"shed them to regard it i.« proof of guilt?dwelling on it than that you wished ,....,. u„ .cg„,u .i, ..- ,,iwi ui
With what regret I have written this lettpr I need not say. My

own avocations are mercy, peace, end charity, but there Js a time
wheu duty compel.^ a man to lay aside his garb of peacefninesa, and to
assume the weapon of the world. I feel I should have been a traitor
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to the truth, to my family, y«*, even to the coontrr, if I had feared,
from any eelfleh motives, to abate one word that I have here written.
Againat yoarself ptreonally I feel no anger; but, indeed, I am sorry
for you, and I tremble. My lord, you are in a fearful condition. If
your mind is so tainted that you decide ail other cases as you decided
this, you will have a most dreadful account to render to a moet just
God. Before Him how contemptible is human nature in its pride, and
robes, and silken vanity, and self-worship ; before Him what a wretched
insect is the judge who makes others tremble, and flings about his
entences of death, and dabbles in blood ae if it were water. You are
now exulting in your station, but in a few short weeks, or months
(for you can scarcely hope for years) you will be no more; nothing
but a noisome corpse from which all will flee—loathsome and abomin-
able, dust and aaues, a shadow and a name. You will be shut up
in a box, and put away into the earth, to form food for worms and
to deal with abomination ; and all your state, and all your bowing,
sycophantic train will fear to look upon you, and will fly to others,
and you will have left nothing but perisbable mercy and a vain
name, and your life will have been like smoke. But there is within
you a part that liveth, and will have to answer for the put, and
to render up an account of the things done in the body, before a
Lord and Jud^e who makes the heavens tremble and before whom
the mountains are but as grains of dust. Answer me, and say how
will you face that fearful tribunal if you leave one etone unturned
in the present case to discover the whole truth, or if you oppose
the appLcation that will be made for a respite until science has made
clear either guilt or innocence ! All human testimony is fallible

;

moet dangerous it is to destroy life upon a train of circumstances
depending on the veracity of such persons as Mills, and Taylor, and
Wyatt, and Newton. But the conclusions of science are certain,
and this fact, the first chemists of the day aver, can be made aa
clear as light, that if strychnia were adramistered to Cook in his
lifetime, it is now in his body, and can be detected by means that
are infallible. If, then, it is undoubted that my brother poisoned
Cook, what objection can there be to exhume the body, and convince
the whole world of the fact? but if it be not certain, what a frightful
crime are we then plunging into, to hang a man about whose guilt
there still remains a tremendous body of doubt? or what reparation
hall you make to his orpha.n boy, to his mother and sister, who
love and have faith in him, if a few short weeks shall demonstrate,
as in the rapid advance of science they may do, that William Palmer
has been murdered on a scientific theory invented for the purpoee
of blood, and scouted by men of the greatest eminence in chemical
analysis? Even while these pages pass through the press I read
in the papers a letter which "tierlv destroys Taylor's new hypothesis,
and annihilates for ever the toundations on which he rested. It is
published also in a morning journal, the Times, which cries aloud
for my brother's blood and fixes his guilt, not upon the fact proved
at the trial, for the editors of that able paper knew that these facts
are but as cobwebs, but upon what he is supposed to have done when
he was taken to Stafford prison, upon his threat, if he used the
threat, to destroy his life. Weak and miserable must be the case
for the prosecution when their advocates are compelled to resort to
this flimsy ad caittandum argument for the vulgar. Who is there
so hardy as to be able to answer for himself that, under similar
accusations, he would not resort to suicide, or who but the most
uncharitable would recard that siiicidp as pro.'if conclusive of the guilt
of poisoning? He was overwhelmed with debts which he had no
means of paying, b« had violated the civil law, and had forged his
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mother'! luune to the extent of thoiuands ; he wm accused of foarteen
or fifteen hideous and dreadful murders. He was prostrated in

mind and body by sickness, by weakness, by anxiety, by a thousand
conflicting passions of grief, despair, remorse, and indignation at the
fearful torrents of calumny against him ; and because the human mind
gave way under this awful load of calamities, and he declared that he
would willingly die—who is the man that can fairly say he is there-
fore guilty of a murder? The editor of the Tinug has indeed said
•o; and many influential persons will, perhaps, blame him, but I,

for one, consider that his conduct, thoagh censurable, wa« natural,
and what might have been expected, and I draw no such conclusion
from the circumstances as the Times has done. But however this
may be, it is not to the Times, but to you and the Home Secretary
I look, and in your hands is the life of William Palmer. I have
not flattered you in aught, but I have spoken as I felt. I ask you
not to respite him for my sake, for the sake of his family, nor even for

public justice and humanity. These appeals would probably be lost

on you. But 1, as a minister ot the Gospel, ask you to respite him
for your own sake—for you will have the guilt of his blood and the
infamy of his death if he is wrongly executed ; and if his innocenc«
should be hereafter demonstrated, his memory will cling upon your
soul ; it will be like a mountain of lead upon your heart ; it will stifle

your cries to God, and drag you down with that darkness of hell

which is prepared for those who violate the commandment, "Thou
shalt not kill." Thomas Palmer.

APPENDIX II.

Short Account ok the Judoks and Counsel engaged in the

Case.

John Campbell, Baron Campbell. Lnrd Chief Justice of the Queen's
Bench. Lord Campbell had been Lord Chief Justice six years wh^n
he presided at the trial. He was seventy-seven years of age. Three
years after he resigned the Chief Justiceship, and'bocame Lord Chan-
cellor at eighty, a greater age than any of his predecessors on the
Woolsack had reached on being appointed. He held his office for
two years longer, and died at eighty-two, an ai;o which none of his
successors reached while holding it. On the dny of his death, in

1861, he had sat in Court and attended a Cabinet Council. Lord
Campbell's life as Chancellor and politieian, and as the writer of
the celebrated lives of the Lord Chancellors and the Chief Justices,
forms too considerable a part of general history and literature to be
detailed here. As a lawyer and jndct hi.s name stands high. His
contemnoraries never Homed his abilities: but they considered his
personal character and ambitions were selfish and by no means mag-
nanimous. He is said by Sir John Macdonnell in the Dictionary of
National Biography to have shown on the bench .somewhat too openly
an unworthy love of applause : and a tradition still lingers amongst
lawyers of an ostentations kind of politeness assumed by him when
he_ intended anvthing deadly. The Usher of the Court at the Palmer
trial is credited with saying that ho knew the Chief meant to hang
Palmer ; he was so polite in requesting him to be seated. The tone
of the letter we print from Palmer's brother expresses much of a
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orevalent feelina »g»in8t C«mpbeU. But, in Sir John MscdonnelTj

Srort. whlUvSf dXence of Opinion there may be « to the «mt
to which he wrved hi. country, there is none m to the vJue of the

eervioee themielvea.

MB. Baboj. Aldbrsok. Sir Edward HaU Aldewon 7« «. ^^M •

BMon of the Court of Exche«,uer, where he
J". t"^'*"«^tv^S

ht. nricHn&l anoointment as ludge having been in 1B30 to tne coun

^CoSn ir He^ born in 178?, so that he was now sixty-

Sine -JTrs of a^ He was of Norfolk, and hU father was Reorder

SrVa^^liouth^^orwich, and Ipswich. His «;«« '^P-^d^,-^^'
«u remarkable In the year 1809, when he took his degree,

he w- Sinter Wrangler anS first Smith's prizeman besides being

tost CWellor's m^allist, which was. tl»»
.^»8''«f*

»'°"°",\ *5!°

fo' clMsics. From 1817 to 1822 he was jomt editor of the w^Wknown

fllrnewaU and Alderson's Reports of those years in the Court of Kjng s

BeX and whilst so reporting he was unlike repose" "f these

days, iapidly acquiring a practice, though he nover took silk. He

mi?; ScTparticufar mwk on the bench Suring h» twenty^ven y««.

of^cupancy, and he died in 1857, the year after the trial. ^ »s n»the'

curious in view of the attack made on him for prejudice m the letter

?o L^Ji CampbeU, that he should have been known as a humane

judge, with a desire to restrict capital punishment.

Mb. JcsTic Cmsswell. Sir Cresswell CressweU was the junior

judge on the bench. His age was sixty-two, and he had been on the

tench in the Court of Common Pleas since 1M2, where ne

had established a reputation as a. learned and strong ludge. At ^e

btr he had a large practice, and his legal name,
"f'^i^rn^wJll and

career, would have lived as one of the editors °« tg«,»"^*" |°°

Cresswell's Reports in the Kings Bench *™."^^ ^^ffl % IBM. But

his most abiding fame rests on hig having been the hrst aPP°|"^

judgHf ?he nei Probate and Divorce Court ^^ich was estaj uh^

ihhans^efd^hTL^n ft c^m^A-i^r .^'£

rarriaffe and he di?d from the shock. On bemg made judge of the

Probate'andDWorce Court he was offered a peerage, tut declined

a probably m he was a bachelor, being suffeciently content with

ihe aSra name of Cresswell of Cressw?ll, near Morpeth Though

as a Tudge he was considered overbearing, it » "ot'^'^t'^ ^^p"^*
'i*'

did not intervene very much in the trial; the letter to Lo'd Camp-

bell m.k^ a point of /ontrastin,; ^i'.'>vfon.onjAimmon^jvri^^^^

?Hle^"of Cd C^p^e^l^^d ]?rL;;;A=o:^.^^^^
bias and even strong and unfair prejudice.

Sib Albxandbr Jambs Edmund CocKBtmK was appointed Solicitor-

Ofineral in July 1850, and early next year, in succession to Sir

John RomUly, WM made Attorney-iOeneral. ' He had up to the former

y^r been ot aining considerable reputation as an advocate had been

{XinH C in 1841 and eanecially had attracted attention by h s

dXnce ofll'Nlughten who shot Mr. Drummond, S.r Robert Peel,

s^retary He obtained his acquittal on the ground of '"Wn'ty
;
a

dXnce less credible and easy in 1843 than it subsequently became.

But he firet obtained real public distinction, and proved his qualifi-

cations tS be of the highest class, in 1850 by speeclie. in Parliament,

316



;i I

Mr. Baron Alderson.



v:

.



Appendix II.

whieb led umnadiately to hia •pp(,intment u Solicitor and
Attorney-General aa above mentioned. In the Don Pacifico debate
Lord Pabnerston bad made tb* great ipeecb of hia life ; and tbe law
had been prepared for him bv Cockburn. On the fourth night of the
debate Mr. Cockburn renlied to a long speech mude by Mr. Glad-
•tone againat Palmenton a policy. At the end of hia reply, accord-
ing to a deacription by Sir Robert Peel, " one half of the Treaaury
benchaa were left empty, while honourable memberg ran one after
•notber, tumbling over each other in their haate to shake hands with
Ute honourable and learned member." He remained Attorney-
Qeneral m Palmerston's Government until November. 1856; and thus
It fell to him to conduct the Palmer prosecution. It is worth men-
tioning that Cockburn'a reply at the end of the case was made with-
out a swgle note. Palmer had therefore against him the greatest
flgare at the bar, and one of the most accomplished oratora of hia
generation. It waa in November, 1856, that Cockburn gave up his
enormous income, and his Parliamentary position, to become Chief
Justice of the Common Pleas; and the rest of his distinguished career,
untU hu death in 1880, waa apent in that office, or in that of Lord
Chief Juatice of England, which under the Judicature AcU super-
seded the two ancient Chief Justiceships. Sir Alexander Cockburn
waa of an ancient Scottish family; he was several times offered a
peerage, but declined; be waa never married, and his baronetcv
expired with him.

John Edwin James was forty-four years of age in 1856. " With
the appearance of a prize fighter," he faUed when he went c the
stage aa a young man and played "George Barnwell." Hia f^.ther,
being a solicitor and an officer of the city of London, it was natural
for him to turn to the bar, and he was called at the Inner Temple in

i J V " ^"^ twenty-four. By 1856 he was a noted advocate,
had been made a Queen's Counsel, was Recorder of Brighton, and
had a professional income of £7000 a year. He was member of Par-
liament for Marylebone in 1859; but in 1861 his retirement was
announced. He was overwhelmed with pecuniary difficulties, and
^''tlcf !.'""• '^" inquiry by his Inn in 1861 showed that he hadm 1657 and 1860 inveigled a young man, a son of Lord Yarborough

S5?/^ *
°' *'35,000; had obtained, three years before the trial,

BW,000 from a solicitor by false misrepresentations ; and in a case in
which he was acting for the plaintiff had borrowed £1250 from de-
fendant, promising to let him off easily in cross-examindtion. Ho
was disbarred; went to America in 1861; was admitted to the bar
ttere and practised ; but in 1865 was playing at the Winter Garden
Theatre, New York. He returned to England in 1873, and failed
in TOrauading the judges to reconsider his case. He had married
in 1861, but his wife divorced him in 1863. After his failure to
return to the bar he was articled as a solicitor, but was not admitted

;

and he even offered himself again aa candidate for Marylebone. He
practiaed aa an expert in American and Engliah law, but aank into
very poor circumstances, and a subacriptic - waa being made for him
when he died in 1882.

Sib WiLUAM Henbt Bodkin. Three years after the trial Mr. Bodkin
waa appointed assistant iudge of the Middlesex Sessions, and in 1867
was knighted. He held hia office until a few weeks of his death, in
1874, at the age of eighty-three. At the time of the trial he was
aixty-flve, and was the most distinguished of the practitioners in
apecialiaed criminal business. In 1832 he had been appointed
Recorder of Dover, after being only six years at the bar. He acquired
a large practice on the Home Cfircuit and at the Middlesex, West-
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minster, Mid Kentish Sewioni; he wm counael to the TreMury *t the

Central Criminal C<>urt ir '856, and was tx o/firio of the couneel for

the Crown in prosecution* in that Court. He retained thii appoint-

ment until be waa made a judge. As an expert on the practice of

the prmr law and secretary of the Mendicity Society he took great

interest in poor law questions. In 1841 he had been returned to

Parliament as a Conservative member for Rochester, but lost hia

seat at the election in 1847 for having supported Sir Robert I'eel's

Corn Law Bill. While he sat in Parliament he brought forward and
passed an important measure of reform as to the chargeability of

irremovable poor, which has become a permanent fpatiirc of our
poor law system. Sir William held several distinguished and
important offices. He was President of the Society of Arts, a
Deputy-Lieutenant of Middlesex, and chairman of the Metropolitan

Assessment Sessions. By his marriage in 1812 to Sarah Sophia,

daughter of Peter Raymond Poland of Winchester Hall, Highgate,

be became connected with the family of the distinguished lawyer. Sir

Harry Bodkin Poland, whose own professional career has followed

BO closely that of his uncle. Sir Harry Bodkin Poland succeeded

him in his Recordership of Dover and his office at the Ce >tral Criminal

Court. This family and legal connection alike suggested the dedica-

tion of this book to Sir Harry Bodkin Poland. None of those who
actually took part in the trial are now living.

William Newland Welsbt had been called to the bar in 1826,

was made Recorder of Chester in 1841, and eventually became the

leader on the North Wales Circuit. When Sir John Jervis, who
became Lord Chief Justice of the Common Pleas, was made Attorney-
General in 1846, Welsby was appointed by him junior counsel to the

Treasury ; in other words, junior counsel with the Attorney-General

in all his legal duties, thence known in English leg.il professional

slang as the Attorney-General's " devil," a very important and
lucrative post, which generally leads to a judgeshfp. It was prob-

ably his experience of criminal law in this office, and his gene al

reputation for knowledge of criminal law, founded on his editing

numerous law booka as well as on his practice at the bar, that led

to his being associated with the Attorney-Gc -al at the trial. He
had enormous industry, and besides editing

books was an editor of one of the most ce'

the seventeen volumes of " \loeson and Wei'
reports for years in the Court of Excheni

,

Welsby 's career. He died eight years nltei the trial, at sixty-one,

without having reaeh'^d the bench,' broken down, it was believed, by
his excessive labours.

rge number of legal

.ed series of Reports,
' the product of their

in the earlier part of

oiB John Walter Huddleston (Mr. Baron Huddleston). .\ year
after the trial Mr. Huddleston was made a Q.C. From 1865 to 1875

he was Jiidge-Advncate of the Fleet. In the latter year he became
a judge of the Common Pleas, and was afterwards transferred to the

Court of Exchequer ; hence the name of Mr. Baron Huddleston, by
which in latei years he continued to be known, even after the recon-

stitution oi the Courts by the .Judicature Acts, when all the judges

jok the title of Justices of the High Court. Huddleston was a
emarkable man. His father was a captain in the merchant service.

He was edueated at Trinity College, Dublin, but did not take a
dr-jree, hH'"! h= h-.-nTie p=hef in an Enr^Iish =.-ho"l. H= w5= cslled

by Gray's Inn in 1839. when he was twenty-four years of age. so that

he was fortvone at the time of the trial. He was member of Parlia-

ment for Canterbury from 1865 to 1868, and for Norwich in 1874

and until he was made a judue He was a great advocate, hut not
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M great » judge. HU reputation increased rather on the Rocial than
the legal aide. He had married in 1872 I^ady Diana De Vere Beau-
clerk, daughter of the ninth Duke of St. Albans, and he wa:i accounted
to be ambitious most of all of social distiiiction. He was fitU-d

for this, if not bv family connections, by his brilliance as a convpr-

ationalist, and his Rifts as a man of the wrld and his associ vions

with the theatre and the turf. His accomplishments inrluded an
extensive knowledge of Frcnrh literature and a facility of speaking
in French which few Englishmen have. He thus represented grace-

fully the English bar at the ftm'Tal in 1868 of Borryer, the great
French advocate, over whose Krave he made a speech in French. He
died in 1890, aged seventy-five.

Sir William Shek. The leading counsel for I'yl'iuT. Mr. Serjeant
Shee, was in his tifiy-second year ; sevon yo.irs afterwards he waa
appointed a jud^e of the Queen s Bench, the iirst Roman Catholic judge
since the Reformation. He was Irish, but educated at a French
school in Somers Town. London. »ubsp<iuently at St. Cuthbert'a
College, near Durham, where his cousin, afterwards famous as Cardinal
Wiseman, was, and then at Edinburf^h Uai<^'ersity. A student of

Lincoln's Inn when nineteen, he had bei.'ome a scrjoant at law bv 1340,
and was one of the leadiiij counsel in London and on the Home Circuit.

In 1852 he became member of Parliament for Kilkenny, rnd repre-

sented it for five years. He had been prominent as an advocate for

Catholic Emancipation very early in his career, and in Carlinment he
waa a zealous promoter of measures connected with Irish land
tenancy, and dealing with the Church endowments, iriea.<iires prr-

cursorv of later land legislation and the Disestablishment of the Irish

Churcn. He lost his seat for Kilkenny in 1857, .T.id he never sat in

Parliament afterwards. In 1860. three years before he was made
a judge, ho refused the Chief Justioeship of Madras. Four years
after his appointment, in 1868. he died of apoplexy at the age of

sixty-three. It is noticeable that though Serjeant Sheo had been
in most of the great trials he had never defended in a murder trial

until he defended Palmer. We have referred to his declaration of

belief in Palmer's innocence ; and this was not the only point on
which his speech was criticised at the time. The leading legal journal
characterised it in terms which will moat likelv he apreed with by
the present-day reader, even more decisively than by the reader of

half a century ago, when the t.iste was more for florid speaking than
it is now. "The defence of Mr. Serjeant Shee vas clever, ingenious,

and eloquent, but wanting in judgment and tnste. The peroration
was a striking inst.mre of this defect, for the .Tlli'''ion to the family
of the prisoner, and to his supposed affection for his wife, grated
sorely, and almost ludicrously, on the sen?o of propriety in the face

of the undisguised fart, known to all his niiilienee, that he was
accused of nnirderinc; his wife, that he slept 'vith his iriaid servant
on the very night she died, and that he had eonfcsseil himself guilty

of forgerv upon his mother. Enually injinlvious was th" philippic

against the insurance offices. In worse taste still was his solemn
assertion to the jury that he was convinced bv the evidence of the
prisoner's innocence."

Sir Wii.i.i.\m Robert Okove. Palmer's second counsel, Mr, Grove,
Q.C., wrs in one respect the most distinguished of all llie persons
who tnok p-irf. in the trial. ,*.t the timr he Hvl » F.;!mpean rpputa-
tion. but this was due to his career as a scientific investigator, ,ind

not rw a lawyer. Without mentionina more, it is sufficient to s.iy that
he had published in 1846 the great book. " The Correlation of Physical
Forces," which placed him in the front rank of European science.
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fSt . f„
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lID« Kknbalt wa. the junior couns,:! forV . yparg old. He was a ^'raduate of Trinity
.

"' '
,.ye" o' his call to the Irish bar. In

uc r-ngluh bar by Gray's Ir n. acd by 1850 he
'- .of Irin.ty College. Dublin. 6e had published

..s from many Eastern and European languaees,
. U a poem which has been described as marked bv

d IBft . '
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champion of the Tichborne claimant. He sat until IMO'but was defeated then at the General Election, and tn that vear he
^KM=, . ?", accomplished and successful advocate "and a
wnii. whirrtr'!."."'"'^' >"* ^K^'^'' "-"'-d °f that order of
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